Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions

Clinical, Radiological and Histological Correlations - The Rizzoli Case Archive

Piero Picci Marco Manfrini Davide Maria Donati Marco Gambarotti Alberto Righi Daniel Vanel Angelo Paolo Dei Tos *Editors*

Second Edition



Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions Piero Picci • Marco Manfrini Davide Maria Donati Marco Gambarotti Alberto Righi • Daniel Vanel Angelo Paolo Dei Tos Editors

Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions

Clinical, Radiological and Histological Correlations -The Rizzoli Case Archive

Second Edition



Editors Piero Picci I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group Bologna Italy

Davide Maria Donati Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli Bologna Italy

Alberto Righi Department of Pathology IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli Bologna Italy

Angelo Paolo Dei Tos Department of Medicine University of Padua School of Medicine Padua Italy Marco Manfrini IIIrd Clinic of Orthopaedic Oncology Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli Bologna Italy

Marco Gambarotti Department of Pathology IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli Bologna Italy

Daniel Vanel Istituto Rizzoli Bologna Italy

ISBN 978-3-030-29675-9 ISBN 978-3-030-29676-6 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, corrected publication 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

This book is dedicated to Prof. Mario Campanacci, Prof. Mario Mercuri, Dr. Gaetano Bacci, and Dr. Marco Alberghini who strongly supported the dissemination of knowledge of musculoskeletal tumors.

Preface

This is a second book based on the data of the Rizzoli case archive, after the one published in 2014 with the title *Atlas of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumorlike Lesions: The Rizzoli Case Archive*.

In this new one, not only the epidemiological data are updated with the addition of about 7000 new lesions diagnosed in 5 years between 2013 and 2017, but also some chapters were added and/or modified based on the more recent discoveries in terms of clinical, histological, and molecular investigations.

In particular, small blue round cell tumors are deeply analyzed and presented, as the whole spectrum of vascular lesions, with the introduction of new entities, as for the presentation of a new classification for those sarcomas of bone in the past simply diagnosed as "malignant fibrous histiocytoma" or "fibrosarcoma." More space is also dedicated to soft tissue lesions and also to those more rare entities not discussed in the previous book.

What presented reflects the experience of the Rizzoli Orthopedic Institute in over 100 years of treatment of musculoskeletal tumors and tumorlike lesions. The first treated case dated September 28, 1900, and the archive contains the original material (clinical charts, imaging, paraffin blocks, and histological slides) of more than 47,000 cases (about 32,000 bone lesions and 15,000 soft tissue lesions).

Each single entity is presented multidisciplinarily, with the pertinent clinical, radiological, and histological correlations. The treatment is briefly reported for each entity. Other separate chapters analyze the more recent biomolecular findings useful for diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment.

The text reflects the improvements in knowledge of musculoskeletal tumors as presented during the yearly international course held at the Rizzoli Institute.

This course, promoted by Prof. Mario Campanacci since 1970, has seen the participation as guest professors of the major international experts in musculoskeletal lesions:

D. Dahlin (Rochester) 1974, 1984

W.F. Enneking (Gainsville) 1984, 1989–1990, 1992–1994, 1998, 2004

N. Jaffe (Houston) 1984

D. Springfield (Gainsville, New York, Boston) 1995, 1997, 2000, 2002–2007

J.M. Mirra (Los Angeles) 1996, 2008

H. Mankin (Boston) 1999 A.L. Schiller (Boston) 2002 D. Vanel (Villejuif-Bologna) 2003, 2005, 2007-2018 P.C.W. Hogendoorn (Leiden) 2006–2008 N. Athanasou (Oxford) 2008 M.C. Gebhardt (Boston) 2008-2017 F.H. Sim (Rochester) 2010–2011 M.I. O'Connor (Jacksonville) 2011-2013 J.M. Coindre (Bordeaux) 2011 M.J. Klein (New York) 2012–2017 N. Fabbri (New York) 2013-2017 J.H. Healey (New York) 2013-2014 A.P. Dei Tos (Treviso) 2013-2019 S. Cammelli (Bologna University) 2016-2019 R. Grimer (Birmingham) 2017-2019 R. Windhager (Wien) 2018-2019

Rizzoli collaborators to the Annual Course of the last years:

Patrizia Racchini	Pathology
	Pathology
Alberto Bazzocchi	Radiology
Maria Serena Benassi	Biology
Stefania Benini	Biology
Franco Bertoni	Pathology
Roberto Biagini	Orthopaedics
Giuseppe Bianchi	Orthopaedics
Stefano Boriani	Orthopaedics
Laura Campanacci	Orthopaedics
Roberto Casadei	Orthopaedics
Marco Colangeli	Orthopaedics
Massimiliano De Paolis	Orthopaedics
Davide Maria Donati	Orthopaedics
Costantino Errani	Orthopaedics
Nicola Fabbri	Orthopaedics
Stefano Ferrari	Oncology
Andrea Ferraro	Orthopaedics
Tommaso Frisoni	Orthopaedics
Marco Gambarotti	Pathology
Alessandro Gasbarrini	Orthopaedics
Claudia Hattinger	Biology
Marco Manfrini	Orthopaedics
Emanuela Palmerini	Oncology
Piero Picci	Oncology
Alberto Righi	Pathology
Eugenio Rimondi	Radiology
Pietro Ruggieri	Orthopaedics
Katia Scotlandi	Biology
Massimo Serra	Biology

Eric Staals Daniel Vanel Licciana Zanella

Bologna, Italy Bologna, Italy Bologna, Italy Bologna, Italy Bologna, Italy Bologna, Italy Padua, Italy Orthopaedics Radiology Biology

> Piero Picci Marco Manfrini Davide Maria Donati Marco Gambarotti Alberto Righi Daniel Vanel Angelo Paolo Dei Tos

Preface of the First Book

The Rizzoli Orthopedic Institute has a proud and dynamic history, with several very famous orthopedic surgeons over the past 120 years. Dr. Mario Campanacci was especially concerned with the diagnosis and therapy of bone and soft tissue tumors, particularly the malignant bone tumors, two of which are very common and often lethal to children, namely Osteosarcoma and Ewing's sarcoma. Beginning in the early 1970s he pioneered the use of chemotherapy in Europe for these two tumors. He organized a team of surgeons and oncologists, who helped make an amazing reversal for most of these unfortunate patients dying of lung metastases within 2 years, to the majority being cured. The Rizzoli Orthopedic Institute has an independent Department dedicated to The Treatment of Malignant Bone Tumors and they now achieve, for osteosarcoma and Ewing's sarcoma an over 70–75% cure rate for their patients (by cure is meant the total eradication of the cancerous tumor).

Prior to the era of modern chemotherapy in the treatment of malignant tumors of bone, most patients died, even if they were diagnosed within days of arriving at a hospital, and even if an amputation was quickly applied as a desperate measure. The reason they died despite appropriate rapid diagnosis and local ablative surgery, is that about 90% of these patients already had microscopic lung metastases, impossible to see on their initial admission to the hospital by standard radiology studies. Months later, however, the tiny, microscopic seeds of metastases to the lungs would grow to grossly visible proportions, and within months, the patient would succumb to death by suffocation. Thanks to the Rizzoli and other Research Institutes throughout the world, not only are most patients with Ewing's and Osteosarcoma now cured, but as amazingly the majority can be cured without even the need for amputation. It is now possible to maintain their limb simply by removing the tumor area en-bloc, with a margin of uninvolved tissue, and using a prosthetic replacement, after a course of pre-operative chemotherapy. The Rizzoli Institute also stands at the cornerstone of these superb surgical advancements in prosthetic replacement techniques. As an effect of these outstanding results the Rizzoli Institute Bone Tumor Treatment Department is now, not only the premier treatment center for such tumors in Europe, treating some 80% of all such malignant tumor patients in Italy, but it may well be the largest and most renowned such treatment center in the world.

Another of the main goals of the Rizzoli has always been centered around the education of young doctors to become some of the finest Orthopedic Surgeons, Oncologists, Pathologists and Radiologists in the world with respect to all aspects of Orthopedics, and especially for the specialty in the Bone Tumor field. Bone tumors are very rare, representing only about 1% of all benign and malignant tumors. It is extremely important that major bone tumor centers such as the Rizzoli exist, where patients afflicted by very rare tumors can be sent and where the physicians who will, or are directly caring for these patients obtain the necessary training and experience. A standard community hospital serving a local population of some 100,000 individuals will only see about 1 patient per year with a malignant bone tumor. In my opinion, to begin to understand how to accurately diagnose (with over 95% accuracy) and treat these tumors adequately requires a physician to have personally seen at least 500 such patients. In a general hospital that could take 500 physician years, well beyond the lifetime of any ordinary person I know. But at the Rizzoli it is possible for diagnosticians, treating physicians and student doctors to be involved with some 500 bone tumor patients in 2–3 years.

Which now brings us to the "Rizzoli Syllabus" which you now hold in your hands. This is a truly remarkable primer for students and even trained physicians to study the essentials of bone tumor diagnosis and treatment of virtually all of the benign and malignant tumor entities of bone. And for the first time in my experience, this syllabus also includes considerations of basic biology concepts of Giant Cell Tumor, Chondrosarcoma, Osteosarcoma and several other important basic science oriented topics. Many of these topics have been pioneered in the Rizzoli Research Institute under Dr. Piero Picci's direction. In addition, very important principals of Staging and Radiology have been added to The Syllabus, vital to an overall understanding of the treatment and diagnosis of tumors of the bone.

I have been involved with writing my own syllabi for The UCLA Orthopedic residents in years past, and I have seen a number of other syllabi over the years, but for a Bone Tumor Syllabus, this is by far the best I have ever seen published. It is informative, it is accurate, it is concise, and it is beautifully illustrated. The authors are to be highly commended for their efforts and dedication to teaching, from which a new generation of highly competent Bone Tumor Specialists will emerge.

Los Angeles, CA, USA

Joseph M. Mirra

Acknowledgements

Revision: Alba Balladelli, Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IOR Graphic work: Cristina Ghinelli, Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IOR

Contents

Part I Introduction

1	Epidemiology of Bone Lesions
2	Classification of Primary Bone Lesions
3	General Principles of Bone Pathology
4	Epidemiology of Soft Tissue Lesions
5	Classification of Soft Tissue Lesions and General Principles of Soft Tissue Pathology
6	Molecular Alterations in Musculoskeletal Lesions
7	General Principles of Imaging
8	Staging
Par	t II Pseudotumoral and Benign Lesions of Bone
9	Simple Bone Cyst (Unicameral Bone Cyst)
10	Langerhans' Cell Histiocytosis
11	Histiocytic Fibroma
12	Fibrous Dysplasia

13	Osteofibrous Dysplasia of Long Bones
14	Desmoid Fibroma
15	Chondromas
16	Osteochondromas
17	Chondroblastoma
18	Chondromyxoid Fibroma
19	Osteoid Osteoma
20	Osteoblastoma
21	Aneurysmal Bone Cyst (ABC)
22	Giant Cell Tumor
23	Biology of Giant Cell Tumour
24	Other Rare Pseudotumoral Lesions
25	Other Rare Benign Lesions
Par	t III Benign Lesions of Soft Tissues
26	Myositis Ossificans
27	Pigmented Villonodular Synovitis and Giant Cell Tumor of the Tendon Sheaths (Tenosynovial Giant Cell Tumor) 127 Eric L. Staals
28	Synovial Chondromatosis
29	Fibromatosis (All Types)
30	Lipomas

31	Neurofibromas
32	Schwannoma
33	Other Rare Conditions of Pseudotumoral and BenignLesions of Soft TissuesAlberto Righi
Par	t IV Primary Malignant Tumors
34	Chondrosarcomas (CHS)
35	Biology of Conventional Chondrosarcoma
36	Osteosarcomas (OS)
37	Biology of Osteosarcomas . 213 Massimo Serra and Claudia Maria Hattinger
38	Chemotherapy of Osteosarcoma
39	Small Blue Round Cell Tumors223Marco Manfrini and Marco Gambarotti
40	Biology of Ewing Sarcoma
41	Chemotherapy of Ewing Sarcoma
42	Fibroblastic/Myofibroblastic Tumors
43	Nerve Sheath Tumor
44	Smooth and Striated Muscle
45	Sarcomas with Uncertain Differentiation
46	Vascular Tumors
47	Liposarcomas

48	Chemotherapy of Soft Tissue Sarcomas
49	Adamantinoma
50	Notochordal Differentiation
51	Other Rare Malignant Lesions
Par	t V Systemic Lesions
52	Primary Lymphoma of Bone
52 53	Primary Lymphoma of Bone 345 Marta Sbaraglia 349 Marta Sbaraglia 349
52 53 54	Primary Lymphoma of Bone345Marta Sbaraglia349Multiple Myeloma349Marta Sbaraglia355Hodgkin's Disease in Bone355Marta Sbaraglia355
52 53 54 55	Primary Lymphoma of Bone345Marta Sbaraglia349Multiple Myeloma349Marta Sbaraglia355Hodgkin's Disease in Bone355Marta Sbaraglia357Marco Gambarotti and Marta Sbaraglia357

Contributors

Maria Serena Benassi Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Giuseppe Bianchi Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Laura Campanacci Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Angelo Paolo Dei Tos Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Department of Medicine, University of Padua School of Medicine, Padua, Italy

Davide Maria Donati Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Stefano Ferrari Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Tommaso Frisoni Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Marco Gambarotti Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Claudia Maria Hattinger Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Marco Manfrini Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Emanuela Palmerini Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine (DIMES), University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Piero Picci Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy

Alberto Righi Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Marta Sbaraglia Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Katia Scotlandi Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Massimo Serra Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Eric L. Staals Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Daniel Vanel Surgical Pathology, Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Part I

Introduction

Piero Picci

There are no data regarding epidemiology of pseudotumoral and benign bone lesions. Most are incidental findings during examinations for other conditions. As for soft tissue lesions, it is generally accepted that benign conditions are 100 times more frequent than malignant primary bone tumors. Figures from the Rizzoli archive are not representative of the true incidence, as they represent cases treated in a specialized center and therefore biased for more severe or complicated cases. More reliable are data regarding age, sex, and sites of presentation.



P. Picci (🖂)

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_1



1

Epidemiology of Bone Lesions

The male/female ratio is 2:1. Typically, they affect children and teenagers with a median age of 13 years. In fact, the most represented entities are simple bone cyst and Langherans cell histio-cytosis which are typical of young age.

Aneurysmal bone cyst, once included in pseudotumoral lesion, is now considered a benign entity, due to the detection of a specific translocation.

These two entities together represent more than 70% of all pseudotumoral lesions. Preferred sites are metaphysis of long bones, especially proximally.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



All Pseudotumoral Bone Lesions 3.074 cases (9.4%)

1.2 Benign Tumors

The male/female ratio is 1.5:1. Age comprises the first four decades of life, with a median age of 18 years. They are very rare in the elderly.

The most represented are benign chondroblastic lesions (osteochondromas and chondromas) and osteoid osteoma. Aneurysmal bone cyst is now considered a benign entity, due to the detection of a specific translocation. Preferred sites are in bone around the knee, but practically all bones may be affected with localizations in flat bones that are not rare.







1.3 Primary Malignant Tumors

More reliable epidemiologic data are available for primary malignant bone tumors or with a better definition of bone sarcomas. Incidence is usually evaluated including soft tissue sarcomas. Global incidence reported is around five new cases/100,000 inhabitants/year. This incidence is similar in different countries with about 3,000 new cases per year in Great Britain and Italy (with 60 million inhabitants) and about 12,000 new cases in the USA (with about 300 million inhabitants).

This incidence of bone sarcomas is about 0.2% of all neoplasms.

Specifically regarding bone sarcomas, their incidence is considered 1/5–1/6 of all sarcomas, with an incidence of 0.8–1 new case/100,000 inhabitants/year.

The Rizzoli archive figures are more reliable in comparison to nonmalignant conditions. The only bias is related to the lack of registration of those localizations generally not treated at an orthopedic hospital as the trunk and skull.

The male/female ratio is again 1.5:1, as for the benign lesions. Median age is 25 years, with a peak in the second and third decades of life. Incidence is also evident and constant for all the adult age.

Osteosarcomas are the most frequent with an incidence of about 0.2 new cases/100,000 inhabitants/year.

A similar incidence is also reported for chondrosarcomas, followed by Ewing sarcoma with an incidence considered one-half in comparison to osteosarcomas. All other entities are very rare. Affected sites are the same as those of benign tumors.





1.4 Systemic Lesions and Metastasis

The figures reported in this book, and therefore the incidence, reflect only those lesions requiring orthopedic attention and treatment and therefore are non-representative of the true data. **Systemic lesions** comprise mainly myeloma and non-Hodghin lymphomas, rarely Hodgkin disease or leukemic disorders.

The male/female ratio is again 1.5:1. Median age is 54 years, and these lesions are very rare before the adult age.





Metastasis is by far more frequent than primary bone sarcomas, but considering that they do not always deserve orthopedic treatment, they are therefore underestimated in this book.

The prevalence is slightly higher in the male gender, with a median very advanced age (60 years).

The site of origin of the tumors are represented by breast, kidney, and lung in more than 60% of the all cases, followed by gastroenteric, prostate, and thyroid in another 20% (see table in dedicated chapter).

Rarely the bone metastases may originate from sarcomas. In our experience, in our series this is due in 60% of the cases from leiomyosarcoma of the uterus.

Bone metastasis from neuroblastoma, typical of infancy with a median age of 6 years, must be considered in the differential diagnosis with small blue round cell tumors of bone.





Selected Bibliography

- Bergovec M, Kubat O, Smerdelj M, Seiwerth S, Bonevski A, Orlic D. Epidemiology of musculoskeletal tumors in a national referral orthopedic department. A study of 3482 cases. Cancer Epidemiol. 2015;39(3):298–302.
- Demircay E, Hornicek FJ Jr, Mankin HJ, Degroot H III. Malignant lymphoma of bone: a review of 119 patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2013;471(8):2684–90.
- Dürr HR, Müller PE, Hiller E, Maier M, Baur A, Jansson V, Refior HJ. Malignant lymphoma of bone. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2002;122(1):10–6.
- Hernandez RK, Wade SW, Reich A, Pirolli M, Liede A, Lyman GH. Incidence of bone metastases in patients with solid tumors: analysis of oncology electronic medical records in the United States. BMC Cancer. 2018;18(1):44.

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Murray T, Xu J, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2007;57:43–66.
- Jemal A, Murray T, Samuels A, Ghafoor A, Ward E, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2003;3:5–26.
- Lote K, Walløe A, Bjersand A. Bone metastasis. Prognosis, diagnosis and treatment. Acta Radiol Oncol. 1986;25(4–6):227–32.
- Storm HH. Cancers of the soft tissues. In: Doll R, Fraumeni Jr JF, Muir CS, editors. Trends in cancer incidence and mortality, cancer surveys, vol. 19/20. Plainview: Imperial Cancer Research Fund, Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory Press; 1994. p. 197–217.
- Whelan J, McTiernan A, Cooper N, Wong YK, Francis M, Vernon S, Strauss SJ. Incidence and survival of malignant bone sarcomas in England 1979-2007. Int J Cancer. 2012;15(4):131.



Classification of Primary Bone Lesions

Piero Picci, Marco Gambarotti, and Alberto Righi

Primary bone tumors are classified on the base of their histological differentiation, as reported in the following table. Thay are divided into "benign" (with a limited capacity of local recurrence), "intermediate" (locally aggressive: local recurrence, also in a destructive way; rarely metastasizing: as above also with possible distant metastasis in occasional cases, not predictable on the basis of the morphology), and "malignant," the latter furtherly divided into low-grade and high-grade malignant.

Classification of primary bone tumors (WHO 2013)

Histogenesis	Benign	Intermediate (locally aggressive and/or rarely metastasizing)	Malignant [(*) low-grade lesions if not dedifferentiated]
Fibrogenic and fibrohistiocytic	Histiocytic fibroma Benign fibrous histiocytoma	Desmoplastic fibroma	Fibrosarcoma
Chondrogenic	Osteochondroma Hemimelic epiphyseal dysplasia Enchondroma Periosteal chondroma Osteochondromyxoma Subungual exostosis Bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation Synovial chondromatosis	Chondromyxoid fibroma Chondrosarcoma grade 1 Chondroblastoma Fibrocartilaginous mesenchymoma	Chondrosarcoma grade 2 Chondrosarcoma grade 3 Dedifferentiated chondrosarcoma Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma (*) Periosteal chondrosarcoma (*) Clear cell condrosarcoma (*)

P. Picci (🖂)

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

M. Gambarotti · A. Righi Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

		Intermediate (locally	
		aggressive and/or rarely	Malignant [(*) low-grade
Histogenesis	Benign	metastasizing)	lesions if not dedifferentiated]
Osteogenic	Osteoma	Osteoblastoma	Low-grade central
	Osteoid osteoma		osteosarcoma (*)
			Conventional osteosarcoma
			Telangiectatic osteosarcoma
			Small-cell osteosarcoma
			Secondary osteosarcoma
			Parosteal osteosarcoma (*)
			Periosteal osteosarcoma (*)
			High-grade surface
			osteosarcoma
Osteoclastic giant cell	Giant cell reparative	Giant cell tumor of bone	Malignancy in giant cell
rich	granuloma		tumor
Vascular	Hemangioma	Epithelioid hemangioma	Epithelioid and other
	Lymphangioma		hemangioendothelioma (*)
			Angiosarcoma
Nervous	Schwannoma		MPNST
	Neurofibroma		
Lipogenic	Lipoma		Liposarcoma
Myogenic	Leiomyoma		Leiomyosarcoma
Notochordal	Benign notochordal cell tumor		Chordoma (*)
Hematopoietic			Primary non-Hodgkin and
neoplasms			Hodgkin lymphoma
•			Plasmocytoma of bone/
			plasma cell myeloma
Tumors of undefined	Simple bone cyst	Aneurysmal bone cyst	Adamantinoma (*)
neoplastic nature/	Fibrous dysplasia	Langerhans cell	Ewing sarcoma
miscellaneous tumors	Osteofibrous dysplasia	histiocytosis	Undifferentiated pleomorphic
	Chondromesenchymal	Erdheim-Chester disease	sarcoma
	hamartoma		
	Rosai-Dorfman disease		

General Principles of Bone Pathology

3

Marco Gambarotti and Alberto Righi

Bone tumors are among the rarest neoplasms in humans. Bone sarcomas account for 0.2% of all neoplasms arising in the human body. Considering that and the fact that more than 40 malignant histological types have been described, it is reasonable to think that only specialized centers can have enough experience in managing these neoplasms. The peculiar "multidisciplinary-team" approach is mandatory in bone tumors, in order to avoid dramatic mistakes in the diagnosis and treatment of these tumors. The pathologist dealing with bone must follow a diagnostic flowchart that starts from the accurate collection of clinical information, followed by the careful examination of the imaging, then the decision about the kind of diagnostic procedure to apply, and finally the histological diagnosis. All these steps must be shared with the other colleagues of the team, such as the orthopedic surgeons, the radiologists, and the oncologists. Examining in detail every single step of the diagnostic approach, analysis of clinical features, such as patient age, symptoms and anatomic location of the lesion, are necessary for a preliminary assessment of the lesion. Bone tumors like Ewing sarcoma and osteosarcoma usually occur in young patients. Tumors like

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

chordoma, myeloma, and chondrosarcoma are typical of adults or elderly patients. When osteosarcomas occur in patients older than 50, they are frequently secondary to pre-existing bone conditions, such as Paget's disease, bone infarcts, or arising after radiation therapy. Symptoms and features are frequently of great clue for diagnosis. Pain during night that can be treated with salicylates is typical of osteoid osteoma; the presence of fever favors for the diagnosis of Ewing sarcoma rather than lymphoma. Laboratory tests can also be very useful; for example, the blood levels of parathormone are the key features for the diagnosis of hyperparathyroidism. The site of the tumor within the bone and the specific bone segment are very important, as some tumors occur usually in the epiphysis, such as giant cell tumor, chondroblastoma, and clear cell chondrosarcoma, while other tumors are centrally located, and others are eccentrically located in the bone cortex; others, such as adamantinoma occur almost exclusively in the tibial diaphysis. In lowgrade chondroid lesions, the site of the lesion is very important for a correct interpretation of histology: if the lesion is in the small bones of the hands and feet, it is usually benign, while, with similar histological features, it is usually malignant if located in the ribs and sternum. Tumors that arise in the periostium are generally clinically less aggressive than the intramedullary counterparts. The radiographic features of the lesion are very important for the pathologists:

Check for updates

M. Gambarotti (🖂) · A. Righi

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_3

they have to be considered like a negative image of the macroscopic appearance of the neoplasm. Bone lesions can cause osteolysis or reactive bone production (osteosclerosis). Combinations of these two processes give rise to three typical patterns of bone destruction:

- (a) The geographic bone destruction pattern, typical of slow growing lesions
- (b) The "moth-eaten" pattern, that is typical of more aggressive lesions, that usually have a faster growth rate, and for this reason the osteosclerosis in this situation is less evident
- (c) The permeative growth that can be observed in the most aggressive lesions, such as lymphomas and Ewing sarcoma

Finally, periosteal reaction gives a great clue for the interpretation of biological features of a bone neoplasm. Fast-growing lesions do not cause a periosteal reaction that usually requires about 2 weeks to be detectable on radiographs. Some kinds of periosteal reactions suggest a specific diagnosis (onionskin reaction is frequently present in Ewing sarcoma). A careful examination of all these aspects helps the pathologist to achieve a correct interpretation of the histology of a given bone lesion.

In the last years, pathologists have started to collect biologic samples of fresh tumor tissue to store in biobanks, which are necessary for the study of these rare tumors, in order to perform molecular diagnostic and research tests and to share these samples with other institutions in the context of large international scientific projects.

The 2013 WHO classification of bone tumors is based on cytologic and histogenetic criteria and on the kind of matrix produced by the tumor (see previous table). It represents the classifica-

tion used today. Bone producing lesions together with cartilaginous lesions and Ewing sarcoma account for about 80% of all bone tumors; the remaining entities are by far rarer. The use of ancillary techniques such as immunohistochemistry is very important for the assessment of the possible origin of a bone metastasis, but also in some primary bone tumors. Molecular techniques are widely used in the validation of the diagnosis of Ewing sarcoma and, recently, also in other situations, such as aneurysmal bone cyst, fibrous dysplasia, giant cell tumor of bone, chondroblastoma. The grading system for bone sarcomas used at the Rizzoli institute is a four grading system according to Broders (grade 1-2: low grade; grade 3-4: high grade); the grading system in WHO classification is a three grading system based on the histological type or subtype of the tumor.

The Rizzoli's syllabus is based on the study of the most numerically important series in the world, and the use of a schematic approach for every single entity gives the reader a useful diagnostic tool, very practical for such rare diseases.

Selected Bibliography

- Antonescu CR. Molecular profiling in the diagnosis and treatment of high grade sarcomas. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2008;32(2):37–42. Review.
- Bovée JV, Hogendoorn PC. Molecular pathology of sarcomas: concepts and clinical implications. Virchows Arch. 2010;456(2):193–9. Review
- Broders AC. Squamous-cell epithelioma of the lip (a study of five hundred and thirty-seven cases). JAMA. 1920;6:656–64.
- Grimer RJ, Hogendoorn PCW, Vanel D. Tumours of bone: introduction. World Health Organization classification of tumours. In: Pathology and Genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC; 2013. p. 244–7.



4

Epidemiology of Soft Tissue Lesions

Piero Picci



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Soft tissue tumors (STT) are a heterogeneous group of benign and malignant processes. Some are assumed reactive, and others are clearly neoplastic. These lesions account for less than 4% of all tumors in adult patients, and for 7–10% of all

tumors in pediatric patients. More than 99% of STT are benign, and the incidence of malignant STT is about 4–5 times that of malignant tumors arising from bone.

The rarity of STT causes problems with respect to diagnosis, grading, or optimal therapeutic approach. Over the last few decades, there have been significant changes in diagnostics and treatment of STT. Several developments in the field of radiology, pathology, and surgery have significantly changed the way STT are currently diagnosed and treated, improving prognosis and quality of life for patients with these rare diseases.

P. Picci (🖂)

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_4

Proliferative Myositis 1 11 115 Proliferative Fasciitis 15 Myofibroma 15 Granular Cell Tumor 10 16 Xantoma All Benign 10 16 Ganglioneuroma 18 Teratoma Soft Tissue Lesions 18 Ectopic Glioma 9.242 cases (60.8%) 26 Desmoplastic Fibroblastoma 60 Fibroma 61 Epemdimoma 65 **Tendon Sheath Fibroma** 70 **Benign NOS** 389 Nodular Fasciitis 191 **Pseudotumor Calcinosis** 100 Meningioma 128 Benign Fibrous Histiocytoma Elastofibroma 144 174 Leiomyoma/Angioleiomyoma 192 Myositis Ossificans 240 Myxoma 446 Neuromas 468 Synovial Chondromatosis 568 Nodular Tenosynovitis 706 Fibromatosis 806 Pigmented Villonodular Synovitis 1.166 Schwannoma Neurinomas 1.603 Hemangiomas 1.915 Lipomas 500 1.000 1.500 2.000

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



Classification of Soft Tissue Lesions and General Principles of Soft Tissue Pathology

Marta Sbaraglia, Marco Gambarotti, Alberto Righi, and Angelo Paolo Dei Tos

Soft tissue sarcomas are currently classified on the basis of the 2013 WHO classification of soft tissue tumors. WHO classifies the different entities on the basis of histomorphology and includes all available immunophenotypic and genetic data since the 2002 edition. This perfectly matches a diagnostic approach that integrates sequentially the microscopic features of the lesion with its immunophenotype and its genetic profile. Soft tissue sarcomas and soft tissue tumors of intermediate malignancy currently recognized by WHO classification are listed in Table 5.1.

Despite the intrinsic challenge of sarcoma diagnosis, it is possible to achieve a correct classification in most instances, provided that cases are approached following a rigorous

M. Sbaraglia

M. Gambarotti · A. Righi Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

A. P. Dei Tos (⊠) Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Department of Medicine, University of Padua School of Medicine, Padua, Italy e-mail: angelo.deitos@unipd.it methodology. The diagnosis of sarcoma relies upon the evaluation as well as the integration of four main features:

- The predominant shape of the neoplastic cells. Neoplastic cells can be classified on the basis of their shapes into four main categories: spindle, epithelioid, round, and pleomorphic.
- 2. The pattern of growth. Main patterns are as follows: fascicular, herringbone, storiform, alveolar, solid, and biphasic.
- 3. The quality of the background. Main variants are fibrous, sclerotic, myxoid, myxochondroid, and osteogenic.
- 4. The architecture of the vascular network. Blood vessels can organize in plexiform architecture, archiform architecture, and hemangiopericytoma-like architecture.

This approach possesses the great merit of reducing dramatically the number of diagnostic options, also allowing a rational choice of ancillary immunohistochemical and molecular tests. Of course this approach needs some degree of flexibility as numerous entities may at times exhibit a combination of different major morphologic features.

Immunohistochemical characterization plays a key role in the diagnostic workup of soft tissue sarcomas. However, a blind application of a broad range of immunophenotypic markers unsupervised by morphology most often leads to

Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy e-mail: marta.sbaraglia@aopd.veneto.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_5

Table 5.1			
Histogenesis	Benign	Uncertain behavior (locally aggressive and/or rarely metastasizing)	Malignant
Adipocytic	Lipoma Lipomatosis Lipomatosis of nerve Lipoblastoma/lipoblastomatosis Angiolipoma Myolipoma Chondroid lipoma Extra-adrenal myelolipoma Extra-adrenal myelolipoma Spindle cell/pleomorphic lipoma Hibernoma	Atypical Lipomatous Tumor / Well Differentiated Liposarcoma (ALT/WDL)	Dedifferentiated liposarcoma Myxoid liposarcoma Pleomorphic liposarcoma Liposarcoma, NOS
Fibroblastic/myofibroblastic	Nodular fasciitis Proliferative fasciitis Proliferative myositis Myositis ossificans Fibro-osseous pseudotumor of digits Ischemic fasciitis Elastofibroma Fibrous hamartoma of infancy Fibrous hamartoma of infancy Fibromatosis colli Juvenile hyaline fibromatosis Inclusion of body fibromatosis Fibroma of tendon sheath Desmoplastic fibroblastoma Mammary-type myofibroblastoma Calcifying aponeurotic fibroma Angiomyofibroblastoma Nuchal-type fibroma Gardner fibroma Calcifying fibroma	Palmar/plantar fibromatosis Desmoid-type fibromatoses Lipofibromatosis Giant cell fibroblastoma Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans (DFSP) Solitary fibrous tumor Inflammatory myofibroblastic tumor Myxoinflammatory fibroblastic tumor Infantile fibrosarcoma	Adult fibrosarcoma Myxofibrosarcoma Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma Sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma Myofibroblastic sarcoma Fibrosarcomatous DFSP Malignant solitary fibrous tumor
Fibrohistiocytic	GCT of tendon sheath Benign fibrous histiocytoma	Pigmented villonodular synovitis (PVNS) Plexiform fibrohistiocytic tumor Giant cell tumor of soft tissues	Malignant PVNS

Smooth muscle	Leiomvoma		Leiomvosarcoma
Skeletal muscle	Rhabdomyoma		Rhabdomyosarcoma
Pericitic (perivascular)	Glomus tumor Myopericytoma/myofibroma Angioleiomyoma		Malignant glomus tumor
Vascular	Hemangiomas Epithelioid hemangioma Angiomatosis Lymphangioma	Kaposiform hemangioendothelioma Retiform hemangioendothelioma Papillary intralymphatic angioendothelioma Composite hemangioendothelioma Pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma	Kaposi sarcoma Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma Angiosarcoma
Nerve Sheath	Schwannoma Neurofibroma Perineurioma Granular cell tumor Dermal nerve sheath myxoma Solitary circumscribed neuroma Ectopic meningioma Nasal glial heterotopia Benign Triton tumor Hybrid nerve sheath tumors	Melanotic schwannoma	Malignant Peripheral Nerve Sheath Tumor (MPNST) Epithelioid MPNST Malignant Triton tumor Malignant perineurioma Malignant granular cell tumor Ectomesenchymoma
Cartilaginous and osseous	Soft tissue chondroma		Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma Extraskeletal osteosarcoma
Turnors of uncertain differentiation	Acral fibromyxoma Intramuscular myxoma Juxta-articular myxoma Deep ("aggressive") angiomyxoma Ectopic hamartomatous thymoma	Hemosiderotic fibrolipomatous tumor Atypical fibroxanthoma Angiomatoid fibrous histiocytoma Pleomorphic hyalinizing angiectatic tumor Myoepithelioma Ossifying fibromyxoid tumor Phosphaturic mesenchymal tumor PEComa	Synovial sarcoma Epithelioid sarcoma Alveolar soft part sarcoma Clear cell sarcoma Extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma Extraskeletal Ewing sarcoma Desmoplastic small round cell tumor Extrarenal rhabdoid tumor Intimal sarcoma Malignant myoepithelioma Malignant phosphaturic mesenchymal tumor Malignant PEComa Undifferentiated/unclassified sarcoma
diagnostic errors. The number of potential diagnostic markers has grown exponentially through the years; however, in consideration of the natural evolution of the field, some markers have lost their role while others have gained diagnostic relevance. It has to be underlined that, with some exceptions, the majority of classic differentiation markers tend to show good sensitivity however associated with rather limited specificity. This may not represent a problem only if interpretation is strictly handled in association with morphology. The most commonly used immunohistochemical diagnostic markers are listed in Table 5.2.

As will be discussed in a separate chapter, diagnostic accuracy can be improved by a wise use of molecular genetics that however also

Table 5.2 Useful immunohistochemical markers in soft tissue tumors diagnosis

Tumor	Marker
Smooth muscle tumors	Smooth muscle actin, h-caldesmon, desmin
Striated muscle tumors	Desmin, myogenin, MyoD1
Neural tumors	S100, SOX-10, GFAP,
Vascular tumors	CD31, ERG, CAMTA1, TFE3, FOSB
Osteogenic tumors	SATB2
Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans (DFSP) / Fibrosarcomatous DFSP	CD34
Ewing sarcoma	CD99
Synovial sarcoma	EMA, cytokeratin, TLE1
Epithelioid sarcoma	EMA, cytokeratin, loss of INI1, CD34
PEComa	Smooth muscle actin, desmin, HMB45, Melan-A
Myoepithelioma	EMA, cytokeratin, S100
Alveolar soft part sarcoma	TFE3
Low grade fibromyxoid sarcoma	MUC4, EMA
Well differentiated / Dedifferentiated liposarcoma	MDM2
Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors	H3K27me3

needs to be evaluated in context with morphology.

Once a firm diagnosis of malignancy is made, a useful prognostic parameter is represented by grading. As suggested also by WHO we adopt the FNCLCC grading system that scores the degree of differentiation, the amount of necrosis, and the mitotic index.

Selected Bibliography

- Bovée JV, Hogendoorn PC. Pitfalls in pathology of soft tissue sarcomas. Cancer Treat Res. 2004;120:81–97.
- Coindre JM. Immunohistochemistry in the diagnosis of soft tissue tumours. Histopathology. 2003;43(1):1–16. Review.
- Deyrup AT, Weiss SW. Grading of soft tissue sarcomas: the challenge of providing precise information in an imprecise world. Histopathology. 2006;48(1):42–50. Review.
- Fletcher CD. The evolving classification of soft tissue tumours: an update based on the new WHO classification. Histopathology. 2006;48(1):3–12. Review.
- Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. WHO classification of tumors of soft tissue and bone. 4th ed. Lyon: IARC; 2013.
- Fletcher CDM, Unni KK, Mertens F, editors. Pathology and genetics of tumors of soft tissue and bone. WHO classification of tumours. Lyon: IARC; 2002.
- Guillou L, Coindre JM, Bonichon F, et al. Comparative study of the National Cancer Institute and French Federation of Cancer Centers Sarcoma Group grading systems in a population of 410 adult patients with soft tissue sarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15:350–62.
- Hornick JL. Novel uses of immunohistochemistry in the diagnosis and classification of soft tissue tumors. Mod Pathol. 2014;27:S47–63.
- Le Loarer F, Pissaloux D, Coindre JM, Tirode F, Vince DR. Update on families of round cell sarcomas other than classical Ewing sarcomas. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017;10:587–620.
- Miettinen M. From morphological to molecular diagnosis of soft tissue tumors. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2006;587:99–113.
- Miettinen M. Immunohistochemistry of soft tissue tumors—review with emphasis on 10 markers. Histopathology. 2014;64:101–18.
- Ordóñez JL, Osuna D, García-Domínguez DJ, et al. The clinical relevance of molecular genetics in soft tissue sarcomas. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17(3):162–81. Review.
- Thway K. Pathology of soft tissue sarcomas. Clin Oncol. 2009;21:695–705.



Molecular Alterations in Musculoskeletal Lesions

6

Marta Sbaraglia, Marco Gambarotti, Alberto Righi, and Angelo Paolo Dei Tos

The marriage of molecular genetics and soft tissue tumor pathology certainly represents one of the most fruitful events of the last decade. The close relationship between morphology (including immunohistochemistry) and molecular genetics was certified by the 2002 WHO classifications of bone and soft tissue tumors and further expended in the 2013 update.

This integration has impacted on several aspect of pathology:

- More accurate definition of disease entities and validation of classification schemes.
- Improved diagnostic accuracy.
- Identification of molecular predictive and prognostic markers.
- Discovery and validation of therapeutic molecular targets.

M. Sbaraglia

Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

e-mail: marta.sbaraglia@aopd.veneto.it

M. Gambarotti · A. Righi Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

A. P. Dei Tos (⊠) Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Department of Medicine, University of Padua School of Medicine, Padua, Italy e-mail: angelo.deitos@unipd.it

6.1 Definition of Disease Entities and Validation of Classification Scheme

Molecular genetics has significantly contributed to a more accurate definition of histologic subtypes. This is particularly true whenever new entities are described but also applies to the revision of classification schemes. In addition, molecular genetics has helped refining histologic classification.

6.2 Improvement of Diagnostic Accuracy

In the last two decades it has become clear that molecular testing may add diagnostic accuracy in important subsets of challenging soft tissue tumors. In fact many of these lesions are known to harbor a variety of relatively specific point mutations, gene amplifications, and chromosome translocations. Gene fusion seems to be particularly frequent in soft tissue neoplasm, the most common of which are listed in Table 6.1. Their occurrence can be routinely assessed using FISH, Sanger-based techniques, or next-generation sequencing.

The diagnostic utility of molecular genetics can be best exemplified in the following situations:

- Distinguishing specific subtypes of sarcomas
- Supporting diagnosis in non-canonical clinical presentations
- Distinguishing sarcomas from benign mimickers

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_6

Table 6.1 Gene fusions in soft tissue neoplasm

1	G 6 ;	
Tumor	Gene fusion	Cytogenetics
Myxoid/round liposarcoma	FUS-DDIT3	t(12;16)(q13;p11)
	EWSR1-DDIT3	t(12;22)(q13;q12)
Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans	COL1A1-PDGFB	t(17;22)(q21;q13)
Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma	FUS-CREB3L2	$t(7.16)(a_{34}\cdot n_{11})$
Low-grade horomyxold saleonia	FUS-CREB3L1	$t(7,16)(q_{3}+,p_{11})$
	EWSD1 CDED3L1	t(11.22)(p11.q12)
	EWSKI-CKEBJEI	(11,22)(p11,q12)
Solitary fibrous tumor	NAB2-STAT6	inv(12)(q13;q13)
Infantile fibrosarcoma	ETV6-NTRK3	t(12;15)(p13;q25)
Sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma	FUS-CREB3L2	t(7;16)(q34;p11)
	FUS-CREB3L1	t(11;16)(p13;p11)
	EWSR1-CREB3L1	t(11;22)(p11;q12)
Myxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcoma/hemosiderotic fibrolipomatous	MGEA5-TGFBR3	der(10)t(1:10)(p22:q24)
tumor		
Inflammatory myofibroblastic tumor	CARS-ALK	t(2.11)(n23.n15)
initialities of the second s	SEC31A-ALK	t(2,11)(p23,p13) t(2:4)(p23:q21)
	ATIC ALK	(2,7)(p23,q21) (p23,q25)
	DANED2 ALK	t(2)(p23,q33)
	CLTC ALK	t(2,2)(p23,q13)
	TDM2 ALV	t(1,2)(a(21),a(22))
	TDM4 ALV	t(1,2)(q21,p23)
	ITMI4-ALK	(2;19)(p23;p13)
	PPFIBP1-ALK	t(2;12)(p23;p11)
	KKEB1-TFE3	t(X;6)(p11;p24)
Myxofibrosarcoma	KIAA2026-NUDT11	t(9;X)(p24;p11)
	CCBL1-ARL1	t(9;12)(q34;q23)
	AFF3-PHF1	t(2;6)(q12;p21)
Alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma	PAX3-FOXO1	t(2;13)(q35;q14)
	PAX7-FOXO1	t(1;13)(p36;q14)
	PAX3-FOXO4	t(X;2)(q13;q36)
	PAX3-NCOA1	t(2:2)(p23:q36)
	PAX3-NCOA2	t(2.8)(a36.a13)
	FOXO1-FGFR1	$t(2,0)(q^{2}0,q^{1}0)$ t(8:13:9)(p11:a14:a32)
Spindle cell shehdomycecorecome	SPE NCOA2	t(6, 9)(p21, q12)
Spindle cen mabdomyosarcoma	TEAD1 NCOA2	$t(0,0)(p_{21},q_{13})$ $t(8,11)(a_{13},p_{15})$
	EWGD1 CDED1	((8,11)((13,113))
Angiomatola fibrous histlocytoma	EWSRI-CREBI	$t(2;22)(q_{33};q_{12})$
	FUS-AIFI	t(12;16)(q13;p11)
	EWSRI-AIFI	t(12;22)(q13;q12)
Ossifying fibromyxoid tumor	EP400-PHF1	t(6;12)(p21;q24)
	MEAF6-PHF1	t(1;6)(p34;p21)
	ZC3H7B-BCOR	t(X;22)(p11;q13)
Myoepithelioma/mixed tumor	EWSR1-ATF1	t(12;22)(q13;q12)
	EWSR1-PBX1	t(1;22)(q23;q12)
	EWSR1-POU5F1	t(6;22)(p21:q12)
	EWSR1-ZNF444	t(19;22)(a13:a12)
	EWSR1-KLF17	t(1:22)(p34.1:a12)
	EWSR1-PBX3	t(9:22)(g12.2:g33 3)
	FUS-KLF17	t(1.16)(p34 1.p11)
	LIFR-PLAG1	t(5:8)(p13:a12)
	SRF-E2F1	$t(20.6)(p_{13},q_{12})$
Clear cell correction	EWCD1 ATE1	(12,0)((11,)21)
Cicai ten saltoilla	EWSRI-AITI EWSRI CREDI	(12,22)(q13,q12)
	EWSRI-CREBI	$t(2;22)(q_{33};q_{12})$
	IKA2-1EK1	uei(5)(p15.55)
Synovial sarcoma	SS18-SSX1	t(X;18)(p11;q11)
	SS18-SSX2	t(X;18)(p11;q11)
	SS18-SSX4	t(X;18)(p11;q11)
	SS18L1-SSX1	t(X;20)(p11;q13)
Alveolar soft part sarcoma	ASPSCR1-TFE3	t(X;17)(p11;q25)
Extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma	EWSR1-NR4A3	t(9;22)(q31;q12)
-	TAF15-NR4A3	t(9;17)(q31;q12)
	TFG-NR4A3	t(9:3)(q31:q12)
	TCF12-NR4A3	t(9:15)(a31:a21)
	HSPA8-NR4A3	t(9.11)(a31.a24)
Deemenlestie emell nound cell tumor	EWOD1 WT1	4(11.22)(-1212)
Desinoplastic small round cell tumor	EWSKI-WII	u(11;22)(p13;q12)

Table	6.1	(continued)
-------	-----	-------------

Tumor	Gene fusion	Cytogenetics
Ewing sarcoma and Ewing-like sarcomas	EWSR1-FLI1	t(11;22)(q24;q12)
	EWSR1-ERG	t(21;22)(q22;q12)
	FUS-ERG	der(21)t(16;21)
	EWSR1-ETV1	t(7;22)(p21;q12)
	EWSR1-ETV4	t(17;22)(q21;q12)
	EWSR1-FEV	t(2;22)(q35;q12)
	EWSR1-NFATC2	t(20;22)(q13;q12)
	EWSR1-PATZ1	inv(22) (q12;q12)
	EWSR1-SMARCA5	t(4;22) (q31;q12)
	EWSR1-POU5F1	t(6;22) (p21;q12)
	EWSR1-SP3	t(2;22)(q31;q12)
	FUS-FEV	t(2;16)(q35;p11)
	CIC-DUX4	t(4;19)(q35;q13)
	CIC-FOXO4	t(X;19)(q13;q13)
	BCOR-CCNB3	inv(X)(p11.4;p11.22)
	FUS-NCATc2	t(16;20) (p11;q13)
Perivascular epithelioid cell tumors	SFPQ-TFE3	t(X;1)(p11;p34)
Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma	HEY1-NCOA2	del(8)(q13;q21)
	IRFBP2-CDX1	t(1;5)(q42;q32)
Epithelioid hemangioma	ZFP36-FOSB	t(19;19)(q13.32;q13.2)
Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma	WWTR1-CAMTA1	t(1;3)(p36;q25)
	YAP1-TFE3	t(x;11)(p11;q22)
Pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma	SERPINE1-FOSB	t(7;19)(q22;q13)
Angiosarcoma	CIC-LEUTX	t(19;19)(q13.11;q13.2)

6.2.1 Distinguishing Specific Subtypes of Sarcomas

The distinction of specific sarcoma subtypes is becoming increasingly important as more specific local as well as systemic treatments are being developed. Molecular genetics/pathology has proved diagnostically useful in all morphological groups of mesenchymal malignancies. Round cell sarcomas represent the perfect example to underline how clinically relevant molecular diagnostics has become. Round cell sarcomas include Ewing sarcoma, desmoplastic small round cell tumor (DSRCT), alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma, poorly differentiated round cell synovial sarcoma (PDSS), CIC-rearranged and BCOR-rearranged undifferentiated round cell sarcomas, and a minority of cases or high-grade liposarcoma featuring a round cell morphology. They all represent aggressive neoplasms, and their distinction is crucial because the therapeutic approach may differ significantly. As morphologic overlap may be at time extreme, to the extent that even immunohistochemical characterization cannot help in achieving a definitive classification (i.e., keratin-positive Ewing sarcoma vs. poorly differentiate round cell synovial sarcoma), molecular genetics may play a key diagnostic role. As shown in Table 6.1, all these entities harbor relatively specific genetic aberrations that can be routinely assessed contributing to increase diagnostic accuracy. The demonstration of EWSR1, SS18 and FOXO1 rearrangements in Ewing sarcoma, RMS, and PDSS is of great diagnostic help.

The identification of gene copy number variations has also proved extremely helpful. The perfect example is represented by dedifferentiated liposarcoma, a pleomorphic adipocytic malignancy that, in contrast with other sarcoma such as leiomyosarcoma, exhibits the tendency to recur locally with a comparatively lower rate of metastatic spread. The recognition of dedifferentiated liposarcoma is generally based on the identification of a well-differentiated lipogenic component associated with a high-grade, most often non-lipogenic, sarcoma. In consideration of the increasing tendency to use core biopsies for diagnostic purposes, not infrequently the well-differentiated lipogenic component is not made available. In this context, the detection of MDM2 amplification by FISH or quantitative RT-PCR certainly represents a useful diagnostic adjunct.

6.2.2 Supporting Diagnosis in Noncanonical Clinical Presentations

As a result of the widespread use of molecular pathology as a confirmatory diagnostic tool, the range of clinical presentations of many entities has broadened. In fact, the combination of morphological criteria and genetics validates the recognition of rare diseases even when arising at non-canonical anatomic locations. Molecular genetics has undoubtedly greatly contributed for instance to the identification of primary Ewing sarcoma of the skin, kidney, and meninges, as well as of synovial sarcomas occurring at visceral sites such as the lungs and the gastrointestinal tract.

6.2.3 Distinguishing True Sarcomas from Benign Mimics

The morphological appearance of mesenchymal lesions not always parallels the clinical behavior. The distinction of sarcomas from benign mimics most often relies on morphologic criteria; however, in some cases molecular genetics may also prove diagnostically helpful, for instance, when dealing with low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma (LGFMS), a bland-looking spindle cell sarcoma, actually characterized by aggressive clinical behavior. The differential diagnosis of LGFMS includes benign lesions such as perineurioma, neurofibroma, cellular myxoma, and nodular fasciitis, as well as locally aggressive neoplasms such as desmoid fibromatosis. Even if MUC4 expression is currently regarded as a key diagnostic feature, the identification of FUS rearrangement represents an extremely useful diagnostic tool. As mentioned, desmoid fibromatosis enters the differential diagnosis, and in addition to immunohistochemical detection of nuclear accumulation of β-catenin, mutational analysis of the CTNNB1 gene also represents a valuable diagnostic tool.

6.3 Identification of Molecular Predictive and Prognostic Markers

During the last decade, several attempts have been made to assess the prognostic value of molecular genetic findings. Most analyses have focused on Ewing sarcoma, alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma, and synovial sarcoma. We have to admit that results have been contradicting, and at this moment no meaningful molecular prognostic stratification can be foreseen. A potential exception is represented by a molecular signature named "CINSARC" that reportedly allows better separation of grade 2 sarcomas.

It has also to be stressed how molecular pathology/genetics represents the most valuable tool in order to identify and validate new therapeutic targets. Good examples are represented by ALK in inflammatory myofibroblastic tumor, MDM2, and CDK4 in dedifferentiated liposarcoma, PDGFB in dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans, and CSF1 in giant cell tumor of tendon sheath.

Selected Bibliography

- Barretina J, Taylor BS, Banerji S, et al. Subtype-specific genomic alterations define new targets for soft-tissue sarcoma therapy. Nat Genet. 2010;42:715–21.
- Brenca M, Maestro R. Massive parallel sequencing in sarcoma pathobiology: state of the art and perspectives. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2015;15:1473–88.
- Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Electronic address: elizabeth.demicco@sinaihealthsystem.ca; Cancer genome atlas research network. Comprehensive and integrated genomic characterization of adult soft tissue sarcomas. Cell. 2017;171:950–965.e28.
- Chibon F, Lagarde P, Salas S, et al. Validated prediction of clinical outcome in sarcomas and multiple types of cancer on the basis of a gene expression signature related to genome complexity. Nat Med. 2010;16:781–7.
- Dei Tos AP. A current perspective on the role for molecular studies in soft tissue tumor pathology. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2013;30:375–81.
- Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. WHO classification of tumors of soft tissue and bone. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2013.
- Fletcher CDM, Unni KK, Mertens F, editors. Pathology and genetics of tumors of soft tissue and bone. WHO classification of tumours. Lyon: IARC; 2002.
- Neuville A, Ranchère-Vince D, Dei Tos AP, et al. Impact of molecular analysis on the final sarcoma diagnosis: a study on 763 cases collected during a european epidemiological study. Am J Surg Pathol. 2013;37:1259–68.
- Ordóñez JL, Osuna D, García-Domínguez DJ, Amaral AT, Otero-Motta AP, Mackintosh C, Sevillano MV, Barbado MV, Hernández T, de Alava E. The clinical relevance of molecular genetics in soft tissue sarcomas. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17:162–81.
- Schaefer IM, Cote GM, Hornick JL. Contemporary sarcoma diagnosis, genetics and genomics. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:101–10.

General Principles of Imaging

Daniel Vanel

7.1 Bone Tumors

Bone imaging has undergone significant changes during the last decades. Ultrasounds, CT, MR imaging, and PET have been added to arteriography, scintigraphy, and radiographs. At the same time, survival of primary malignant tumors has improved with chemotherapy and local results with conservative surgery. Imaging plays a major role in diagnosis, local and general staging, monitoring the treatment, and detecting recurrences.

7.1.1 Diagnosis

Patient age, location (bone or part of the bone involved), size (small is usually benign), calcifications and ossifications, limitation (the better seen, the slower the lesion growth), periosteal bone formations, and soft tissue involvement must be added to reach a reliable diagnostic probability. Combining clinical information, imaging and histology lead to the most accurate results. Diagnosis of a bone tumor must be teamwork.

Radiographs remain the mandatory first step. They allow diagnosis of "leave-me-alone" lesions, and nothing more is usually added. If the

D. Vanel (🖂)

lesion on radiographs is probably malignant, the next step should be immediate MR to stage the lesion.

Radiographs have limitations: superimpositions, partial cortex destruction could be overlooked, flat and short bones and soft tissues are poorly analyzed.

CT is used in case of a diagnostic problem on radiographs. It allows a better study of the cortex, to detect and analyze small calcifications and thin periosteal bone formations. The nidus of an osteoid osteoma is well found (much better than on MR). Measuring tissue density can help characterize fat, fluid, blood, and calcification. After injection of contrast medium, soft tissue extension and vessels are well located.

The contrast remains however much lower than on MRI, which is the main modality for local staging. Its diagnostic role is limited, as calcifications and periosteal bone formations are more difficult to analyze (a black signal on MRI may be a calcification, but also fibrous tissue or chronic bleeding with hemosiderine). Fluid-fluid levels are better depicted than on CT, because of higher contrast and longer examination time. They are frequently seen in aneurysmal bone cysts, but are non-specific. Peritumoral imflammatory reaction is very well detected and frequent in some benign tumors (osteoid osteoma, osteoblastoma, chondroblastoma, Langerhans cell histiocytosis), and infections are rarer and more limited in malignant tumors.



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_7

Surgical Pathology, Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

7.1.2 Local Staging

On MRI, the precise location of the tumor is well analyzed.

Intramedullary extension (and the level of surgical resection), skip metastases, soft tissue involvement, and extension to vessels and nerves are easily and reliably detected. The main limitation is articular extension, which could change the surgical technique: if the tumor abuts on the cartilage, joint involvement cannot be reliably predicted.

In case of contraindications (pace makers and metallic ocular foreign bodies), CT is used, but has a lower accuracy.

7.1.3 Distant Spread

Bone metastases and multiple lesions are detected on scintigraphy. Total body MRI is more sensitive without irradiation. Pulmonary metastases are seeked by chest CT. Its sensitivity is good, but specificity is lower (or if we detect a lesion, we are not sure that it is actually a metastasis).

PET, now combined with CT, or even MRI allows a global study of the patient, studying the tumor metabolic activity as well as the distal extent. Its spatial resolution is limited (lesions of less than 5 mm may be overlooked), and some malignant lesions are not very active metabolically (such as sclerotic metastases).

7.1.4 Evaluation of Treatment Effectiveness

Most primary malignant tumors are treated with preoperative chemotherapy. Decrease of lesion size, ossification, and decrease of early contrast medium uptake on scintigraphy and most of all dynamic MRI are signs of an efficient treatment. They become reliable only late after the beginning of chemotherapy. The initial results of PET are not (yet?) much better.

7.1.5 Detection of Local Recurrences

In case of suspicion, a local MR can be performed if the prothesis is non-paramagnetic (that is in titanium).

7.1.6 Summary

Radiographs remain the first step to image a bone tumor. In case of diagnostic problems, the next step is CT. MR is the main imaging modality for local staging, treatment evaluation, and detection of recurrences. PET is still under evaluation.



7.2 Soft Tissue Tumors

Imaging problems are completely different from bone tumors. The main responsibility of the radiologist is to think of a possible sarcoma in front of a big (more than 5 cm of diameter), deep, or pediatric mass and refer it to a reference center before the first biopsy. That would prevent inadequate treatments with sometimes disastrous local or general consequences.

Radiographs are the first imaging modality. They detect calcifications and check the state of the underlying bone and fracture risk.

Ultrasound examinations are used very often; the improvements of machines and level of radiologists make them an useful tool. They are cheap, easily available, and safe. They confirm the mass, its exact location, help diagnose typical benign lesions, and guide biopsy. But they are difficult to reproduce and analyze for surgeons.

CT detects calcifications and local extension and can guide needle biopsy.

MRI is the main imaging modality. Its contrast is much higher. Thanks to its high contrast resolution and multiplanar imaging capability, MRI provides an anatomic and topographic depiction of the lesion, defining with great precision the relationship to muscle compartments, fascial planes, bones, and neurovascular structures. The usual tumor that has a low signal on T1-weighted sequences, high on T2, is heterogeneous. A different signal, high on T1w sequences, helps diagnose fat, blood, or melanin, a low signal on T2 calcium, fibrous tissue, or hemosiderin. A rapid and strong uptake of contrast medium is very sensitive and specific of malignancy.

Modern imaging techniques are not only of great importance for differential diagnosis of STT, they also play an important role in monitoring the effects of nonsurgical treatments and are sometimes useful in the detection of local and distant recurrence during postoperative follow-up.

Most recent developments are the introduction of positron emission tomography (PET) often combined with CT and the application of new MRI modalities (spectroscopy, perfusion, and diffusion). Although experience with these new techniques is still rather limited for STT, it is likely that they will have an increasing role in diagnosis, monitoring, and follow-up of these lesions in the nearby future.

Selected Bibliography

- Azouz EM. Magnetic resonance imaging of benign bone lesions: cysts and tumors. Top Magn Reson Imaging. 2002;13(4):219–29.
- Ciccarese F, Bazzocchi A, Ciminari R, Righi A, Rocca M, Rimondi E, Picci P, Bacchi Reggiani ML, Albisinni U, Zompatori M, Vanel D. The many faces of pulmonary metastases of osteosarcoma: retrospective study on 283 lesions submitted to surgery. Eur J Radiol. 2015;84(12):2679–85.

- Kind M, Stock N, Coindre JM. Histology and imaging of soft tissue sarcomas. Eur J Radiol. 2009;72(1):6–15. Review.
- Kransdorf MJ, Murphey MD. Imaging of soft-tissue musculoskeletal masses: fundamental concepts. Radiographics. 2016;36(6):1931–48.
- Labarre D, Aziza R. Detection of local recurrences of limb soft tissue sarcomas: is magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) relevant? Eur J Radiol. 2009;72(1):50–3.
- Leplat C, Hossu G, Chen B, De Verbizier J, Beaumont M, Blum A, Gondim Teixeira PA. Contrast-enhanced 3-T perfusion MRI with quantitative analysis for the characterization of musculoskeletal tumors: Is It worth the trouble? Am J Roentgenol. 2018;211:1092–8.
- Lodwick GS, Wilson AJ, Farrell C, Virtama P, Dittrich F. Estimating rate of growth in bone lesions: observer performance and error. Radiology. 1980;134(3):577–83.
- Miller SL, Hoffer FA. Malignant and benign bone tumors. Radiol Clin N Am. 2001;39(4):673–99.
- Murphey MD. World Health Organization classification of bone and soft tissue tumors: modifications and implications for radiologists. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2007;11(3):201–14.
- Paioli A, Rocca M, Cevolani L, Rimondi E, Vanel D, Palmerini E, Cesari M, Longhi A, Eraldo AM, Marchesi E, Picci P, Ferrari S. Osteosarcoma follow-up: chest X-ray or computed tomography? Clin Sarcoma Res. 2017;14(7):3.
- Palmerini E, Colangeli M, Nanni C, Fanti S, Marchesi E, Paioli A, Picci P, Cambioli S, Donati D, Cevolani L, De Paolis M, Gambarotti M, Ferrari S. The role of FDG PET/CT in patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy for localized bone sarcomas. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2017;44(2):215–23.
- Pasquali S, Bonvalot S, Tzanis D, Casali PG, Trama A, Gronchi A, RARECARENet Working Group. Treatment challenges in and outside a network setting: soft tissue sarcomas. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2019;45:31–9.
- Picci P, Mercuri M, Ferrari S, Alberghini M, Briccoli A, Ferrari C, Pignotti E, Bacci G. Survival in high-grade osteosarcoma: improvement over 21 years at a single institution. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(6):1366–73.
- Rodallec MH, Feydy A, Larousserie F, Anract P, Campagna R, Babinet A, Zins M, Drapé JL. Diagnostic imaging of solitary tumors of the spine: what to do and say. Radiographics. 2008;28(4):1019–41. Review.
- Shapeero LG, Vanel D. Imaging evaluation of the response of high-grade osteosarcoma and Ewing sarcoma to chemotherapy with emphasis on dynamic contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2000;4(1):137–46.
- Shapeero LG, Vanel D, Verstraete KL, Bloem JL. Dynamic contrast-enhanced MR imaging for soft tissue sarcomas. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 1999;3(2):101–14.
- van der Woude HJ, Verstraete KL, Hogendoorn PC, Taminiau AH, Hermans J, Bloem JL. Musculoskeletal tumors: does fast dynamic contrast-enhanced subtraction MR imaging contribute to the characterization? Radiology. 1998;208(3):821–8.

- van Vliet M, Kliffen M, Krestin GP, van Dijke CF. Soft tissue sarcomas at a glance: clinical, histological, and MR imaging features of malignant extremity soft tissue tumors. Eur Radiol. 2009;19(6):1499–511.
- Woertler K. Benign bone tumors and tumor-like lesions: value of cross-sectional imaging. Eur Radiol. 2003;13(8):1820–35. Review.
- Wu JS, Hochman MG. Soft-tissue tumors and tumorlike lesions: a systematic imaging approach. Radiology. 2009;253(2):297–316.
- Zhang J, Cheng K, Ding Y, Liang W, Ding Y, Vanel D, Cheng X. Study of single voxel 1H MR spectroscopy of bone tumors: differentiation of benign from malignant tumors. Eur J Radiol. 2013;82(12):2124–8.



8

Staging

Piero Picci

Tumors are labeled and classified according to their clinical (natural history) and histologic features. Such assessment however does not suffice to describe the actual behaviour of a given tumor in an individual patient. Moreover, to determine the anatomo-clinical diagnosis, staging of the tumor is necessary for each individual case.

Different staging systems are adopted for musculoskeletal lesions. The one preferred by orthopedic surgeons and in fact called "surgical staging system" has been devised by Enneking (1980). Oncologists prefer the American Joint Committee System (AJCS).

Surgical Staging System (SSS). According to Enneking (1983) "by compartment is meant an anatomical structure or space bounded by natural barriers to tumor extension." Natural barriers are the cortical bone, fascia and fascial septa, articular cartilage, joint capsule, tendons, and tendon sheaths. Fat and interstitial areolar tissues outside these compartments are extra-compartmental, like the tissue around neurovascular bundles. Natural barriers as cortical bone or fascia can be breached especially along their vascular perforations. The most resistant barrier is the articular cartilage, having no vascular perforations and

P. Picci (🖂)

probably an intrinsic resistance to tumor. The growth plate functions as a relative barrier, depending on anatomical site and age (perforated by vessels in early infancy and again at puberal age). The periosteum, the synovial membrane (until it is ulcerated and bleeding, producing a hemarthrosis containing neoplastic cells), and the sheath of the major nerves (perinervium) can be considered relative although very thin barriers. Where the joint capsule and synovium, the ligaments, and tendons insert into an epiphysis, apophysis or metaphysis, the only barrier is a thin bony cortex with vascular perforations, and therefore, the tumor easily extends from the cancellous bone to these structures and vice versa.

The system is based on the three classic parameters, G, T, and M.

G is the grade of the tumor, mainly dictated by histology. G0 is benign, G1 is low-grade malignant, and G2 is high-grade malignant. When a four-grade classification of malignancy is used, histological grades 1 and 2 are low; grades 3 and 4 high.

T is the tumor anatomic extension. T0 means a benign tumor contained by a true capsule (intracapsular). T1 is a benign or malignant tumor not having a true capsule, yet confined within an anatomical compartment. T2 is a benign or malignant tumor without a true capsule, originating in an extra-compartmental space, or expanded extra-compartmentally by violating the natural barriers.

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_8

M are the metastases, either regional (skip, lymph nodes) or distant. M0 means absence and M1 presence of metastases.

Benign tumors of both bone and soft tissues are staged 1 (latent, inactive), 2 (active), and 3 (aggressive).

Sarcomas (bone and soft tissues) are staged I (low-grade malignancy), II (high-grade malignancy), and III (with metastases). Each of the three stages is subdivided into A and B: whether the tumor is intra- or extra-compartmental in stage I and II, and if it is low or high grade in stage III.

Surgi	cal s	tages	for	benign	muscul	loske	letal	tumors
~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~								

Stage	Grade	Site	Metastases	Definition
1	G0	T0	M0	Latent or
				inactive
2	G0	T0	M0	Active
3	G0	T1-	M0-1	Aggressive
		T2		

Stage	Grade	Site	Metastases	Definition
				Low-grade
IA	G1	T1	M0	А
				intra-
				compartmental
IB	G1	T2	M0	В
				extra-
				compartmental
				High-grade
IIA	G2	T1	M0	А
				intra-
				compartmental
IIB	G2	T2	M0	В
				extra-
				compartmental
				Metastatic
IIIA-B	G1-2	T1-T2	MI	Either grade (A
				or B)
				Distant
				metastases

Surgical stages for malignant musculoskeletal tumors

BENIGN MUSCULOSKELETAL TUMORS



MALIGNANT MUSCULOSKELETAL TUMORS



The Enneking system is best suited for welldocumented sarcomas arising in the extremities. It does not include the type, size, and depth of the tumor as separate parameters, its two-tier grading system is too narrow for the wide biological range of soft tissue tumors.

American Joint Committee System (AJCS). Oncologists prefer the American Joint Committee system (AJCS) because it is applicable for any site. Based on the TNMG system, it uses size and tumor extension (T), involvement of lymph nodes (N), presence of metastasis (M), and the type and grade of tumor (G).

T1: < 5 cm; T2: 5 cm. o greater; T3: involvement of bone, vessels, nerve

N0: no metastasis to regional lymph node; **N1:** lymph node metastases

M0: no distant metastasis; M1: distant metastasis

G1: low grade, well-differentiated; **G2:** moderate (moderately well-differentiated)

G3: high grade, poorly differentiated

Stage	Grade	Site	Lymph node	Distant	Definition
			metastases	metastases	
IA	G1	T1	N0	M0	Low grade without metastases
IB	G1	T2	N0	M0	
IIA	G2	T1	N0	M0	Moderate grade without metastases
IIB	G2	T2	N0	M0	
IIIA	G3	T1	N0	M0	High grade without metastases
IIIB	G3	T2	N0	M0	
IIIC	G1-3	T1-2	N1	M0	Any tumor with lymph node metastases
IVA	G1-3	T3	N0-1	M0	Tumor involving bone, vessel, nerve with or without
					lymph node metastases
IVB	G1-3	T1-3	N0-1	M1	Any tumor with distant metastases

Selected Bibliography

- Enneking WF, Spanier SS, Goodman MA. A system for the surgical staging of musculoskeletal sarcoma. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1980;(153):106–20.
- Kotilingam D, Lev DC, Lazar AJ, Pollock RE. Staging soft tissue sarcoma: evolution and change. CA Cancer J Clin. 2006;56(5):282–91; quiz 314-5. Review.
- Saddegh MK, Lindholm J, Lundberg A, Nilsonne U, Kreicbergs A. Staging of soft-tissue sarcomas. Prognostic analysis of clinical and pathological features. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1992;74(4):495–500.
- Wolf RE, Enneking WF. The staging and surgery of musculoskeletal neoplasms. Orthop Clin North Am. 1996;27(3):473–81. Review.
- Wunder JS, Healey JH, Davis AM, Brennan MF. A comparison of staging systems for localized extremity soft tissue sarcoma. Cancer. 2000;88(12):2721–30.

Part II

Pseudotumoral and Benign Lesions of Bone



9

Simple Bone Cyst (Unicameral Bone Cyst)

Laura Campanacci

Definition: Central cystic lesion of bone, with a fluid content similar to serum, starting in the metaphysis during childhood and becoming inactive around or soon after the skeletal maturity. It is the only true cyst of bone that conforms to the pathologic definition of cyst. Simple bone cyst cavity will only contain blood if associated with a pathologic fracture.

Epidemiology: The simple bone cyst represents one of the most frequent osseous lesions. Males are more affected than females (2:1). It usually occurs in infancy and teenage (highest incidence between 5 and 15 years of age).



L. Campanacci (⊠) Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Laura.campanacci@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_9 **Localization:** It usually arises in the metaphysis of long bones, beneath the growth plate, but along with patient growth, the cyst migrates toward the diaphysis. Most common location is proximal humerus, followed by proximal femur.

Clinical: Simple bone cyst is painless and asymptomatic; it becomes painful if a pathologic fracture develops. Sometimes it presents as an incidental finding.

Imaging: The characteristic radiographic appearance is a pure osteolysis, extended to the whole cross section of the bone, thinning and "inflating" the cortex. Bony septa are usually present, giving the appearance of a multiloculated cyst. When fracture occurs, a small fragment of the wall may be seen on X-rays in the cavity, also known as "fallen fragment" sign. The cyst usually initiates centrally in the metaphysis, close to the growth plate, and progressively and slowly extends toward the diaphysis. The MRI shows an homogeneous liquid content in the cyst, bright in the T2-weighted images. The cortex even if very thin is well defined and continuous, with no periosteal reaction (except if there is a fracture).

Histhopathology: Grossly it appears as a cavity filled by serous or serosanguineous fluid. The cavity is lined by a thin membrane made of fibroblasts and few (if any) multinucleated giant cells. Cholesterol slits and hemosiderin deposits can be present. About 20% of the cyst walls contain clumps of pink, granular amorphous material (socalled wooly bone) composed of degenerated fibrinoid cementum-like material that is quite diagnostic of SBC when seen.

Course and Staging: Bone cysts are staged according to their activity. Lesions abutting to the growth plate usually have an internal pressure $> 30 \text{ cm H}_2\text{O}$, a shiny membrane, and overall clinical features of activity, being considered stage 2. Lesions located far from the physis usually have an internal lower pressure, a thicker membrane, and overall features of inactivity, being considered stage 1. Occasionally the fracture may induce spontaneous healing of the cyst.

Treatment and Prognosis: Treatment depends on the stage of the cyst, patient's age, and presence or not of a pathological fracture. In young patients and active cysts, percutaneous injections (with methylprednisolone or bone marrow) appear to have a reasonable success rate in the majority of active cysts. Pathological fracture usually induces ossification of the cyst. Curettage and bone grafting of the cyst +/- internal fixation in fracture or risk of fracture in weight bearing sites.



Radiographs of the proximal humerus and femur in two patients. Lesions are metaphyseal, start from the epiphyseal plate, are purely lytic, and in the middle of the bone.

The cortex is thin. The humeral lesion is broken (compound fracture with a small cortical fragment fallen into the cystic cavity: "fallen fragment")

Key points		Key points	
Clinical	Incidental findings or pain if fractured	Histological	Pure cavity, lined by a thin connective tissue
Radiological	Pure lytic, central, metaphyseal	Differential	None
	After fracture, "fallen fragment" sign	diagnosis	



(1) Thin and shiny membrane made up of loose collagen. In the wall of the cyst, there are fibroblasts, macrophages, and scattered lymphocytes. (2) Fibrinoid material, consid-

Selected Bibliography

- Baschang A, von Laer L. Indication and procedure of the operative treatment of benign bone cysts in children and adolescents. Eur J Pediatr Surg. 1991;1(4):207–9.
- Bensahel H, Jehanno P, Desgrippes Y, Pennecot GF. Solitary bone cyst: controversies and treatment. J Pediatr Orthop B. 1998;7(4):257–61.
- Capanna R, Albisinni U, Caroli GC, Campanacci M. Contrast examination as a prognostic factor in the treatment of solitary bone cyst by cortisone injection. Skelet Radiol. 1984;12(2):97–102.

ered pathognomonic of SBC, associated with calcifications

- Di Bella C, Dozza B, Frisoni T, Cevolani L, Donati D. Injection of demineralized bone matrix with bone marrow concentrate improves healing in unicameral bone cyst. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2010;468(11):3047–55.
- Margau R, Babyn P, Cole W, Smith C, Lee F. MR imaging of simple bone cysts in children: not so simple. Pediatr Radiol. 2000;30(8):551–7.
- Zhao JG, Wang J, Huang WJ, Zhang P, Ding N, Shang J. Interventions for treating simple bone cysts in the long bones of children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;2:CD010847.

Langerhans' Cell Histiocytosis

Laura Campanacci

Definition: Group of multiple-systemic diseases may involve bone marrow, internal organs, skin, and mucosae, characterized by a histiocytic proliferation of granuloma-like aspect. The pathogenesis is unclear; viruses, bacteria, and genetic factors have been implicated. An immunological dysfunction has also been reported; familial occurrence is very rare.

(a) Localized in the skeleton: solitary or multiple eosinophilic granuloma

(b) Chronic disseminated: including Hand– Schuller–Christian disease

(c) Acute/subacute diffused: including Letterer-Siwe disease

10.1 Eosinophilic Granuloma

Epidemiology: More frequently solitary, multiple <10%. Males. 5–10 years of age.





L. Campanacci (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Laura.campanacci@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_10





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Flat and short bones of the trunk: skull (parietal, frontal site), ribs, pelvis, vertebral body, clavicle, and scapula. Among long bones: proximal half of the femur, humerus, and tibia (diaphyseal localization is typical). Very rare in the hand and foot.

Clinical: Pain, wide swelling in superficial bones, rare pathologic fracture; radicular pain, rarely signs of medullary compression and deformities of the column in vertebral lesions. Rare mild increase in sedimentation rate and mild eosinophilia.

Imaging: Imaging varies according to the age, localization, and phase of the lesion. Standard X-rays usually show an osteolytic lesion with variable features. Sometimes rounded, often polycyclic, well-defined margins, thin sclerotic rim, and overall benign-looking appearance. Sometimes "moth-eaten" pattern with ill-defined

margins, no sclerotic rim, "onion-skin" periosteal reaction mimicking a malignant process (e.g., Ewing sarcoma). Uniform, rapid flattening of the vertebral body reduced to a thin bony lamina (vertebra plana) is typical. Bone scan sometimes shows multiple lesions, but usually does not show an intense uptake, sometimes it can even appear almost negative. On MRI light gray, intermediate low signal on T1, and a higher than fat, bright signal on T2.

Histopathology: Soft, semi-liquid, yellowishgray tissue, with areas of hemorrhage or necrosis. Background of inflammatory cells (lymphocytes, plasma cells, macrophages, rare neutrophils, and abundant eosinophilyc granulocytes, sometimes forming eosinophilic abscesses). Langerhans cells are the diagnostic cells. They are characterized by a wide cytoplasm with ill-defined membrane and reniform, indented, pale nucleus, a small nucleolus with nuclear grooves, imparting a "coffee bean" appearance. Sporadic giant cells and foam cells can also be present.

Course and Staging: Rapid growth, spontaneously self-limiting, and tendency to healing with at least partial bone repair, rare evolution into multiple type, exceptional transformation into chronic diffused type. Usually stage 2, rarely stage 3.

Treatment: Even if not treated tends to a spontaneous healing, or this may happen after a simple needle biopsy. Needle biopsy, frozen section, and steroid injection are treatment of choice. Clinically very successful with complete or almost complete repair in 2 years. Bracing or

casting required in the spine. Systemic cortisone and chemotherapy are used in multiple lesions.

Key points			
Clinical	Pain, swelling, rapidly increasing		
Radiological	Variable aspects, from benign to aggressive aspects		
Histological	Langerhans cells, leukocytes, eosinophils		
Differential	Osteomyelitis, Ewing sarcoma		
diagnosis			
Immunohistochem	ical panel		
CD1a		+	
S100		+	



Langerin

AP and lateral radiographs of the spine: complete vertebral collapse of T9. No soft tissue mass

Radiograph of the fibula: poorly limited lytic lesion of the shaft, with irregular periosteal bone formation. Differential diagnosis with Ewing sarcoma or an acute infection may be very difficult at the onset of disease



Woman 25 years old. MRI (T2 weighted) of L2 shows irregular osteolysis surrounded by bone edema. Standard X-ray of the pelvis shows a roundish osteolysis in the left iliac wing with thin rim of bone sclerosis



Background of large Langerhans cells, generally organized in a more or less loose net, rarely collected in nests or nodules.
 Infiltration of eosinophilic granulocytes.
 Mixed inflammatory cells (eosinophils, neutrophils,

Selected Bibliography

- DiCaprio MR, Roberts TT. Diagnosis and management of Langerhans cell histiocytosis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2014;22(10):643–52.
- Ghanem I, Tolo VT, D'Ambra P, Malogalowkin MH. Langerhans cell histiocytosis of bone in children and adolescents. J Pediatr Orthop. 2003;23(1):124–30.
- Han I, Suh ES, Lee SH, Cho HS, Oh JH, Kim HS. Management of eosinophilic granuloma occurring in the appendicular skeleton in children. Clin Orthop Surg. 2009;1(2):63–7.
- Howarth DM, Gilchrist GS, Mullan BP, Wiseman GA, Edmonson JH, Schomberg PJ. Langerhans cell histio-

and lymphocytes). (4) "Coffee bean" nuclei, with indentations in the nuclear membrane, typical and diagnostic feature of Langerhans cells

cytosis: diagnosis, natural history, management, and outcome. Cancer. 1999;85(10):2278–90.

- Kilpatrick SE, Wenger DE, Gilchrist GS, Shives TC, Wollan PC, Unni KK. Langerhans' cell histiocytosis (histiocytosis X) of bone. A clinicopathologic analysis of 263 pediatric and adult cases. Cancer. 1995;76(12):2471–84.
- Plasschaert F, Craig C, Bell R, Cole WG, Wunder JS, Alman BA. Eosinophilic granuloma. A different behaviour in children than in adults. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2002;84(6):870–2.

47

11

Histiocytic Fibroma

Laura Campanacci

Synonyms: Non-ossifying fibroma, Metaphyseal fibrous defect, Fibrous cortical defect, Fibrous xanthoma

Definition: It is a common benign lesion essentially consisting of histio-fibroblastic tissue, most frequently originating eccentrically, in the metaphyseal portion of a long bone, in a skeletally immature individual.

The tendency to remain asymptomatic and spontaneously resolve in most instances and the common relationship with tendon and ligament insertions in proximity of the growth plate suggest a posttraumatic or developmental defect producing faulty ossification rather than a true neoplasm. It is not infrequent to see two or three lesions in either one or both lower extremities of the same patient. A different and very rare clinical scenario is the association of numerous multiple histiocytic fibromas, more extensively involving the skeleton, with extraskeletal abnormalities. This condition known as Jaffe–Campanacci syndrome will be discussed separately.

Epidemiology: Overall, it is a very frequent lesion, the incidence of which has been estimated around 30%. However, patients are in most instances asymptomatic, and the true incidence is therefore underestimated. There is slight male sex predominance. It is typical in childhood and adolescence, being rare before 5 and after 20 years of age.

L. Campanacci (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Laura.campanacci@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_11





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: It is generally localized in the metaphysis at first and then displaced toward the diaphysis. It starts intracortically/subperiosteally. Most of the lesions are located around the knee and ankle. It is rare in the proximal femur and upper limb, exceptional in the trunk, hand, and foot. Two or three lesions may appear in the same or both lower limbs (e.g., distal femur and proximal tibia).

Clinical Aspects: Diagnosis is usually based on a radiogram obtained for unrelated reasons (usually trauma), histiocytic fibroma being the most classic and common lesion diagnosed as incidental finding. Rarely, pathologic fractures may occur in larger lesions (more than 1/2–2/3 of the bone cross section, particularly for the distal tibia and fibula).

Imaging: Standard X-rays are usually diagnostic. The defect is metaphyseal, intracortical, and/or subperiosteal. Generally lobulated, its inner boundaries are surrounded by a rim of bone sclerosis. The osteolytic image may appear multilocular due to corrugations of the bony wall. The cortex is sometimes attenuated, rarely slightly expanded due to chronic periosteal reaction.

Histopathology: Tissue is compact, rubbery soft, tan brown in color, sometimes containing yellow (foam cells) or dark (hemosiderin) areas. Dense network of cellular typically plump spindle cells with a prominent storiform pattern, and with scattered multinucleated giant cells. Intra- and extra-cytoplasmatic hemosiderin and lipid-loaded foam cells are common findings. Mitotic figures, foci of reactive bone, and infiltration in between the host bony trabeculae can be present.

Course and Staging: Tumor growth stops at skeletal maturity and very frequently even before. The lesion then tends to ossify slowly. The stage is initially 1 or 2 and then constantly becomes 1.

Treatment and Prognosis: The majority of histiocytic fibromas do not require treatment; diagnosis can usually be made on clinicoradiographic features avoiding biopsy. Occurrence of a pathologic fracture per se is not an indication for surgery, as fractures heal essentially in a normal fashion. Curettage and bone grafting are rarely needed for large lesions, possibly associated with internal fixation for displaced fractures.

Key points	
Clinical	Incidental findings
Radiological	Eccentric, lobulated,
	subperiosteal or intracortical
Histological	Bland spindle cells without
	atypia in a storiform pattern
Differential	Chondromyxoid fibroma (at
diagnosis	imaging)
	Fibrous dysplasia



Radiographs of the knee. The lesion is lytic, metadiaphyseal, centered on the cortex, and limited by a sclerotic line. As it was painless, diagnosis of histiocytic fibroma was sure, and biopsy was not performed. With time ossification that slowly completely regressed appeared in the proximal (older part) lesion



(1) Compact histio-fibroblastic tissue arranged in imbricated and whorled bundles (storiform pattern). (2) Great number of slightly plump and well-stained nuclei; rare and normal mitotic figures (active areas of the lesion). (3)

11.1 Multiple Histiocytic Fibromas with Extraskeletal Abnormalities (Jaffe-Campanacci's Syndrome)

It is a very rare condition possibly linked to neurofibromatosis. Multiple large histiocytic fibromas extend to the long bones of one or both lower limbs Small and sparse giant cells, less numerous cells, and more abundant collagenous bundles (florid stage). (4) Foam cells (regressive phenomena of the tumor)

or to the four limbs with prevalence in one side of the body and even including the pelvis. Café au lait skin spots are usually seen. Occasionally, mental retardation, hypogonadism or criptorchidism, ocular and cardiovascular anomalies, and other skin alterations suggestive of neurofibromatosis are associated.

More frequently symptomatic, as compared to the usual histiocytic fibroma, they cause slight expansion of the bone, stress or pathologic fractures, and sometimes deformity or limb length discrepancy.

Imaging: Lesions are rather extensive and, from the metaphysis, tend to involve the diaphysis. Osteolyses are mostly intracortical or eccentric. The cortex may be very thin or absent. Differential diagnosis includes multifocal fibrous dysplasia, but imaging and histopathology is quite different in the two lesions.

Histopathology: Same as conventional histiocytic fibroma.

Course: Similar to conventional histiocytic fibroma. The lesions do not expand after skeletal maturity and then tend to be replaced by sclerotic bone.

Treatment: Aimed to prevent pathologic fractures and address deformities.

Selected Bibliography

- Betsy M, Kupersmith LM, Springfield DS. Metaphyseal fibrous defects. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2004;12:89–95.
- Jee WH, Choe BY, Kang HS, et al. Nonossifying fibroma: characteristics at MR imaging with pathologic correlation. Radiology. 1998;209:197–202.
- Levine SM, Lambiase RE, Petchprapa CN. Cortical lesions of the tibia: characteristic appearances at conventional radiography. Radiographics. 2003;23:157–77.
- Mankin HJ, Trahan CA, Fondren G, Mankin CJ. Nonossifying fibroma, fibrous cortical defect and Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome: a biologic and clinical review. Chir Organi Mov. 2009;93(1):1–7. Review.
- Mirra JM, Gold RH, Rand F. Disseminated nonossifying fibromas in association with café-au-lait spots (Jaffe-Campanacci syndrome). Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1982;(168):192–205.
- Vanel D, Ruggieri P, Ferrari S, Picci P, Gambarotti M, Staals E, Alberghini M. The incidental skeletal lesion: ignore or explore? Cancer Imaging (2009);9(Spec No A):S38–43. Review.



Radiograph of the knee, lateral view. Multiple histiocytic fibromas. The lesion of the tibia is broken. The one on the fibula appears centered and not cortical. This pattern is frequent in thin bones



12

Fibrous Dysplasia

Piero Picci

12.1 Related Conditions: McCune–Albright Syndrome, Mazabraud Syndrome

Definition: Intramedullary lesion consisting of a peculiar fibro-osseous tissue; it may be either monostotic or polyostotic.

Epidemiology: Monostotic fibrous dysplasia is frequent, polyostotic uncommon, and

McCune–Albright syndrome is rare. Difficult to assess true incidence because often asymptomatic. Slight female predominance. Usually diagnosed between age 10 and 30. When asymptomatic, it can be discovered at any age. The polyostotic forms and McCune–Albright syndrome manifest in early childhood.

P. Picci (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_12

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

Fibrous Dysplasia 721 cases

Including: 10 cases of McCune Albright's Syndrome and 6 cases of Mazabraud's Syndrome



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Femur (proximal), tibia, craniofacial bones, and ribs; then humerus, forearm, and pelvis. Same sites in multicentric and polyostotic disease. Frequently more areas in the same long bone or two to three adjacent bones are affected. Lower limb more frequent than upper limb. Hand and foot are involved almost only in extensive polyostotic forms. Spine, scapula, and clavicle are rarely affected. Poliostotic type is usually prevalent in one body side.

Clinical: Monostotic is usually asymptomatic representing an incidental finding. Polyostotic: discontinuous pain (fatigue fractures), bony expansion in superficial bone, pathologic fracture, deformity, and lower limb length discrepancy. In polyostotic forms also cafè au lait spots ("coast of Maine"), multiple endocrine abnormalities (McCune–Albright syndrome), and intramuscular mixomas (Mazabraud syndrome).

Imaging: Standard X-rays show defined defect involving cortical and cancellous areas. Margins are well defined, sometimes marked by a rind of bone sclerosis. The cortex is sometimes thinned and expanded but continuous. No periosteal reaction. Radiolucency of "ground glass" appearance depends upon the amount of intratumoral trabeculae of woven bone. Severe "shepherd's crook" deformity of the proximal femur, usual in polyostotic form. Isotope scan: rather hot (diffuse dysplastic bone formation) and corresponding to radiographic extent. CT: homogeneity of ground glass radiolucency; cystic cavities and cartilaginous areas (sometimes calcified) when present. MRI: fairly homogenous low signal in T1.

Histopathology: Periosteum is not involved; underlying cortex is regularly smooth but thin. Lesional tissue, well defined from surrounding bone, whitish to pink, from fibrous to gritty, to hard bony. Sometimes, hemorrhagic areas or cystic spaces with serohematic content are present. Rarely, sparse lobules of hyaline cartilage are embedded in the above-described tissue. Histologically, it is characterize by a mixture of plump not atypical spindle cells and islands of woven bony trabeculae irregularly shaped, in the so-called "chinese letters" or "alphabet letters" fashion. Usually, bony trabeculae show no clearcut osteoblastic rimming. Benign giant cells and foam cells are commonly found. Mitotic figures are uncommon and never atypical. Islands of cartilage may dominate the histologic appearance (so-called "fibrocartilaginous dysplasia"). It may show secondary aneurysmal bone cyst like areas.

Course and Staging: Lesions are usually stage 2 in children and adolescents and stage 1 in adults. If a lesion expands and becomes symptomatic in an adult, this may be due to hemorrhage (during pregnancy). Rarely (less than 0.5% of the reported cases) a sarcoma may develop on a fibrous dysplasia. It usually occurs in adult of advanced age, both in monostotic and in polyostotic fibrous dysplasias, more frequent after radiation therapy.

Treatment: Frequently not needed. Curettage and grafting of active lesions should be avoided. Deformities may need corrective osteotomies and internal fixation, preferably by intramedullary devices.

Key points			
Clinical	Incidental findings		
 Radiological 	"Ground glass" appearance		
Histological	Benign fibroblastic lesion producing immature woven bone. No osteoblasts		
Differential Low-grade central osteosarcoma diagnosis			
Chromosomal trans	locations		
Point mutations	GNAS1 20q13.32 93%		



Radiograph of the proximal femur. The lesion is metadiaphyseal, eccentric, sclerotic, and heterogeneous. It is well limited by a sclerotic ring



Radiograph of the hip. Lytic and sclerotic well-limited lesions. Typical femoral neck deformity (Shepherd's crook)



Histopathologic features are represented by immature bone trabeculae enmeshed in immature histio-fibroblastic tissue. (1) The dysplastic bone trabeculae are generally small and shaped like Chinese ideograms; they are usually not bordered by rows of osteoblasts. Trabeculae have a woven structure. (2) Undifferentiated fibrous connective tissue surrounding the trabeculae. The histio-fibroblasts are numerous and plump, with rare mitotic figures

Selected Bibliography

- Anitha N, Sankari SL, Malathi L, Karthick R. Fibrous dysplasia-recent concepts. J Pharm Bioallied Sci. 2015;7(Suppl 1):S171–2.
- Case DB, Chapman CN Jr, Freeman JK, Polga JP. Best cases from the AFIP: atypical presentation of polyostotic fibrous dysplasia with myxoma (Mazabraud syndrome). Radiographics. 2010;30(3):827–32.
- Dorfman HD. New knowledge of fibro-osseous lesions of bone. Int J Surg Pathol. 2010;18(3 Suppl):62S–5S. Review.
- Dujardin F, Binh MB, Bouvier C, Gomez-Brouchet A, Larousserie F, Muret AD, Louis-Brennetot C, Aurias A, Coindre JM, Guillou L, Pedeutour F, Duval H, Collin C, de Pinieux G. MDM2 and CDK4 immunohistochemistry is a valuable tool in the differential

diagnosis of low-grade osteosarcomas and other primary fibro-osseous lesions of the bone. Mod Pathol. 2011;24:624–37.

- Dumitrescu CE, Collins MT. McCune-Albright syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2008;3:12.
- Riddle ND, Bui MM. Fibrous dysplasia. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2013;137(1):134–8.
- Ruggieri P, Sim FH, Bond JR, Unni KK. Malignancies in fibrous dysplasia. Cancer. 1994;73(5):1411–24.
- Szuhai K, Cleton-Jansen AM, Hogendoorn PC, Bovée JV. Molecular pathology and its diagnostic use in bone tumors. Cancer Genet. 2012;205(5):193–204.
- Yoshida A, Ushiku T, Motoi T, Shibata T, Beppu Y, Fukayama M, Tsuda H. Immunohistochemical analysis of MDM2 and CDK4 distinguishes lowgrade osteosarcoma from benign mimics. Mod Pathol. 2010;23(9):1279–88.



13

Osteofibrous Dysplasia of Long Bones

Alberto Righi

Definition: Benign fibro-osseous lesion of bone, characteristically involving cortical bone of the anterior mid-shaft of the tibia of young patients. This lesion is also called osteofibrous dysplasia of long bones (DOFOL), Kempson-Campanacci disease, and ossifying fibroma of long bones.

Epidemiology: Rare (<1% of all bone tumors). No clear sex predilection. Usually observed in infantile age, below 5 or 10. Rare cases are congenital.



Osteofibrous Dysplasia of Long Bones

A. Righi (🖂)

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: alberto.righi@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_13

Localization: The lesion is almost exclusively localized in the anterior cortex of the mid-shaft of the tibia, occasionally involving the ipsilateral or contralateral fibula. Exceptionally in ulna, radius, and humerus.

Clinical: The symptoms are moderate expansion of the bone, anterior or valgus-varus bowing of the diaphysis. The lesion is painless. Stress and pathologic fractures are not uncommon. Pseudoarthrosis is exceptional.

Imaging: The lesion typically appears as an intracortical osteolysis of the anterior cortex of the tibia, often associated with an anterior bowing of the diaphysis. The cortex is regularly and moderately expanded, very thin, and with a smooth surface. Toward the medulla, the osteolysis is bordered by a rim of sclerotic bone, so that the medullary canal is frequently narrowed or closed. The osteolysis can be multilocular, with a bubbly appearance. Some of the lesions are veiled by a tenuous ground-glass radiodensity. Bone scan is typically hot. On MR, the lesions show high intensity on T2-weighted images and fat-suppressed images.

Histopathology: Grossly, it is composed of yellow, gray, or white tissues, generally firm and gritty in consistency. Histologically, it is characterized by irregularly shaped, curvilinear woven bony trabeculae, rimmed by cubic osteoblasts, sometimes with scattered osteoclasts. Between the bony trabeculae, an hypocellular proliferation of bland not atypical spindle cells in a storiform pattern is present. The intercellular stroma is collagenous to myxoid. The bone trabeculae tend to be sparse, thin, and woven in the center of the

lesion, to gradually become more abundant, anastomosing, and lamellar toward the periphery, where both the trabeculae and the fibrous tissue blend with the surrounding host bone (zonal architecture). Secondary changes such as hemorrhagic areas, foam cells, and cystic changes may be present. Isolated cytokeratin-positive epithelial cells are present in about 90% of cases, not obvious on the hematoxylin-eosin stain.

Course and Staging: The lesion may progress considerably in the first years of life, thereafter stabilizes, and after 10–12 years of age, slowly repairs through peripheral bone thickening.

Treatment and Prognosis: Attempts to intralesional excision before the lesion has stabilized are regularly followed by local recurrence. Surgery (not even biopsy) is usually not indicated. The child should be protected, when indicated, by bracing, and monitored until spontaneous repair occurs. The prognosis is good, except for the more severe cases ending up with leg deformity and shortening. Progression into adamantinoma has been reported in rare cases.

Tibia (or fibula) in children,			
moderate expansion of the bone			
Intracortical expansion with			
deformity			
Bland spindle cell proliferation			
with immature woven bone			
bordered by osteoblasts			
Adamantinoma			
Immunohistochemical panel			
are isolated positive cells			



Lateral radiograph and sagittal T1 MR image. There is bowing of the tibia. The lesion is centered on the anterior cortex of the shaft of the tibia, lytic, and well limited



Benign fibro-osseous proliferation: (1) bland spindle cell proliferation with a storiform pattern, in a collagenous to myxoid stroma, (2) irregularly shaped woven bony trabeculae with osteoblastic rimming. Open vessels are characteristics



Isolated cytokeratin-positive epithelial cells

13.1 Osteofibrous Dysplasia and Adamantinoma

These two lesions are so related as to deserve to be described under the same heading. Both are rare, but adamantinoma is three times rarer than osteofibrous dysplasia. Osteofibrous dysplasia is a benign even spontaneously regressing lesion, while adamantinoma is a low-grade malignant tumor capable of metastasizing. Osteofibrous dysplasia is typical of childhood, while adamantinoma generally occurs in young adults; there are, however, exceptional cases of adamantinoma in children. Osteofibrous dysplasia and adamantinoma are almost exclusive of tibia and fibula. The clinical and radiological presentations of these two lesions can be different, but frequently they are similar if not identical. Histologically, osteofibrous dysplasia is characterized by a fibroosseous component containing isolated epithelial cells quite always visible only in keratin immunostaining, while adamantinoma contains large nests of epithelial cells, evident on hematoxylineosin stain. Progression of osteofibrous dysplasia into adamantinoma has been reported in rare cases. Osteofibrous dysplasia and adamantinoma are related clinically, radiologically, immunohistochemically, and genetically. Two main hypotheses exist to describe the relationship between these two lesions. According to Dorfman, osteofibrous dysplasia results from a secondary reparative process of overgrowing matured and regressing epithelial tumor tissue; this means that adamantinoma can regresses in osteofibrous dysplasia, with the osteofibrous component being reparative and with a quite total disappearance of the epithelial cells (similar to regressing neuroblastoma). According to Mirra, osteofibrous dysplasia contains foci of epithelial cells which can originate a malignant tumor; this means that osteofibrous dysplasia can evolve in adamantinoma (similar to benign notochordal cell tumor originating chordoma).

Selected Bibliography

- Benassi MS, Campanacci L, Gamberi G, Ferrari C, Picci P, Sangiorgi L, Campanacci M. Cytokeratin expression and distribution in adamantinoma of the long bones and osteofibrous dysplasia of tibia and fibula. An immunohistochemical study correlated to histogenesis. Histopathology. 1994;25(1):71–6.
- Bethapudi S, Ritchie DA, Macduff E, Straiton J. Imaging in osteofibrous dysplasia, osteofibrous dysplasialike adamantinoma, and classic adamantinoma. Clin Radiol. 2014;69(2):200–8.
- Campanacci M, Laus M. Osteofibrous dysplasia of the tibia and fibula. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1981;63(3):367–75.
- Gleason BC, Liegl-Atzwanger B, Kozakewich HP, Connolly S, Gebhardt MC, Fletcher JA, Perez-Atayde AR. Osteofibrous dysplasia and adamantinoma in children and adolescents: a clinicopathologic reappraisal. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32(3):363–76.
- Khanna M, Delaney D, Tirabosco R, Saifuddin A. Osteofibrous dysplasia, osteofibrous dysplasialike adamantinoma and adamantinoma: correlation of radiological imaging features with surgical histol-

ogy and assessment of the use of radiology in contributing to needle biopsy diagnosis. Skeletal Radiol. 2008;37(12):1077–84.

- Most MJ, Sim FH, Inwards CY. Osteofibrous dysplasia and adamantinoma. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010;18(6):358–66.
- Puchner SE, Varga R, Hobusch GM, Kasparek M, Panotopoulos J, Lang S, Windhager R, Funovics PT. Long-term outcome following treatment of adamantinoma and osteofibrous dysplasia of long bones. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2016;102(7):925–32.
- Simoni P, Scarciolla L, Mutijima E, Zobel BB. Osteofibrous dysplasia: a case report and review of the literature. Radiol Case Rep. 2015;6(4):546.
- Taylor RM, Kashima TG, Ferguson DJ, Szuhai K, Hogendoorn PC, Athanasou NA. Analysis of stromal cells in osteofibrous dysplasia and adamantinoma of long bones. Mod Pathol. 2012;25:56–64.
- Vigorita VJ, Hogendoorn PCW, Sawyer JR. Osteofibrous dysplasia. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 354–5.



Desmoid Fibroma

Laura Campanacci

14.1 Desmoplastic Fibroma of Bone

Definition: It is a benign neoplasm composed of spindle cells and collagen, similar to desmoid-type fibromatosis of soft tissues. **Importance:** Slow-growing benign tumor with a high tendency to local recurrence.

Epidemiology: Tumor occurs rarely and more frequently in males. The majority of the cases are aged less than 30 years at diagnosis.



L. Campanacci (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Laura.campanacci@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_14

Localization: Desmoid fibroma is more frequent in the mandible, long bones, and pelvis. In the long bones, it is more often observed in the meta-diaphysis, but it may be diaphyseal. During adult age, it usually extends to the epiphysis.

Clinical: Symptoms are mild and late (the lesion grows slowly and is not very vascularized) and include moderate pain and possible pathologic fractures.

Imaging: The radiographic picture shows a large osteolysis, usually with expansion of the bone. The original cortex may be replaced by a thin shell of newly formed bone. Occasionally and focally, the tumor breaches the cortex with no clear demarcation toward the surrounding tissues. Rather typically, osteolysis has a finely trabeculated, reticulated, or bubbly appearance. Reactive chronic hyperostosis can produce a rind of sclerosis at the edges of the tumor. On angiography and CT, the tumor only moderately takes the contrast, and it appears relatively "cold" on isotope scan. MRI gives a low signal in T1 and T2 suggestive of dense collagenous tissue.

Histopathology: Hypocellular spindle cell tumor associated with large amounts of collagen. Nuclei have a bland appearance with no atypia and few mitotic figures. Areas of relative hypercellularity can be present, but are not common. β -Catenin pathway does not seem to have the same role in the tumorigenesis of desmoid tumor, as it has in the desmoid-type fibromatosis.

Course and Staging: Growth of the tumor is very slow; it may even take several years prior to causing symptoms. The stage is 2 or 3.

Treatment and Prognosis: Although historical data indicated wide en bloc resection as the treatment of choice, recent experiences show that aggressive curettage is about equally effective providing better functional results. Desmoid fibroma does not metastasize.

Key points			
Clinical		Mild symptoms	
Radiological		Slow growing lytic lesion with possible expansion of the cortex	
Histological		Bland spindle cells resembling desmoid-type fibromatosis of soft tissues	
Differential		Low-grade fibrosarcoma	
diagnosis			
Immunohistochemical panel			
Smooth M Act	+/-	_	
 β-Catenin 	+ (nuclear staining, occasionally)		



Lytic well-limited lesion of the ilio pubic ramus. At the periphery the lesion has a slight infiltrating pattern, and this is the reason for the high tendency of local recurrence. The lesion has a low-intermediate signal on T2 image, indicating fibrous tissue


Hypocellular proliferation of spindle cells with slender nuclei associated with large amounts of fibrillar, hyalinized, or keloid-like collagen. "Open" vessels are typical

Selected Bibliography

- Frick MA, Sundaram M, Unni KK, Inwards CY, Fabbri N, Trentani F, Bacchini P, Bertoni F. Imaging findings in desmoplastic fibroma of bone: distinctive T2 characteristics. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2005;184(6):1762–7.
- Gould CF, Ly JQ, Lattin GE Jr, Beall DP, Sutcliffe JB 3rd. Bone tumor mimics: avoiding misdiagnosis. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2007;36(3):124–41. Review.
- Hauben EI, Jundt G, Cleton-Jansen AM, Yavas A, Kroon HM, Van Marck E, Hogendoorn PC. Desmoplastic fibroma of bone: an immunohistochemical study including beta-catenin expression and mutational analysis for beta-catenin. Hum Pathol. 2005;36(9):1025–30.
- Koba T, Susa M, Nakayama R, Watanabe I, Horiuchi K, Mukai M, Yabe H, Toyama Y, Morioka

H. Desmoplastic fibroma arising in the distal phalanx of the great toe: a case report. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2014;53(1):71–4.

- Prasad H, Jagadesh G. Desmoid tumor of ilio-acetabular region with articular cartilage breach: a case report. J Orthop Case Rep. 2013;3(4):16–8.
- Taconis WK, Schütte HE, van der Heul RO. Desmoplastic fibroma of bone: a report of 18 cases. Skeletal Radiol. 1994;23(4):283–8.
- Vaz G, Richard A, Guyen O, Bejui-Hugues J, Carret JP. Desmoplastic fibroma or bone desmoid tumor: two cases. Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot. 2005;91(8):782–7.
- Woods TR, Cohen DM, Islam MN, Rawal Y, Bhattacharyya I. Desmoplastic fibroma of the mandible: a series of three cases and review of literature. Head Neck Pathol. 2015;9(2):196–204.



15

Chondromas

Davide Maria Donati and Eric L. Staals

15.1 Solitary Chondroma (Enchondroma)

Epidemiology: Relatively frequent. No predilection for either sex. May be diagnosed at any age.

Definition: Intramedullary neoplasm made of well-differentiated hyaline cartilage.



Solitary Enchondroma

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

D. M. Donati (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: davide.donati@ior.it

E. L. Staals Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: ericlodewijk.staals@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_15 **Localization:** Chondromas occur only in bones that undergo secondary ossification of cartilage during skeletal development. They are very frequently seen in the tubular bones of the hand, where they represent the most common bone tumor. The other chondromas are mainly distributed in the long bones, with preference for the femur. The real incidence of chondroma is unknown, as most of these lesions do not cause any symptoms.

Clinical: Most chondromas are incidental findings on imaging studies. Pain can be due to small cracks or pathological fractures that often occur after minor trauma of the hands. A mild expansion of the cortex can be seen or palpated in superficial bones, such as tubular bones of the hand or foot, ribs, fibula.

Imaging: The lesion is frequently central, sometimes eccentric or intracortical. On radiographs it is usually an osteolysis, with rounded, lobulated, well-defined edges with a thin rind of reactive sclerosis. Often the lesion contains granular, popcorn, ring-like opacities that represent calcification and ossification at the periphery of the cartilage lobules. Chondroma can reach considerable extension in major long bones but rarely exceeds 10 cm. In the long tubular bones, the cortex is intact and does not show erosions. In small bones (hand, ribs), the cortex can be thinned and the bone expanded creating a palpable deformity. CT scan demonstrates the lobular or multiisland nature of the lesion, its sharp limits, and its radio-densities, as well as status of the cortex. MRI at best defines longitudinal extension; the lesion has low signal in T1, high signal in T2, and calcifications are seen as black signal-voids in both T1 and T2. Isotope scan is hot in most lesions and regularly reveals asymptomatic chondromas when performed as a staging examination in case of malignancies.

Histopathology: Lesion consists of lobules of cartilage. The aspect is typical of hyaline cartilage. Calcified areas appear as white opaque granules. Reactive or enchondral ossifications

manifest as white-yellow hard rings and streaks around and between the lobules. The limits of the lesion are often irregular, as lobules of cartilage push toward the cancellous bone and excavate little niches in the cortex, but always well defined. The chondrocytes are sparse, with small, round, dense nuclei, of relatively uniform size. Occasionally, isogenous groups of cells can be seen. Double-nucleated cells are present, usually rare, but can be moderate. This does not really distinguish well benign enchondroma from chondrosarcoma. While diagnosis of cartilage tumor is usually easy even on clinico-imaging findings alone, the real problem is to differentiate chondroma from grade chondrosarcoma. 1 Histologically, this distinction is difficult:

- (a) Grade 1 chondrosarcoma has a higher cellularity, more plump nuclei, more than 4–5 double-nucleated cells per high-power field, but such features are subjective.
- (b) Areas of chondroma and grade 1 chondrosarcoma may be found in the same tumor.
- (c) The histological indicators of low-grade malignancy are meaningless if the lesion is in the hand, or in a child, or periosteal, or in chondromatosis. A useful differential element is represented by the relationship between tumor and host bone. Chondroma may present with cartilage islands scattered in the bone, usually encased by a shell of mature lamellar bone. Chondrosarcoma, on the contrary, permeates marrow spaces and haversian channels of the host in at least 90% of cases. The permeative pattern is 99% accurate, although cartilage permeation-like areas can be found in advanced osteoarthritis and in post fracture epiphyses.

Course and Staging: Until skeletal maturity, chondroma grows slowly, and then it tends to stop. Thus, chondroma is stage 2 in children and stage 1 in adults. The exact incidence of malignant transformation of a solitary chondroma is

unknown and controversial. Transformation is very rare in the hands, probably less rare in the trunk and limb girdles.

Treatment and Prognosis: Diagnosis can usually be made on clinico-radiographic features. The majority of chondromas do not require biopsy or surgical treatment. Enchondromas of the hand are sometimes treated with curettage and bone grafting because of pain, pathologic fracture, or cosmesis. Rarely, biopsy may be indicated if the diagnosis of enchondroma is unclear and a chondrosarcoma is suspected. Follow-up with serial radiographs or MRI is helpful in the differential diagnosis vs. grade 1 chondrosarcoma. After the epiphyseal plate is closed, enchondromas show little to no growth, chondrosarcoma growth is slow but continuous, and is associated with increasing pain, also at rest.

Key points	
Clinical	Incidental findings
Radiological	Central, lobulated, granular, and ring-like calcifications
Histological	Lobules of benign cartilage ossified at the periphery without infiltration of the cancellous host bone
• Differential diagnosis	Low-grade central chondrosarcoma



AP radiograph and coronal T1 MR of the distal femur. Well-limited lesion, centered in the medullary cavity, with typical cartilaginous calcifications (round with a clear center). The cortex and soft tissues are not involved



Radiograph of a finger. Well-limited lesion, containing cartilaginous calcifications



(1) Cartilaginous lobules with mature matrix. (2) Normal fatty marrow in between the cartilaginous lobules

15.2 Periosteal Chondroma

Definition: Benign cartilage neoplasm originating at the surface of the bone.

Rather rare, it is usually observed in children or young adults. It prefers the metaphysis of the long bones, particularly the proximal humerus. It is usually moderately painful because of nociception by the periosteum and typically presents as a hard, bony, swelling. Imaging shows a superficial erosion of the bone cortex, at times slightly scalloped, with regular borders. Such erosion is caused by a hemispherical periosteal cartilaginous mass, usually of small to moderate size (<3 cm). Granular or popcorn densities due to calcifications may be seen within the tumor. Histologically the tumor is very similar to enchondroma, but it more frequently displays features of cell proliferation (high cellularity, nuclear plumpness, and frequent double nucleated cells). Being somewhat painful and causing some swelling in most instances, it usually requires surgical management consisting of either en bloc marginal excision or thorough curettage, equally effective.

Key points			
Clinical	Some pain, young patients		
Radiological	Subperiosteal, metaphyseal, with erosion of the cortex, granular calcifications		
• Histological	Lobules of benign cartilage. Possible hypercellularity		
• Differential diagnosis	Periosteal chondrosarcoma		



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



Male, 22 years old. Small (less than 3 cm) wellcircumscribed lobulated lesion composed of hyaline cartilage. The lesion is beneath the periosteum with a sharp margin with the underlying cortex. The chondrocytes are frequently enlarged and hyperchromatic with increased

cellularity and variability in nuclear size and shape. Chondrocytes are arranged in lobules. The lesion shows sharp borders, in particular without infiltration of the surrounding soft tissue (if present, this is consistent with periosteal chondrosarcoma)

15.3 Multiple Chondromas (Chondromatosis, Ollier's Disease) Associated Condition: Maffucci's Syndrome

Multiple chondromas are infrequent. The condition is not inherited and prevails in males. Their distribution and spectrum of presentation are extremely variable. It can present with only a few chondromas limited to the hands or one limb with minimal symptoms or show a hemisomic distribution. It can also be extended to the entire body with overall features of diffuse chondrodysplasia, known as Ollier's disease. The most affected bones are the small tubular bones of the hand and foot, but chondromas may present anywhere in the skeleton. Knobby swelling, bowing deformities, and lower limb length discrepancy (even >10 cm) are the dominant symptoms. Relationship between the polyostotic limited form and the fully expressed diffused chondrodysplasia (Ollier's disease) remains unknown.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

In Maffucci's syndrome (very rare), multiple, diffuse chondromas are associated with multiple hemangiomas. The hemangiomas can be either cutaneous, subcutaneous, or located in the deep soft tissues (not in the bone). Basic imaging is the same as described for solitary chondroma. In the metaphysis, longitudinal columns of radiolucency extend toward the diaphysis. They are divided by longitudinal bony septae. Chondromas can be very extensive, sometimes bubbly or trabeculated, with expansion of the bone, very thin cortex, or lack of any cortex. In Maffucci's syndrome, phleboliths reveal on X-rays the angiomas. MRI scans are useful to detect and follow up the lesions. Histologically, compared to solitary enchondroma, lesions in chondromatosis show features of more pronounced and persistent proliferative potential. Cartilage is more cellular, nuclei are sometimes hyperchromatic, and the histology overlaps with low-grade chondrosarcoma by cytology alone. The stage is 2 in children, more frequently 1 in adults. Transformation to secondary sarcoma, most commonly chondrosarcoma is frequent and probably ranges from 20% to 30% in Ollier and certainly higher in Maffucci (estimated >40%). Also in chondromatosis, malignant transformation to sarcoma is usually seen in adults but may occur even before age 20, especially in Maffucci.

Both Ollier and Maffucci are conditions at increased risk to develop extraskeletal malignancies, such as breast, liver, ovarian cancers and CNS tumors, suggesting an underlying genetic disorder predisposing to cancer in general. IDH1/IDH2 mutations are seen in approximately 90% of enchondromas in enchondromatosis (vs. 50% in solitary enchondromas). Surgical treatment is aimed to relieve symptoms, rather than excise chondromas. Skeletal deformities and limb length discrepancy are addressed by osteotomies and/or lengthening procedures. Prognosis is burdened by the incidence of malignant change.

15.4 Concept of "Active" Chondromas and Differential Diagnosis with Chondrosarcoma

It is important to keep in mind that certain chondromas may show a histological pattern essentially similar to chondrosarcoma. In fact, multiple chondromas in Ollier and Maffucci, periosteal chondroma, enchondromas of the hands and feet, synovial chondromatosis, and soft tissue chondromas all show histologic features consistent with low-grade chondrosarcoma of bone. In other words, a grade 1 chondrosarcoma is cytologically indistinguishable from a benign lesion encountered in the abovementioned clinical settings. Therefore, diagnosis of malignant change is based on clinico-radiographic features and on the permeative growth pattern of tissue toward bone trabeculae. Secondarily, it is of paramount importance that the pathologist reviewing the slides has adequate clinical information, including site of biopsy and imaging studies, and discusses the case with the orthopedic surgeon before making the diagnosis of chondrosarcoma. Quite important to the recognition of malignant change is to have good radiologic baseline studies taken in early adulthood. Malignancy is characterized by a focal change in a bone of the baseline pattern often demonstrating a more "windblown" pattern often with a new soft tissue mass best seen on an MRI scan The patient also experiences chronic pain and may feel a mass.



Radiograph of the pelvis and proximal limbs. Multiple cartilaginous lesions, mainly metaphyseal, with bone deformations



Radiograph of the hand: multiple chondromas



Cartilaginous lobules show evident atypia with a pseudomalignant appearance of the lesion. This histology has to be considered benign if the lesion is in a child, or in Ollier/

Maffucci disease, or in a periosteal site, in hands and feet, or in a joint (synovial chondromatosis)

Selected Bibliography

- Brien EW, Mirra JM, Kerr R. Benign and malignant cartilage tumors of bone and joint: their anatomic and theoretical basis with an emphasis on radiology, pathology and clinical biology. I. The intramedullary cartilage tumors. Skeletal Radiol. 1997;26(6):325–53. Review.
- Boriani S, Bacchini P, Bertoni F, Campanacci M. Periosteal chondroma. A review of twenty cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1983;65(2):205–12.
- Flemming DJ, Murphey MD. Enchondroma and chondrosarcoma. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2000;4(1):59– 71. Review.
- Gajewski DA, Burnette JB, Murphey MD, Temple HT. Differentiating clinical and radiographic features of enchondroma and secondary chondrosarcoma in the foot. Foot Ankle Int. 2006;27(4):240–4.
- Kransdorf MJ, Peterson JJ, Bancroft LW. MR imaging of the knee: incidental osseous lesions. Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am. 2007;15(1):13–24. Review.
- Nojima T, Unni KK, McLeod RA, Pritchard DJ. Periosteal chondroma and periosteal chondrosarcoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 1985;9(9):666–77.
- Pansuriya TC, Kroon HM, Bovée JV. Enchondromatosis insights on the different subtypes. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2010;3(6):557–69. Review.
- Pansuriya TC, Oosting J, Krenács T, Taminiau AH, Verdegaal SH, Sangiorgi L, Sciot R, Hogendoorn PC,

Szuhai K, Bovée JV. Genome-wide analysis of Ollier disease: is it all in the genes? Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2011;6:2.

- Robbin MR, Murphey MD. Benign chondroid neoplasms of bone. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2000;4(1):45– 58. Review.
- Robinson P, White LM, Sundaram M, Kandel R, Wunder J, McDonald DJ, Janney C, Bell RS. Periosteal chondroid tumors: radiologic evaluation with pathologic correlation. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2001;177(5):1183–8.
- Romeo S, Hogendoorn PC, Dei Tos AP. Benign cartilaginous tumors of bone: from morphology to somatic and germ-line genetics. Adv Anat Pathol. 2009;16(5):307– 15. Review.
- Schwartz HS, Zimmerman NB, Simon MA, Wroble RR, Millar EA, Bonfiglio M. The malignant potential of enchondromatosis. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1987;69(2):269–74.
- Silve C, Jüppner H. Ollier disease. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2006;1:37. Review.
- Varma DG, Kumar R, Carrasco CH, Guo SQ, Richli WR. MR imaging of periosteal chondroma. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 1991;15(6):1008–10.
- Woertler K, Blasius S, Brinkschmidt C, Hillmann A, Link TM, Heindel W. Periosteal chondroma: MR characteristics. J Comput Assist Tomogr. 2001;25(3):425–30.



Osteochondromas

Davide Maria Donati and Eric L. Staals

16.1 Solitary Osteochondroma

Definition: Benign cartilaginous neoplasm arising from the surface of the bone, histologically mimicking abnormal epiphyseal plate which grows and matures according to normal enchondral ossification.

It originates from a misplaced, subperiosteal island of physeal cartilage. It may also be seen in children secondary to radiation therapy. Presumably irradiation favors the exclusion of a cartilaginous island, by partially arresting and disorganizing proliferation of the physeal plate. Chomosomal aberrations involving 8q22-24.1 (where the *EXT1* gene is located) or 11p11.2 (where *EXT2* gene is located), causing biallelic inactivation of the *EXT1* and *EXT2* genes in the cartilaginous cap support the neoplastic nature of these lesions.

Epidemiology: Osteochondroma is very frequent. It prefers male sex by 1.5–2 : 1. Originating in early infancy, it is usually first noticed between 6 and 20 years of age.

D. M. Donati (🖂) Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: davide.donati@ior.it

E. L. Staals Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: ericlodewijk.staals@ior.it

Solitary Osteochondroma 2.574 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: The most frequent localization is in the long bones: distal femur, proximal humerus, and proximal tibia. It originates from the metaphysis, but, with skeletal growth, it tends to move toward the diaphysis (growing away from the physis). The most frequently involved sites in the trunk are the scapula and ilium. Osteochondroma is exceptional in the hands and feet, and it does not occur in bones originating from membranous ossification (skull), nor in the epiphyses, carpal, and tarsal bones (except the calcaneus).

Clinical: A hard swelling is the main symptom, slowly increasing during skeletal growth. Osteochondroma is usually painless. Sometimes, pain is caused by an overlying bursitis or tendinitis. Occasionally, the overlying bursa, giving rise to increased volume and pain, may arise the suspicion of a malignant change. Exceptionally, osteochondroma compresses a peripheral nerve, causing neurological symptoms; or it rubs against a large artery thus producing a false aneurysm (femoropopliteal artery). Also exceptionally, as a result of traumatic fracture of its stalk, osteochondroma becomes painful and mobile, clinically simulating a muscular ossification or a loose articular body. An osteochondroma close to the physis may interfere with skeletal growth and cause axial deviations or a limb length discrepancy.

Imaging: Osteochondroma is a bony protuberance with well-defined limits, having a thin outer cortex and an internal cancellous structure. The pathognomonic radiographic feature is that the cortex of the host bone flares into the cortex of the osteochondroma, and the cancellous bone of the osteochondroma is continuous with the cancellous bone of the metaphysis. In large lesions, areas or rarefied bone may alternate with irregular blotches of intense radio density, due to

remnants of calcified cartilage, focal thickening of bone trabeculae, and bone necrosis. Some are pedunculated with a globose, cauliflower-like cap, or with a sharp horn-like extremity. Others have a broad sessile base. Pedunculated osteochondromas are usually inclined toward the diaphysis. Rarely osteochondroma becomes very large (even 15-20 cm), which is not a proof of malignancy. By chronic compression osteochondroma can cause scalloping and bowing of an adjacent bone. CT and MRI are useful (a) to confirm the diagnosis; (b) to perform preoperative planning (considering the relationship with the nearby neurovascular structures); (c) to measure the thickness of the cartilage cap or identify a reactive bursitis in case of suspicion of malignant transformation. Isotope scan is hot in active osteochondromas during childhood and adolescence and remains weakly positive or becomes negative after skeletal maturity, becoming again positive in malignant changes or when adjacent to a bursitis.

Histopathology: There is continuity between the cortex of the host bone and the cortical bone of the osteochondroma (so-called flaring of the cortex); similarly there is continuity between the medullary bone of the host bone and the medullary bone of the stalk of the osteochondroma. In children, osteochondroma is covered by a cartilage cap with a thickness ranging from a few millimeter to approximately 1.5-2 cm, and it appears as a light blue cartilage similar to that of the physeal plate. In the adult, this cap decreases in thickness, and in some areas, it disappears; residual cartilage is white and similar to articular cartilage. Limits of the cartilage with the underlying bone are well-defined. The inner part of osteochondroma is irregularly cancellous, with fatty or occasionally hemopoietic marrow. When osteochondroma is covered by a bursa, this may conhematic effusion, tain serous or rarely osteo-cartilagenous loose bodies. In its active stage, the cartilage cap presents, although irregular, the same features of the normal growth plate. Some cellularities, plumpness of the nuclei, hypertrophy of the cells are to be expected in children and adolescents. The bony trabeculae of osteochondroma are originated by enchondral ossification of cartilage. Cancellous bone may include remnants of calcified cartilage and/or areas of necrotic bone.

Course and Staging: Growth occurs during childhood and adolescence. After skeletal maturity, osteochondroma stops growing. Thus, it is a benign stage 2 lesion in children and adolescents, becoming stage 1 in the adult. The change of a solitary osteochondroma into a peripheral chondrosarcoma is rare (<1%) and does not occur before puberty. Risk of transformation depends on the site. It is exceptional in the more distal extremities, rare around the knee, and less rare in the trunk and limb girdles.

Treatment and Prognosis: There is no absolute indication for removal of an osteochondroma, and given the low risk of malignant transformation, prophylactic excision is not encouraged. Relative indications for surgery are pain, chronic bursitis/tendinitis, neurovascular symptoms, functional limitations, or growth disturbances due to the osteochondroma. In some cases, patients request excision of a large osteochondroma for cosmesis.

Key points	
Clinical	Increasing swelling during growth age
Radiological	Bony protuberance with continuity of the cortex and cancellous bone
Histological	Cartilage cap (maximum 2 cm) covering normal cancellous bone
• Differential diagnosis	Low-grade peripheral chondrosarcoma

femur. The cortex of the osteochondroma is in continuity with that of normal bone

AP radiograph. Sessile osteochondroma of the proximal humerus

It commonly arises in bones formed by enchondral ossification, at the region of the edge of the epiphyseal plate. During the growth phase, the cartilage cap presents the same aspects of normal growth cartilage, although less regular. Progressive transformation of proliferating cartilage in underlying bone also mimics the epiphyseal growth mechanism, but it is much less orderly. (1) Chondrocytes arranged in clusters at the top of the carti-

laginous cap. (2) Chondrocytes arranged in columns at the bottom of the cartilaginous cap. (3) Enchondral ossification at the interface between the cartilaginous cap and the underlying medullary bone. (4) Vascular mesenchymal cells invading calcified cartilage. (5) Seams of osteoid formed by the osteoblasts are laid on the framework of calcified cartilage





16.2 Multiple Osteochondromas

Multiple exostoses or osteochondromas are infrequent (prevalence 1/50,000). Male sex is preferred, by 1.5:1. The osteochondromas usually manifest before the age of 5-6 years, earlier as compared to solitary osteochondroma. Heredity is present in 80% of cases. Transmission is autosomal dominant. Recent studies suggest a role for other EXT genes. Basic research has identified several genetic abnormalities determining the disease. Most common mutations involve gene EXT1 on chromosome 8 and gene EXT2 on chromosome 11; a third gene named EXT3 has been identified on chromosome 19. Cytogenetic aberration (biallelic inactivation, deletions \pm mutations) of EXT1/EXT2 genes are present in up to 90% of cases.

Multiple skeletal lesions are usually diffused and relatively symmetrical. Typically, exostoses involve the bone circumferentially, mostly surrounding the metaphyseal regions, causing swelling and sometimes limiting joint motion. Pain is a frequent symptom due to inflammation of adjacent tissues (bursitis, tendinitis). Limb shortening and deformity are frequently seen. Clinically, there is a large spectrum of presentation, from no deformity to severe impairment of upper and lower extremities, also within the same family. Relationship between type of genetic abnormality, severity of the disease, and risk of malignant transformation is under investigation in several centers. Overall, *EXT1*-positive patients seem to have a more severe clinical presentation.

Treatment principles are prevention and correction of deformity and shortening, by removal variably combined with stapling, osteotomies, and lengthening procedures. Most patients do surprisingly well and have satisfactory function without surgery.

The incidence of sarcomatous change in adult patients is low, ranging about 0.5–5%. Preferred sites for sarcoma are trunk, limb girdles, and knee. As for solitary osteochondroma, prognosis is dependent on the risk of malignant transformation. Patients should be followed clinically at regular intervals, monitoring the deeper exostoses (pelvis, spine) with serial radiograms every 2–3 years.



Multiple Exostoses

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



Radiographs of the arm and hand. Multiple exostoses. Bone deformation and shortening

Selected Bibliography

- Bovée JV. Multiple osteochondromas. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2008;3:3. Review.
- Brien EW, Mirra JM, Luck JV Jr. Benign and malignant cartilage tumors of bone and joint: their anatomic

and theoretical basis with an emphasis on radiology, pathology and clinical biology. II. Juxtacortical cartilage tumors. Skeletal Radiol. 1999;28(1):1–20. Review.

- Canella P, Gardini F, Boriani S. Exostosis: development, evolution and relationship to malignant degeneration. Ital J Orthop Traumatol. 1981;7(3):293–8.
- Florez B, Mönckeberg J, Castillo G, Beguiristain J. Solitary osteochondroma long-term follow-up. J Pediatr Orthop B. 2008;17(2):91–4.
- Hameetman L, Bovée JV, Taminiau AH, Kroon HM, Hogendoorn PC. Multiple osteochondromas: clinicopathological and genetic spectrum and suggestions for clinical management. Hered Cancer Clin Pract. 2004;2(4):161–73.
- Kitsoulis P, Galani V, Stefanaki K, Paraskevas G, Karatzias G, Agnantis NJ, Bai M. Osteochondromas: review of the clinical, radiological and pathological features. In Vivo. 2008;22(5):633–46. Review.
- Saglik Y, Altay M, Unal VS, Basarir K, Yildiz Y. Manifestations and management of osteochondromas: a retrospective analysis of 382 patients. Acta Orthop Belg. 2006;72(6):748–55.
- Schmale GA, Wuyts W, Chansky HA, Raskind WH. Hereditary Multiple Osteochondromas. In: Pagon RA, Bird TD, Dolan CR, Stephens K, editors. GeneReviews [Internet]. Seattle: University of Washington; 2008.
- Stieber JR, Dormans JP. Manifestations of hereditary multiple exostoses. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2005;13(2):110–20. Review.
- Valdivielso-Ortiz A, Barber I, Soldado F, Aguirre-Canyadell M, Enriquez G. Solitary osteochondroma: spontaneous regression. Pediatr Radiol. 2010;40(10):1699–701.



Chondroblastoma

Eric L. Staals

Definition: Benign cartilaginous tumor of childhood, usually epiphyseal.

Epidemiology: Infrequent (less than 1% of all bone neoplasms, 4–5% of all benign lesions); it

prefers male sex by 2–3 to 1. Most cases (around 60%) are diagnosed in the second decade of life: rare after 35 years of age and exceptional before age 10.

80

2

491 cases

Chondroblastoma

Average: 19 - Median: 16 - Range: 4-74





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

E. L. Staals (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: ericlodewijk.staals@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_17

Location: Usually at the end of long bones (femur, tibia, humerus), involving the epiphysis or both the epiphysis and the metaphysis. Less frequently it is located in an apophysis. Less common locations are tarsal bones and pelvis, quite rare elsewhere.

Clinical: Moderate to severe pain is usually present; relatively common symptoms are joint effusion, muscular hypotrophy, and stiffness.

Imaging: Typically round or oval radiolucent lesion, small to moderate in size (1-7 cm) within the epiphysis or an apophysis, sometimes crossing the growth plate; sharp margins and usually a sclerotic rim are present. The cortex may be expanded but is preserved in most cases. Usually no periosteal reaction. Calcifications are visible inside the defect in 30–40%. A soft tissue recurrence tends to be well circumscribed by a shell of ossification. Isotope scan: coinciding with radiographic limits and merging into uptake of the physeal plate. CT: fine punctate calcifications; presence of cystic areas. MRI: homogenous high signal in T2, low to intermediate signal in T1, presence of joint effusion and/or synovitis.

Histopathology: Gross: pink-grey to tanbrown, overall "wet sawdust" aspect; areas of chondroid matrix, calcification, and hemorrhage may be easily recognized. Histology: combination of mononuclear cells and giant cell. Mononuclear oval cells with nuclei typically characterized by longitudinal grooves, resulting in a "coffee bean" appearance. Eosinophilic fibrochondroid matrix can be present; basophilic hyaline cartilage is infrequent. Chicken-wire calcifications are present in a third of cases (pathognomonic). Eosinophilic matrix similar to osteoid can be present. Mitotic figures are present, but generally not very numerous and never atypical. Secondary ABC-like areas in about 35% of cases. *H3F3B* gene mutations are present in more than 90% of the cases; this can be highlighted with immunohistochemistry for H3F3B protein.

Course and Staging: Slow growth, normally stage 2 at presentation; stage 1 rare, stage 3 infrequent (recurrences, pelvic lesions).

Treatment: Curettage: stage 1, stage 2, and very rarely stage 3 lesions. Be careful to avoid damage to the physis and to the joint surface, if possible. Very rarely, en bloc resection for extensive stage 3 lesions with massive bone destruction and/or tissue mass, large recurrences. Recurrence rate: about 10% after curettage, minimal following en bloc resection. In small lesions in difficult-to-reach areas, the use of radiofrequency thermoablation has been reported.

Key points				
Clinical	Pain in young, possible important			
	inflammatory symptoms			
 Radiological 	Epiphyseal (or metaepiphyseal)			
	with calcifications			
Histological	Mononuclear oval cells with			
	"coffee bean" nuclei, giant cells,			
	chicken-wire calcifications			
Differential	Clear cell chondrosarcoma			
diagnosis				
Genetic alteration				
• Mutation of H3F3B		p.Lys37Met	96%	
gene (17q25.1)		(NP_005315)		



Radiograph, and sagittal T1 and T2FS MR images. Well-limited epiphyseal lesion. An inflammatory reaction is well detected on T2 image



Mononuclear cells with plasmacytoid, sometimes with "coffee bean" appearance. Multinucleated giant cells are present. Immunohistochemical nuclear positivity for H3F3B in the neoplastic cells (*inset*)

Selected Bibliography

- Amary MF, Berisha F, Mozela R, Gibbons R, Guttridge A, O'Donnell P, Baumhoer D, Tirabosco R, Flanagan AM. The H3F3 K36M mutant antibody is a sensitive and specific marker for the diagnosis of chondroblastoma. Histopathology. 2016;69(1):121–7.
- Bacchini P, Inwards C, Biscaglia R, Picci P, Bertoni F. Chondroblastoma-like osteosarcoma. Orthopedics. 1999;22(3):337–9.
- Kaim AH, Hügli R, Bonél HM, Jundt G. Chondroblastoma and clear cell chondrosarcoma: radiological and MRI characteristics with histopathological correlation. Skeletal Radiol. 2002;31(2):88–95.

- Lin PP, Thenappan A, Deavers MT, Lewis VO, Yasko AW. Treatment and prognosis of chondroblastoma. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2005;(438):103–9.
- Sailhan F, Chotel F, Parot R, SOFOP. Chondroblastoma of bone in a pediatric population. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009;91(9):2159–68.
- Springfield DS, Capanna R, Gherlinzoni F, Picci P, Campanacci M. Chondroblastoma. A review of seventy cases. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1985;67(5):748–55.
- Xie C, Jeys L, James SL. Radiofrequency ablation of chondroblastoma: long-term clinical and imaging outcomes. Eur Radiol. 2015;25(4):1127–34.

Chondromyxoid Fibroma

18

Eric L. Staals

Definition: Benign cartilaginous tumor made of lobulated, fibromyxoid, and chondroid tissues.

Epidemiology: It is definitely rare (0.5%) of all bone tumors, about 2% of all benign neo-

plasms) and prefers male sex by 1.5:1. Generally seen between 5 and 30 years of age, it has a predilection for the second and third decades of life.

Chondromyxoid Fibroma 154 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

E. L. Staals (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: ericlodewijk.staals@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_18

Location: Typically located in the metaphysis of long bone; it can invade the epiphysis, especially in adults. Preferred sites: proximal tibia (30% of cases), small bones of the foot, pelvis. Rare in the upper limb and in the trunk besides pelvis.

Clinical: Usually a slow-growing lesion with a relatively long history of mild to moderate pain, sometimes associated with bland local swelling. Occasionally asymptomatic and discovered as incidental finding on radiographs.

Imaging: Small (generally ≤ 5 cm), metaphyseal, and eccentric radiolucent defect, usually with the long axis parallel to the bone of origin; sometimes, especially in small bones, fusiform expansion of its entire contour. Sharply marginated by a lobulated shell of endosteal reactive bone because of a sclerotic rim. The cortex is usually cancelled, with the tumor "bubbling out" into soft tissue. Little and peripheral periosteal reaction, chronic in nature and similar to that of periosteal chondroma. Intratumoral calcification is unusual. Isotope scan: moderately hot and corresponding to radiographic extent. CT: metaphyseal, eccentric and subperiosteal, heavily marginated radiolucency, usually without any mineralization. MRI: homogenous intratumoral signal (intermediate-high in T2, lowintermediate in T1).

Histopathology: Gross: the tumor is rubbery soft, distinctly lobular, and clearly separated from

the surrounding bone. Tissue is whitish or bluish and semitranslucent in chondromyxoid areas, tannish-red in the undifferentiated and vascularized zones. Histology: lobular pattern better appreciated at low power, a light center, and a dark periphery. In the centers of the lobules, spindle– stellate cells in a myxoid background are present; the center of lobule is hypocellular, while at the periphery a condensation of polyhedral cells is evident, often with multinucleated giant cells. Mitotic figures are not common. Cellular atypia may be present (15–20% of cases).

Course and stage: The tumor grows slowly and is generally small; at presentation usually stage 2 and occasionally stage 3.

Treatment: Aggressive curettage is usually indicated and frequently curative for either stage 2 or stage 3 tumors; recurrence rate probably lower than GCT of bone and chondroblastoma. Consider en bloc resection for recurrent lesions and expendable bones.

Key points	
Clinical	Mild symptoms
Radiological	Lobulated, subperiosteal lytic lesion
Histological	Myxochondroid lobules of cartilage surrounded by more cellular bundles with vessels
• Differential diagnosis	Histiocytic fibroma (at imaging)



Radiograph and sagittal T2W image. Metaphyseal cortical well-limited lytic lesion in a 13-year-old boy



Histologic characteristics are particularly evocative at low power view. This shows the typical lobular architecture of the tumor. (1) Clear center of the lobuli. They are composed of spindle–stellate cells interspersed in an abundant and fluid ground substance. (2) Dark periphery of the

Selected Bibliography

- Gherlinzoni F, Rock M, Picci P. Chondromyxoid fibroma. The experience at the Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1983;65(2):198–204.
- Lersundi A, Mankin HJ, Mourikis A, Hornicek FJ. Chondromyxoid fibroma: a rarely encountered and puzzling tumor. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2005;439:171–5.
- Romeo S, Duim RA, Bridge JA, Mertens F, de Jong D, Dal Cin P, Wijers-Koster PM, Debiec-Rychter M, Sciot R, Rosenberg AE, Szuhai K, Hogendoorn PC. Heterogeneous and complex rearrangements

lobuli. There are more densely cellular areas composed of well-stained cells with plump nuclei. (3) Numerous ectatic blood vessels run through these peri- and interlobular bands

of chromosome arm 6q in chondromyxoid fibroma: delineation of breakpoints and analysis of candidate target genes. Am J Pathol. 2010;177(3):1365–76.

- Wu CT, Inwards CY, O'Laughlin S, Rock MG, Beabout JW, Unni KK. Chondromyxoid fibroma of bone: a clinicopathologic review of 278 cases. Hum Pathol. 1998;29(5):438–46.
- Zustin J, Akpalo H, Gambarotti M, Priemel M, Rueger JM, Luebke AM, Reske D, Lange C, Pueschel K, Lohmann C, Rüther W, Amling M, Alberghini M. Phenotypic diversity in chondromyxoid fibroma reveals differentiation pattern of tumor mimicking fetal cartilage canals development: an immunohistochemical study. Am J Pathol. 2010;177(3):1072–8.



Osteoid Osteoma

Laura Campanacci

Definition: Small benign tumor, usually very painful, producing osteoid and woven bone, surrounded by a halo of reactive bone. The lesion has a limited growth potential; for this reason it is generally less than 2 cm in its major diameter.

Epidemiology: Relatively frequent in young patients (3% of primary bone tumors). It has predilection for males (ratio of 2:1). Rarely observed before 5 and after 30 years of age.



Osteoid Osteoma 2.227 cases

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

L. Campanacci (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Laura.campanacci@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_19

Localization: It prevalently occurs in the appendicular skeleton, while it is rare in the trunk, except for the spine (mostly localized in the posterior arch). In the limbs, it prevails in the proximal femur, but it is also common in the other long bones where it is more often diaphyseal or meta-diaphyseal. It may occur also in the short bones, like talus. When occurring in long shafts, it involves the cortex, but also in cancellous areas it is localized at the surface rather than in the center of the bone.

Clinical: The almost constant and often only symptom is pain, with a typical tendency to increase during the night, relieved by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. When localized close to a joint, limited motion and chronic synovitis can be observed. In the spine, it may cause muscular spasm with stiff scoliosis.

Imaging: The basic radiographic element is a small (1–2 cm) rounded area of osteolysis ("nidus"), surrounded by a halo of bone sclerosis. The lesion is located at the center of this sclerosis that can be so thick that the small nidus cannot be seen except by CT. In cancellous bone areas, the halo of sclerosis may be less prominent. Isotope bone scan is constantly positive, showing a small, rounded area of intense uptake centered in a more diffused halo, thus resembling a "headlight in the fog." CT always demonstrates the nidus and its localization, thus permitting an adequate surgical plan. Angiography may demonstrate the high vascularity of the nidus. MRI, instead, is of little value because it is inferior to CT in depicting the nidus, showing inflammation of the surrounding tissue; it may even confuse diagnosis.

Histopathology: Small roundish, reddish, and hyperemic tumor, softer than the surrounding

bone. Microscopic view shows a packed mesh of thin, contorted woven bone trabeculae, with osteoblastic rimming, osteoclasts, and numerous dilated capillaries. This calcified center corresponds to the radio dense nucleus of the nidus. The surrounding host bone appears as reactive bone, mature, and sclerotic. The soft tissues around the lesion show chronic inflammation.

Course and Staging: If left untreated, it increases very slowly. There are cases, managed by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, where pain subsided after some years of treatment and eventually even the nidus regressed. The tumor can be staged 1 or 2 in all cases.

Treatment and Prognosis: Surgery has been historically the mainstay of treatment; accurate intralesional curettage has been the treatment of choice in most centers until the late 1990s. Nowadays CT-guided percutaneous radiofrequency, laser or focused ultrasound (FUS) ablation is considered the treatment of choice. Success rate of this approach is usually more than 90% based on pain relief. Surgery remains an option in cases refractory to percutaneous ablation or when the nidus is close to the skin or to a nerve root.

Key points	
Clinical	Pain increasing during the night, relieved by nonsteroidal anti- inflammatory drugs
Radiological	The "nidus" surrounded by bone sclerosis
• Histological	Woven bone formed by active osteoblasts and rich vascularization
• Differential diagnosis	Intracortical osteosarcoma (very rare), osteoblastoma



A 16-year-old boy. The X-ray shows a small and roundish osteolysis surrounded by a thick, sclerotic bone reaction. On CT scan, the nidus is evident in the posterior tibial

cortex, surrounded by the chronic bone reaction. On MRI the nidus is less evident



(1) Randomly arranged thick bars of osteoid with variable amounts of mineralization. (2) Capillaries and fibroblasts are present between the bony trabeculae



Macrosection of osteoid osteoma, with the nidus (1) and the sclerotic reactive bone (2)

Selected Bibliography

- Allen SD, Saifuddin A. Imaging of intra-articular osteoid osteoma. Clin Radiol. 2003;58(11):845–52. Review.
- Becce F, Theumann N, Rochette A, Larousserie F, Campagna R, Cherix S, Guillou L, Mouhsine E, Anract P, Drapé JL, Feydy A. Osteoid osteoma and osteoid osteoma-mimicking lesions: biopsy findings, distinctive MDCT features and treatment by radiofrequency ablation. Eur Radiol. 2010;20(10):2439–46.
- Campanacci M, Ruggieri P, Gasbarrini A, Ferraro A, Campanacci L. Osteoid osteoma. Direct visual identification and intralesional excision of the nidus with minimal removal of bone. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1999;81(5):814–20.
- Esteban Cuesta H, Martel Villagran J, Bueno Horcajadas A, Kassarjian A, Rodriguez Caravaca G. Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation in osteoid osteoma: tips

and tricks in special scenarios. Eur J Radiol. 2018;102:169-75.

- Ghanem I. The management of osteoid osteoma: updates and controversies. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2006;18(1):36– 41. Review.
- Kitsoulis P, Mantellos G, Vlychou M. Osteoid osteoma. Acta Orthop Belg. 2006;72(2):119–25. Review.
- Lee EH, Shafi M, Hui JH. Osteoid osteoma: a current review. J PediatrOrthop. 2006;26(5):695–700. Review.
- Santiago E, Pauly V, Brun G, Guenoun D, Champsaur P, Le Corroller T. Percutaneous cryoablation for the treatment of osteoid osteoma in the adult population. Eur Radiol. 2018;28(6):2336–44.
- Sharma KV, Yarmolenko PS, Celik H, Eranki A, Partanen A, Smitthimedhin A, Kim A, Oetgen M, Santos D, Patel J, Kim P. Comparison of noninvasive highintensity focused ultrasound with radiofrequency ablation of osteoid osteoma. J Pediatr. 2017;190:222–8.



20

Osteoblastoma

Laura Campanacci

Definition: Benign tumor producing osteoid and woven bone. Differently from osteoid osteoma, it does not have a limited growth potential; for this reason it can become very big, generally more than 2 cm in larger diameter, up to more than 10 cm.

Epidemiology: It is rare. It has predilection for males (2–3:1). Rarely observed prior to 8 and after 40 years of age.

Osteoblastoma 373 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

L. Campanacci (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Laura.campanacci@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_20

Localization: Osteoblastoma shows evident predilection for the vertebral column (posterior arch) and the sacrum, but it may occur in any skeletal site.

Clinical: In the spine, it presents symptoms similar to osteoid osteoma (pain, scoliosis) with frequent signs of root compression. Usually it grows slowly but aggressive lesions manifest a rapid growth with severe symptoms due to the peritumoral inflammation.

Imaging: It is an osteolytic tumor containing a variable extent of osseous-type mineralization. Its size varies from 2 to 10 cm, majority being between 3 and 5 cm. The tumor may be central, eccentric, and rarely periosteal. It tends to be roundish, with margins often demarcated by a rind of bone sclerosis (not as dense as in osteoid osteoma). The cortex may be destroyed with intense periosteal reaction. In aggressive lesions, the limits may appear blurred. Rarely the tumor blows the bone out or contains cystic spaces like ABC. A regional osteoporosis may be associated (due to peritumoral inflammation). Isotope bone scan is very hot. CT at best depicts intratumoral densities (mineralization of the woven bone formed by the tumor). MRI may show extensive peritumoral inflammatory reaction. It is highly vascularized.

Histopathology: The tissue is compact, reddishbrown, of soft to gritty consistency. Occasionally wide cavities typical of ABC are observed. The cortex is thinned, expanded, sometimes absent, with a pseudo capsule covering the tumor.

Microscopically the tumor consists of large osteoblasts producing osteoid and woven bone. Trabeculae are usually thin, with a regular "organoid" pattern. Osteoblasts rim the trabeculae. Cytologic features of activity (large cytoplasm, plump dark nuclei, and evident nucleolus) may be present. Scattered mitotic figures can be seen but never atypical. Large cells with bizarre hyperchromatic nuclei may be seen: they are never in mitosis and are interpreted as regressive cells (the so-called pseudo-malignant osteoblastoma). Intertrabecular tissue contains a loose fibrovascular stroma, with abundant capillaries. The interface between tumor and surrounding bone is sharp with no permeative pattern (differential diagnosis vs. osteosarcoma). Multifocal growth defines the so-called multifocal osteoblastoma. Aggressive osteoblastoma is characterized by large epithelioid osteoblasts with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm, vesicular nuclei, and prominent nucleoli; in the last WHO classification, it is reported that there is no evidence that aggressive osteoblastoma seems to have a worse prognosis than conventional osteoblastoma.

Course and Staging: Most osteoblastoma are actively growing but well contained (stage 2). Occasionally they are more invasive, bulging into the soft tissues (stage 3). Rarely the tumor appears almost quiescent and heavily mineralized, so that it can be approximated to a stage 1 lesion. The vast majority of "osteoblastomas" that end up metastasizing to lungs, leading to patient demise, were probably osteoblastoma-like osteosarcomas from the beginning. It is very important to assess the matrix of the "osteoblastoma" lesion with the host bone. If it permeates the marrow spaces and traps host lamellar bone, the lesion is an osteosarcoma, osteoblastoma-like.

Treatment: In stage 1 (latent) or stage 2 (active): intralesional curettage. In stage 3 lesions (aggressive): marginal or wide resection is indicated. In vertebral localizations, aggressive curettage or resection. Selective preoperative arterial embolization may be useful to reduce bleeding during surgery.

K	Key points				
•	Clinical	Pain and swelling, depending on the site. Frequent in the spine (posterior aspect)			
•	Radiological	Mixed lesion (lytic/mineralized)			
•	Histological	Osteoblasts producing osteoid and woven bone in a regular organoid pattern			
•	Differential diagnosis	Low-grade central osteosarcoma			



Radiograph and CT of the cervical spine. The lesion is well limited, contains ossifications, and is surrounded by reactive sclerosis



(1) Irregular bars of neoplastic osteoid. (2) Plump, deeply stained, and slightly pleomorphic osteoblasts encircling woven bone trabeculae. (3) Proliferation of mesenchymal

cells that tend toward osteoblastic differentiation. (4) Rich capillary vascularization

Selected Bibliography

- Atesok KI, Alman BA, Schemitsch EH, Peyser A, Mankin H. Osteoid osteoma and osteoblastoma. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2011;19(11):678–89.
- Harrop JS, Schmidt MH, Boriani S, Shaffrey CI. Aggressive "benign" primary spine neoplasms: osteoblastoma, aneurysmal bone cyst, and giant cell tumor. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34(22 Suppl):S39–47. Review.
- Jiang L1, Liu XG, Wang C, Yang SM, Liu C, Wei F, Wu FL, Zhou H, Dang L, Liu ZJ. Review Surgical treatment options for aggressive osteoblastoma in the mobile spine. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(8):1778–85.

- Mirra JM, Kendrick RA, Kendrick RE. Pseudomalignant osteoblastoma versus arrested osteosarcoma: a case report. Cancer. 1976;37(4):2005–14.
- Papagelopoulos PJ, Galanis EC, Sim FH, Unni KK. Clinicopathologic features, diagnosis, and treatment of osteoblastoma. Orthopedics. 1999;22(2):244–7.
- Ruggieri P, McLeod RA, Unni KK, Sim FH. Osteoblastoma. Orthopedics. 1996;19(7):621–4. Review.
- Schmidt MH. Osteoid osteoma and osteoblastoma of the spine. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2008;19(1):65–70. Review.
- White LM, Kandel R. Osteoid-producing tumors of bone. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2000;4(1):25–43.

Aneurysmal Bone Cyst (ABC)

Laura Campanacci

Definition: Benign tumor characterized by cystic cavities lined by septa containing spindle cells, inflammatory cells, giant cells, and histiocytes with hemosiderin deposition.

Production of variable amounts of reactive bone is frequently encountered. The cavities are filled with flowing blood. This lesion, when primary, is now considered to be tumoral, because in about 40–50% of cases, it has been demonstrated the presence of typical translocation t(16; 17) (q22; p13) and t(17; 17) (q22; p13) that produce the chimeric proteins CDH11-USP6 and COL1A1-USP6, respectively. When this lesion is

L. Campanacci (🖂)

Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Laura.campanacci@ior.it

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto

described side by side with another bone tumor (e.g., giant cell tumor, chondroblastoma, or fibrous dysplasia), it is considered reactive and does not display any kind of genetic abnormality.

Importance: It is often mistaken for a malignant tumor because of its possible radiological and pathological aggressiveness.

Epidemiology: Primary lesions represent about 2% of primary bone tumors. No differences in gender. They are found mostly in the second decade of life (85% under 20 years of age; rare above 50).





[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_21





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: Any osseous segment may be affected, but the most common sites are the metadiaphyses of the long bones and the spine.

Clinical: Pain and swelling generally of less than 3 months duration. Frequent report of a previous trauma in the same skeletal site. Onset or progression of symptoms has been observed in some cases during pregnancy.

Imaging: The characteristic radiographic appearance of ABC is a subperiosteal, poorly defined osteolysis, elevating and inflating the periosteum, and progressively eroding the cortex. CT and MRI are often helpful in showing fluid levels within the cyst. Angiograms show intense and persistent accumulation of contrast media. Isotope scan commonly reveals an increased uptake with a cold central area.

Histopathology: Grossly it appears as a blood-filled sponge limited by fibrous septa. The wall of the cystic cavities is not formed by endo-thelial cells but by mesenchymal tissue rich in fibroblasts, histiocytes, thin capillaries, and scattered multinucleated giant cells. Immature trabeculae of reactive bone may be seen. Blotchy

purple calcifications (considered pathognomonic by some authors) can be seen. Brisk mitotic activity is frequent.

Course and Staging: The lesion may progress very rapidly, but in some cases it may heal spontaneously, after a fracture or a biopsy. Recent cytogenetic data have demonstrated the presence of fusion oncogenes in a subgroup of ABCs. Nevertheless, its origin is controversial, ABC is commonly staged as a benign tumor.

Treatment and Prognosis: After intralesional surgery, local recurrence occurs in a 20% of cases. Selective arterial embolization of the nutrient vessels represents the standard treatment in difficult locations (spine or pelvis) or big proximal lesions (proximal femur, proximal humerus). Various minimally invasive treatments have been used with satisfactory results, as curopsy, sclerotherapy, cryotherapy, injection with concentrated bone marrow, and demineralized bone matrix. Radiation therapy (30–40 Gy) has been proven effective in inducing cyst ossification, but it is charged by the risk of sarcoma induction, or growth plate damage in children.

Key points			Chromosomal translocations		
Clinical	Pain and swelling in people	young	• t(1;17)(p34,3;p13)	THRAP3 (TRAP150)-USP6	Rare
Radiological	Eccentric, lytic lesior fluid levels	n. Fluid/	• t(3;17)(q21;p13)	CNBP(ZNF9)- USP6	Rare
Histological	Cystic cavities and septa not		• t(9;17)(q22;p13)	OMD-USP6	Rare
lined by endothelial cells		cells	• t(17;17)(q13.3;p13)	PAFAH1B1-USP6	Rare
 Differential 	Telangiectatic osteosarcoma		• t(6;17)(q21.1;p13)	RUNX2-USP6	Rare
diagnosis			• t(3;17)(p22.1;p13)	CTNNB1-USP6	Rare
Chromosomal translocations		• t(4;17)(q21.22;p13)	SEC31A-USP6	Rare	
• t(16;17)(q22;p13)	CDH11-USP6	30-50%	• t(17;17)(q21;p13)	EIF1-USP6	Rare
• t(17;17)(q12;p13)	COL1A1-USP6	5%	• t(2:17)(p23.2:p13)	FOSL2-USP6	Rare



Radiograph, CT, and MRT2 axial image. The lesion is limited by a thin calcified periosteal reaction, indicating, despite a huge mass, slow growth. Fluid-fluid levels are detected on CT, but better seen on MR



Radiograph of ABC in a boy 16 years old, before and 9 months after curettage and bone grafts



CT scan of aggressive, stage 3, ABC in the first thoracic vertebra in a girl 15 years old. Two years after selective arterial embolization, the lesion was completed ossified and healed



The typical spongy structure is observed: multiloculated cystic spaces of varying size filled with blood are interspaced with solid areas of benign appearing fibrous tissue. (1) Blood-filled lacunae, (2) The walls of the cavities are formed by histio-fibroblastic tissue, (3) Multinucleated giant cells, (4) Thin blood capillaries

Selected Bibliography

- Amendola L, Simonetti L, Simoes CE, Bandiera S, De Iure F, Boriani S. Aneurysmal bone cyst of the mobile spine: the therapeutic role of embolization. Eur Spine J. 2013;22(3):533–41.
- Barbanti-Brodano G, Girolami M, Ghermandi R, Terzi S, Gasbarrini A, Bandiera S, Boriani S. Aneurysmal bone cyst of the spine treated by concentrated bone marrow: clinical cases and review of the literature. Eur Spine J. 2017;26(Suppl 1):158–66.
- Donati D, Frisoni T, Dozza B, DeGroot H, Albisinni U, Giannini S. Advance in the treatment of aneurysmal bone cyst of the sacrum. Skelet Radiol. 2011;40(11):1461–6.
- Ghanem I, Nicolas N, Rizkallah M, Slaba S. Sclerotherapy using Surgiflo and alcohol: a new alternative for the

treatment of aneurysmal bone cysts. J Child Orthop. 2017;11(6):448–54.

- Kransdorf MJ, Sweet DE. Aneurysmal bone cyst: concept, controversy, clinical presentation, and imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1995;164(3):573–80. Review.
- Mankin HJ, Hornicek FJ, Ortiz-Cruz E, Villafuerte J, Gebhardt MC. Aneurysmal bone cyst: a review of 150 patients. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(27):6756–62. Review.
- Oliveira AM, Hsi BL, Weremowicz S, Rosenberg AE, Dal Cin P, Joseph N, Bridge JA, Perez-Atayde AR, Fletcher JA. USP6 (Tre2) fusion oncogenes in aneurysmal bone cyst. Cancer Res. 2004;64(6):1920–3.
- Panagopoulos I, Mertens F, Löfvenberg R, Mandahl N. Fusion of the COL1A1 and USP6 genes in a benign bone tumor. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2008;180(1):70–3.
- Reddy KI, Sinnaeve F, Gaston CL, Grimer RJ, Carter SR. Aneurysmal bone cysts: do simple treatments work? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2014;472(6):1901–10.

Check for updates

22

Giant Cell Tumor

Marco Manfrini

Definition: Intermediate bone tumor with a variable and unpredictable potential for growth, consisting of a background of undifferentiated mononuclear stromal cells with uniformly scattered osteoclast-like multinucleated giant cells. Over 90% of GCTs present histone variants in the *H3F3A* gene.

Epidemiology: Roughly, 5% of all bone tumors and 20% of all benign tumors. Slight preference for females. Usually young adults (about 65% aged 20–40), uncommon after 50 years of age and rare in the immature skeleton (about 2% of the cases).



M. Manfrini (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.manfrini@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_22 **Location:** Long bones, metaepiphyseal and eccentrical: distal femur, proximal tibia, and distal radius (65% of the cases). It may occur also in small bones of hand, foot, spine, sacrum, and pelvis. When occurring in long bones before closure of growth plate, the tumor is metaphyseal. Exceptionally multicentric (less than 0.5%). In differential diagnosis, rule out hyperparathyroidism.

Clinical: Pain is the first symptom, but swelling and muscular hypotrophy are also frequently encountered; severe stiffness and pathologic fracture are less common.

Imaging: On X-ray, purely lytic lesion with relatively well defined margins ("puddle on the sand") but without sharp definition as other benign tumors. The cortex is usually thinned, often expanded, sometimes violated with little if any periosteal reaction. Soft tissue recurrence usually has an ossified rim. In isotope bone scan, the uptake usually corresponds with the limits of the lesion, often it may show a cooler center with hotter rim; in aggressive forms the uptake is beyond the radiographic limits. The CT images show an usually isodense lesion that occupy the bone with small outpockets in the borderline spongiosa. In some case cystic areas with fluid levels may be evident. MRI images may reveal both homogeneous and less homogenous signals, low in T1 and high in T2.

Histopathology: Grossly, the tumor appears as a meaty reddish-purple tissue sometimes merged with soft yellow areas and often cystic areas (ABC-like areas). Histologically, the lesions are composed of a carpet of mononuclear round-oval cells (not neoplastic, of monocytic lineage, RANK+) with stromal ovpid-to-spindle cells (neoplastic, RANKL+) with many reactive multinucleated giant cells (40–60 up to 100 nuclei) more or less uniformly distributed. Nuclei of mononuclear cells and giant cells identical. Mitotic activity but no atypical mitoses or cytological atypia. Necrotic "infarct-like" areas without an inflammatory response, and collection of foam cells are common, sometimes rich of spindle cell areas in a "fibrohistiocytic pattern." Reactive bone formation can be present. Vascular invasion can occasionally be found. *H3F3A* gene mutations are present in the neoplastic cells in more than 90% of the cases; this can be highlighted with immunohistochemistry for H3F3A protein.

Course and Staging: Course unpredictable if untreated: rarely indolent, sometimes rather aggressive. Histological grading has no value. Local recurrence rate depends upon stage and treatment. About 2-5% present metastatic nodules, usually to lung. Malignant transformation may occur spontaneously in about 1%; if radiation therapy is applied, the risk increases to 5-15%. Presentation: less than 10% as stage 1, 60-70% as stage 2, and 20-30% as stage 3.

Treatment: Curettage represents the preferred surgery in stage 1 and stage 2 lesions. Recurrence rate ranges between 10 and 15% with local adjuvants (cement, phenol, liquid nitrogen) and 15-30% without local adjuvants. En bloc resection is recommended in small bones of the hand, expendable bones and in stage 3 lesions with massive periarticular bone destruction or after displaced pathologic fracture. Adjuvant radiation therapy following intralesional surgery has been associated with malignant transformation. The medical treatment with anti-RANK-L antibodies (Denosumab) has been demonstrated to be very effective (see biology) to stop the tumor growth, but, if discontinued, the tumor restarts growing. Some concern about a possible risk of iatrogenic malignant transformation under Denosumab treatment has been reported, and currently, the treatment with Denosumab is accepted in surgically difficult cases (spine, pelvis, pathological fracture) as short-term induction treatment before a wide resection, in the treatment of metastatic nodules in the lung and in patients with inoperable large tumors of pelvis or spine.

Key points		Genetic alteration			
Clinical	Periarticular pain and swelling in	• Mutation of	p.Gly35Trp (NP_002098.1)	96%	
Radiological	Eccentric lytic metaepiphyseal lesion with small periosteal reaction	(1q21)	p.Gly35Leu p.Gly35Val p.Gly35Met	Kare	
Histological	Mononuclear and giant cells with similar nuclei		p.Gly35Glu p.Gly35Arg		
• Differential diagnosis	ABC in youngers, lytic bone tumors in adults				



Radiograph (a), CT (b), and MRI-T1 (c) of the knee. Purely lytic, well limited but without sclerosis, epi-

metaphyseal tumor. The cortex is thinned, but not destroyed


The lesion is composed of very cellular tissue with a dense population of cells of average size and with a single nucleus, constellated nearly everywhere by a large number of multinucleated giant cells. (1) The multinucleated giant cells stud the tissue. Giant cells have a large number

of nuclei (even 50–100 in the section plane) gathered at the center. (2) Mononuclear cells. They have the same nuclei as those of the giant cells. (3) Blood vessels. Immunohistochemical nuclear positivity for H3F3A in the neoplastic cells (*inset*)



After treatment with Denosumab, the tumor appears as a proliferation of bland spindle cells, without multinucleated giant cells, and with abundant osteoid production

Selected Bibliography

- Errani C, Ruggieri P, Asenzio MA, Toscano A, Colangeli S, Rimondi E, Rossi G, Longhi A, Mercuri M. Giant cell tumor of the extremity: a review of 349 cases from a single institution. Cancer Treat Rev. 2010;36(1):1–7.
- Kwon JW, Chung HW, Cho EY, Hong SH, Choi SH, Yoon YC, Yi SK. MRI findings of giant cell tumors of the spine. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2007;189(1):246–50. Review.
- Mendenhall WM, Zlotecki RA, Scarborough MT, Gibbs CP, Mendenhall NP. Giant cell tumor of bone. Am J Clin Oncol. 2006;29(1):96–9. Review.

- Raskin KA, Schwab JH, Mankin HJ, Springfield DS, Hornicek FJ. Giant cell tumor of bone. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2013;21(2):118–26.
- Turcotte RE. Giant cell tumor of bone. Orthop Clin North Am. 2006;37(1):35–51. Review.
- Tsukamoto S, Righi A, Vanel D, Honoki K, Donati DM, Errani C. Development of high-grade osteosarcoma in a patient with recurrent giant cell tumor of the ischium while receiving treatment with denosumab. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2017;47(11):1090–6.

Biology of Giant Cell Tumour

Maria Serena Benassi

Giant cell tumour of bone (GCTb) is a locally aggressive osteolytic tumour characterized by a network of spindle-shaped mononuclear stromal cells, round mononuclear monocytes and multi-nucleated giant cells [1, 2].

Giant cells are osteoclast-like cells originating from hematopoietic stem cells. They are positive to CD68 and CD14 belonging to macrophage/ monocyte lineage and express the markers for bone resorption including tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP), cathepsin K, vitronectin and calcitonin receptors.

Mononuclear stromal cells that represent the proliferating pattern are osteoblast-like cells originating from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. They express markers of bone apposition including FGFR (fibroblastic growth factor receptor) that is involved in osteoblastic differentiation by increasing osteopontin, osteocalcin and alkaline phospatase activity.

Stromal proliferating cells also release a soluble factor, RANKL (receptor activator for nuclear factor-kB ligand), a component of tumour necrosis factor (TNF) family, that interacts with its receptor, RANK, expressed by osteoclast precursors. This binding promotes osteoclast differen-

tiation in presence of cytokines and macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CFS).

When the bone remodelling system is in a homeostatic state, the balance between the activity of osteoblast and osteoclast is regulated by the tried RANK/RANKL/OPG (osteoprotegerin). OPG is an endogeneous RANKL antagonist, regulating its activity through a competitive mechanism for RANK.

In GCTb, RANK/RANKL activity overcomes the effect of OPG promoting a massive osteoclastogenesis and osteolysis. The release of growth factors, cytokines and hormones entrapped into bone matrix promotes the stromal cell proliferation [3, 4].

The agents targeting the key end-points of RANK/RANKL cascade as well as the osteoclast lineage may be considered suitable for cancer therapy and include bisphosphonates, small inhibitors of proteinases and antagonists of prosurvival and pro-adhesion molecules [5–7].

However, the evidence that RANKL may also influence the cell proliferation in an osteoclastindependent way [7] focused the studies on the RANKL antagonists [8].

The first study used a recombinant OPG molecule (AMGN0007) in patients with bone metastasis, but the potential adverse effects led to the selection of other approaches [9, 10].

Denosumab is a fully monoclonal anti-RANKL antibody that inhibits bone turnover in patients with osteolytic disease, including myeloma multiple and carcinoma bone metastasis [11, 12].



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_23

M. S. Benassi (🖂) Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS

Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Phase II clinical studies in patients with recurrent and/or not resectable GCTb observed a tumour response in terms of giant cell disappearance and absence of radiological progression in a high percentage of cases [13, 14]. Recent studies confirmed variation of the tumour cell morphology associated with disappearance of osteoclastlike giant cells and environmental changes, while few alterations in immunohistochemical and genetic markers were seen [15].

Chromosome instability characterizes GCTb and telomeric associations or telomeric fusions are cytogenetic aberrations commonly implicated in the tumorigenesis [16, 17]. Our previous results show that ploidy determination combined with FISH analysis may predict the cell malignant potential and suggest that chromosomal abnormalities superimposed on telomeric associations could be responsible for a more aggressive clinical course [18].

More recently, driver somatic mutations in the *H3F3A* gene have been detected in more than 90% of primary GCTb, resulting in histone H3.3 aminoacid substitution. The point mutations are restricted to stromal component and are currently useful for differential diagnosis with giant cellrich sarcomas, chondroblastoma and aneurysmal bone cyst [19–21].

The majority of GCTb presents H3.3 G34 W (glycine to tryptophan substitution), and the immunoreactivity in mononuclear cells may significantly improve the diagnostic accuracy [22].

Similarly, H3F3A mutation was seen in metastatic and malignant GCTb [22, 23], but not in malignant GCTb originating from Paget's disease [24].

A study carried out on GCTb patients treated by Denosumab reported that the matrix and osteoid formation was accompanied by the reduction of H3.3 G34W-positive cells [25].

However, the identification of candidate prognostic factors useful in clinical management of GCTb requires a more profound knowledge of molecular mechanisms controlling tumour progression.

In a previous study, we defined an aggressiverelated signature including molecules that control cellular redox state and survival as well as growth factor signalling pathways. In particular, Kaplan– Meier analysis revealed that the probability of disease-free survival significantly decreased for patients with glutathione-peroxidase 1 (GPX1) overexpression, while FGFR and EGFR signalling in neoplastic stromal cells may contribute to disease progression, promoting stromal cell proliferation and osteoclastogenesis [26–28].

In addition, the expression of key molecules that control the interaction between tumour cells and bone microenvironment has been evaluated in a wide series of GCTb specimens from patients with different clinical course.

A significantly higher risk of metastasis was seen in the subset of patients presenting cooverexpression of RANKL, RANK and the transcriptional factor NFIB, suggesting that the cross-talk between bone proteins and intracellular pathways may represent a predictive biological model [29].

Accordingly, *NF1B* gene showed significantly higher mRNA levels in metastatic tumours and was inversely correlated with its microRNA regulator, miR-136, providing a list of activated pathways in GCTb development [30].

Finally, by the evidence that serum protein fragments generating from tumour tissue [31] and markers of bone turnover may have a diagnostic and prognostic value in an early phase of disease, our studies are currently addressed toward the identification of circulating indicators of pathway activity and predictors of disease progression, also useful for therapy monitoring. Proteoma cluster analysis separeted metastasis-free from metastatic patients in two well-defined groups where serum levels of signalling transduction mediators and regulators of kinase activity presented a high descriminatory power [32].

In conclusion, the identification of prognostic molecules may be useful to identify a subset of high-risk GCTb patients prone to receive a different clinical management in terms of a closer follow-up and medical adjuvant therapy.

References

 Théoleyre S, Chipoy C, Padrines M, Blanchard F, Heymann D, Rédini F, Thomas DM, Skubitz KM. Giant cell tumour of bone. Curr Opin Oncol. 2009;21:338–44.

- Viswanathan S, Jambhekar NA. Metastatic giant cell tumor of bone: are there associated factors and best treatment modalities? Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2010;468:827–33.
- Wittrant. RANKL/RANK/OPG: new therapeutic targets in bone tumours and associated osteolysis. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2004;1704:49–57.
- Cowan RW, Singh G. Giant cell tumor of bone: a basic science perspective. Bone. 2013;52:238–46.
- Broadhead ML, Clark JC, Dass CR, Choong PF, Myers DE. Therapeutic targeting of osteoclast function and pathways. Expert Opin Ther Targets. 2011;15:169–81.
- Coleman RE, McCloskey EV. Bisphosphonates in oncology. Bone. 2011;49:71–6.
- Heymann D. Anti-RANKL therapy for bone tumours. Basic, pre-clinical and clinical evidence. J Bone Oncol. 2012;1:2–11.
- Roodman GD. Mechanisms of bone metastasis. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:1655–64.
- Body JJ, Greipp P, Coleman RE, Facon T, Geurs F, Fermand JP, Harousseau JL, Lipton A, Mariette X, Williams CD, Nakanishi A, Holloway D, Martin SW, Dunstan CR, Bekker PJ. A phase I study of AMGN-0007, a recombinant osteoprotegerin construct, in patients with multiple myeloma or breast carcinoma related bone metastases. Cancer. 2003;97:887–92.
- Xu SF, Adams B, Yu XC, Xu M. Denosumab and giant cell tumour of bone—a review and future management considerations. Curr Oncol. 2013;20:e442–7.
- 11. Fizazi K, Lipton A, Mariette X, Body JJ, Rahim Y, Gralow JR, Gao G, Wu L, Sohn W, Jun S. Randomized phase II trial of denosumab in patients with bone metastases from prostate cancer, breast cancer, or other neoplasms after intravenous bisphosphonates. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:1564–71.
- 12. Lipton A, Steger GG, Figueroa J, Alvarado C, Solal-Celigny P, Body JJ, de Boer R, Berardi R, Gascon P, Tonkin KS, Coleman R, Paterson AH, Peterson MC, Fan M, Kinsey A, Jun S. Randomized active controlled phase II study of denosumab efficacy and safety in patients with breast cancer–related bone metastases. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:4431–7.
- Thomas D, Henshaw R, Skubitz K, Chawla S, Staddon A, Blay JY, Roudier M, Smith J, Ye Z, Sohn W, Dansey R, Jun S. Denosumab in patients with giant-cell tumour of bone: an open-label, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:275–80.
- Branstetter DG, Nelson SD, Manivel JC, Blay JY, Chawla S, Thomas DM, Jun S, Jacobs I. Denosumab induces tumor reduction and bone formation in patients with giant-cell tumor of bone. Clin Cancer Res. 2012;18:4415–24.
- 15. Girolami I, Mancini I, Simoni A, Baldi GG, Simi L, Campanacci D, Beltrami G, Scoccianti G, D'Arienzo A, Capanna R, Franchi A. Denosumab treated giant cell tumour of bone: a morphological, immunohistochemical and molecular analysis of a series. J Clin Pathol. 2016;69:240–7.
- Sawyer JR, Goosen LS, Binz RL, Swanson CM, Nicholas RW. Evidence for telomeric fusions as a

mechanism for recurring structural aberrations of chromosome 11 in giant cell tumor of bone. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2005;159:32–6.

- 17. Gorunova L, Vult von Steyern F, Storlazzi CT, Bjerkehagen B, Follerås G, Heim S, Mandahl N, Mertens F. Cytogenetic analysis of 101 giant cell tumors of bone: nonrandom patterns of telomeric associations and other structural aberrations. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2009;4:583–602.
- Moskovszky L, Szuhai K, Krenács T, Hogendoorn PC, Szendroi M, Benassi MS, Kopper L, Füle T, Sápi Z. Genomic instability in giant cell tumor of bone. A study of 52 cases using DNA ploidy, relocalization FISH, and array-CGH analysis. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2009;48:468–79.
- Behjati S, Tarpey PS, Presneau N, Scheipl S, Pillay N, Van Loo P, Wedge DC, Cooke SL, Gundem G, Davies H, Nik-Zainal S, Martin S, McLaren S, Goodie V, Robinson B, Butler A, Teague JW, Halai D, Khatri B, Myklebost O, Baumhoer D, Jundt G, Hamoudi R, Tirabosco R, Amary MF, Futreal PA, Stratton MR, Campbell PJ, Flanagan AM. Distinct H3F3A and H3F3B driver mutations define chondroblastoma and giant cell tumor of bone. Nat Genet. 2013;45:1479–82.
- 20. Presneau N, Baumhoer D, Behjati S, Pillay N, Tarpey P, Campbell PJ, Jundt G, Hamoudi R, Wedge DC, Loo PV, Hassan AB, Khatri B, Ye H, Tirabosco R, Amary MF, Flanagan AM. Diagnostic value of H3F3A mutations in giant cell tumour of bone compared to osteoclast-rich mimics. J Pathol Clin Res. 2015;1:113–23.
- Cleven AH, Höcker S, Briaire-de Bruijn I, Szuhai K, Cleton-Jansen AM, Bovée JV. Mutation analysis of H3F3A and H3F3B as a diagnostic tool for giant cell tumor of bone and chondroblastoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2015;39:1576–83.
- 22. Amary F, Berisha F, Ye H, Gupta M, Gutteridge A, Baumhoer D, Gibbons R, Tirabosco R, O'Donnell P, Flanagan AM. H3F3A (histone 3.3) G34W immunohistochemistry: a reliable marker defining benign and malignant giant cell tumor of bone. Am J Surg Pathol. 2017;41:1059–68.
- Righi A, Mancini I, Gambarotti M, Picci P, Gamberi G, Marraccini C, Dei Tos AP, Simi L, Pinzani P, Franchi A. Histone 3.3 mutations in giant cell tumor and giant cell-rich sarcomas of bone. Hum Pathol. 2017;68:128–35.
- 24. Divisato G, Scotto di Carlo F, Pazzaglia L, Rizzo R, Coviello DA, Benassi MS, Picci P, Esposito T, Gianfrancesco F. The distinct clinical features of giant cell tumor of bone in pagetic and non-pagetic patients are associated with genetic, biochemical and histological differences. Oncotarget. 2017;8:63121–31.
- 25. Lüke J, von Baer A, Schreiber J, Lübbehüsen C, Breining T, Mellert K, Marienfeld R, Schultheiss M, Möller P, Barth TFE. H3F3A mutation in giant cell tumour of the bone is detected by immunohistochemistry using a monoclonal antibody against the G34W mutated site of the histone H3.3 variant. Histopathology. 2017;71:125–33.

- 26. Conti A, Rodriguez GC, Chiechi A, Blazquez RM, Barbado V, Krènacs T, Novello C, Pazzaglia L, Quattrini I, Zanella L, Picci P, De Alava E, Benassi MS. Identification of potential biomarkers for giant cell tumor of bone using comparative proteomics analysis. Am J Pathol. 2011;178:88–97.
- 27. Balla P, Moskovszky L, Sapi Z, Forsyth R, Knowles H, Athanasou NA, Szendroi M, Kopper L, Rajnai H, Pinter F, Petak I, Benassi MS, Picci P, Conti A, Krenacs T. Epidermal growth factor receptor signalling contributes to osteoblastic stromal cell proliferation, osteoclastogenesis and disease progression in giant cell tumour of bone. Histopathology. 2011;59:376–89.
- Shalini S, Singh M, Mak IW, Turcotte R, Ghert M. Investigation of FGFR2-IIIC signaling via FGF-2 ligand for advancing GCT stromal cell differentiation. PLoS One. 2012;7:e46769.
- Quattrini I, Pollino S, Pazzaglia L, Conti A, Novello C, Ferrari C, Pignotti E, Picci P, Benassi MS. Prognostic

role of nuclear factor/IB and bone remodeling proteins in metastatic giant cell tumor of bone: A retrospective study. J Orthop Res. 2015;33:1205–11.

- Mosakhani N, Pazzaglia L, Benassi MS, Borze I, Quattrini I, Picci P, Knuutila S. MicroRNA expression profiles in metastatic and non-metastatic giant cell tumor of bone. Histol Histopathol. 2013;28:671–8.
- 31. Conti A, Fredolini C, Tamburro D, Magagnoli G, Zhou W, Liotta LA, Picci P, Luchini A, Benassi MS. Identification of novel candidate circulating biomarkers for malignant soft tissue sarcomas: correlation with metastatic progression. Proteomics. 2016;16:689–97.
- 32. Conti A, Luchini A, Benassi MS, Magagnoli G, Pierini M, Piccinni-Leopardi M, Quattrini I, Pollino S, Picci P, Liotta LA, Pazzaglia L. Circulating candidate biomarkers in giant cell tumors of bone. Proteomics Clin Appl. 2018;12(6):1800041.

24

Other Rare Pseudotumoral Lesions

Alberto Righi

24.1 Paget Disease

Paget disease is a disorder in which progressive deformity of the skeleton is associated with thickening of the involved bone. It affects older persons with a male predominance. Patients present with pain and progressive deformity. Any portion of the skeleton may be involved, but the innominate bone is the common site, followed by the sacrum, lumbar, spine, skull, femur, and tibia. Radiologically, Paget disease has typical radiographic features, namely a sharply demarcated lucency associated with thickened cortex and medullary bone. Histologically, the bony trabeculae are thickened and irregular with multiple blue cement lines. Osteoblasts and osteoclasts are prominent, and the bone marrow is replaced with loose connective tissue. Calcitonin and bisphosphonates have shown promise in arresting the progress of the disease. Development into sarcoma can be expected in fewer than 1% of patients.

24.2 Mucoid Cyst

Mucoid cyst is a term that considers both intraosseous and soft tissue ganglion. These lesions are

uniloculated or multiloculated cystic swellings that often appear in or around joints and tendons. Intraosseous ganglion cyst can be found in any periarticular joint although they are most commonly seen in medial malleolus, proximal tibia, acetabulum, and carpal bones. The radiographic appearance of intraosseous ganglion cyst is a well-defined epiphyseal lucency with a sclerotic margin which occurs in the absence of degenerative features that can be mistaken for giant cell tumor of bone, chondroblastoma, and clear cell chondrosarcoma. Microscopically, а thick fibrous-walled cyst, which is either denuded of cells or lined by a single layer of flat cells, is characteristic of intraosseous ganglia. Soft tissue ganglion is most commonly found in the wrist and elsewhere in the hands and feet. They may occur in the menisci of the knee where they are known as meniscal cysts. They tend to affect young adults, and the incidence is three times as high in women as men. Microscopically, the soft tissue ganglion has a thin, fibrous tissue wall, and no lining cell layer with small collections of mucinous fluid.

24.3 Brown Tumor in Hyperparathyroidism

Hyperparathyroidism is associated with skeletal changes due to hyperfunctioning of the parathyroid glands because of neoplasm or hyperplasia.

Check for updates

A. Righi (🖂)

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: alberto.righi@ior.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_24

Any portion of the skeleton may show localized defects, but generally there is a diffuse demineralization. On radiographs, the brown tumor in hyperparathyroidism presents as an area of lucency. Histologically, brown tumors are composed of a proliferation of giant cells, usually arranged in clusters, with a background of spindle and fibrosis. Hyperparathyroidism should be suspected if a lesion that suggests the diagnosis of giant cell tumor occurs in an unusual site, such as a rib or the metaphysis of a long bone. Treatment should be directed toward surgical removal of the hyperfunctioning parathyroid gland.

24.4 Giant Cell Reparative Granuloma (Solid ABC)

Giant cell reparative granuloma (solid ABC) is a reactive process consisting of giant cells that usually are arranged in clusters, fibroblasts, and new bone formation. It is limited to the jawbones and small bones of the hands and feet. The mean of distribution is the third decade without sex predilection. Patients present with pain and/or swelling. On radiographs, the lesion is predominantly lucent, the bone is commonly expanded, the cortex may be thinned, and the process may extend into soft tissue. The main differential diagnosis is with giant cell tumor of bone. The presence of spindle cells, collagen production, bone formation, and the absence of H3F3A gene mutation allow the diagnosis of giant cell reparative granuloma. Curettage is the treatment of choice. Recurrences are common and are managed effectively with recurettage.

24.5 Charcot Joint (Neuropathic Arthropathy)

Charcot joint (neuropathic arthropathy) is one in which there is chronic progressive joint destruction as a consequence of nerve dysfunction around weight-bearing joints. The prime cause of the arthropathy is a loss of or marked reduction in sensitivity to pain. It usually affects adults over 40 years of age and men more than women. Although it can affect any joint, it most commonly involves the weigh-bearing joints of the lower limb. Radiologically, the disease is characterized by complete derangement of the joint structure with subluxation and even disarticulation. The morphologic features are rapidly destructive osteoarthritis with osteosclerosis, subarticular cyst (geode) formation, and intraarticular bone and cartilage loose bodies. It is often difficult to distinguish clinically and radiologically between a severe Charcot joint and septic arthritis or osteomyelitis without histological examination.

24.6 Gaucher Disease

Gaucher disease is a common lysosomal storage disease that is inherited in an autosomal recessive manner and characterized by the accumulation of glucocerebroside in macrophages throughout the reticuloendothelial system. Clinical and radiographic evidence of bone disease occurs in most patients with the common non-neuronopathictype and subacute neuronopathic-type Gaucher disease. Radiologically, bone marrow infiltration results in generalized osteopenia with radiolucency of bone and cortical thinning and scalloping sparing the epiphyses. Histologically, the peculiar features are the variable infiltration of bone marrow spaces by large, occasionally multinucleated, macrophages. Cells similar to Gaucher disease are seen occasionally in chronic myeloid leukemia, thalassemia, Niemann-Pick disease, and Erdheim-Chester disease. The skeletal effects can be very disabling and result in impaired mobility and significantly diminished quality of life. Recently, the introduction of enzyme replacement therapy has achieved improvement in quality of life with Gaucher disease.

24.7 Bone Infarct

Bone infarct is an area of necrosis in bone associated with localized ischemia. Clinically, avascular necrosis of the femoral head is the most common type of bone infarct associated with pain in the hip. Infarcts in other portion of bone do not cause symptoms. On radiograph, an area of lucency surrounded by calcification is evident. Morphologically, the bony spicules have empty osteocytic lacunae and the bone marrow shows fat necrosis and calcifications, similar to that seen in fibrous dysplasia and enchondromas. Femoral head necrosis is treated by total hip arthroplasty; other infarcts do not require treatment. The risk of a sarcoma arising in an infarct is low.

24.8 Echinococcus Cyst

Echinococcus cyst is a manifestation of hydatidosis, a worldwide zoonosis in sheep- and cattleraising region, that is caused by the larval tapeworms of the genus Echinococcus. The incubation period of echinococcosis depends on the location of the infection and is often prolonged for several years. Bone lesions are usually localized in the spine, pelvis, femur, tibia, and rib. On radiographs, the lesions are evident in the advanced stage that reveal single or multiple expansile cystic radiolucent lesions with coarse trabeculations which may suggest fibrous dysplasia, hemangioma, plasmacytoma, giant cell tumor, cartilaginous tumor, or metastatic tumor in the differential diagnosis. Histological identification of protoscolices, hooklets, calcareous corpuscles, or the typical laminated hydatid membranes is diagnostic of hydatidosis. Echinococcus cyst may be confused with bone cyst, cystic osteomyelitis, cavitary mycobacterial fungal infections, and tumors. Response to treatment with drugs or surgery depends on the size and location of the cyst. Bone cysts respond less well to drug therapy and have to be surgically removed.

24.9 Gorham Disease

Gorham disease (also called disappearing bone disease, massive osteolysis, vanishing bone disease, and Gorham-Stout disease) is characterized by the gradual and progressive disappearance of bone from a particular osseous site, along with loss of structure and function. Most individuals affected are children or young adults. The disease is sporadic and has equal gender distribution. Often, the limb girdles and proximal appendicu-

lar skeleton are involved, and there is a tendency for the process to cross the joints. Radiologically, contiguous radiolucent lesions affected both the compact and cancellous bones are evident. These lesions become progressively destructive. Histologically, the lesion may be active or inactive. Active lesions are benign vascular lesions (hemangiomas, lymphangiomas, or compound lesions) associated with bone resorption. Inactive lesions consist mainly of fibroconnective tissue, which becomes more abundant as the lesion stabilizes. The treatment is mainly symptomatic and palliative, consisting of stabilization of the affected part for pain control.

24.10 Heterotopic Ossifications

Heterotopic ossification is a reactive, self-limited condition in which fibroblast proliferate in the soft tissues, producing bone and, occasional, cartilage. Patients evidence a rapidly enlarging swelling, usually of a few weeks' duration. The process affects any age group but especially young adults without sex predilection. Any part of the body may be involved, but the anterior thigh is the most common site. On radiographs, an ill-defined mass is evident that shows a mineralization at the periphery with a lucent center. Histologically, the central area of the lesion is composed of proliferating fibroblasts that appear less mature than those in the periphery, and the periphery is composed of more mature bone and cartilage. Parosteal osteosarcoma and extraskeletal osteosarcoma are the main differential diagnosis of heterotopic ossification. Conservative excision is adequate therapy.

Selected Bibliography

- Klein MJ, Bonar SF, Freemont T, Vinh TN, Lopez-Ben R, Siegel HJ, Siegal GP. Non-neoplastic diseases of bones and joints. Washington, DC: AFIP-ARP; 2011.
- Unni KK, Indwards CY, Bridge JA, Kindblom L-G, Wold LE. Tumors of the bones and joints. Washington, DC: AFIP-ARP; 2005.
- Unni KK, Indwards CY. Dahlin's bone tumors. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2010.

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto

Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

e-mail: alberto.righi@ior.it

A. Righi (🖂)

Other Rare Benign Lesions

Alberto Righi

25.1 Dysplasia Epiphysealis Hemimelica

Dysplasia epiphysealis hemimelica, also called Trevor disease or Fairbank disease, is a rare nonfamilial disease of unknown etiology. It presents in early childhood between the ages of 3 and 15 years with osteochondroma-like swelling close to a joint, a limited range of movement, and occasional "locking" of the involved joint. A cartilaginous lesion that continues to grow and undergo endochondral ossification until skeletal maturity is reached and generally requires surgical treatment causes the swelling. The majority of children have more than one lesion affecting a single limb, usually a lower limb. Radiologically and macroscopically, the features of dysplasia epiphysealis hemimelica overlap with those of osteochondromas. Histologically, dysplasia epiphysealis hemimelica is composed of multiple nodules of cartilage with centers of active endochondral ossification in the epiphysis functioning as accessory secondary ossification centers. By 3-4 years of age, most of the nodules have fused with epiphysis, and the accessory ossification centers have disappeared. The cartilage cap contains chondrocytes arranged in a fibrillar matrix in a somewhat disorganized manner compared with the surrounding normal cartilage. The differential diagnosis includes enchondroma, synovial chondromatosis, and chondrosarcoma. Radiologic correlation is required for diagnosis.

25.2 Osteoma

Osteoma is a benign tumor composed of mature bone arising on the surface of the bone with a predilection for the craniofacial bones, and when developing in the medullary cavity is known as enostosis. Multiple osteomas can occur in the autosomal dominantly inherited Gardner syndrome, a variant of familial adenomatous polyposis. Osteomas are clinically asymptomatic but can provoke obstruction of the paranasal sinuses or lead to local swellings. On radiographs, osteoma appears a well-circumscribed radio-opaque masses, usually measuring less than 2 cm. On histology, osteomas are predominantly composed of lamellar bone and can be divided into compact, spongious, and mixed subtypes. If cancellous areas occur, the bone can show osteoblastic rimming and a well-vascularized and moderately cellular fibrous stroma, which could be confused with a parosteal osteosarcoma. Usually, osteomas do not require treatment and follow an indolent clinical course.





[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_25

25.3 Intraosseous Schwannoma

Intraosseous schwannoma is a very rare benign neoplasm of Schwann cell origin located within the medullary cavity of bone, which can occur sporadically or in association with neurofibromatosis type 2. Many patients are asymptomatic, and the tumor is an incidental finding. Most patients are in the second or third decade of life, and there is a slight female predominance. The mandible and sacrum are the sites most commonly involved, although other bones such as the skull and ribs have been reported to be involved. On radiographs, intraosseous schwannoma presents as well-defined lucencies, occasionally with a sclerotic border. Macroscopically, these tumors are soft, graywhite, well-circumscribed nodules with the same histological features of soft tissue counterpart. The neoplastic cells are strongly and uniformly positive S100 protein. for Conservative surgical removal is appropriate therapy, and the prognosis is excellent.

25.4 Benign Fibrous Histiocytoma

Benign fibrous histiocytoma is a primary bone neoplasm that is composed of fibroblasts and histiocytes whose cytologic features do not suggest a malignant neoplasm. Patients range in age from 5 to 75 years with a slight male predominance. Pain is the usual symptom. The iliac wing is the most common site, followed by the femur. On radiographs, the tumor presents as a welldefined lytic defect localized in the diaphysis or metaphyseal regions, when a long bone is affected. Histologically, spindle cells with plump or slender nuclei are arranged in a loose storiform pattern without atypical features associated with clusters of foam cells and multinucleated giant cells. Treatment consists of thorough curettage. Some recurrences have been reported in literature.

25.5 Nora's Disease

Nora's disease, also called bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation, is an osteochondromatous proliferation involving the surface of bone, usually affects the proximal small bones of the hands and feet. It has a peak of incidence in the third and fourth decades of life. Swelling with or without complaints of pain is the typical clinical presentation. On radiographs, a well-marginated, heterotopic, mineralized mass attached to the cortex is seen. Macroscopically, the lesion resembles an exostosis with lobulated cartilage cap and a bony stalk. Histologically, a hypercellular cartilage with enlarged chondrocytes associated with a peculiar purplish blue mineralization ("blue bone") is the main histological feature of this lesion. The main differential diagnosis is with osteochondroma. Simple excision is sufficient treatment. Recurrences are common but managed adequately with re-excision.

25.6 Subungual Exostosis

Subungual exostosis in a benign osteochondromatous proliferation involving the nail bed of the distal phalanx of the great toe. Other toes and fingers are rarely affected. It usually occurs in the second or third decade of life, and there is a pronounced male predominance. Radiographs show a mineralized mass attached to the surface of the distal phalanx. The cortex and medulla of the phalanx are not continuous with the lesion. Histologically, there is a gradual maturation from a peripheral spindle cell proliferation to hyaline cartilage to trabecular bone. Loosely arranged spindle cells are present in the intertrabecular spaces. The proliferating spindle cells and cartilage may lead to a misdiagnosis of osteosarcoma or chondrosarcoma. The orderly arrangement and maturation are important clues for recognizing the reactive nature of the lesion. Simple excision is sufficient treatment. Recurrences are rare and are controlled by re-excision.

Selected Bibliography

- Klein MJ, Bonar SF, Freemont T, Vinh TN, Lopez-Ben R, Siegel HJ, Siegal GP. Non-neoplastic diseases of bones and joints. Washington, DC: AFIP-ARP; 2011.
- Sciot R, Mandahl N. Subungual exostosis and bizarre parosteal osteochondromatous proliferation. In: Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F,

editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and Bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 259–60.

- Unni KK, Indwards CY, Bridge JA, Kindblom L-G, Wold LE. Tumors of the bones and joints. Washington, DC: AFIP-ARP; 2005.
- Unni KK, Indwards CY. Dahlin's bone tumors. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2010.

Part III

Benign Lesions of Soft Tissues



26

Myositis Ossificans

Tommaso Frisoni

Definition: Myositis ossificans is a self-limiting benign lesion that can arise in any type of soft tissue most frequently in muscle as a solitary lesion. It consists of a process in which soft tissues are interested by mature lamellar bone formation in association with inflammation mostly caused by traumatic or neurological injury surgery burns or other diseases.

Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (also called Munchmeyer's disease) is a hereditary

type of myositis configuring an extremely rare genetic disease. Usually sporadic via a gene mutation, but it may also be due to an autosomal dominant hereditary disorder (mutations in a BMP type 1 receptor).

Epidemiology: Classic and fibrodyslpasia ossificans progressiva are very rare. Young active males are the most commonly affected.

T. Frisoni (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: Tommaso.frisoni@ior.it



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Clinical: The classic MO scenario is pain associated with a growing soft tissue mass usually after a trauma or injury. Even repetitive minor trauma can lead to the development of MO. At the beginning of symptoms, tissues are involved by intense inflammatory response as well as swelling, warming, and rubbishness. Then inflammation and swelling tend to decrease even without any treatment after few days. Pathophysiology is under discussion. During this phlogistic process, a cascade of cytokines activates endothelial mesenchymal cells and induces their differentiation in osteoblasts and chondroblast cells. The final result is bone formation within soft tissue.

The entire process passes through an early, intermediate, and mature stages; each stage has a correspondence between clinical, radiographic, and histopathological aspects (Table 26.1).

So a painful enlarging mass with intense inflammation of the surrounding tissues can be appreciated. Inflammation resolves itself with rest, then the mass slowly regresses. After that a maturation of the mass occurs in several months up to 1 year.

Genetic type: progressive and diffused ossification of tendons, ligaments and connective tissue around muscles, micro-clinodactyly.

Localization: The post-traumatic type may develop in any site. More frequent in the extensor muscles of the thigh, flexor muscles of the arm, then adductor or gluteal muscles. MO of psoas muscle has been reported as well. The genetic type usually starts in the neck, shoulder, axilla, or paraspinal muscles.

Imaging: Standard X-rays in the early stage usually are negative, even if a periosteal reaction can be detected in the first 2 weeks if the process

Stage	Early	Intermediate	Mature
Clinical aspects	Pain and swelling, functional limitation, rubbishness	Tender soft tissue mass, persistence of functional limitation, decreasing pain	Reduction or absence of symptoms, a hard mass can be appreciated
Imaging	Standard X-ray usually negative	Calcified peripheral border with a radiolucent central area	Radiodense mass with persistent radiolucent central area
Histology	Spindle bland-appearing and mitotic activity	Central immature woven bone associated with peripheral lamellar mature bone formation (zonation)	Maturation of the whole mass into lamellar bone

Table 26.1 Clinical and radiographic findings of myositis ossificans at each stage

arises close to the bone. After 3–4 weeks, soft tissue calcifications become evident. Then calcifications tend to mature and organize themselves in a mature ossification at the periphery with a radiolucent central area (6–8 weeks). At the end a rounded calcific mass is clearly shown (6–12 months).

US scan: It is often the first approach to such a lesion. In the early stage three concentric zones can be detected: a peripheral hypoechoic area, an intermediate hyperechoic area with calcification, and an inner hypoechoic area corresponding to immature zone. Despite these characteristics, it remains dependent on the operators' skill, so further examination is the rule.

CT scan can address and lead to the diagnosis, showing the classic pattern of peripheral calcification and radiolucent central area only after few weeks. In the early stage a hypo/isodense soft tissue lesion is visible. So CT scan is very useful and diagnostic in the intermediate stage, while it is neither specific nor helpful in the early stage.

Although MRI is the gold standard examination for soft tissue masses, in MO it can be confounding in particular in the early stages. In the first phase, inhomogeneous T1 and hyperintense T2 and STIR signals are present at the same time corresponding to various phenomena (hematoma, fibroblast proliferation, hemosiderin deposit, edema). These findings may lead to erroneous diagnosis of sarcoma.

After the acute phase (4–6 weeks), the central part of the lesion becomes iso-hypointense in T1 and slightly hyperintense in T2 to surrounding

muscles and a low T2 signal at the periphery can be appreciated (peripheral ossification), and in STIR, edema has been resolved.

Then in the mature phase, the lamellar bone pattern and a low signal in all the sequences are the MRI features.

Histopathology: Histology depends on the phase. In the early phase a proliferation of bland-appearing spindle cells with plump nuclei, arranged in a storiform pattern with mitotic activity and scattered inflammatory cells, similar to nodular fasciitis, is seen. In the intermediate phase, the lesions show a central areas with the same spindle cell proliferation, surrounded by immature woven bone (zonation). In the last phase, mature lamellar bone at the periphery is evident.

Course and treatment: Although classic type MO has a benign course, with a self-limiting behavior, a biopsy is often performed in the early stage due to differential diagnosis with more aggressive lesions. The best approach is a US-guided needle biopsy in which the different areas (from periphery to the inner part) must be included.

Treatment is rest, cryotherapy, and antiinflammatory drugs. Genetic type: progressive severe disability. If respiratory muscles are involved, disease may be fatal.

Treatment: No surgical treatment is usually required. In genetic diseases, good general care and avoidance of trauma (particularly the iatrogenic ones from i.m. injections, biopsies, surgery) are emphasized (Figs. 26.1, 26.2, and 26.3).



Fig. 26.1 (**a**, **b**, **c**) Evolution of myositis ossificans on standard X-ray. (**a**) X-ray at 3 weeks after clinical onset shows soft tissue calcification in the left arm, (**b**) X-ray at

3 months shows a calcified peripheral border with a radiolucent central area, (c) X-ray at 8 months shows a radiodense mass with a persistent radiolucent central area



Fig. 26.2 MRI with T1 (**a**), T2 (**b**), and STIR (**c**) signals at 1 month after the onset of symptoms. Inhomogeneous T1 and hyperintense T2 and STIR signals are present at the same time



Fig. 26.3 MRI with T1 (**a**), T2 (**b**), and STIR (**c**) signals at 3 months after the onset of symptoms. The central part of the lesion becomes iso-hypointense in T1 and slightly

hyperintense in T2 to surrounding muscles, a low T2 signal at the periphery can be appreciated (peripheral ossification) and in STIR edema has been resolved



Storiform pattern of bland-appearing spindle cells and scattered inflammatory cells in the center of the lesion



Ossified rim at the periphery (zoning phenomenon)

Selected Bibliography

- Abate M, Salini V, Rimondi E, Errani C, Alberghini M, Mercuri M, Pelotti P. Post traumatic myositis ossificans: sonographic findings. J Clin Ultrasound. 2011;39:135–40.
- Bauer AH, Bonham J, Gutierrez L, Hsiao EC, Motamedi D. Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva: a current review of imaging findings. Skelet Radiol. 2018;47(8):1043–50.

Martin DA, Senanayake S. Images in clinical medicine. Myositis ossificans. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(8):758.

- Parikh J, Hyare H, Saifuddin A. The imaging features of post-traumatic myositis ossificans, with emphasis on MRI. Clin Radiol. 2002;57(12):1058–66. Review.
- Sferopoulos NK, Kotakidou R, Petropoulos AS. Myositis ossificans in children: a review. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2017;27(4):491–502.
- Walczak BE, Johnson CN, Howe BM. Myositis ossificans. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2015;23(10):612–22.



27

Pigmented Villonodular Synovitis and Giant Cell Tumor of the Tendon Sheaths (Tenosynovial Giant Cell Tumor)

Eric L. Staals

Definition: Benign neoplasm, composed of synovial-like mononuclear cells, creating a progressive inflammatory process in the joint, tendon sheaths, or bursae.

Epidemiology: No sex predilection. 20–40 years of age.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

E. L. Staals (⊠) Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: ericlodewijk.staals@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_27

127

Location: (a) paratendinous (frequent): in the sheath of a flexor tendon of the fingers, in the palm of the hand close to a metacarpophalangeal joint, in the wrist, on the dorsum of a finger adjacent to an extensor tendon, rare in the foot; (b) in the joint (rare): >75% in the knee, then in the hip, wrist, ankle, shoulder; (c) in the bursae (exceptional).

Clinical: The diffuse type, creating multiple nodules and usually involving the whole joint, often causes pain, swelling and stiffness. On the long term, degenerative changes and secondary osteoarthritis are frequently seen. The localized type is usually a single nodule and may cause blocking, clicking, and sometimes swelling of a joint. Pain is generally mild to moderate and if the nodule is small, this type can be (almost) asymptomatic.

Diagnosis: On X-ray joint effusion may be detectable, with thickening of the synovial tissue. Skeletal erosions due to long standing nodular lesions creating osteolytic lesions with well-defined sclerotic margins, on the perimeter of the joint. On CT—lobulated newly formed tissue in the joint with considerable contrast enhancement. On bone scan—uptake may be increased due to bone compression/erosion. On MRI—heterogeneous, mostly low signal both in T1 and T2 is characteristic. Intra and peritumoral enhancing curvilinear regions on contrast T1. A PET-scan typically shows very high SUVmax values in TGCT, mimicking a malignant process.

Histopathology: Roughly lobulated, single, soft, yellow-white to pale brown nodules with smooth surface. In advanced stages it matures in a fibrous scar. It becomes hard, compact, white with some yellow or brown bands and adheres to the surrounding tissues, to bone, to tendon. The synovial membrane appears thickened, leatheryyellow, matted by long large villi like a "ruffled beard," with multiple, soft, yellow-brown, lobulated nodules of varying size. Fibrin membranes cover the villi surface. Histologically, sheets of mononuclear cells with plasmacytoid features, dense intercellular collagen, multinucleated giant cells, hemosiderin pigment, and scattered groups of foam cells.

Soft, pasty, friable, and yellow-brown tissue fills joint space in more advanced lesions. Pathologic tissue may be easily enucleated from the bone lesions that have a smooth bony wall. The diffuse type TGCT may invade the joint capsule and expand into the muscles, between the tendons, but it never infiltrates them. It may dislocate or encase the neurovascular structures.

Course and Staging: The clinical course is rather unpredictable. TGCT is usually slowly growing, and clinical presentation may remain stable for many years. However, recurrent disease is very frequent in the diffuse type and may lead to significant functional loss and impaired quality of life. Malignant TGCT has been reported in exceptional cases.

Treatment: Excision of the nodular type is usually curative and may be performed either through an open excision or arthroscopically. In diffuse type TGCT surgery is difficult and often it is impossible to eradicate the whole lesion. Complete synovectomy is indicated, but postoperative complications are frequent and local recurrence rates are as high as 40%. When the disease destroys the joint cartilage an arthrodesis or prosthesis may be required, and in rare cases amputation is necessary. External or intrarticular radiotherapy has been suggested as adjuvant treatment when complete excision is not feasible. Recent studies have underlined the important role of the CSF1-CSF1R pathway in the pathogenesis of TGCT and several target therapies have been proposed with promising short-term results.



Radiograph and T2 coronal MR image. Hip lesion with multiple erosions of the bone of both parts of the joint. Lesions have a low signal on T2 image due to iron deposits



Sheets of synovial mononuclear cells, hemosiderin pigment, scattered multinucleated giant cells, and foam cells. Vaguely nodular pattern on panoramic view

Selected Bibliography

- Adelani MA, Wupperman RM, Holt GE. Benign synovial disorders. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2008;16(5):268– 75. Review.
- Amber IB, Clark BJ, Greene GS. Pigmented villonodular synovitis: dedicated PET imaging findings. BMJ Case Rep. 2013;2013:bcr2013009401.
- Frick MA, Wenger DE, Adkins M. MR imaging of synovial disorders of the knee: an update. Radiol Clin N Am. 2007;45(6):1017–31. Review.
- Mendenhall WM, Mendenhall CM, Reith JD, Scarborough MT, Gibbs CP, Mendenhall NP. Pigmented villonodular synovitis. Am J Clin Oncol. 2006;29(6):548–50. Review.
- Palmerini E, Staals EL, Maki RG, Pengo S, Cioffi A, Gambarotti M, Picci P, Daolio PA, Parafioriti A,

Morris C, Antonescu CR, Gronchi A, Casali PG, Donati DM, Ferrari S, Stacchiotti S. Tenosynovial giant cell tumour/pigmented villonodular synovitis: outcome of 294 patients before the era of kinase inhibitors. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(2):210–7.

- Staals EL, Ferrari S, Donati DM, Palmerini E. Diffusetype tenosynovial giant cell tumour: current treatment concepts and future perspectives. Eur J Cancer. 2016;63:34–40.
- Staals EL, Rimondi E, Palmerini E. A mass with high uptake of fluorodeoxyglucose on positron emission tomography. JAMA Oncol. 2018;4(10):1421–2.
- Tyler WK, Vidal AF, Williams RJ, Healey JH. Pigmented villonodular synovitis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2006;14(6):376–85. Review.
- Wan JM, Magarelli N, Peh WC, Guglielmi G, Shek TW. Imaging of giant cell tumour of the tendon sheath. Radiol Med. 2010;115(1):141–51. Review.

Synovial Chondromatosis

Eric L. Staals

Definition: A benign neoplasm of welldifferentiated hyaline cartilage originating from the synovial membrane of the joint, the tendinous sheath or the bursae mucosae. **Epidemiology:** Rare. Males. 30–50 years old.

e-mail: ericlodewijk.staals@ior.it
© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020
P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_28



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

The original version of this chapter was revised. A correction to this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_56

E. L. Staals (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: ericlodewijk.staals@ior.it





Location: >50% knee, then elbow, shoulder, wrist, hip, and ankle. Extra-articular form in the fingers.

Clinical: Pain, limited joint motion, sensation of joint crackling. Rarely blocking of the joint and effusion. Solid nodules, sometimes loose bodies, may be palpable. Recurring and slowly progressive symptoms. Plurilobulated hardelastic mass expanding around a joint in aggressive type.

Imaging: X-ray might show intrarticular calcified nodules. Osteoarthitis is frequently seen in longstanding lesions and bone erosion or cortical scalloping in the aggressive ones. On CT intrarticular nodules, calcifications, bone lesions, and invasion of the surrounding tissues is better appreciated. On MRI—increased joint fluid, lobular intra-articular mass, intermediate intensity if uncalcified or with white punctuated appearance if ossified on T1, round, ring-like, dark signal voids in strong enhancement of the synovial tissue on contrast T1 and in bright signal of the joint fluid on T2.

Histopathology: White, smooth, lucent, translucid soft or firm, loose bodies of different size. Thickened and seeded with cartilaginous nodules synovial membrane; hard, granular, yellowish ossified areas in the nodules. Lobules of well-differentiated rather cellular hyaline cartilage. Clustering of the chondrocytes is characteristic. Cartilaginous lobules are surrounded by fibrous bands.

Course and Staging: Slow growth, surgery is often curative, although late recurrences may be seen. Usually, stage 2 or 3. Rarely spontaneous regression. Very rare cases can transform into chondrosarcoma.

Treatment: Intralesional excision with (complete) synovectomy.



Radiograph and CT. Mass in the joint, eroding bone in a well limited way, and containing cartilaginous calcifications



Lobular pattern, clustering of chondrocytes, hyaline matrix

Selected Bibliography

- Adelani MA, Wupperman RM, Holt GE. Benign synovial disorders. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2008;16(5):268– 75. Review.
- Frick MA, Wenger DE, Adkins M. MR imaging of synovial disorders of the knee: an update. Radiol Clin N Am. 2007;45(6):1017–31. Review.
- McKenzie G, Raby N, Ritchie D. A pictorial review of primary synovial osteochondromatosis. Eur Radiol. 2008;18(11):2662–9. Review.
- Murphey MD, Vidal JA, Fanburg-Smith JC, Gajewski DA. Imaging of synovial chondromatosis with radiologic-pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2007;27(5):1465–88. Review.
- Zamora EE, Mansor A, Vanel D, Errani C, Mercuri M, Picci P, Alberghini M. Synovial chondrosarcoma: report of two cases and literature review. Eur J Radiol. 2009;72(1):38–43. Review.

Fibromatosis (All Types)

Davide Maria Donati and Tommaso Frisoni

Fibromatosis consists in a wide group of benign mesenchymal proliferation. In WHO 2013 it belongs to the group of fibroblastic/miofibroblastic neoplasms not metastasizing but with a potential locally aggressive behavior. They can arise either from fasciae (superficial type) or from deep tissue:

- (a) Superficial: (1) palmar f. (Dupuytren's contracture); (2) plantar f. (Ledderhose's disease); (3) penile f. (Peyronie's disease); (4) knuckle pads.
- (b) Deep (desmoid-type fibromatosis): (1) extraabdominal f.; (2) abdominal f.

Check for updates

D. M. Donati · T. Frisoni (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: davide.donati@ior.it; Tommaso.frisoni@ior.it



Fibromatosis (all types)

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

29.1 **Desmoid Type: Fibromatosis**

Definition: This tumor consists in a locally aggressive proliferation of small bundles of spindle cells (monoclonal fibroblasts) in an abundant fibrous stroma with an infiltrative growth. Not metastasizing but with an high local recurrence rate after surgical excision.

Epidemiology: Young adults and women are mostly involved. Occurs more often in patients with FAP. In women tumor growth may be related to pregnancy. Peak incidence 25-35 years. Three percent of all soft tissue tumors rising to 13% in FAP.

Localization: Ubiquitous. Scapular girdle, pelvic girdle, lower limbs, and upper limbs. Usually deep. Skin invasion is rare.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Clinical: Clinical features depend on localization. Symptoms are mainly related to the structures involved. Tumor is usually a slowly growing, painless, hard mass, often very adherent to surrounding tissues. The infiltrative pattern leads the tumor grow into the muscles and along fasciae with multiple nodules (multifocality) that can arise proximally and distally even in different compartment of the same limb configuring an high morbidity evolution although the lack of metastasizing potential with an tendency to recur. When it develops close to a joint, a functional impairment may occur due to stiffness and muscular/tendon/capsular retraction. Neurological symptoms are rare but possible when nerves are involved.

Imaging: On standard X-ray, it may be not detectable even if sometimes a calcific mass in soft tissue or a bony erosion when the tumor is seated on cortical bone can be revealed. US scan appearance is variable, usually hypoechoic and

inhomogeneus; if performed with contrast medium, it shows an early enhancement of the contrast agent and a long washout, typical aspect of benign lesions probably due to the presence of fibrotic tissue.

CT scan reveals a isodense lesion, thus is recommended to conduct the exam with contrast medium, in order to distinguish the mass from surrounding tissue and recognize its multinodular shape. It's very useful in studying the bony erosion.

The gold standard is MRI in which active desmoid fibromatosis is often heterogeneously isointense on T1-weighted images and heterogeneously hyperintense on T2-weighted images. An inhomogeneus contrast enhancement is present. Bands of low signal on all sequences are due to the presence of hypocellularity and abundant collagen areas, within high T2 signal and enhancement reflecting the cellularity and active disease, whereas low T2 signal denotes collagenization and maturation. Changes in MRI imaging features are used as evaluation for treatment response; however, a large consensus for what can be considered a good response is necessary. RECIST criteria are not applicable as assessment because usually they do not reduce in volume but they change becoming "biologically inactive" with an increased hypointensity in T2 and a decreased contrast enhancement.

Histopathology: Grossly a solid and hard mass with infiltrative pattern can be appreciated; difficult to recognize well-defined margins and separate from the surrounding tissues even if they usually are not invaded. It's a spindle cell proliferation in a very dense and mature fibrous connective tissue. Cellularity is quite low as well as mitoses. Spindle cells are bland in appearance and grow in intersecting fascicles. Open vascular clefts are characteristics. Abnormal expression of β -catenin is due to *CNTTB1* gene mutations. In FAP, APC gene pathway is involved in pathogenesis.

Course and Staging: Locally aggressive tumor not metastasizing. Clinical behavior is unpredictable. Usually slowly growing; sometimes a rapid growth is observed but it can also tend to self limit with a spontaneous involution or regression associated to MRI changes. Local recurrence is frequent even if removed with adequate margins. Malignant transformation has never been observed.

Treatment: DT fibromatosis treatment is controversial and under debate. The standard of care has been surgical treatment with wide or radical excision (including amputation). This approach has been associated with adjuvant radiation therapy in particular when inadequate margins were obtained. During the last decades, a "wait and see" approach has become more indicated as first line regardless to symptoms. According to localization or symptoms, if resistant to painkiller treatment, systemic or adjuvant therapies such as chemotherapy or radiotherapy can be suggested. Nevertheless surgery and adjuvant therapies should be considered only in case of progression after an observational period or for not responsive tumors. The most used chemotherapy regimen have been low-dose MTX-VBL, tamoxifen, and more recently pazopanib. Prognosis is good.



 (\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{b}) T1 and T2 FAT SAT MRI sequences show a heterogeneously isointense on T1-weighted images, heterogeneously hyperintense on T2-weighted images. In (\mathbf{c}) the multifocal pattern that involves the whole extension of the thigh in the same patient



Heavily collagenized tissue with low cellularity, spindle cells with bland appearance, intersected fascicles, and ectatic vascular clefts. Immunohistochemical nuclear positivity for β -catenin in the neoplastic cells (*inset*)

Immunohistochemical panel					
 β-betenin 	Smooth M Act +				
 β-catenin 	+ (80% of cases)				

Selected Bibliography

- Bates JE, et al. Radiation therapy for aggressive fibromatosis: the association between local control and age. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2018;100(4):997–1003.
- Gronchi A, et al. Sporadic desmoid-type fibromatosis: a stepwise approach to a non-metastasising neoplasm a position paper from the Italian and the French sarcoma group. Ann Oncol. 2014;25(3):578–83.
- Scarborough MT, et al. Aggressive fibromatosis. Am J Clin Oncol. 2005;28(2):211–5. Review.
- Sheth PJ, et al. Desmoid fibromatosis: MRI features of response to systemic therapy. Skelet Radiol. 2016;45(10):1365–73.
- Smith K. Systematic review of clinical outcomes following various treatment options for patients with extraabdominal desmoid tumors. Ann Surg Oncol. 2018;25(6):1544.



30

Lipomas

Giuseppe Bianchi

Definition: A benign tumor constituted by well-differentiated adipocytes.

between 40 and 60 years of age and prevails in females when it is superficial, whereas in males when it is deep and multiple.

Epidemiology: The most common among soft-tissue tumors. It is more frequently observed



G. Bianchi (🖂)

Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: giuseppe.bianchi@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_30

Localization: (a) superficial (frequent): in the subcutaneous tissue of the back, shoulder, neck, proximal extremities. (b) Deep (rare): within or between muscles or adherent to bone, tendons, joints, or nerves. In 5% of cases, lipomas are multiple with symmetrical distribution in the dorsum and proximal upper limb.

Clinical: Solitary lump, slow growing, painless unless there is nerve compression. Superficial lipoma never grows large size (average 4 cm) and it is movable. Deep lipoma tends to be larger (average 10 cm) and with a spherical, fixed, and firm mass. Possible association with hereditary familial multiple lipomatosis (FML).

Imaging: On X-ray, a radiolucent mass rarely with calcification or ossification; mild cortical thickening when parosteal. On CT scan, a lobulated, sharply marginated radiolucency with homogeneous density. On MRI, an encapsulated, bright mass without enhancement after contrast administration; signal intensity equal to that of fat; regular thin septation. On angiography, avascular. On bone scan, there is no uptake.

Histopathology: It is often lobulated with a very thin true capsule. Soft on palpation, pale yellow in color, lipoma is constituted by mature adipocytes with no atypia. Vessels are not very apparent, because they are thin and compressed by lipocytes.

Course and Staging: (a) superficial lipoma: easily diagnosed, asymptomatic, generally stage 1 but it may behave as active stage 2 lesion. According to AJC classification, lipoma is more frequently stage Ia. (b) Deep lipoma: an extensive anatomo-pathological study with multiple specimens is necessary to exclude liposarcoma lipoma-like. Usually, stage 2 or stage Ib according to AJC classification. Malignant changes are exceptional.

Treatment: Marginal excision is curative. Recurrence is rare (<5%).

Variants	Age	Sex	Clinical	Gross	Histology
Angiolipoma	20	Male	<2 cm/forearm subcutaneous pain	Firm yellow/reddish	Lipocytes + network of capillaries with fibrin thrombi
Spindle cell Lipoma	Adult	Male	4 cm/back subcutaneous painless	Soft yellow/whitish	Lipocytes + vessels + spindle cells + myxoid matrix + collagenous bands
Pleomorphic Lipoma	Adult	Male	4 cm/back subcutaneous painless	Firm yellow/whitish	Lipocytes + bizarre floret-like multinucleated cells
Lipoblastoma	<2	Male	3 cm/limbs subcutaneous painless	Lobulated translucid	Like myxoid liposarcoma
Lipomatosis	10	-	Large/diffused pain	Dense tissue infiltrating	Mature adipose tissue
Intranervous L	<30	Male	Hand/wrist pain + neuropathy	Hard	Surrounds and infiltrates the nerve
Hybernoma	Adult	Male	4 cm/scapular subcutaneous painless	Firm	Central nucleus + foam cytoplasm = brown fat

Spindle Cell/Pleomorphic Lipoma

Immunohistochemical panel					
• CD34	+				
• Rb	+/				



Mature adipocytic cells organized in lobules with flat nuclei at the periphery and optically empty cytoplasms. No atypia of the cells

Selected Bibliography

- Drevelegas A, Pilavaki M, Chourmouzi D. Lipomatous tumors of soft tissue: MR appearance with histological correlation. Eur J Radiol. 2004;50(3):257–67. Review.
- Goodwin RW, O'Donnell P, Saifuddin A. MRI appearances of common benign soft-tissue tumours. Clin Radiol. 2007;62(9):843–53. Review.
- Lee JC, Gupta A, Saifuddin A, Flanagan A, Skinner JA, Briggs TW, Cannon SR. Hibernoma: MRI

features in eight consecutive cases. Clin Radiol. 2006;61(12):1029–34.

- Rubin BP, Dal Cin P. The genetics of lipomatous tumors. Semin Diagn Pathol. 2001;18(4):286–93. Review.
- Zamecnik M, Michal M. Angiomatous spindle cell lipoma: report of three cases with immunohistochemical and ultrastructural study and reappraisal of former 'pseudoangiomatous' variant. Pathol Int. 2007;57(1):26–31. Review.



Neurofibromas

Marco Gambarotti

Definition: Benign tumor of the peripheral nerve sheath. (a) Solitary. (b) Multiple in neurofibro-matosis type 1 (NF1).

Epidemiology: (a) more frequent than (b) (90%). (a): no sex predilection, 20–40 years old. (b): males, younger patients.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

M. Gambarotti (🖂) Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_31

145

Location: (a): superficial lesion in subcutis or dermis. (b): all sites and organs.

Clinical: (a) painless nodule or few symptoms (pain, swelling); other symptoms depend on location of neurofibromas (b) "café-au-lait" spots, typically in the axilla, pigmented hamartomas of the iris (Lisch nodules), skeletal abnormalities, disorders of growth, and sexual maturation.

Imaging: On MRI: nerve trapped within or obliterated by the mass. Rarely encapsulated. Much more homogeneous, isointense to muscle with frequent areas of high signal on T1, more inhomogeneous, typical target appearance, higher than fat intensity on T2, centrally higher enhancement never with necrosis on contrast T1.

Histopathology: Some variants are described: localized cutaneous, diffuse cutaneous, localized intraneural, plexiform intraneural, and massive diffuse soft tissue plexiform. Diffused neurofiblomas appear as whitish plaque-like thickening of skin, diffusing along connective septa and among adipose tissue cells. Plexiform neurofibromas appear as cordonal masses of convoluted aspect, a mixture of nerve trunks of different shape and size. Sectioned neurofibromas appear as spindle masses within the nerve, firm, grayish to tan, with pink areas. Histologically, neurofibroma is composed of interlacing bundles of loosely-arranged elongated spindle cells with wavy nuclei, associated with thick "ropey" collagen bundles, and mucoid material. Residual bundles of nerve fibers can be seen inside the tumor. Scattered fibroblastas, mast cells, lymphocytes, and xanthoma cells can be present.

Course and Staging: Malignant transformation in MPNST is rare in type (a), but more frequent (5–10%) in type (b), particularly when in NF1. Usually stage 1 or 2.

Treatment: Marginal excision in (a); in (b) large or painful lesions or lesions located in areas where continued growth would compromise organ function are treated by surgery.

Immunohistochemical panel				
• S100	+ (30–60% of cells)			
Neurofilament proteins (NF)	+ in axons inside the lesion			



Loose proliferation of spindle cells with wavy nuclei in a myxoid background containing thick collagen bundles

Selected Bibliography

- Antonescu CR, Brems H, Legius E, Woodruff JM. Neurofibroma (including variants). In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 174–6.
- Coulon A, Milin S, Laban E, Debiais C, Jamet C, Goujon JM. Pathologic characteristics of the most frequent peripheral nerve tumors. Neurochirurgie. 2009; 55(4–5):454–8. Review.
- Riccardi VM. The genetic predisposition to and histogenesis of neurofibromas and neurofibrosarcoma

in neurofibromatosis type 1. Neurosurg Focus. 2007;22(6):E3. Review.

- Rodriguez FJ, Folpe AL, Giannini C, Perry A. Pathology of peripheral nerve sheath tumors: diagnostic overview and update on selected diagnostic problems. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(3):295–319.
- Rosser T, Packer RJ. Neurofibromas in children with neurofibromatosis 1. J Child Neurol. 2002;17(8):585–91; discussion 602–4, 646–51. Review.
- Woertler K. Tumors and tumor-like lesions of peripheral nerves. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2010;14(5): 547–58. Review.


32

Schwannoma

Marco Gambarotti

Definition: Nerve sheath tumor composed of differentiated neoplastic Schwann cells.

Epidemiology: 20–50 years old. No sex predilection. Rarely associated with neurofibromatosis.



M. Gambarotti (🖂)

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_32

Location: Spinal roots, nerves of the mediastinum or of the retroperitoneum, peroneal, and ulnar nerve. Solitary in more than 90% of cases.

Clinical: Often asymptomatic or slow and progressive pain and neurological symptoms. Liquoral block, compression of the other roots or of the spinal cord, rachialgia, nocturnal increase in pain, stiffness, and spinal contractures. Sometimes sharper irradiated pain, paresthesia, algodystrophic syndrome when in peripheral nerve.

Imaging: On X-ray: scalloping of bone. On CT: well-circumscribed, homogeneous lesion, with muscle density. Frequent non-enhancing necrotic and cystic areas that cause an inhomogeneous hyperdense lesion after contrast administration. On MRI–nerve along the site of the mass. Capsulated. Homogeneous, isointense to muscle with frequent areas of low signal on T1, inhomogeneous, sometimes target appearance, higher than fat intensity on T2, diffused or peripheral enhancement with central necrotic unchanged zones on contrast T1.

Histopathology: Grossly, a globose "sausagelike" or "dumbbell" mass, elongated along the sac, with a smooth well-delimited surface covered by a capsule, connected to a nerve root. Rarely, it expands like an hourglass inside and out of the intervertebral root foramen. Schwannoma of the peripheral nerves can appear as an "onion bulb" or a piece of fruit attached to its stem. Sectioned tumors are soft, pink to white, often with yellow or hemorrhagic areas. Histologically, schwannoma is usually encapsulated. It is composed by a proliferation of spindle cells growing in compact (Antoni A) areas, alternating with loosely arranged (Antoni B) areas. Verocay bodies, formed by parallel rows of wellaligned nuclei, are present in Antoni A areas. Neoplastic cells show ill-defined eosinophilic cytoplasm and elongated tapered nuclei. Rare, if any, mitotic figures. Large, irregularly spaced vessels with hyalinized thickened wall commonly present. Degenerative atypia with extensive hyalinization can be present ("ancient" schwannoma). Cellular schwannoma is composed quite exclusive by Antoni A areas, with high cellularity and mitotic figures. Plexiform schwannoma involves multiple nerve fascicles or a nerve plexus, growing in a multinodular fashion. Melanotic schwannomas are composed of spindle to epithelioid cells, with round large vesicular nuclei and melanotic pigment in the cytoplasm (these cells are immunohistochemically positive for melanocytic markers); the presence of psammoma bodies defines the psammomatous variant.

Course and Staging: Schwannoma is a benign slow growing tumor, with rare recurrences after even incomplete surgery. Usually stage 1 or 2. Malignant transformation in epithelioid MPNST, epithelioid angiosarcoma, primitive neuroectodermal cells, or rhabdomyosarcoma is exceptional. Melanotic schwannoma is a low-malignant potential, rarely metastasizing tumor, with a tendency for late metastasis, and a 15% mortality rate. Although there are no strict criteria for malignancy in melanotic schwannoma, malignant forms often show large vesicular nuclei with macronucleoli, necrosis, and mitotic rate >2/10 HPF. About half of the cases of psammomatous melanotic schwannoma are associated with the Carney complex.

Treatment: Marginal excision is curative for classic schwannoma.

Immunohistochemical panel		
• S100	+	
• SOX10	+	
• GFAP	+/-	
• EMA	+ in perineurial cells of the capsule	



Cellular areas composed of elongated spindle cells with tapered nuclei (Antoni A areas, **a**), sometimes organized in palisades (Verocaly bodies, **b**), alternated with loose sheets of cells (Antoni B areas, **c**); hyalinized thickened walled vessels are present (**d**)

Selected Bibliography

- Antonescu CR, Perry A, Woodruff JM. Schwannoma (including variants). In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 170–2.
- Antonescu CR, Stratakis CA, Woodruff JM. Melanotic schwannoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 173.
- Coulon A, Milin S, Laban E, Debiais C, Jamet C, Goujon JM. Pathologic characteristics of the most frequent peripheral nerve tumors. Neurochirurgie. 2009; 55(4–5):454–8. Review.

- Levi AD, Ross AL, Cuartas E, Qadir R, Temple HT. The surgical management of symptomatic peripheral nerve sheath tumors. Neurosurgery. 2010;66(4):833–40.
- Rodriguez FJ, Folpe AL, Giannini C, Perry A. Pathology of peripheral nerve sheath tumors: diagnostic overview and update on selected diagnostic problems. Acta Neuropathol. 2012;123(3):295–319.
- Torres-Mora J, Dry S, Li X, Binder S, Amin M, Folpe AL. Malignant melanotic schwannian tumor: a clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, and gene expression profiling study of 40 cases, with a proposal for the reclassification of "melanotic schwannoma". Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38(1):94–105.
- Woertler K. Tumors and tumor-like lesions of peripheral nerves. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol. 2010;14(5):547–58.



Other Rare Conditions of Pseudotumoral and Benign Lesions of Soft Tissues

33

Alberto Righi

33.1 Myxoma

The myxomas are a group of relatively common, entirely benign probably unrelated lesions, which most commonly involve large muscles (intramuscular myxoma) but may also occur around large joints (juxta-articular myxoma) or in the skin (cutaneous myxoma). All cases are characterized by abundant myxoid matrix, bland stellate to spindled cells, and hypovascularity. These three morphological features are fundamental to differentiate myxoma to myxoid nodular fasciitis and to malignant myxoid neoplasms, such as myxofibrosarcoma and myxoid liposarcoma [1]. Local, complete excision is adequate treatment, but juxtaarticular myxoma may recur locally in 30% of cases, particularly if incompletely excised [1].

33.2 Angioleiomyoma

Angioleiomyoma, also called angiomyoma and vascular leiomyoma, is a benign dermal or subcutaneous tumor composed of well-differentiated smooth muscle cells arranged around many vascular channels. It represents 4–5% of benign soft

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: alberto.righi@ior.it tissue tumors, occurring at all ages but commonest between the fourth and sixth decades of life [2]. Angioleiomyoma can occur anywhere in the body, but is most often seen in the extremities followed by the head and trunk and it typically presents as a small, slowly growing firm nodule measuring <2 cm in diameter associated with pain in half of patients. Incomplete excision or a deeply situated lesion may exceptionally result in local recurrence [2].

33.3 Glomus Tumor

Glomus tumor (also called glomangioma and glomangiomyoma) is mesenchymal neoplasms composed of cells resembling the modified smooth muscle cells of the normal glomus body. This tumor is rare accounting for less than 2% of soft tissue tumor with a similar gender distribution and with a predilection for young adults. The vast majority occur in skin or superficial soft tissue in the distal extremities associated with a long history of pain. Rarely (fewer than 40 cases reported in literature), glomus tumors are morphologically considered malignant when the tumor show marked nuclear atypia and any level of mitotic activity or atypical mitotic figures [3]. "Typical" glomus tumors are benign neoplasms that require only simple excision. Malignant cases are highly aggressive with metastases and death from disease in up to 40% patients.

A. Righi (🖂)

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_33

33.4 Nodular Fasciitis

Nodular fasciitis is a common, benign, self-limiting, pseudo-sarcomatous reactive process that is mainly composed of fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. It is a solitary, small (<3 cm), sometimes painful subcutaneous nodule that occurs in young and middle-aged adults (20-50 years), with no sex predilection and that develops rapidly (often <1 month). It can be seen anywhere in the body but most common in the upper extremities (50% of cases), especially in the forearm [4]. Morphologically, nodular fasciitis is a highly proliferative lesion and it is commonly mistaken for a sarcoma. Important histological clues to the diagnosis of nodular fasciitis include the short, randomly arranged fascicles, the absence of a welldeveloped thick-walled vasculature, and the absence of nuclear pleomorphism or hyperchromatism. Simple excision is the treatment of choice with a percentage of local recurrences of less than 2% of cases [4].

33.5 Proliferative Fasciitis and Proliferative Myositis

Proliferative fasciitis and proliferative myositis are morphologically similar to nodular fasciitis but contain ganglion-like myofibroblastic cells, which are usually negative for muscle markers. Proliferative fasciitis is usually seen in the subcutaneous tissue of the upper limbs of middle-aged adults (40–60 years), whereas proliferative fasciitis mainly affects the muscles of the trunk and shoulder girdle. In children, proliferative fasciitis may be cellular and mitotically active, mimicking rhabdomyosarcoma or epithelioid sarcoma [4]. Both these lesions are benign, self-limiting, and reactive process. Simple excision is the treatment of choice. Local recurrences are exceptional.

33.6 Pseudotumoral Calcinosis

Pseudotumoral calcinosis (also called tumoral calcinosis, calcifying collagenolysis, calcifying bursitis, tumoral lipocalcinosis, and hip stone disease) is the designation for an extraskeletal soft tissue hydroxyapatite calcification with a

granulomatous response that develops in patients with secondary hyperparathyroidism or hypercalcemia, usually idiopathic or because of end-stage kidney disease [5].

33.7 Hibernoma

Hibernoma is a benign adipocytic tumor characterized by a brown fat cell component variably intermingled with mature white adipose tissue. This tumor, which usually presents as a painless, slow-growing mass, tends to occur in the subcutis of young adult with a predilection for the thigh, followed by the trunk, the upper limbs, and the head and neck area [6]. The main differential diagnosis is with atypical lipomatous tumor with hibernoma-like features: the absence of MDM2 amplification by FISH associated with an immunohistochemical negativity for MDM2/CDK4 in hibernoma can help to differentiate these entities. Local excision is curative.

References

- Folpe AW. Tumors of miscellaneous type or uncertain lineage. In: Folpe AW, Inwards CY, editors. Bone and soft tissue pathology. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier; 2010. p. 169–72.
- Hisaoka M, Quade B. Angioleiomyoma. In: Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 120–1.
- Folpe AL, Brems H, Legius E. Glomus tumours. In: Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 116–7.
- Guillou L, Folpe AW. Fibroblastic and fibrohistiocytic tumors in in bone and soft tissue pathology. In: Folpe AW, Inwards CY, editors. Bone and soft tissue pathology. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier; 2010. p. 43–7.
- Fanburg-Smith JC, Murphey MD. Cartilage- and bone-forming tumors and tumor-like lesions. In: Miettinen M, editor. Modern soft tissue pathology: tumors and non-neoplastic conditions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2010. p. 862–95.
- Dei Tos AP. Hibernoma in bone and soft tissue pathology. In: Folpe AW, Inwards CY, editors. Bone and soft tissue pathology. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier; 2010. p. 169–72.

Part IV

Primary Malignant Tumors



Chondrosarcomas (CHS)

34

Davide Maria Donati and Giuseppe Bianchi

Definition: Malignant cartilaginous-matrix producing tumors.

CHS varieties and their incidence on 100 cases

Chondrosarcomas varieties	%
• Central	55-60
Peripheral	15-20
 Dedifferentiated central 	15
Soft tissues	5-6
Clear cells	2
• Periosteal	2
• Mesenchymal	1-2
Dedifferentiated peripheral	1

D. M. Donati (⊠) Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: davide.donati@ior.it

G. Bianchi Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: giuseppe.bianchi@ior.it



CHONDROSARCOMAS - 2.169 cases

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

34.1 Central Chondrosarcoma

Epidemiology: Males. Adult age. Extremely rare in children.

Central Chondrosarcoma



1.186 cases (37 in Ollier - 8 in Maffucci)

^{1900-2017 -} Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: Proximal femur, pelvis, proximal humerus, scapula, proximal tibia. In long bones, it starts at the metaphyseal extending as far as half or more of the entire bone.

Clinical: Deep, discontinuous, mild pain with small swelling. In the pelvis and at more advanced phases large soft tissue mass is present. Pathologic fractures are rare.

Imaging: On X-ray-intraosseous, osteolytic, geographic lesion with diffused, irregular, granules, nodules, radiopaque rings of calcifications. Sometimes, a bubbling or "honeycomb" feature, metallic or compact opacity. Cortex is scalloped, thinned, and destroyed. Often, it is thickened because the cortical bone reacts to the slow neoplastic infiltration with hyperostosis. Periosteal reaction is faint, with short perpendicular spiculae as a velvet or "beard" appearance. Margins may be sharp, with partial sclerotic rim or ill-defined, faded. It grows where there is less resistance (along the medullary canal). Soft tissue mass are not calcified. On bone scanincreased uptake more than radiographic extension. On angiography-avascular, but there may be a peripheral vascularization around the mass. On CT-typical calcified radiolucency, endosteal scalloping, buttressing, no enhancement, often well contained. May show remnants of prior enchondroma. On MRI-gray homogeneous signal contrasts clearly with white marrow signal on T1, typical bright lesion on T2, unexmedullary pected extension on coronal projection.

Histopathology: Lobular, faceted mass of grayer, softer, juicer, more transparent than normal cartilage. Frequent gelatinous, grayish-white, mucoid, hemorrhagic, and necrotic areas. Spots or calcified rings to the periphery of the lobules, hard and gritty, with a chalky yellowish aspect. Grade 1 (20% of the cases): well-differentiated cartilage with increased cellularity compared to enchondroma; chondrocytes are organized in sheets and show slightly nuclear

atypia with frequent binucleation; infiltration of the surrounding bony trabeculae is the most important feature in the differential diagnosis with enchondroma. Grade 2 (60% of the cases), hypercellular lesion with hyperchromatic nuclei, frequent binucleate cells, generally in a myxoid matrix; extensive infiltration of the medullary spaces and infiltration of the soft tissues can be present. Grade 3 (20% of the cases): high cellularity with pleomorphic, hyperchromic, gigantic, bizarre cells. Mitotic figures can be found. Diffusely infiltrating the bone marrow spaces with destruction of bony trabeculae and the soft tissue. Point mutations of IDH1/IDH 2 gene are present in about 50% of central chondrosarcomas.

Course and Staging: Very slow growth. Typical progression in malignancy: transformation from a low to high grade or to another malignant tumor. Grade 1: very rare metastases, recurrence even after 10 years. Grade 2: frequent early or late metastases, recurrence within 5 years. Grade 3: higher rate of early metastases, recurrence often within 1 year, usually stage IIB.

Treatment and Prognosis: Wide or radical resections are curative. High risk of recurrence with inadequate margins and when incisional biopsy is not performed carefully because tumoral cells may be implanted in the soft tissue. Lung metastases must be excised. Radio- and chemotherapy are not used because they are poorly effective. Death is rare in grade 1 lesions, but it occurs in 30 and 60% respectively, of grade 2 and 3 lesions.

Key points	
Clinical	Pain, adults, no children
Radiological	Lytic lesion with granular calcifications. Expanded and invaded cortex
Histological	Lobules of cartilage infiltrating host trabeculae
 Differential diagnosis 	Chondroma, dedifferentiated chondrosarcoma



Radiograph and CT. Central well-limited lesion, containing rare cartilaginous calcifications, thinning the cortex, with an irregular periosteal bone formation



MRI. Chondroid tissue show irregular low signal in T1-weighted sequences and high signal in T2-weighted sequences with characteristic low signal intensity "rings and broken rings"



(a) Central chondrosarcoma—Grade 1 Well-differentiated cartilage. (1) Cells are more numerous in relation to most chondromas. (2) Slightly larger and pleomorphic nuclei, generally maintaining their rounded shape. (3) Infiltration of the bony trabeculae. (b) Central chondrosarcoma—Grade 2 This is the most frequent variety. Cartilage tissue shows aspects of frank atypia, with hyperchromic nuclei. Binucleated cells are very frequently observed. In nearly half of the cases the tumor is partially or totally myxoid: (1) Cells have generally a spindle-stellate shape and are

dispersed, or in small groups, or in short cords in single file. Cytoplasm is ossiphile and clearly visible. The nuclei are fairly plump and hyperchromic. (2) An abundant, semiliquid and tenuously basophilic ground substance is present. (c) Central chondrosarcoma—Grade 3 Increased cellularity, severe atypia and pleomorphism are present. (1) Cartilaginous cells are very atypical and very numerous. (2) Severe pleomorphism and intense hyperchromasia of the nuclei are present. (3) Mitotic figures can be found

34.2 Peripheral (Secondary) Chondrosarcoma

Definition: It originates from an osteochondroma on the bone surface.

Epidemiology: Males. Less frequent than central but at a younger age. Adults.

Clinical: Slow growing, hard, painful swelling, adherent to bone. At times, asymptomatic and no history of previous osteochondroma. Invading vertebral canal radicular pain and paraplegia may be present. Patients with multiple exostoses, with germiline mutations in EXT1 and EXT2 genes are at increased risk to develop a peripheral (secondary) chondrosarcoma (up to 5%, as compared to <1% in solitary osteochondroma).

Location: Pelvis (iliac wing), proximal femur (metaphyseal region), vertebral column (posterior arch), proximal humerus, ribs.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Imaging: On X-ray—typical aspect of an osteochondroma with more abundant calcifications or ossifications, intense and diffused radiopacities, with thicker superficial uncalcified layer, with fuzzy margins toward the soft tissue. At times, the implant base of the osteochondroma is still visible or the tumor invades the medullary canal. On bone scan—Intense uptake. On CT—Many, large, non-calcified tumoral lobules, ring-like, popcorn-like radiopacities, higher thickness of the cap of cartilaginous tissue. On MRI—lobulated, ill-defined, inhomogeneous muscular signal

intensity on T1, extremely heterogeneous signal intensity on T2 with large foci of signal void due to the calcified areas and with a thick peripheral layer of white signal due to the cap of the lesion.

Histopathology: Large, bumpy, cauliflowerlike, with a thin pseudocapsule and thick cap of cartilage, generally more than 2 cm in thickness, chalky and gritty, with hard consistency. Histologically, lobules of well-differentiated cartilage with loss of the architecture of an osteochondroma. Hypercellular areas, nuclear atypia, binucleation, and myxoid matrix can be observed. Cartilage can infiltrate the marrow spaces of the underlining cancellous bone. Infiltration of the surrounding soft tissues, sometimes with satellite nodules, is a sign of malignancy, absent in osteochondroma. Cytogenetic aberration (biallelic inactivation, deletions +/– mutations) of EXT1/ EXT2 genes are present in about 90% of cases in multiple osteochondromatosis.

Course and Staging: It grows more slowly than central C, recurrence is observed from a few

months to 10 years, <20% of cases have lung and late metastases. Dedifferentiated peripheral C is rare (4%). Usually, stage IB.

Treatment: Wide resection. Inadequate surgery may cause scattered neoplastic nodules in scarring tissue. Radio- and chemotherapy are not effective. Amputation is necessary when it is too large and otherwise inoperable. Peripheral C is less malignant than central because grade 1 forms are frequent and grade 3 rare.

Key points	
Clinical	Slow increasing swelling
 Radiological 	Osteochondroma with lytic areas
Histological	Thicker cap than osteochondroma with loss of the architecture of the osteochondroma
 Differential diagnosis 	Osteochondroma, dedifferentiated peripheral chondrosarcoma



Radiograph and CT: the cortex of the osteochondroma is in continuity with the one of the normal bone. There is a large non-calcified malignant mass



CT (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}) and axial R images (\mathbf{c} : T1, \mathbf{d} : T2, and \mathbf{e} : T1 after contrast medium injection). The cortex continuity is well visible on CT (\mathbf{a}) and MR. The mass contains typical arci-

form cartilaginous calcifications (b), is made of nodules, with a high signal on T2 MR, and no uptake after injection





Whole macrosection with cartilaginous cup exceeding 2 cm in thickness

34.3 Dedifferentiated Chondrosarcoma

Definition: Cartilaginous malignant tumor in which a high-grade non-cartilaginous sarcoma occurs.

Epidemiology: 15%. >50 years old. Males.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Dedifferentiated Peripheral Chondrosarcoma

24 cases (12 on multiple exostosis)

Dedifferentiated in: Osteosarcoma 9 (37%); Spindle/Pleomorphic Sarcoma 15 (63%)



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Proximal femur, pelvis, proximal humerus.

Clinical: On a history of long duration with moderate symptoms, a rapid progression of pain and swelling occurs. Pathologic fractures are frequent.

Imaging: On X-ray—(1) old cartilaginous lesion: moderate expansion of the bone with thickened, scalloped cortex, with many calcifications; (2) new lesion: destroying the cortex, involving the soft tissues, dissolving the calcifications, with ill-defined margins. Three different features: (a) pathologic fracture in a new aggressive lytic lesion canceling pre-existing calcifications of an intensely radiopaque old cartilaginous lesion; (b) usual chondrosarcoma aspect with a small high-grade lytic lesion; (c) typical high-grade sarcoma feature with small remnants of chondrosarcoma. On CT-two lesions of different density, matrix, enhancement. On MRI-two different signal intensities on T1 and T2.

Histopathology: Two types of tissue: (1) low-grade cartilaginous tumor; (2) high-grade malignancy, usually an osteosarcoma, an undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma, or an undifferentiated spindle cell sarcoma. The transition is sharp. Point mutations of IDH1/IDH2 gene are present in about 50–87% of central dedifferentiated chondrosarcomas.

Course and staging: Fast growth, high risk of recurrence with inadequate surgery, and high rate of metastases, often observed at diagnosis. Usually, stage IIB or III.

Treatment: Wide or radical resection. Chemotherapy protocols of OS have been used with effectiveness. Often, an amputation is necessary to obtain adequate margins. Poor prognosis.

Key points		
Clinical	Symptoms rapidly increasing. Pathologic fracture possible	
Radiological	Very aggressive aspects on a low-grade cartilaginous lesion	
Histological	Two different aspects: low-grade cartilage and high-grade sarcoma	
• Differential diagnosis	Central or peripheral high-grade chondrosarcoma	



Radiograph: lateral view of the femur. The pre-existing lowgrade cartilaginous tumor contains arciform calcifications. The dedifferentiated part of the tumor forms bone, develops in the soft tissues, and corresponds to an osteosarcoma



There are two clearly distinct tumor tissues. One is a welldifferentiated cartilaginous tumor and the other has a different histotype, characterized by high-grade malignancy. The transition from one type of tissue to the other is

abrupt. (1) Chondrosarcomatous tissue. (2) High-grade malignant tumor. (3) Between the two zones the transition is sharp

34.4 Periosteal Chondrosarcoma

Definition: Chondrosarcoma originating on the bone surface. The lesion is generally bigger than 5 cm in major diameter.

Epidemiology: Rare, males, adults.





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Mainly in the limbs: distal femur, proximal tibia, proximal humerus.

Clinical: Swelling with little or no pain.

Imaging: On X-ray—globose mass lying on the outer surface of the cortex, very radiolucent or with granules, rings, spots of cartilage, rarely bunches of faded ossifications. Outer cortical erosion, saucer-like cortex, thickness of the adjacent cortex, buttress of periosteal reaction, internal sclerotic rim, sharp margins. On CT—confirms periosteal site of the tumor without involvement of the medullary canal.

Histopathology: The lesion is composed of large lobules of cartilage, with variably hypercellularity and atypical cytological features. Intercellular matrix can be myxoid. Permeation in between the underlining bony trabeculae can be seen. Infiltration of the surrounding soft tissues is a sign of malignancy; absent in periosteal chondroma. Point mutations of IDH1/IDH2 gene are present in a subset of periosteal chondrosarcomas.

Course and staging: Rare recurrence if surgery is adequate; late, very rare mets. Usually stage IA.

Treatment: Wide resection. Prognosis is good.

Key points		
Clinical	Adults, swelling	
 Radiological 	Subperiosteal, metaphyseal, with erosion of the cortex, granular calcifications, periosteal reaction	
Histological	Lobules of cartilage, generally low grade	
 Differential diagnosis 	Periosteal chondroma, periosteal osteosarcoma	



Radiograph, axial GE MR image, and specimen. The lesion contains calcifications and is centered on the cortex, which is eroded in a well-limited way



Large (usually more than 5 cm) cartilaginous tumor composed of lobules of cartilage, with myxoid change in the matrix. Permeation into the surrounding soft tissue is unequivocal evidence of malignancy

34.5 Clear Cell Chondrosarcoma

Epidemiology: Rare, males, adults.

Definition: Chondrosarcoma with large amounts of clear cells.





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Epiphysis or apophysis of long bones (proximal femur and humerus), flat, short bones.

Clinical: Modest, long lasting pain. Femural pathologic neck fracture may occur at presentation.

Imaging: On X-ray—like a chondroblastoma. Osteolytic lesion with small calcifications, sharp margins, irregular and ill-defined sclerotic rim. On CT—spots or small granules typical of the cartilaginous tumors.

Histopathology: Lobular tissue with clear cells: central nucleus, extremely vacuolated cytoplasm, strongly P.A.S. positive. Rare mitotic figures. Peripheral reactive giant cells, possible areas of well-differentiated chondrosarcoma, intercellular calcification like chondroblastoma, cystic spaces, osteoid.

Course and staging: Slow growth, recurrence is possible when intralesional margins are obtained, metastases are exceptional. Usually, stage IA.

Treatment: Wide resection. Prognosis is good.

Key points	
Clinical	Epiphysis and apophysis in adults
Radiological	Osteolytic, like a chondroblastoma
Histological	Lobules of clear cells, possible areas of hyaline cartilage, giant cells, calcifications, osteoid
Differential diagnosis	Chondroblastoma



Radiograph, sagittal T1 MR image and specimen. Epiphyseal well-limited lesion. The high signal component well visible on MR corresponds to an associated hematoma on the specimen



Proliferation of cells with abundant optically empty or eosinophylic cytoplasm and centrally located vesicular nuclei. Production of immature bone by tumoral cells is a peculiar feature. Scattered giant cells are present throughout

34.6 Mesenchymal Chondrosarcoma

Epidemiology: Very rare, no sex predilection, young adults and elderly patients.

Definition: Malignant neoplasm composed of small round cells and islands of well-differentiated hyaline cartilage.



Mesenchymal Chondrosarcoma in Bone 29 cases

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Mesenchymal Chondrosarcoma in Soft Tissue 20 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Trunk and craniofacial bones. Rare in the limbs.

Clinical: Pain and swelling.

Imaging: On X-ray—osteolytic lesion with permeative destruction of bone, ill-defined margins, breaking the cortex, with soft tissue mass, with faded typical calcifications.

Histopathology: Dense round cells proliferation with hemangiopericytoma-like architecture. Within the tissue there are small foci or larger islands of well-differentiated hyaline cartilage. Osteoid-like matrix can be present.

Course and staging: Fast growth, high rate of recurrence with inadequate surgery and frequent metastases. Usually, IIB.

Treatment: Wide or radical resection. Chemotherapy is used but its real effectiveness is not yet known. Prognosis is poor.

Key points	
Clinical	Very rare in bone, adults, pain and swelling
Radiological	Aggressive osteolysis, with possible calcification
Histological	Mixed population with isles of cartilage and undifferentiated round cells
• Differential diagnosis	None

Chromosomal translocations			
٠	t(8;8)(q21.1;q13.3)	HEY1-NCOA2	>90%
•	t(1;5)(q42;q32)	IRF2BP2-CDX1	Rare



Radiograph, CT and axial T1-injected MR image. The tumor contains cartilaginous calcifications, and takes up contrast medium



Islands of well-differentiated cartilage are surrounded by a proliferation of small round to ovoid undifferentiated cells. Hemangiopericytoma-like vessels are frequently present in the round cell component (*inset*)

34.7 Extraskeletal Myxoid Chondrosarcoma

Definition: Soft tissue sarcoma composed of spindle and epithelioid tumor cells associated with extracellular myxoid matrix. Extraskeletal

myxoid chondrosarcomas are genetically distinct from osseous chondrosarcoma.

Epidemiology: Rare, male/female ratio 2:1, adults (40–70 years).



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Deep-seated, proximal extremities and trunk.

Clinical: Enlarging painless soft tissue mass.

Imaging: Although imaging characteristics are nonspecific, most tumors appear lobulated, and highly myxoid tumors have a homogeneous high intensity signal on T2-weighted MRI images. Tumors with necrosis or hemorrhage have a more heterogeneous appearance.

Histopathology: The tumor is composed of cytologically uniform oval to spindle cells embedded in flocculent myxoid ground substance, with fibrous bands dividing individual lobules of tumor. Cells may be arranged as cords, strands, nests, and sheets and typically show uniform dark staining nuclei with indistinct nucleoli. In hypervascular matrix-poor regions, tumor cells often display larger, more vesicular nuclei with visible nucleoli; some tumor cells may have distinctly rhabdoid

morphology. Tumor is hypovascular and the matrix stains alcian-blue positive at pH 4.0 and 1.0 (chondroitin sulfate positive). At the genetic level, the majority of tumors exhibit the t(9,22)(q22;q12) translocation involving EWS and CHN genes.

Course and Staging: Five-year survival rates are high (>80%); however, late lung metastases occur, and 10- and 15-year disease free survival rates are considerably lower.

Treatment: Wide surgical excision. Kinase inhibitors' efficacy (pazopanib) in advanced and non-operable disease is under investigation.

Chromosomal translocations		
• t(9;22)	EWS-NR4A3 (CHN, TEC,	72%
(q22;q12)	NOR1)	
• t(9;17)	TAF2N-NR4A3 (CHN,	16%
(q22;q11)	TEC, NOR1)	
• t(9;15)	TCF12-NR4A3 (CHN,	<1%
(q22;q21)	TEC, NOR1)	



Radiograph, CT and T2 axial MR image. The soft tissue mass contains cartilaginous calcifications, is lobulated, and has a high signal on T2 MR image



Cords and nests of eosinophilic cells embedded in a myxoid matrix

Selected Bibliography

- Ahmed AR, Tan TS, Unni KK, Collins MS, Wenger DE, Sim FH. Secondary chondrosarcoma in osteochondroma: report of 107 patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2003;411:193–206.
- Aigner T, Dertinger S, Belke J, Kirchner T. Chondrocytic cell differentiation in clear cell chondrosarcoma. Hum Pathol. 1996;27(12):1301–5.
- Ali N, Vanel D, Righi A, Colangeli M, Manfrini M. Imaging features of extraskeletal mesenchymal

chondrosarcoma of the hand. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2015;96(9):965–7.

- Bernard SA, Murphey MD, Flemming DJ, Kransdorf MJ. Improved differentiation of benign osteochondromas from secondary chondrosarcomas with standardized measurement of cartilage cap at CT and MR imaging. Radiology. 2010;255(3): 857–65.
- Bertoni F, Picci P, Bacchini P, Capanna R, Innao V, Bacci G, Campanacci M. Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma of bone and soft tissues. Cancer. 1983;52(3):533–41.

- Bosse A, Ueda Y, Wuisman P, Jones DB, Vollmer E, Roessner A. Histogenesis of clear cell chondrosarcoma. An immunohistochemical study with osteonectin, a non-collagenous structure protein. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 1991;117(1):43–9.
- Capanna R, Bertoni F, Bettelli G, Picci P, Bacchini P, Present D, Giunti A, Campanacci M. Dedifferentiated chondrosarcoma. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1988;70(1):60–9.
- Cesari M, Bertoni F, Bacchini P, Mercuri M, Palmerini E, Ferrari S. Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma. An analysis of patients treated at a single institution. Tumori. 2007;93(5):423–7.
- Chaabane S, Bouaziz MC, Drissi C, Abid L, Ladeb MF. Periosteal chondrosarcoma. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2009;192(1):W1–6. Review.
- Corradi D, Bacchini P, Campanini N, Bertoni F. Aggressive clear cell chondrosarcomas: do distinctive characteristics exist?: a report of 4 cases. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130(11):1673–9.
- Donati D, Yin JQ, Colangeli M, Colangeli S, Bella CD, Bacchini P, Bertoni F. Clear cell chondrosarcoma of bone: long time follow-up of 18 cases. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2008;128(2):137–42.
- El Beaino M, Roszik J, Livingston JA, Wang WL, Lazar AJ, Amini B, Subbiah V, Lewis V, Conley AP. Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma: a review with emphasis on its fusion-driven biology. Curr Oncol Rep. 2018;20(5):37.
- Fanburg-Smith JC, Auerbach A, Marwaha JS, Wang Z, Rushing EJ. Reappraisal of mesenchymal chondrosarcoma: novel morphologic observations of the hyaline cartilage and endochondral ossification and betacatenin, Sox9, and osteocalcin immunostaining of 22 cases. Hum Pathol. 2010;41(5):653–62.
- Filion C, Motoi T, Olshen AB, Laé M, Emnett RJ, Gutmann DH, Perry A, Ladanyi M, Labelle Y. The EWSR1/NR4A3 fusion protein of extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma activates the PPARG nuclear receptor gene. J Pathol. 2009;217(1):83–93.
- Finos L, Righi A, Frisoni T, Gambarotti M, Ghinelli C, Benini S, Vanel D, Picci P. Primary extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma of bone: report of three cases and review of the literature. Pathol Res Pract. 2017;213(5):461–6.
- Frezza AM, Cesari M, Baumhoer D, Biau D, Bielack S, Campanacci DA, Casanova J, Esler C, Ferrari S, Funovics PT, Gerrand C, Grimer R, Gronchi A, Haffner N, Hecker-Nolting S, Höller S, Jeys L, Jutte P, Leithner A, San-Julian M, Thorkildsen J, Vincenzi B, Windhager R, Whelan J. Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma: prognostic factors and outcome in 113 patients. A European Musculoskeletal Oncology Society study. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(3):374–81.
- Gambarotti M, Righi A, Picci P, Bertoni F, Manfrini M, Donati DM, Dei Tos AP, Vanel D. Paediatric chondrosarcomas: a retrospective review of 17 cases. Histopathology. 2016;68(7):1073–8.
- Gelderblom H, Hogendoorn PC, Dijkstra SD, van Rijswijk CS, Krol AD, Taminiau AH, Bovée JV. The clini-

cal approach towards chondrosarcoma. Oncologist. 2008;13(3):320–9. Review. Erratum in: Oncologist. 2008 May;13(5):618.

- Gitelis S, Bertoni F, Picci P, Campanacci M. Chondrosarcoma of bone. The experience at the Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1981;63(8):1248–57.
- Hisaoka M, Hashimoto H. Extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma: updated clinicopathological and molecular genetic characteristics. Pathol Int. 2005;55(8):453–63. Review.
- Lin PP, Moussallem CD, Deavers MT. Secondary chondrosarcoma. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010;18(10):608– 15. Review.
- Littrell LA, Wenger DE, Wold LE, Bertoni F, Unni KK, White LM, Kandel R, Sundaram M. Radiographic, CT, and MR imaging features of dedifferentiated chondrosarcomas: a retrospective review of 174 de novo cases. Radiographics. 2004;24(5):1397–409. Review.
- van Maldegem AM, Gelderblom H, Palmerini E, Dijkstra SD, Gambarotti M, Ruggieri P, Nout RA, van de Sande MA, Ferrari C, Ferrari S, Bovée JV, Picci P. Outcome of advanced, unresectable conventional central chondrosarcoma. Cancer. 2014;120(20):3159-3164.
- McGrory JE, Rock MG, Nascimento AG, Oliveira AM. Extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2001;382:185–90.
- Mercuri M, Picci P, Campanacci L, Rulli E. Dedifferentiated chondrosarcoma. Skelet Radiol. 1995;24(6):409–16.
- Mitchell A, Rudan JR, Fenton PV. Juxtacortical dedifferentiated chondrosarcoma from a primary periosteal chondrosarcoma. Mod Pathol. 1996;9(3):279–83.
- Murphey MD, Walker EA, Wilson AJ, Kransdorf MJ, Temple HT, Gannon FH. From the archives of the AFIP: imaging of primary chondrosarcoma: radiologic-pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 2003;23(5):1245–78. Review.
- Norman A, Sissons HA. Radiographic hallmarks of peripheral chondrosarcoma. Radiology. 1984;151(3):589–96.
- Nota SP, Braun Y, Schwab JH, van Dijk CN, Bramer JA. The identification of prognostic factors and survival statistics of conventional central chondrosarcoma. Sarcoma. 2015;2015:623746. https://doi. org/10.1155/2015/623746.
- Nussbeck W, Neureiter D, Söder S, Inwards C, Aigner T. Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma: an immunohistochemical study of 10 cases examining prognostic significance of proliferative activity and cellular differentiation. Pathology. 2004;36(3):230–3.
- Papagelopoulos PJ, Galanis EC, Mavrogenis AF, Savvidou OD, Bond JR, Unni KK, Sim FH. Survivorship analysis in patients with periosteal chondrosarcoma. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2006;448:199–207.
- Present D, Bacchini P, Pignatti G, Picci P, Bertoni F, Campanacci M. Clear cell chondrosarcoma of bone. A report of 8 cases. Skelet Radiol. 1991;20(3):187–91.
- Riedel RF, Larrier N, Dodd L, Kirsch D, Martinez S, Brigman BE. The clinical management of

chondrosarcoma. Curr Treat Options in Oncol. 2009;10(1-2):94–106. Review.

- Robinson P, White LM, Sundaram M, Kandel R, Wunder J, McDonald DJ, Janney C, Bell RS. Periosteal chondroid tumors: radiologic evaluation with pathologic correlation. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2001;177(5):1183–8.
- Staals EL, Bacchini P, Bertoni F. Dedifferentiated central chondrosarcoma. Cancer. 2006;106(12):2682–91.
- Staals EL, Bacchini P, Mercuri M, Bertoni F. Dedifferentiated chondrosarcomas arising in preexisting osteochondromas. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007;89(5):987–93.
- Swanson PE. Clear cell tumors of bone. Semin Diagn Pathol. 1997;14(4):281–91. Review.
- Swanson PE, Lillemoe TJ, Manivel JC, Wick MR. Mesenchymal chondrosarcoma. An immunohistochemical study. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 1990;114(9):943–8.
- Tateishi U, Hasegawa T, Nojima T, Takegami T, Arai Y. MRI features of extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma. Skelet Radiol. 2006;35(1):27–33.

- Urbini M, Astolfi A, Pantaleo MA, Serravalle S, Dei Tos AP, Picci P, Indio V, Sbaraglia M, Benini S, Righi A, Gambarotti M, Gronchi A, Colombo C, Dagrada GP, Pilotti S, Maestro R, Polano M, Saponara M, Tarantino G, Pession A, Biasco G, Casali PG, Stacchiotti S. HSPA8 as a novel fusion partner of NR4A3 in extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2017;56(7):582–6.
- Vanel D, De Paolis M, Monti C, Mercuri M, Picci P. Radiological features of 24 periosteal chondrosarcomas. Skelet Radiol. 2001;30(4):208–12.
- Varma DG, Ayala AG, Carrasco CH, Guo SQ, Kumar R, Edeiken J. Chondrosarcoma: MR imaging with pathologic correlation. Radiographics. 1992;12(4):687–704.
- Wang WL, Mayordomo E, Czerniak BA, Abruzzo LV, Dal Cin P, Araujo DM, Lev DC, López-Terrada D, Lazar AJ. Fluorescence in situ hybridization is a useful ancillary diagnostic tool for extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma. Mod Pathol. 2008;21(11):1303–10.



Biology of Conventional Chondrosarcoma

35

Maria Serena Benassi

Conventional chondrosarcoma (CS) (80–85% of all CS) includes central (85–90%) and peripheral (10–15%) CS subtypes that are characterized by complex karyotype and genetic instability. The presence in their benign precursors of specific gene mutations is considered an early event in tumorigenesis [1], and secondary molecular changes are required for the malignant transformation. Currently, the most clinical reliable prognostic factors are age and grade.

Central CS can arises from or enchondromatosis (up to 40%) in patients with somatic mutations in the isocitrate dehydrogenase genes, IDH1 (R132C and R132H) and IDH2 (R172S) [2].

Wild-type IDH1 and IDH2 are important metabolic enzymes involved in lipid metabolism and in Krebs cycle [3]. Heterozygous somatic IDH1/ IDH2 mutations, also seen in many other tumours, cause an abnormal production of the potential oncometabolite D-2-hydroxyglutarate (D-2HG) [4, 5] that leads to genome-wide alteration in DNA methylation, thus supporting the causal role for IDHR132H in driving epigenetic instability [6, 7].

Elevated D-2HG concentration has been detected in acute myeloid leukemia and glioma patients with mutant IDH, confirming the role of this potential biomarker for both diagnosis and therapy [8-10]. An antibody against IDH R132H

is currently widely used for the differential diagnosis of glioma.

Peripheral CS arises from osteochondroma (15-20% of cases) or multiple osteochondroma (up to 1-5% of cases) that have genetic abnormalities in EXT1 or EXT2 oncosuppressor genes [11, 12], although some data demonstrate that the pathogenesis of secondary peripheral CS may be independent of EXT mutations [13].

EXT1 and EXT2 are located on the chromosome bands 8q24 and 11p11–12 respectively and the loss of their activity impairs the heparan sulfate (HS) biosynthesis, essential for the diffusion of hedgehog proteins involved in chondrocyte differentiation. A disturbance of Indian Hedgehog signaling pathway (IHH) breaks the negative feedback loop with parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP), resulting in an unbalance between chondrocyte proliferation and differentiation [14].

Reactivation of PTHrP signaling and antiapoptotic Bcl2 protein overexpression promote the progression toward low-grade and high-grade CS, progressively acquiring p53 mutations, defects in the most important cellular signaling pathways and environment structural changes [14].

Conventional CSs are drug-resistant tumours and surgery remains the primary treatment. However, the knowledge of additional genetic or epigenetic changes during malignant progression led to the identification of potential targets that may be useful for planning new

M. S. Benassi (🖂)

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_35

adjuvant treatments [14]. In conventional CS, cytogenetic studies showed heterogeneity with respect to karyotype complexity. A positive relation between histological grade and degree of karyotype complexity was found associated with high cellular density, chondroid matrix destruction and vascularization. Chromosome 9p21 and 12q13–15 aberrations resulted in loss of CDKN2A tumour suppressor gene activity and amplification of CDK4 that inhibits pRb activity. P53 is inactivated, while overexpression of prosteoglandin COX2, metalloproteinases MMPs, and pro-hypoxia inducible factor HIF, make them candidate targets for therapeutic approaches [15].

While IDH and EXT mutations are no longer essential for tumour growth, representing the initial phase of malignant progression, the activation of key endpoints controlling tumour cell growth and survival differentiates high-grade CS. The evidence that altered IHH and kinasedependent signaling pathways drive the increase of malignancy has addressed the preclinical and clinical studies to the use of kinase inhibitors or HH antagonists [16–18].

HH, Bcl2, PDGFR, Src, P13K/Akt pathways are considered candidate targets in conventional CS, but the clinical results are not quite satisfactory [19]. Interestingly, Bcl2-dependent drugresistance of CS cells could be overcome by the treatment with Src kinase inhibitors and doxorubicin in p53-negative cells [20]. A phase II clinical trial using dasatinib observed a prolonged stable disease in more than 10% of patients, suggesting that further evaluations should be considered in future clinical trials [21].

In contrast, a previous study [22] failed in terms of objective response and disease-free survival by using imatinib mesylate, an anti-PDGFR agent.

Currently, phase I phase II clinical studies with agents targeting IDH mutations, PI3K-AktmTOR pathway and angiogenesisis are under investigation with the aim to improve the CS patient survival [23].

References

- Szuhai K, Cleton-Jansen AM, Hogendoorn PC, Bovée JV. Molecular pathology and its diagnostic use in bone tumors. Cancer Genet. 2012;205:193–204.
- Pansuriya TC, van Eijk R, d'Adamo P, van Ruler MA, Kuijjer ML, Oosting J, Cleton-Jansen AM, van Oosterwijk JG, Verbeke SL, Meijer D, et al. Somatic mosaic IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are associated with enchondroma and spindle cell hemangioma in Ollier disease and Maffucci syndrome. Nat Genet. 2011;43:1256–61.
- Waitkus MS, Diplas BH, Yan H. Biological role and therapeutic potential of IDH mutations in cancer. Cancer Cell. 2018;34(2):186–95. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.04.011.
- Amary MF, Bacsi K, Maggiani F, Damato S, Halai D, Berisha F, Pollock R, O'Donnell P, Grigoriadis A, Diss T, Eskandarpour M, Presneau N, Hogendoorn PC, Futreal A, Tirabosco R, Flanagan AM. IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are frequent events in central chondrosarcoma and central and periosteal chondromasi but not in other mesenchymal tumours. J Pathol. 2011;224:334–43.
- Kato Kaneko M, Liu X, Oki H, Ogasawara S, Nakamura T, Saidoh N, Tsujimoto Y, Matsuyama Y, Uruno A, Sugawara M, Tsuchiya T, Yamakawa M, Yamamoto M, et al. Isocitrate dehydrogenase mutation is frequently observed in giant cell tumor of bone. Cancer Sci. 2014;105:744–8.
- Duncan CG, Barwick BG, Jin G, Rago C, Kapoor-Vazirani P, Powell DR, Jen-Tsan Chi J-T, Bigner DD, Vertino PM, Yan H. A heterozygous IDH1R132H/WT mutation induces genome-wide alterations in DNA methylation. Genome Res. 2012;22:2339–55.
- Turcan S, Rohle D, Goenka A, Walsh LA, Fang F, Yilmaz E, Campos C, Fabius AW, Lu C, Ward PS, Thompson CB, Kaufman A, Guryanova O, Levine R, Heguy A, Viale A, Morris LG, Huse JT, Mellinghoff IK, Chan TA. IDH1 mutation is sufficient to establish the glioma hypermethylator phenotype. Nature. 2012;483:479–83.
- Andronesi OC, Rapalino O, Gerstner E, Chi A, Batchelor TT, Cahill DP, Sorensen AG, Rosen BR. Detection of oncogenic IDH1 mutations using magnetic resonance spectroscopy of 2-hydroxyglutarate. J Clin Invest. 2013;123:3659–63.
- Dinardo CD, Propert KJ, Loren AW, Paietta E, Sun Z, Levine RL, Straley KS, Yen K, Patel JP, Agresta S, et al. Serum 2-hydroxyglutarate levels predict isocitrate dehydrogenase mutations and clinical outcome in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2013;121:4917–24.
- Stein EM, DiNardo CD, Pollyea DA, Fathi AT, Roboz GJ, Altman JK, Stone RM, DeAngelo DJ, Levine RL, Flinn IW, et al. Enasidenib in mutant IDH2 relapsed or refractory acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2017;130:722–31.

- Szuhai K, Jennes I, de Jong D, Bovée JV, Wiweger M, Wuyts W, Hogendoorn PC. Tiling resolution array-CGH shows that somatic mosaic deletion of the EXT gene is causative in EXT gene mutation negative multiple osteochondromas patients. Hum Mutat. 2011;32:E2036–49.
- Reijnders CM, Waaijer CJ, Hamilton A, Buddingh EP, Dijkstra SP, Ham J, Bakker E, Szuhai K, Karperien M, Hogendoorn PC, Stringer SE, Bovée JV. No haploinsufficiency but loss of heterozygosity for EXT in multiple osteochondromas. Am J Pathol. 2010;177:1946–57.
- De Andrea CE, Reijnders CM, Kroon HM, et al. Secondary peripheral chondrosarcoma evolving from osteochondroma as a result of outgrowth of cells with functional EXT. Oncogene. 2012;31:1095.
- Bovée JV, Hogendoorn PC, Wunder JS, Alman BA. Cartilage tumours and bone development: molecular pathology and possible therapeutic targets. Nat Rev Cancer. 2010;10:481–8.
- Bovée JV, Cleton-Jansen AM, Taminiau AH, Hogendoorn PC. Emerging pathways in the development of chondrosarcoma of bone and implications for targeted treatment. Lancet Oncol. 2005;6:599–607.
- Tiet TD, Hopyan S, Nadesan P, Gokgoz N, Poon R, Lin AC, Yan T, Andrulis IL, Alman BA, Wunder JS. Constitutive hedgehog signaling in chondrosarcoma up-regulates tumor cell proliferation. Am J Pathol. 2006;168:321–30.
- Schrage YM, Briaire-de Bruijn IH, de Miranda NFCC, et al. Kinome profiling of chondrosarcoma reveals Src-pathway activity and dasatinib as option for treatment. Cancer Res. 2009;69:6216–22.

- Schrage YM, Machado I, Meijer D, Briaire-de Bruijn I, van den Akker BE, Taminiau AH, Kalinski T, Llombart-Bosch A, Bovée JV. COX-2 expression in chondrosarcoma: a role for celecoxib treatment? Eur J Cancer. 2010;46:616–24.
- van Oosterwijk JG, Anninga JK, Gelderblom H, Cleton-Jansen A-M, Bovée JVMG. Update on targets and novel treatment options for high-grade osteosarcoma and chondrosarcoma. Hematol Oncol Clin N Am. 2013;27:1021–48.
- 20. van Oosterwijk JG, Herpers B, Meijer D, Briaire-de Bruijn IH, Cleton-Jansen AM, Gelderblom H, van de Water B, Bovée JV. Restoration of chemosensitivity for doxorubicin and cisplatin in chondrosarcoma in vitro: BCL-2 family members cause chemoresistance. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:1617–26.
- 21. Schuetze SM, Bolejack V, Choy E, Ganjoo KN, Staddon AP, Chow WA, Tawbi HA, Samuels BL, Patel SR, von Mehren M, D'Amato G, Leu KM, Loeb DM, Forscher CA, Milhem MM, Rushing DA, Lucas DR, Chugh R, Reinke DK, Baker LH. Phase 2 study of dasatinib in patients with alveolar soft part sarcoma, chondrosarcoma, chordoma, epithelioid sarcoma, or solitary fibrous tumor. Cancer. 2017;123:90–7.
- 22. Grignani G, Palmerini E, Stacchiotti S, Boglione A, Ferraresi V, Frustaci S, Comandone A, Casali PG, Ferrari S, Aglietta M. A phase 2 trial of imatinib mesylate in patients with recurrent nonresectable chondrosarcomas expressing platelet-derived growth factor receptor-alpha or -beta: an Italian Sarcoma Group Study. Cancer. 2011;117:826–31.
- Polychronidou G, Karavasilis V, Pollack SM, Huang PH, Lee A, Jones RL. Novel therapeutic approaches in chondrosarcoma. Future Oncol. 2017;13:637–48.



Osteosarcomas (OS)

Piero Picci

Definition: Malignant tumor composed of mesenchymal cells producing osteoid and immature bone. Almost constantly intramedullary, rarely it may originate at the bony surface. Osteosarcomas may sometimes present with skip or more distant skeletal metastases, but it can be also skeletally multifocal at presentation. There are, consequently, several varieties of osteosarcomas whose anatomo-clinical presentation, treatment, and prognosis, however, are not as distinctive as to justify a separate classification. Other osteosarcomas types, instead, are different in their clinical, pathologic, and therapeutic-prognostic features, and are classified as separate entities (periosteal osteosarcomas, parosteal osteosarcomas, low-grade central osteosarcomas).

osteosarcomas varieties and their incidence on 100 cases

High-grade OS varieties	90%
Classic osteosarcoma	75
Telangiectatic	5
Secondary	4–5
Of soft tissues	3
Of jaw bones	2–3
• Small cell	<1
Of bone surface	1-2
Multicentric	0.5
Low-grade OS varieties	10%
• Parosteal	4–5
• Central	3
• Periosteal	1-2

P. Picci (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_36

OSTEOSARCOMAS – 4.058 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

36.1 Classic Osteosarcoma

Epidemiology: It is the most frequent primary malignant tumor of bone, excluding myeloma considered a systemic neoplasm. Its incidence is of 2–3 cases/million/year (only 0.2% of all malignancies). Males are preferred (1.5:1). Most cases occur between 10 and 20 years of age, with a median age of 17. Older patients are usually secondary to radiation, Paget's, chondrosarcoma, other primary bone tumors, or idiopathic.

Localization: Seventy percent of OS are localized around the knee or shoulder. Other

locations are proximal or mid-femur, ilium, mid and distal tibia, proximal fibula, spine. Exceptions are the hand and foot. OS usually grow in the metaphysis or meta-diaphysis but tends to invade the epiphysis even in presence of a growth plate.

Clinical: Pain is usually the first symptom, often referred to trauma. In few weeks, it increases and painful swelling appears. High temperature and limited joint motion are advanced signs. Pathologic fracture may occur in osteolytic forms. Alkaline phosphatase is frequently elevated. Less frequently, also LDH may be increased.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Imaging: The plain X-ray is usually diagnostic. Typically, OS starts intramedullary, but breaches the cortex, and expands in the soft tissues. It is usually a combination of radiolucency and radiodensity, sometimes it is entirely eburneus with edges always faded. The pure osteolytic form is typical of the telangiectatic variety. The tumor soft tissue extension shows irregular, cloud-like radiodensities, and/or stripes of density perpendicular to the cortex (sunray image). Occasionally, it is purely radiolucent and it can be appreciated only by CT and MRI. At the periphery of the area where the tumor breaches the cortex, a triangular buttress of immature bone (Codman's triangle) is seen. This is due to reactive bone acutely produced by the periosteum. Isotope bone scan is intensely hot even beyond the radiographic limits of the tumor. Rarely, it may reveal skips or distant bone metastasis. CT demonstrates intraosseous and extraosseous extension of the tumor and intratumoral radiodensities. With MRI, most OS exhibit the usual pattern of low T1, and high T2 signal. Sclerosing OS, however, have a low intensity on both T1 and T2 images. MRI is the best way to determine medullary tumor borders, epiphyseal invasion, skip metastasis. Contrasted CT and MRI show the relationship with vessels; but in some cases, an angiogram may be more reliable. Patient workup always includes CT of the lungs where metastasis may appear as radiodense round nodules.

Histopathology: OS is fleshy-soft in cellular areas with little matrix, firm and rubbery in fibroblastic areas with collagen production, gritty to stone-hard in osteogenic areas, and cartilaginous to myxoid in chondroblastic areas. Hemorrhage, necrosis, and cystic alterations are common. The most relevant diagnostic feature is constant permeation of marrow spaces, trapping host trabecular bone along its margins, predominantly. Cortex is also permeated and usually breached. An endosteal and periosteal production of reactive bone is associated. OS may invade the joint capsule and ligaments. Rarely, OS plugs are found in the adjacent veins. Skip metastasis, usually in the same but also in the adjacent cross-joint bone may be detected in a small percentage of cases. Microscopically, OS has a wide range of histological presentations but the characterizing feature is represented by high-grade sarcomatous cells producing osteoid and woven bone. The less osteogenic areas of the tumor (usually the periphery) are highly cellular and show more clear-cut features of high-grade malignancy as compared to more osteoid or bone-rich central areas of the tumor. Cells are large, with striking pleomorphism, hyperchromia, prominent nucleoli, frequent atypical mitoses, although some 10% of cases may show little anaplasia and lead to confusion with benign entities such as osteoblastoma, chondroblastoma, giant cell tumors, and a few others. Tumor osseous matrix varies from slender lace-like seams of osteoid to islands or dense sheets of woven bone. No regular trabeculae rimmed by osteoblasts are produced by OS cells. Where OS is intensely sclerotic, cells are scarce, small, with no mitoses; tissue is scarcely vascular and may be necrotic. In these areas, features of malignancy may be absent and diagnosis of OS is suggested by the permeative pattern of the tumor. Occasionally, OS is extensively chondroblastic (as a high-grade chondrosarcoma), or fibroblastic (similar to a fibrosarcoma). The osteoid-osseous production, which identifies the OS, may be found only in the microscopic study of the entire specimen. Reactive giant cells are

seen, particularly in areas of hemorrhage. Particularly at the periphery of the tumor reactive osteogenesis associates and should not be confused with tumorous osteogenesis. Histochemical stains show a high content of alkaline phosphatase in OS cells.

Course and Staging: OS has a rapid course. At presentation, 80% of OS are stage II-B; only 5% are stage II-A. About 15% of OS are stage III. Because, without the use of chemotherapy, 80–90% of OS patients die of metastases, notwithstanding ablation of the primary tumor, it can be said that in 80–90% of cases occult micro metastases are present at the start. Metastatic spread occurs primarily to the lungs.

Treatment: Treatment of OS is based on chemotherapy (ctx) and surgery of both the primary tumor and the metastases. Postop ctx (adjuvant) started in 1971, pre- and postop ctx (neoadjuvant) was introduced in 1978. Presently, the most effective drugs are adriamycin (ADM), high-dose methotrexate (HDMTX), cisdiamino-(CDP), ifosfamide platinum and (IFO). Preoperative ctx is started immediately after diagnosis. After a few cycles (approximately 2 months), the tumor is restaged, evaluating response: clinical (regression of pain, reduction and hardening of the tumor mass), laboratory (<serum alkaline phosphatase), and imaging (arrest of growth, ossification and capsulation of the tumor, regression of vascularity and edema, decreased isotope uptake). A precise method for evaluating response to ctx preoperatively does not exist. Dynamic isotope scan and contrasted MRI, however, are comparatively good indexes of response. Based on post-ctx staging study, surgery is performed. The entire tumor is sampled histologically and examined to quantify tumor necrosis. Good response is indicated by necrosis from 90 to 100%. Postop ctx is continued, starting 1–2 weeks after surgery, and lasting from 4 to 6 months. Usually, the same drugs as used preoperative are given in good responders. In poor responders, different drugs are administered or added in more prolonged trials.
Prognosis: Without chemotherapy, the 10 years survival rate was around 10-15%. With current ctx, the same figure is about 70%, for OS non-metastatic at presentation and involving the appendicular skeleton. Local recurrence was 2-3% after amputation. Presently, it is around 5% after conservative surgery. Metastases (mainly to the lungs) occur usually in the first 2-3 years. There are, however, rare cases of metastasis occurring even 5–10 years after

treatment. The second most frequent site for metastasis is the skeleton.

Key points			
Clinical	Young age, pain and swelling		
Radiological	Central lesion, aggressive with radio-opacities		
Histological	High-grade with osteoid/bone production		
 Differential diagnosis 	None		



Radiograph, CT and coronal T1 MR image. The tumor is metaphyseal, heterogeneous, forms bone, destroys part of the cortex, invades soft tissues. A skip metastasis is detected on MR in the medullary cavity



Sarcomatous tissue with cells producing osteoid and bone. (1) Sarcomatous tissue. The aspects of the highgrade malignancy are fairly evident: large, pleomorphic, and hyperchromic cells are seen. (2) Neoplastic osteoid and osseous material, shaped with an absolutely anarchical architecture. It is nearly impossible to find trabeculae bordered by a regular row of osteoblasts. (3) Abundant blood vessels. They do not have their own well-formed and continuous wall. In some areas, they are directly walled by sarcomatous cells



Histology patterns of a good response to preoperative chemotherapy

36.2 Telangiectatic Osteosarcoma

Definition: This variety (about 5/6% of all OS) is a completely osteolytic sarcoma, with a

sponge-like structure filled of blood and scarce osteogenesis.

Epidemiology: Sex, age, and localization are the same as in classic OS.



Telangiectatic Osteosarcoma

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Clinical: Clinically, the tumor has an aggressive course, with an expanding soft tissue mass, soft and tender on palpation, with increased local temperature. Pathologic fracture is not uncommon.

Imaging: Imaging shows a purely osteolytic lesion with ill-defined limits. Isotope scan shows an increased uptake. CT and MRI show the multicystic pattern (high signal in both T1 and T2, because of fluid and hemosiderin content) with fluid levels.

Histopathology: Grossly, the tumor is constituted by large cavities filled with blood. Neoplastic tissue constitutes the septa; it is very soft and can be very scarce, overwhelmed by hemorrhage. The permeative pattern is particularly evident, and cortex and periosteum are often extensively destroyed. Histologically under low power, the pattern is similar to an ABC. Only at higher power, the sarcomatous nature of cells becomes apparent, because all telangiectatic OS are high-grade malignant. Sometimes, however, the hemorrhage and necrosis are so massive that it is difficult to find viable cells and to appreciate anaplasia. Osteogenesis is usually focal and often it must be searched for in numerous sections, and rarely, may not be found at all yet with the overall clinical, gross, and histological patterns are entirely consistent with telangiectatic OS, with minus finding of osteoid or bone production by the sarcoma cells within the aneurysmal bone-cyst-like walls. Atypical mitoses are easily identified.

Course: The course is rapid, and the stage is almost regularly II-B or III.

Treatment and prognosis: Treatment and prognosis are the same as for classic OS. Some data suggest that response to preoperative ctx is particularly good, which can be explained by the rich vascularity of the tumor, enhancing the ability of the chemotherapeutic agents to reach the malignant cells.

Key points	
Clinical	Young age, pain and swelling. Pathologic fracture possible
 Radiological 	Very aggressive and completely lytic
Histological	High-grade with lacunae
• Differential diagnosis	Aneurysmal bone cyst



CT and sagittal T2 MR image. Aggressive metaphyseal tumor, destroying the cortex, invading the soft tissues, heterogeneous. Fluid-fluid levels in multiple small cavities are easily detected on MR



Blood filled cavities rimmed by malignant mesenchymal cells only focally producing osteoid

36.3 Secondary Osteosarcoma

Definition: These OS on pre-existing lesions like Paget's, fibrous dysplasia, bone infarct, chronic osteomyelitis, eventually treated, like after radiation.

Most of these cases are observed in advanced age, usually after the 50 years. Treatment is the same as for usual OS, except for the fact that patient age may contraindicate the use of the same ctx used in youngsters. Prognosis of secondary OS is generally worse as compared to primary OS, since the response to chemotherapy and advanced age of the patients are adverse parameters.



Secondary Osteosarcoma

^{1900-2017 -} Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



Radiograph at onset and 2 months later, bone scintigraphy. Lytic heterogeneous broken lesion involving the epiphysis and metaphysis. The thick lamellar cortex indicates a pre-existing Paget's disease, confirmed by widespread intense fixation on bone scintigraphy. Two months later, very fast progression of the tumor

36.4 Small Cell Osteosarcoma

Definition: Tumor composed by small cells, similar to Ewing sarcoma, but producing bone matrix.

This is a rare variety (1-2% of all OS). Epidemiology, clinical presentation, and imaging are not consistently different from usual OS.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Histopathology: Characteristics round to ovoid shaped cells, with scanty cytoplasm, round to oval nuclei with fine to coarse chromatin and inconspicuous nucleoli, similar to Ewing sarcoma cells, but producing osteoid matrix. Immunohistochemical expression of SATB2, CD99 immunonegativity, and the absence of EWSR1 and FUS gene rearrangements are very useful in the differential diagnosis with Ewing sarcoma.



Round to ovoid cells, similar to Ewing sarcoma cells, organized in sheets and nests, with osteoid matrix

36.5 Osteosarcoma of the Jaws

Definition: Osteosarcoma of the jaws is radiologically and morphologically similar to osteosarcoma of other skeletal regions; the main differences involve later development, a high mortality associated with the local disease, fewer incidences of metastases, and its extreme rarity.

Incidence: Osteosarcoma occurring in the jaws is rare, constituting only 2–10% of all osteosarcomas, with an estimated incidence of 0.2–0.3 per million population. Patients affected by osteosarcoma of the jaws are one to two decades older than their peripheral counterparts with an average age of 33–36 years. Men and women are affected nearly equally.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: About 55–70% of cases arose in the mandible, and the remaining cases in maxilla or in facial bones.

Clinical: Swelling is the most common complaint in patients with osteosarcoma of the jaws often accompanied with pain. The latency period between first symptoms and clinical presentation is around 4 months.

Imaging: Radiographically, osteosarcoma of the jaws presents as mixed radiolucencies reflecting the extent of matrix formation and mineralization. Aggressive features such as cortical permeation and periosteal reaction are generally present in conventional high-grade tumors.

Histology: Histologically, the vast majority of osteosarcoma of the jaws are conventional highgrade tumors, demonstrating highly pleomorphic tumor cells producing a neoplastic bony matrix. The percentage of chondroblastic histotype is higher in osteosarcoma of the jaws than in other skeletal regions and can mimic chondrosarcoma. It should therefore be kept in mind that chondrosarcoma is exceedingly rare in the jaw bones, in particular in mandible. Osteosarcoma of the jaws should always be considered if cartilage is present in a gnathic biopsy and a fracture with callus formation can be ruled out. Immunohistochemistry with antibodies against SATB2

can help to confirm an osteoblastic lineage but is usually not required.

Almost all low-grade cases demonstrate a fibrous dysplasia-like morphology with only minimal atypia but unequivocal osteo-destructive growth. The nuclear immunohistochemical expression of MDM2 and the demonstration of *MDM2* gene amplification using FISH analysis can help to distinguish low-grade osteosarcoma from fibrous dysplasia.

Course and Treatment: The five-year overall survival and disease-free survival range from 50 to 65%, and from 60 to 75%, respectively. Osteosarcoma of jaws have a high tendency toward local relapse (mandible 39-70%; maxilla 15–53%). In osteosarcoma of the jaws, hematogenous metastases are reported to affect only 6-21% of patients after an average time of 17–23 months. Wide resection is therefore widely accepted as the mainstay of treatment with fiveyear survival rates reaching up to 75% without additional (neo-)adjuvant therapy. Regarding adjuvant treatment in osteosarcoma of the jaws, conflicting results have been reported but there is general consent that postoperative chemo- or radiotherapy cannot cure patients with incomplete resection in the predominant number of cases.





Panoramic radiograph and CT. Aggressive sclerotic and lytic tumour, distroying the cortex, invading the soft tissues, with perpendicular periosteal bone formations

36.6 High-Grade Osteosarcoma of the Surface

Definition: A high-grade OS arising on the bony surface with minimal involvement of the underlying cortex.

Apart from its site, it does not differ from the usual intramedullary OS in age, site, and histol-

ogy. Imaging shows mixed non-mineralized and mineralized tumor matrix and some degree of periosteal reactive osteogenesis, but not the features specific of periosteal or parosteal OS. Histology is the same as in conventional OS. Treatment and prognosis also do not differ.



High Grade Osteosarcoma of the Surface 54 cases

^{1900-2017 -} Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



Lateral radiograph of the knee and axial T1 MR image. The tumor forms bone, mainly develops in the soft tissues, but starts from the cortex, which has a limited lysis. Minimal bone extension is visible on MR



High-grade osteosarcoma identical to conventional central osteosarcoma, situated on the surface of bone. The majority are the osteoblastic variant

36.7 Multicentric Osteosarcoma

Definition: Almost synchronous appearance of multiple OS in the skeleton usually without pulmonary metastasis.

It is very rare (0.5% of all high-grade OS). Preferred age is from 5–15 years. (lower than usual OS). The number of foci varies from few to many, being distributed in the long bones but also in the trunk. They may involve locations, such as vertebrae, ribs and sternum, skull, hand and foot, epiphyses, where OS occurs very rarely. Usually one larger lesion is considered primary in the hypothesis that the others are metastatic deposits. All lesions are extensively sclerotic and do not easily breach the cortex. Histology is that of a usual osteoblastic generally extensively sclerotic highgrade OS. Whether it represents an early metastatic spread or a multicentric origin is unknown. The course is rapid and prognosis is regularly bad.

Multicentric Osteosarcoma 15 cases



Average: 12 - Median: 13 - Range: 2-19





1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



On radiographs, multiple mainly sclerotic lesions are easily detected. The epiphyseal involvement is frequent in this lesion



High-grade osteoblastic osteosarcoma usually extensively sclerotic with low cellularity and diminished cytological anaplasia when compared to classic osteoblastic osteosarcoma

36.8 Periosteal Osteosarcoma

the periosteum usually in long bone diaphysis.

Definition: It is a predominantly chondroblastic OS of intermediate malignancy, originating from

Epidemiology: Periosteal OS is rare (1/2%) of all OS). It has a preference for males, with prevalence in the second decade of life.

Periosteal Osteosarcoma 52 cases

42% 15 58% 3 Average: 18 - Median: 16 - Range: 6-39 70 13 60 50 10 2 40 % 30 20 10 0 0-9 10-19 20-29 30-39 Age

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: Tibia and femur. Less frequent in humerus, rare in fibula and other long bones. Usually located in the diaphysis, occasionally in the metaphysis.

Clinical: Palpable mass and moderate pain. Slower growth rate than in usual OS.

Imaging: Periosteal, fusiform, radiolucent mass, with well-defined borders. It usually contains spiculated radiodensities perpendicular to the cortex that is either intact or superficially eroded, sometimes with a Codman triangle. Typically, the medullary canal is uninvolved. This is better demonstrated by CT and MRI.

Histopathology: The cut surface of the tumor is soft to rubbery with a translucent aura. The tumor forms large lobules, separated by streaks of ossification perpendicular to the cortex. Tissue is mainly chondroblastic, being more cellular at the periphery, with spindle cells and lace-like osteoid, more chondroid at the center of the lobuli where the tumor is similar to a low- to intermediate-grade chondrosarcoma. At the bony interface, the tumor can permeate for a small thickness into the cortex.

Course and Staging: It generally grows slower than usual OS, but much less slow than

parosteal OS. The stage is I-A or I-B if there is intramedullary involvement.

Treatment and Prognosis: Treatment consists of en bloc resection with wide margins. Metastasis (lung) have been observed in about 15% of cases. Therefore, prognosis is good, after wide surgery and without chemotherapy.

Key points		
Clinical	Young age, mild symptoms	
Radiological	Surface lesion, diaphyseal with radio-opacities	
Histological	Low-grade cartilaginous lesion, with increased cellularity and osteoid at the periphery of the lobules	
• Differential diagnosis	Periosteal chondrosarcoma, high-grade surface osteosarcoma	



Radiograph and CT. Diaphyseal lesion of the bone surface, forming bone, with thick perpendicular periosteal bone formations. The cortex is eroded. Bone marrow is not involved



Predominantly chondroblastic tissue of intermediate malignancy that forms large lobules. (1) Chondroid cells. (2) Lakelike osteoid among malignant cells. (3) Spindle cells with minimal matrix at the periphery of the lobules

36.9 Parosteal Osteosarcoma

Definition: This OS originates at the surface of the bone, with abundant production of dense bone and low-grade anaplasia. Progression of malignancy in high-grade OS may occur in about 10% of cases, particularly those with multiple recurrences or those previously mistaken and treated as benign bone tumor.

Epidemiology: It is infrequent (5/6% of all OS). Slight preference for females. Usually it appears between ages 20 and 40, very rare before the end of growth.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: Almost exclusive of the long bones, it originates from the metaphysis. Rare in the diaphysis and exceptional in flat bones. The most typical site is the distal metaphysis of the femur in its posterior aspect (60% of cases).

Clinical: No or slight pain. There is a bony hard mass. Duration of symptoms not infrequently exceeds 1, 2, or even 5 years. It is not uncommon to see patients having undergone one or more surgical excisions and presenting with a local recurrence.

Imaging: Due to slow growth, parosteal OS is usually seen when it is large. It is a lobulated

mass of osseous radiodensity, fused to the cortex with a broad base that tends to wrap around the bone. Radiodensity is maximal near the implant base while the outer margin tends to be blurred. Detailed radiographies show a mesh of trabeculae ("steel-wool" pattern), from ground glass to ivory density. Toward the diaphysis, the medullary canal is usually not involved. In metaepiphyses, the thin cortex is frequently breached with extension to the cancellous bone. This involvement increases with malignancy and with the standing duration of the tumor and is appreciated by CT in 60% of cases. CT scan, MRI, and angiography show the tumor adhering to or enwrapping the vascular bundle. Isotope scan is very hot.

Histopathology: Parosteal OS is composed of spindle cells and collagen fibers, embedding osseous trabeculae. Occasionally cartilage may be associated. Cells form long sweeping fascicles with parallel nuclei. Trabeculae appear also as parallel streamers with broken cement lines as pagetic mosaic. Bone is formed by metaplasia from tumor cells (fibro-osseous metaplasia) and trabeculae may not show osteoblastic rimming. Parosteal OS is a low grade tumor but may progress in malignancy, and transform into a highgrade OS. It is indeed not rare to find areas of different histological grade in the same case. Metastasis (lung, skeleton) have usually the same pattern as the most malignant part of the primary, and are often densely sclerotic. The nuclear immunohistochemical expression of MDM2 and the demonstration of MDM2 gene amplification using FISH analysis are useful to confirm the diagnosis.

Course and Staging: The course is usually slow. Parosteal OS is usually staged I-A or B. In dedifferentiated tumors, the stage is II.

Treatment and Prognosis: Surgery must aim to wide margins. Hemicylindric resection is usually possible in the popliteal region, through a double approach (medial and lateral), elevating the quadriceps. More often, a complete segmental resection of the affected bone is needed. When the tumor impinges on the vascular bundle, wide margins may often require vessel resection and reconstruction. Chemotherapy is only indicated after progression in high-grade lesions and it is the same as that used in classic OS. Local recurrence is the rule after intralesional surgery. Metastasis may be seen mainly when the underlying bone is invaded. Metastasis are less common as compared to conventional OS, about 2–10% in low-grade parosteal OS, but rising to about 60–70% in high-grade dedifferentiated parosteal OS.

Key points			
Clinical	Long history of mild symptoms, pain, and swelling		
 Radiological 	Surface, eburneus aspect		
Histological	Low-grade malignancy, spindle cells, bone production		
• Differential diagnosis	Dedifferentiated parosteal osteosarcoma, high-grade surface osteosarcoma		
Amplicons			
• MDM2 12q15		Gene amplification	
• CDK4 12q13-14		Gene amplification	



Radiographs. The tumors are homogeneous and sclerotic. They are attached to the bone



Histopathologic features are substantially represented by bony trabeculae enmeshed in a sarcomatous low-grade malignant spindle cell proliferation in a collagenous stroma. (1) Atypical spindle cells, like those of a lowgrade fibrosarcoma. Nuclei are large, oval with low to mild pleomorphism. (2) Bone trabeculae arranged rather regularly. (3) Osteocytes do not present aspects of malignancy. The best place to find anaplasia is in the fibroblastic stroma and sometimes in the cartilage that is produced as caps over the bony portions of the tumor

Dedifferentiated parosteal osteosarcoma. In rare cases, within a typical parosteal osteosarcoma lytic areas (at imaging) can be found correspond-

ing histologically to high-grade areas, showing therefore a dedifferentiation. Dedifferentiated parosteal OS is as malignant as conventional OS.



Dedifferentiated Parosteal Osteosarcoma 48 cases

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



Radiograph and CT of the humerus. Typical parosteal osteosarcoma on radiograph. The lytic central areas on CT are very suggestive of dedifferentiation



(1) Parosteal low grade osteosarcoma. (2) Dedifferentiation in high grade osteoblastic osteosarcoma

36.10 Central Low-Grade Osteosarcoma

Definition: It is an intramedullary low-grade bone producing tumor. It has been suggested to

represent the central counterpart of parosteal OS.

Epidemiology: Rare (2/3% of all OS). There is no preference for sex. Age ranges from 10 to 60 years, the median being around 30.

Central Low Grade Osteosarcoma 132 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: Preferred sites are long bones, particularly distal femur and proximal tibia. Rare in flat bones; exceptions are hands and feet. It is usually centered in the metaphysis and, as it occurs mostly in the adult, it usually involves the epiphysis too.

Clinical: Mild to moderate pain and, less frequently, a moderate swelling. Clinical history is often of long duration. Pathologic fracture is rare.

Imaging: Usually, due to the slow course, tumors are large. The lesion appears mixed, lytic, and blastic. Even when lytic, some ground glass density can usually be found. Conversely, when it is sclerotic, some radiolucent areas are usually present. The bone contour may be expanded with a thin cortex that may present some discontinuity. In half of the cases, a soft tissue mass can be found, which can be either radiolucent or densely mineralized. Frequently, the tumor presents a coarse trabeculation similar to desmoid tumor of bone. A chronic periosteal reaction and thicken-

ing of the cortex are occasionally observed. Isotope scan is hot. CT and MRI are essential to define the extensions of the tumor.

Histopathology: Spindle cells producing collagen and bone. The tumor closely mimics the histological pattern of parosteal OS. The lesion is generally hypocellular. When osteogenesis is scarce, the tumor is similar to desmoid tumor or low-grade fibrosarcoma. Less frequently, it has the "Chinese characters" appearance of fibrous dysplasia. Bony trabeculae are generally parallel and composed of mature bone, differently from the woven bone of fibrous dysplasia. Occasionally foci of cartilage can be seen. The cells demonstrate slight atypia with few mitotic figures. Osteocytes of the bone trabeculae are normal. Almost regularly, the tumor has a permeative pattern. The nuclear immunohistochemical expression of MDM2 and the demonstration of MDM2 gene amplification using FISH analysis are useful to confirm the diagnosis.

Course and Staging: The course is slow. In about 15% of cases, the tumor shows a progression of malignancy, transforming into a high-grade OS. The stage of the tumor is I-A or I-B. Transformed tumors become stage II.

Treatment: Intralesional or marginal excision is almost regularly followed by local recurrence. Thus, surgery must obtain wide margins, which is usually feasible with conservative resection. Chemotherapy is not indicated, except in case of progression in malignancy.

Prognosis: Metastasis (lungs) are reported in 10% of cases, and mostly in tumors that progressed in malignancy. They can occur many years after the onset of symptoms. Thus, prognosis is good, unless the tumor becomes a high-grade OS.

Long history of mild symptoms.
Usually pain
Central, mixed aspect
Low-grade bone production
Osteoblastoma, high-grade
osteosarcoma

•	MDM2 12q15	Gene amplification
٠	CDK4 12q13-14	Gene amplification



Radiograph. Heterogeneous lytic and sclerotic metadiaphyseal tumor. The lesion is well limited, but destroys the cortex



It histologically appears to be identical to parosteal osteosarcoma. (1) Cells surrounding the bony trabeculae are prevalently spindle-shaped, with aspects of minimal atypia. (2) Neoplastic trabeculae. (3) A regular

row of osteblasts lining the trabeculae can be absent. Immunohistochemical nuclear positivity for MDM2 in the neoplastic cells (*inset*)

36.11 Extraskeletal Osteosarcoma

Epidemiology: Rare, males, 50–80 years.

Definition: A sarcoma arising in the extraskeletal somatic soft tissues in which neoplastic cells produce osteoid or bone matrix, or both.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Deep soft tissues of the thigh and buttocks.

Clinical: Progressively enlarging painless mass.

Imaging: X-rays, CT, and MRI reveal a large deep-seated soft tissue mass with variable mineralization. By definition, these lesions do not arise from bone, but secondarily involve the periosteum, cortex, or medullary canal.

Histopathology: Highly cellular, mitotically active tumors. There is usually considerable

nuclear pleomorphism with necrosis and lacelike eosinophilic osteoid outlining individual cells or clusters of cells. Mineralized osteoid (bone) is relatively uncommon. Lobules of malignant cartilage may be present. All histological variants of osseous osteosarcoma may be seen.

Course and Staging: High-grade tumors, poor prognosis, high rate of metastasis.

Treatment: Wide or radical excision with systemic chemotherapy.



Radiograph and CT after contrast media injection. Heterogeneous soft tissue mass containing irregular ossifications. The cortex of the humerus is not involved



Osteoid-producing malignant cells haphazardly organized, growing in the soft tissues

Selected Bibliography

- Angelini A, Mavrogenis AF, Trovarelli G, Ferrari S, Picci P, Ruggieri P. Telangiectatic osteosarcoma: a review of 87 cases. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2016;142(10):2197–207.
- Asioli S, Righi A, Rucci P, Tarsitano A, Marchetti C, Bacchini P, Balbi T, Bertoni F, Foschini MP. p16 protein expression and correlation with clinical and pathological features in osteosarcoma of the jaws: experience of 37 cases. Head Neck. 2017;39(9):1825–31.
- Aycan OE, Vanel D, Righi A, Arikan Y, Manfrini M. Chondroblastoma-like osteosarcoma: a case report and review. Skelet Radiol. 2015;44(6):869–73.
- Azura M, Vanel D, Alberghini M, Picci P, Staals E, Mercuri M. Parosteal osteosarcoma dedifferentiating into telangiectatic osteosarcoma: importance of lytic changes and fluid cavities at imaging. Skelet Radiol. 2009;38(7):685–90.
- Bacci G, Picci P, Ferrari S, Sangiorgi L, Zanone A, Brach del Prever A. Primary chemotherapy and delayed surgery for non-metastatic telangiectatic osteosarcoma of the extremities. Results in 28 patients. Eur J Cancer. 1994;30A(5):620–6.
- Bacci G, Fabbri N, Balladelli A, Forni C, Palmerini E, Picci P. Treatment and prognosis for synchronous multifocal osteosarcoma in 42 patients. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2006;88(8):1071–5.
- Baumhoer D, Brunner P, Eppenberger-Castori S, Smida J, Nathrath M, Jundt G. Osteosarcomas of the jaws differ from their peripheral counterparts and require a distinct treatment approach. Experiences from the DOESAK registry. Oral Oncol. 2014;50(2):147–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2013.10.017. Epub 2013 Nov 15.
- Bertoni F, Present D, Bacchini P, Pignatti G, Picci P, Campanacci M. The Istituto Rizzoli experience with small cell osteosarcoma. Cancer. 1989;64(12):2591– 9. Review.
- Bertoni F, Bacchini P, Donati D, Martini A, Picci P, Campanacci M. Osteoblastoma-like osteosarcoma. The Rizzoli Institute experience. Mod Pathol. 1993;6(6):707–16.
- Bertoni F, Bacchini P, Fabbri N, Mercuri M, Picci P, Ruggieri P, Campanacci M. Osteosarcoma. Low-grade intraosseous-type osteosarcoma, histologically resembling parosteal osteosarcoma, fibrous dysplasia, and desmoplastic fibroma. Cancer. 1993;71(2):338–45.
- Bertoni F, Bacchini P, Staals EL, Davidovitz P. Dedifferentiated parosteal osteosarcoma: the experience of the Rizzoli Institute. Cancer. 2005;103(11):2373–82.
- Biagini R, Ruggieri P, De Cristofaro R, Torricelli P, Picci P, Bacci G. Multicentric osteosarcoma. Report of 5 cases. Chir Organi Mov. 1991;76(2):113–22.
- Bishop JA, Shum CH, Sheth S, Wakely PE Jr, Ali SZ. Small cell osteosarcoma: cytopathologic characteristics and differential diagnosis. Am J Clin Pathol. 2010;133(5):756–61.

- Campanacci M, Picci P, Gherlinzoni F, Guerra A, Bertoni F, Neff JR. Parosteal osteosarcoma. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1984;66(3):313–21.
- Cermik TF, Salan A, Firat MF, Berkarda S. Tc-99m MDP bone scintigraphy in a patient with multicentric osteosarcoma. Clin Nucl Med. 2003;28(7):599–600.
- Cesari M, Alberghini M, Vanel D, Palmerini E, Staals EL, Longhi A, Abate M, Ferrari C, Balladelli A, Ferrari S. Periosteal osteosarcoma: a single-institution experience. Cancer. 2011;117:1731–5.
- Choong PF, Pritchard DJ, Rock MG, Sim FH, McLeod RA, Unni KK. Low grade central osteogenic sarcoma. A long-term follow up of 20 patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1996;(322):198–206.
- Daffner RH, Kennedy SL, Fox KR, Crowley JJ, Sauser DD, Cooperstein LA. Synchronous multicentric osteosarcoma: the case for metastases. Skelet Radiol. 1997;26(10):569–78.
- Devaney K, Vinh TN, Sweet DE. Small cell osteosarcoma of bone: an immunohistochemical study with differential diagnostic considerations. Hum Pathol. 1993;24(11):1211–25.
- Dray MS, Miller MV. Pagets osteosarcoma and postradiation osteosarcoma: secondary osteosarcoma at Middlemore Hospital, New Zealand. Pathology. 2008;40(6):604–10.
- Dujardin F, Binh MB, Bouvier C, Gomez-Brouchet A, Larousserie F, Muret AD, Louis-Brennetot C, Aurias A, Coindre JM, Guillou L, Pedeutour F, Duval H, Collin C, de Pinieux G. MDM2 and CDK4 immunohistochemistry is a valuable tool in the differential diagnosis of low-grade osteosarcomas and other primary fibro-osseous lesions of the bone. Mod Pathol. 2011;24:624–37.
- Gambarotti M, Dei Tos AP, Vanel D, Picci P, Gibertoni D, Klein MJ, Righi A. Osteoblastoma-like osteosarcoma: high-grade or low-grade osteosarcoma? Histopathology. 2019;74(3):494–503. https://doi. org/10.1111/his.13746. Epub ahead of print.
- Goldstein-Jackson SY, Gosheger G, Delling G, Berdel WE, Exner GU, Jundt G, Machatschek JN, Zoubek A, Jürgens H, Bielack SS, Cooperative Osteosarcoma Study Group COSS. Extraskeletal osteosarcoma has a favourable prognosis when treated like conventional osteosarcoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2005;131(8):520–6.
- Grimer RJ, Bielack S, Flege S, Cannon SR, Foleras G, Andreeff I, Sokolov T, Taminiau A, Dominkus M, San-Julian M, Kollender Y, Gosheger G, European Musculo Skeletal Oncology Society. Periosteal osteosarcoma—a European review of outcome. Eur J Cancer. 2005;41(18):2806–11.
- Hamre MR, Severson RK, Chuba P, Lucas DR, Thomas RL, Mott MP. Osteosarcoma as a second malignant neoplasm. Radiother Oncol. 2002;65(3):153–7.
- Hopper KD, Eggli KD, Haseman DB, Moser RP Jr. Osteosarcomatosis and metastatic osteosarcoma. Cancer Treat Res. 1993;62:163–71. Review.
- Klein MJ, Siegal GP. Osteosarcoma: anatomic and histologic variants. Am J Clin Pathol. 2006;125(4):555–81. Review.

- Lee JS, Fetsch JF, Wasdhal DA, Lee BP, Pritchard DJ, Nascimento AG. A review of 40 patients with extraskeletal osteosarcoma. Cancer. 1995;76(11):2253–9.
- Lee AF, Hayes MM, Lebrun D, Espinosa I, Nielsen GP, Rosenberg AE, Lee CH. FLI-1 distinguishes Ewing sarcoma from small cell osteosarcoma and mesenchymal chondrosarcoma. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2011;19:233–8.
- Lee RJ, Arshi A, Schwartz HC, Christensen RE. Characteristics and prognostic factors of osteosarcoma of the jaws. A retrospective cohort study. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2015;141(5):470–7.
- Lidang Jensen M, Schumacher B, Myhre Jensen O, Steen Nielsen O, Keller J. Extraskeletal osteosarcomas: a clinicopathologic study of 25 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 1998;22(5):588–94.
- Longhi A, Bielack SS, Grimer R, Whelan J, Windhager R, Leithner A, Gronchi A, Biau D, Jutte P, Krieg AH, Klenke FM, Grignani G, Donati DM, Capanna R, Casanova J, Gerrand C, Bisogno G, Hecker-Nolting S, De Lisa M, D'Ambrosio L, Willegger M, Scoccianti G, Ferrari S. Extraskeletal osteosarcoma: a European Musculoskeletal Oncology Society study on 266 patients. Eur J Cancer. 2017;74:9–16.
- McCarter MD, Lewis JJ, Antonescu CR, Brennan MF. Extraskeletal osteosarcoma: analysis of outcome of a rare neoplasm. Sarcoma. 2000;4(3):119–23.
- Mejia-Guerrero S, Quejada M, Gokgoz N, Gill M, Parkes RK, Wunder JS, Andrulis IL. Characterization of the 12q15 MDM2 and 12q13-14 CDK4 amplicons and clinical correlations in osteosarcoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2010;49(6):518–25.
- Mervak TR, Unni KK, Pritchard DJ, McLeod RA. Telangiectatic osteosarcoma. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1991;270:135–9.
- Murphey MD, Robbin MR, McRae GA, Flemming DJ, Temple HT, Kransdorf MJ. The many faces of osteosarcoma. Radiographics. 1997;17(5):1205–31.
- Murphey MD, wan Jaovisidha S, Temple HT, Gannon FH, Jelinek JS, Malawer MM. Telangiectatic osteosarcoma: radiologic-pathologic comparison. Radiology. 2003;229(2):545–53.
- Murphey MD, Jelinek JS, Temple HT, Flemming DJ, Gannon FH. Imaging of periosteal osteosarcoma: radiologic-pathologic comparison. Radiology. 2004;233(1):129–38.
- Nakajima H, Sim FH, Bond JR, Unni KK. Small cell osteosarcoma of bone. Review of 72 cases. Cancer. 1997;79(11):2095–106.
- Okada K, Unni KK, Swee RG, Sim FH. High grade surface osteosarcoma: a clinicopathologic study of 46 cases. Cancer. 1999;85(5):1044–54.
- Okada A, Hatori M, Hosaka M, Watanuki M, Itoi E. Secondary osteosarcoma arising after treatment for childhood hematologic malignancies. Ups J Med Sci. 2009;114(4):249–55.
- Patel SR, Benjamin RS. Primary extraskeletal osteosarcoma—experience with chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1995;87(17):1331–3.

- Picci P. Osteosarcoma (osteogenic sarcoma). Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2007;2:6. Review.
- Picci P, Mercuri M, Ferrari S, Alberghini M, Briccoli A, Ferrari C, Pignotti E, Bacci G. Survival in high-grade osteosarcoma: improvement over 21 years at a single institution. Ann Oncol. 2010;21(6):1366–73.
- Picci P, Sieberova G, Alberghini M, Balladelli A, Vanel D, Hogendoorn PC, Mercuri M. Late sarcoma development after curettage and bone grafting of benign bone tumors. Eur J Radiol. 2011;77(1):19–25.
- Raymond AK. Surface osteosarcoma. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1991;270:140–8. Review.
- Raymond AK, Jaffe N. Osteosarcoma multidisciplinary approach to the management from the pathologist's perspective. Cancer Treat Res. 2009a;152:63–84. Review.
- Raymond AK, Jaffe N. Conditions that mimic osteosarcoma. Cancer Treat Res. 2009b;152:85–121. Review.
- Revell MP, Deshmukh N, Grimer RJ, Carter SR, Tillman RM. Periosteal osteosarcoma: a review of 17 cases with mean follow-up of 52 months. Sarcoma. 2002;6(4):123–30.
- Righi A, Gambarotti M, Longo S, Benini S, Gamberi G, Cocchi S, Vanel D, Picci P, Bertoni F, Simoni A, Franchi A, Dei Tos AP. Small cell osteosarcoma: clinicopathologic, immunohistochemical, and molecular analysis of 36 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2015a;39(5):691–9.
- Righi A, Gambarotti M, Benini S, Gamberi G, Cocchi S, Picci P, Bertoni F. MDM2 and CDK4 expression in periosteal osteosarcoma. Hum Pathol. 2015b;46(4):549–53.
- Righi A, Paioli A, Dei Tos AP, Gambarotti M, Palmerini E, Cesari M, Marchesi E, Donati DM, Picci P, Ferrari S. High-grade focal areas in low-grade central osteosarcoma: high-grade or still low-grade osteosarcoma? Clin Sarcoma Res. 2015c;5:23.
- Ritschl P, Wurnig C, Lechner G, Roessner A. Parosteal osteosarcoma. 2-23-year follow-up of 33 patients. Acta Orthop Scand. 1991;62(3):195–200.
- Rose PS, Dickey ID, Wenger DE, Unni KK, Sim FH. Periosteal osteosarcoma: long-term outcome and risk of late recurrence. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2006;453:314–7.
- Schajowicz F, McGuire MH, Santini Araujo E, Muscolo DL, Gitelis S. Osteosarcomas arising on the surfaces of long bones. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1988;70(4):555–64.
- Sheth DS, Yasko AW, Raymond AK, Ayala AG, Carrasco CH, Benjamin RS, Jaffe N, Murray JA. Conventional and dedifferentiated parosteal osteosarcoma. Diagnosis, treatment, and outcome. Cancer. 1996;78(10):2136–45.
- Staals EL, Bacchini P, Bertoni F. High-grade surface osteosarcoma: a review of 25 cases from the Rizzoli Institute. Cancer. 2008;112(7):1592–9.
- Tabone MD, Terrier P, Pacquement H, Brunat-Mentigny M, Schmitt C, Babin-Boilletot A, Mahmoud HH, Kalifa C. Outcome of radiation-related osteosarcoma after treatment of childhood and adolescent cancer: a study of 23 cases. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17(9):2789–95.

- Thariat J, Julieron M, Brouchet A, Italiano A, Schouman T, Marcy PY, Odin G, Lacout A, Dassonville O, Peyrottes-Birstwisles I, Miller R, Thyss A, Isambert N. Osteosarcomas of the mandible: are they different from other tumor sites? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2012;82(3):280–95.
- Vanel D, Picci P, De Paolis M, Mercuri M. Radiological study of 12 high-grade surface osteosarcomas. Skelet Radiol. 2001;30(12):667–71.
- Weiss A, Khoury JD, Hoffer FA, Wu J, Billups CA, Heck RK, Quintana J, Poe D, Rao BN, Daw

NC. Telangiectatic osteosarcoma: the St. Jude Children's Research Hospital's experience. Cancer. 2007;109(8):1627–37.

Yoshida A, Ushiku T, Motoi T, Shibata T, Beppu Y, Fukayama M, Tsuda H. Immunohistochemical analysis of MDM2 and CDK4 distinguishes low-grade osteosarcoma from benign mimics. Mod Pathol. 2010;23(9):1279–88.

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS

e-mail: massimo.serra@ior.it; claudia.hattinger@ior.it

Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

M. Serra $(\boxtimes) \cdot C. M.$ Hattinger

Biology of Osteosarcomas

Massimo Serra and Claudia Maria Hattinger

Unlike other sarcomas, high-grade osteosarcoma (HGOS) is characterized by complex, unbalanced karyotypes and alterations in multiple genes and pathways. Due to HGOS high genetic instability, recurrent chromothripsis (a massive genomic rearrangement due to a cataclysmic event in which chromosomes are fragmented and subsequently aberrantly assembled), kataegis (high number of genetic changes due to localized hypermutation areas), and chromoplexy (a process generating chimeric chromosomes) are rather common events and lead to multiple malignant cell populations within the same tumor [1, 2].

The pathways governed by the TP53 and retinoblastoma 1 (RB1) tumor suppressor genes are those that have most consistently been found to be involved in HGOS pathogenesis. In fact, the majority (around 80%) of HGOS patients have alterations of one or both pathways [3]. The TP53 gene product plays a major role in the cell response to DNA damage and RB1 regulates cell cycle progression. Therefore, alterations of pathways governed by these two genes may allow cells to proliferate and become malignant after the acquisition of additional genetic aberrations. This is the reason why children affected by the Li–Fraumeni syndrome (carrying germline deletion/mutations of TP53) or familial retinoblastoma (carrying germline mutations of RB1) have a dramatically higher risk to develop HGOS [3].

Biologic and genetic studies of HGOS have clearly shown that during development and progression, tumor cells acquire several genetic changes, which may account for not only the aggressive behavior of this neoplasm but can also be responsible for the development of resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs [4, 5]. Taking these features into consideration, research on new drugs for novel treatment modalities of HGOS has been devoted to identify and validate agents against new candidate therapeutic targets, which have proved or appeared to be relevant for HGOS pathogenesis, treatment response, or clinical outcome. The current research goal of drug development for HGOS consists in the identification and validation of agents that can be administered as adjuvant to conventional chemotherapeutics to better control the local and metastatic disease, as well as to improve the efficacy of standard chemotherapy regimens without increasing their collateral adverse toxicity [6]. These facts offer the hope for not only an increased survival probability, but also for an improved quality of life of cured patients, which is particularly relevant for tumors mainly affecting young people like HGOS.

As a complement to these goals, the validation of predictive and prognostic markers for HGOS



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_37

²¹³

is highly needed in order to allow a patient stratification based on specific characteristics of each tumor and on a precise risk evaluation aimed to identify those subgroups of patients with the highest probability to benefit from each innovative treatment.

An information that clearly emerged from clinical studies is that the major cause of failure of the current treatment protocols for HGOS is the natural or acquired drug resistance, which occurs in 35–45% of patients. Therefore, the identification and validation of drug resistancerelated markers as prognostic factors and potential new therapeutic targets are highly warranted.

Several studies have indicated that the ATPbinding cassette (ABC) transporter ABCB1 (also named as MDR1 or P-glycoprotein) plays an important role in drug resistance and treatment response of HGOS patients [7–11]. Therefore, targeting this molecule appears to be an interesting therapeutic option to improve treatment results in HGOS patients who are unresponsive to conventional regimens.

In the past 30-35 years, several ABC transporter modulators or inhibitors have been described and entered clinical Phase I-II-III trials for different human tumors. The clinical use of such modulators has however, been limited by the severe collateral toxicity that has been encountered at the concentrations required to enable these drugs to significantly inhibit the ABC transporters activity [6]. More recently, a new generation of ABC transporter inhibitors has been developed, few of which showed promising preclinical activity at significantly lower dosages also in HGOS [6, 12]. If this evidence will be further confirmed, in the next years we should have enough information about the possibility to include ABC transporter inhibitors in association with conventional chemotherapeutics in the treatment of HGOS patients unresponsive or with reduced sensitivity to conventional drugs.

The provided evidence about the clinical relevance of ABCB1 expression level in HGOS has been however, taken into account to stratify patients and modulate treatment in the Phase II-III Italian Sarcoma Group (ISG) trial ISG/OS-2 (https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT01459484). In this protocol, HGOS patients are stratified on the basis of ABCB1 expression level at diagnosis and, subsequently, of the extent of tumor necrosis after preoperative chemotherapy. Patients overexpressing ABCB1 receive a more intensified treatment regimen, which also includes mifamurtide. It is however, worthwhile noting that mifamurtide is not an inhibitor of ABCB1 but a nonspecific immunomodulator, which has successfully been used in clinical trials for metastatic and nonmetastatic HGOS patients [13–15]. In the next 2–3 years, on the basis of the results obtained by this protocol, it will be possible to estimate the actual effectiveness of this treatment strategy.

One important challenge that has recently emerged as a possibility to improve the clinical results of conventional treatments in several human cancers is to consider not only the tumor features that are directly associated with treatment unresponsiveness, but also those related to development of adverse treatment-related toxicities. This approach is aimed to potentiate the efficacy of conventional chemotherapeutic drugs without increasing their adverse collateral toxicities.

In the past decade, pharmacogenomic studies applied to HGOS have started to provide information on the understanding of how genes can affect individual drug response and susceptibility to toxic events [16, 17]. This body of evidence may be of great help to select the drugs and treatment dosages which adapt best for each patient guiding the modulation and individualization of specific therapeutic approaches. As a future perspective, it could be also predicted that the application of high-throughput genetic analyses, such as next-generation sequencing, may extend pharmacogenomics to the entire genome instead of single genes or pathways, leading to the rapid identification of new markers to be considered for improving the standard HGOS clinical treatment protocols [18].

On the basis of the information which has been reported so far, it can be predicted that, in the next 5–10 years, there is a concrete possibility to identify agents with efficacy and safety profiles superior or complementary to those of conventional drugs, which may be considered for innovative treatment strategies for groups of HGOS patients selected by using novel validated biomarkers.

References

- Chen X, Bahrami A, Pappo A, Easton J, Dalton J, Hedlund E, et al. Recurrent somatic structural variations contribute to tumorigenesis in pediatric osteosarcoma. Cell Rep. 2014;7(1):104–12. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.03.003. S2211-1247(14)00165-X [pii].
- Sandberg AA, Bridge JA. Updates on the cytogenetics and molecular genetics of bone and soft tissue tumors: osteosarcoma and related tumors. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2003;145(1):1–30. S0165460803001055 [pii].
- Gianferante DM, Mirabello L, Savage SA. Germline and somatic genetics of osteosarcoma—connecting aetiology, biology and therapy. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2017;13(8):480–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrendo.2017.16. nrendo.2017.16 [pii].
- Hattinger CM, Reverter-Branchat G, Remondini D, Castellani GC, Benini S, Pasello M, et al. Genomic imbalances associated with methotrexate resistance in human osteosarcoma cell lines detected by comparative genomic hybridizationbased techniques. Eur J Cell Biol. 2003;82(9): 483–93. https://doi.org/10.1078/0171-9335-00336. S0171-9335(04)70319-2 [pii].
- Hattinger CM, Stoico G, Michelacci F, Pasello M, Scionti I, Remondini D, et al. Mechanisms of gene amplification and evidence of coamplification in drug-resistant human osteosarcoma cell lines. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2009;48(4):289–309. https:// doi.org/10.1002/gcc.20640.
- Hattinger CM, Fanelli M, Tavanti E, Vella S, Ferrari S, Picci P, et al. Advances in emerging drugs for osteosarcoma. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs. 2015;20(3):495– 514. https://doi.org/10.1517/14728214.2015.1051965.
- Baldini N, Scotlandi K, Barbanti-Brodano G, Manara MC, Maurici D, Bacci G, et al. Expression of P-glycoprotein in high-grade osteosarcomas in relation to clinical outcome. N Engl J Med. 1995;333(21):1380–5. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM199511233332103.
- Chan HS, Grogan TM, Haddad G, DeBoer G, Ling V. P-glycoprotein expression: critical determinant in the response to osteosarcoma chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997;89(22):1706–15.

- Pakos EE, Ioannidis JP. The association of P-glycoprotein with response to chemotherapy and clinical outcome in patients with osteosarcoma. A meta-analysis. Cancer. 2003;98(3):581–9. https://doi. org/10.1002/cncr.11546.
- Serra M, Pasello M, Manara MC, Scotlandi K, Ferrari S, Bertoni F, et al. May P-glycoprotein status be used to stratify high-grade osteosarcoma patients? Results from the Italian/Scandinavian Sarcoma Group 1 treatment protocol. Int J Oncol. 2006;29(6):1459–68.
- 11. Serra M, Scotlandi K, Reverter-Branchat G, Ferrari S, Manara MC, Benini S, et al. Value of P-glycoprotein and clinicopathologic factors as the basis for new treatment strategies in high-grade osteosarcoma of the extremities. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(3):536–42. https:// doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2003.03.144.
- Fanelli M, Hattinger CM, Vella S, Tavanti E, Michelacci F, Gudeman B, et al. Targeting ABCB1 and ABCC1 with their specific inhibitor CBT-1(R) can overcome drug resistance in osteosarcoma. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 2016;16(3):261–74. CCDT-EPUB-71612 [pii].
- Chou AJ, Kleinerman ES, Krailo MD, Chen Z, Betcher DL, Healey JH, et al. Addition of muramyl tripeptide to chemotherapy for patients with newly diagnosed metastatic osteosarcoma: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Cancer. 2009;115(22):5339–48. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cncr.24566.
- Meyers PA. Muramyl tripeptide (mifamurtide) for the treatment of osteosarcoma. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2009;9(8):1035–49. https://doi.org/10.1586/ era.09.69.
- Meyers PA, Chou AJ. Muramyl tripeptidephosphatidyl ethanolamine encapsulated in liposomes (L-MTP-PE) in the treatment of osteosarcoma. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2014;804:307–21. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-04843-7_17.
- Hattinger CM, Vella S, Tavanti E, Fanelli M, Picci P, Serra M. Pharmacogenomics of secondline drugs used for treatment of unresponsive or relapsed osteosarcoma patients. Pharmacogenomics. 2016;17(18):2097–114. https://doi.org/10.2217/ pgs-2016-0116.
- Serra M, Hattinger CM. The pharmacogenomics of osteosarcoma. Pharmacogenomics J. 2017;17(1):11– 20. https://doi.org/10.1038/tpj.2016.45. tpj201645 [pii].
- Kovac M, Blattmann C, Ribi S, Smida J, Mueller NS, Engert F, et al. Exome sequencing of osteosarcoma reveals mutation signatures reminiscent of BRCA deficiency. Nat Commun. 2015;6:8940. https://doi. org/10.1038/ncomms9940. ncomms9940 [pii].

36

Chemotherapy of Osteosarcoma

Stefano Ferrari and Emanuela Palmerini

38.1 Osteosarcoma Treatment Strategy

Treatment of osteosarcoma requires a combined approach of surgery of the primary tumor and systemic chemotherapy.

The use of chemotherapy has significantly changed prognosis of patients with osteogenic sarcoma. In the past, when patients received only surgery, survival rate was lower than 20% [1].

Standard strategy of chemotherapy for osteosarcoma is based on primary chemotherapy and delayed surgery followed by adjuvant chemotherapy.

The use of chemotherapy before surgery (neoadjuvant) was introduced in the 1970s and was widely adopted since it offers the opportunity of evaluating chemotherapy-induced tumor necrosis by histological examination of the resected surgical specimen [2].

The degree of tumor necrosis used as a marker of chemosensitivity proved to be an important factor predictive of survival. Also, in a recent paper

S. Ferrari

exploring several prognostic factors of survival in nonmetastatic osteosarcoma, chemotherapyinduced tumor necrosis still retains prognostic significance [3]. Imaging techniques such as PET and dynamic magnetic resonance have been assessed to predict the pathological response [4, 5].

Microarray technology has been recently investigated to predict chemotherapy response and a multigene predictive model was developed to classify good and poor responders to preoperative chemotherapy [6].

38.1.1 Choice of Chemotherapy

Most chemotherapy regimens adopted for osteogenic sarcoma are based on methotrexate (MTX), cisplatin (CDP), doxorubicin (ADM), and ifosfamide (IFO).

It is well known that when only cisplatin and doxorubicin are used, a probability of DFS around 45% can be expected [7].

Strategies of chemotherapy based on the use of the four active drugs lead to a probability of DFS around 60–65% [8–11].

A notable study from The Children's Cancer Group and Pediatric Oncology Group combined classic cytotoxic chemotherapy to immunotherapy. The study evaluated whether the addition of ifosfamide and/or muramyl tripeptidephosphatidylethanolamine (MTP-PE) to methotrexate, cisplatin, and doxorubicin could improve prognosis [11]. MTP-PE is a compo-

Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

E. Palmerini (⊠) Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine (DIMES), University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: emanuela.palmerini@ior.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_38

Based on these data EMA licensed the drug for the commercial use in Europe.

The mifamurtide is now under further investigation in an Italian and Spanish joint study presently ongoing and recently closed to the enrollment (ISG/OS-2 https://clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT01459484).

It is matter of discussion whether all patients require intensive and prolonged treatment based on all four active drugs [12].

The Italian Sarcoma Group (ISG) demonstrated that ifosfamide can be given postoperatively and only to patients with a poor pathological response (PR) to primary chemotherapy based on methotrexate, cisplatin and doxorubicine [13]. This approach allowed the same results with lower toxicity than a chemotherapy regimen that used all four drugs since the primary phase and for all patients.

More recently, results of two important randomized clinical trials have been published: EURAMOS-1 and OS2006. EURAMOS-1 [14], performed by the Children's Oncology Group (COG), Cooperative Osteosarcoma Study Group (COSS) of the German Society for Pediatric Oncology and Hematology, European Osteosarcoma Intergroup (EOI), and Scandinavian Sarcoma Group (SSG), aimed to optimize treatment strategies for resectable osteosarcoma based on histological response to preoperative chemotherapy. After a preoperative chemotherapy regimen of cisplatin, doxorubicin, and methotrexate (MAP), patients received postoperative therapy, which was determined by tumor histological response. Good responder patients ($\leq 10\%$ viable tumor cells) were randomized to continue with MAP, or to receive interferon-alpha (IFN) as maintenance therapy following MAP (MAP-IFN). Poor responder patients (>10% viable tumor cells) were randomized either to continue with MAP or to receive the same regimen with the addition of ifosfamide and etoposide (MAP-IE). The trial started in March 2005, overall 2260 patients were registered from 326 centers across 17 countries. No advantages from the use of IFN were observed in GR patients [15] and in PR patients the addition to MAP of the "salvage chemotherapy" with ifosfamide and etoposide not only did not improve the survival, but also induced a higher incidence of secondary malignancy [16].

The French multicenter OS2006 randomized trial investigated the use of zoledronic acid added to chemotherapy in patients with osteosarcoma [17]. A complex strategy of treatment characterized this study. Pediatric and adult patients were treated according to different chemotherapy regimens. For pediatric patients, primary treatment was based on MTX, IFO and etoposide, whereas adult patients received primary chemotherapy with IFO, ADM, and CDP. Postoperative treatment was tailored on the basis of chemotherapyinduced tumor necrosis. All patients with a good pathological response continued with the same drugs as in the preoperative phase. In case of poor response, in pediatric patients, ifosfamide and etoposide were replaced by CDP and ADM. Adult patients received postoperative treatment with ifosfamide and etoposide.

The study started in April 2007 and closed in February 2014 with 318 patients enrolled. The activity shown in the preclinical models of osteosarcoma by zoledronic acid was not confirmed. The French study is of clinical interest because the survival data reported in the group of patients preoperatively treated with a combination of metotrextate and ifosfamide/etoposide [18] with the use of cisplatin and doxorubicin only in PR patients are similar to those of the EURAMOS-1 trial and those of the ISG/OS-1 study. The data of the French study emphasize the role of methotrexate in the treatment of osteosarcoma showing that it is possible to effectively treat patients with osteosarcoma only with methotrexate, ifosfamide, and etoposide, avoiding drugs such as cisplatin and doxorubicin. Overall, these three experiences suggest that from different, but intensive chemotherapy treatments for osteosarcoma, a similar probability of EFS survival (around 60–65%) and overall survival (70–75%) can be expected.

The MAP regimen is now the backbone for the treatment of pediatric and young patients with non-metastatic osteosarcoma. The French experience indicates that good results can be achieved with the use of a chemotherapy regimen based on MTX, IFO, and etoposide, and this indication is of clinical relevance in case of medical contraindication to the use of ADM or CDP.

38.1.2 Osteosarcoma in Patients Older than 40 Years

There is wide agreement on the fact that patients with osteosarcoma older than 40 who also receive chemotherapy have a better probability of survival compared to those treated with surgery alone. Recently, the results of a joint ISG, COSS, and SSG prospective study (EURO.B.O.S.S.) have been published [19].

EURO.B.O.S.S. was the first prospective multicenter international study for patients 41–65 years old with high-grade bone sarcoma. The first aim of the study was to assess the feasibility and the toxicity profile of an intensive chemotherapy treatment derived from chemotherapy protocols for younger patients.

Chemotherapy treatment consisted of combinations of CDP/ADM (CDP 100 mg/m²/ADM 60 mg/m²), IFO/CDP (IFO 6 g/m²/CDP 100 mg/ m^2) and IFO/ADM (IFO 6 g/m²/ADM 60 mg/m²) repeated three times for a total of 9 cycles. Surgery was planned after 3 cycles. MTX (8 g/ m²) was postoperatively added in poor responders. Overall the planned cumulative dose was ADM: 360 mg/m², CDP: 600 mg/m², IFO 36 g/ m², MTX: 40 g/m². Immediate surgery was allowed and, in this case, 9 cycles with CDP, ADM, IFO were given postoperatively. Overall the study has enrolled 218 patients with highgrade osteosarcoma. The percentage of patients with a good pathological response was lower than that usually reported in young patients and the probability of OS was 66% in patients with localized disease.

These data, prospectively collected in a large collaborative intergroup study, confirm that also in adult and elderly patients with osteosarcoma, good results can be achieved and that the probability of survival are not so different compared to those reported in younger patients. These good results are paid by a remarkable toxicity, not only bone marrow toxicity, but also neurological and renal toxicity, at a level unknown in younger age groups.

38.2 Extraskeletal Osteosarcoma

A recent study promoted by the European Musculoskeletal Oncology Society (EMSOS) has focused on this rare entity [20]. Retrospectively, data have been collected from 274 patients treated in 16 EMSOS centers. Five-year overall survival (OS) for was 47% (95% CI 40–54%). Five-year OS was 27% for metastatic patients and 51.4% in localized patients who achieved complete remission after surgery. A favorable trend was seen for osteosarcoma-type chemotherapy versus soft tissue sarcoma-type ADM \pm IFO) regimens. Age, size, and use of chemotherapy significantly influenced the survival in patients in complete remission after surgery. Based on these data, a chemotherapy strategy close to that adopted in bone osteosarcoma can be recommended in extraskeletal osteosarcoma.

38.3 Parosteal, Periosteal, and Low-Grade Central Osteosarcoma

Wide resection is standard treatment for this lowgrade osteosarcomas. Chemotherapy as used in classic high-grade osteosarcoma is indicated in case of dedifferentiated parosteal osteosarcoma, or in case of progression of malignancy in recurrences.

38.4 Small Cell Osteosarcoma

Small cell osteosarcoma is a rare variant, for which standard treatment is the same as for classic osteosarcoma. There is some controversy over the type of chemotherapy, since small cell osteosarcoma seems to have a somewhat different chemosensitivity and a worse prognosis. Some authors have recommended treatment with the same chemotherapy as that used for Ewing sarcoma, but this is still investigational, while good results have also been reported with chemotherapy used for conventional osteosarcoma.

38.5 Multicentric Osteosarcoma

Multicentric osteosarcoma is extremely rare and has a poor prognosis, whatever the treatment. Aggressive neoadjuvant chemotherapy, followed by, or combined with, radiation therapy to involved sites, and possibly surgical excision of selected lesions, may be considered standard treatment. Nonetheless, the course of the disease is usually rapid and fatal.

38.6 Secondary Osteosarcoma

Secondary osteosarcoma may occur in several benign diseases of bone: Paget's disease, fibrous dysplasia, bone infarcts, chronic osteomyelitis, irradiated bone, as well as in dedifferentiated chondrosarcoma. Poor prognosis has usually been reported, but the issue now raised is that in some cases, this could be due to the older age of these patients, resulting in a less aggressive treatment, and thus that prognosis does not necessarily differ from that of conventional osteosarcoma provided adequate treatment is given. Consequently, aggressive neoadjuvant chemotherapy and wide surgery are strongly recommended also for these rare osteosarcomas.

References

- Campanacci M. High grade osteosarcomas. In: Campanacci M, editor. Bone and soft tissue tumors. 2nd ed. New York: Springer; 1999. p. 463–515.
- Rosen G, Caparros B, Huvos A, et al. Preoperative chemotherapy for osteogenic sarcoma: selection of postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy based on the response of the primary tumor to preoperative chemotherapy. Cancer. 1982;49:1221–30.

- Bacci G, Longhi A, Versari M, et al. Prognostic factors for osteosarcoma of the extremity treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy: 15-year experience in 789 patients treated at a single institution. Cancer. 2006;106:1154–61.
- Denecke T, Hundsdörfer P, Misch D, et al. Assessment of histological response of paediatric bone sarcomas using FDG PET in comparison to morphological volume measurement and standardized MRI parameters. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2010;37(10):1842–53.
- Palmerini E, Colangeli M, Nanni C, et al. The role of FDG PET/CT in patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy for localized bone sarcomas. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2017;44(2):215–23.
- Man TK, Chintagumpala M, Visvanathan J, et al. Expression profiles of osteosarcoma that can predict response to chemotherapy. Cancer Res. 2005;65:8142–50.
- Whelan JS, Jinks RC, McTiernan A, et al. Survival from high-grade localised extremity osteosarcoma: combined results and prognostic factors from three European Osteosarcoma Intergroup randomised controlled trials. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(6):1607–16.
- Bacci G, Ferrari S, Bertoni F, et al. Long-term outcome for patients with nonmetastatic osteosarcoma of the extremity treated at the istituto ortopedico rizzoli according to the istituto ortopedico rizzoli/osteosarcoma-2 protocol: an updated report. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:4016–27.
- Fuchs N, Bielack SS, Epler D, et al. Long-term results of the co-operative German-Austrian-Swiss osteosarcoma study group's protocol COSS-86 of intensive multidrug chemotherapy and surgery for osteosarcoma of the limbs. Ann Oncol. 1998;9:893–9.
- 10. Ferrari S, Smeland S, Mercuri M, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with high-dose ifosfamide, high-dose methotrexate, cisplatin, and doxorubicin for patients with localized osteosarcoma of the extremity: a joint study by the Italian and Scandinavian Sarcoma Groups. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:8845–52.
- 11. Meyers PA, Schwartz CL, Krailo M, et al. Osteosarcoma: a randomized, prospective trial of the addition of ifosfamide and/or muramyl tripeptide to cisplatin, doxorubicin, and high-dose methotrexate. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23:2004–11.
- Anninga JK, Gelderblom H, Fiocco M, Kroep JR, Taminiau AH, Hogendoorn PC, Egeler RM. Chemotherapeutic adjuvant treatment for osteosarcoma: where do we stand? Eur J Cancer. 2011;47(16):2431–45.
- 13. Ferrari S, Ruggieri P, Cefalo G, et al. Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with methotrexate, cisplatin, and doxorubicin with or without ifosfamide in nonmetastatic osteosarcoma of the extremity: an Italian sarcoma group trial ISG/OS-1. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(17):2112–8.
- 14. EURAMOS 1. www.ctu.mrc.ac.uk/euramos/ euramos_i_trial.asp.
- 15. Bielack SS, Smeland S, Whelan JS, et al. Methotrexate, Doxorubicin, and Cisplatin (MAP)

plus maintenance pegylated interferon alfa-2b versus map alone in patients with resectable high-grade osteosarcoma and good histologic response to preoperative map: first results of the EURAMOS-1 good response randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(20):2279–87.

- 16. Marina NM, Smeland S, Bielack SS, et al. Comparison of MAPIE versus MAP in patients with a poor response to preoperative chemotherapy for newly diagnosed high-grade osteosarcoma (EURAMOS-1): an open-label, international, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(10): 1396–408.
- Piperno-Neumann S, Le Deley MC, Rédini F, et al. Zoledronate in combination with chemotherapy and surgery to treat osteosarcoma (OS2006): a ran-

domised, multicentre, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(8):1070–80.

- Gaspar N, Occean BV, Pacquement H, et al. Results of methotrexate-etoposide-ifosfamide based regimen (M-EI) in osteosarcoma patients included in the French OS2006/sarcome-09 study. Eur J Cancer. 2018;88:57–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2017.09.036. Epub 2017 Nov 28.
- Ferrari S, Bielack SS, Smeland S, et al. EURO--B.O.S.S.: a European study on chemotherapy in bonesarcoma patients aged over 40: outcome in primary high-grade osteosarcoma. Tumori. 2018;104(1):30–6.
- Longhi A, Bielack SS, Grimer R, et al. Extraskeletal osteosarcoma: a European Musculoskeletal Oncology Society study on 266 patients. Eur J Cancer. 2017;74:9–16.



Small Blue Round Cell Tumors

Marco Manfrini and Marco Gambarotti

Small Blue Round Cell Tumors of Bone 1.650 cases

Including: 1640 Ewing Sarcoma, 9 BCOR and 1 CIC-DUX traslocated tumors



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

M. Manfrini (🖂) Orthopedic Oncology Department, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.manfrini@ior.it

M. Gambarotti Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it

39.1 Ewing Sarcoma of Bone

Definition: High-grade malignant poorly differentiated tumor composed of small round cells. The current definition includes several historical entities, such as Ewing sarcoma, peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor (PNET), and Askin's tumor (Ewing sarcoma of the chest wall), all of which share the same oncogenic fusions and similar biologic behavior, and therefore are currently considered as a unique entity defined as Ewing family tumors (EFTs). **Epidemiology:** 6–8% of primary malignant bone tumors, two-third times less frequent than osteosarcoma. It represents the second most common bone malignancy affecting children and adolescents. Male to female ratio is 1.5–1. It is more common in Caucasians and rarely appears in individuals of African heritage. About 90% of cases occur from age 5–25.

Localization: EFT may occur in all the skeleton, as frequent in flat and short bones as it is in long bones. In the limbs, the most common localization is the femur, followed by the tibia, humerus, fibula, and forearm bones. Rare in hands and feet. In the trunk, the most frequent localization is the pelvis, followed by vertebrae and sacrum, scapula, ribs, and clavicle. Rare in the skull. In long bones, tumor is common in the midshaft but it may involve a larger portion or even the entire bone.

Clinical: Pain is the earliest symptom (intense and radiating if nerve impingement is present, as in sacral and vertebral locations). Low-grade fever may be associated. Swelling is also common as early sign. Occasionally, however, no soft tissue mass is appreciated, even for a long time. An increase of serum HDL and erythrocyte sedimentation rate are frequently seen, sometimes associated with leukocytosis and anemia.

Imaging: Imaging presentation is variable: the most frequent is a permeative, infiltrative, poorly defined osteolysis that can also be more destructive, uniform, or vaguely trabeculated. Increased bone radiodensities may associate (bone necrosis and/or deposition of reactive bone). The cortex is almost regularly breached by the tumor or destroyed, and a radiolucent extraosseous tumor mass is usually present. Particularly in flat bones (pelvis, scapula) this mass may be prominent, in contrast with a minimal cortical osteolysis. Rarely, however, the tumor remains intramedullary for a long time. Periosteal reaction is common in the diaphyses of young patients. The most typical, but unspecific sign is an onionskin appearance, leading to a fusiform enlargement of the shaft. Rarely EFT is predominantly periosteal, with a mass expanding in the soft tissue and erosion of the outer cortex. CT defines alterations of bone and the extraosseous mass (density similar to muscle). MRI is the best way to study tumor extension in marrow spaces (better demonstrated by T1 FSE and T2 FAT SAT technique) and in the soft tissues. Isotope scan and PET scan are hot and may show skeletal metastasis at presentation. PET scan is also useful to demonstrate lymph node or visceral metastases. Typically, extension of EFT, as shown by MRI, CT, and isotope scan is much more than what appears on X-rays.

Histopathology: Grossly, Ewing sarcoma is a soft, gravish mass, often with hyperemic, and hemorrhagic areas. Necrosis is common, particularly in the center with a semiliquid appearance, similar to that of purulence. Histologically, the tumor is composed of sheets of small round cells closely packed. Sometimes tumoral cells form rosette-like structures, composed of a central fibrillary core with nuclei at the periphery; Ewing sarcomas with these features-considered indicative of a neural differentiation-were formerly known as PNET. Neoplastic cells are relatively monotonous and uniform in appearance, with round to oval hyperchromatic nuclei showing a distinct nuclear membrane, powder-like chromatin, and one or more tiny nucleoli. Cytoplasm is scarce, pale, granular, eosinophilic to clear (do to the presence of glycogen), with poorly defined figures are limits. Mitotic usually rare. Adamantinoma-like Ewing sarcoma shows complex epithelial differentiationalso with immunohistochemica positivity for cytokeratins; squamous areas can be present. The tumor diffusely permeates the marrow spaces, generally with a prominent neovascular and inflammatory response and a fibro-osseous reaction unable to provide a significant encapsulation. At the edges of the tumor, frequently satellite nodules are present, in and beyond the reactive zone, and even skip metastasis can be found. Reticulin fibers are lacking between cells but may enwrap cells islands. P.A.S.-diastase staining shows the intracytoplasmatic glycogen. Electron microscopy shows glycogen in the cytoplasm.

Course and Staging: The tumor usually displays an aggressive growth. There are, however, cases where EFT remains intraosseous causing only discontinuous pain for a time ranging from one to several years. EFT may display a multiple metastatic spread to the lungs, but also to lymph nodes, skeleton, brain or other organs. In order to stratify metastatic patients, nowadays EFTs are usually staged by the TNM system from American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC). In this system used also for other cancers, the stage of bone neoplasms is based on four parameters

- **T** describes the size of the tumor and if involves different areas of the affected bone segment.
- N describes whether the tumor has reached local lymph nodes.
- M describes whether the tumor has spread to other parts of the body.
- **G** is the grade of the tumor. EFTs are always high-grade tumors (G2).

Localized EFT may be staged as Stage IIA or IIB according to size (below and above 8 cm).

Stage III is for EFTs that involves the same skeletal segment with more than one lesion (skip lesions).

Stage IV is for EFT that present distant metastases, IVA for cases with lung metastases only, IVB for cases with metastases to lymph nodes, other skeletal segments or other organs.

Treatment: EFT is sensitive to chemotherapy and radiotherapy but surgery plays an essential role in treatment of the primary tumor. Thus, treatment is based on a combination of chemotherapy (always), surgery, and radiotherapy (alternative to surgery or associated to surgery). Currently, trials employ 4-6 cycles of chemotherapy, followed by the local treatment, and another 6–10 cycles of chemotherapy, usually applied at 2- to 3-week intervals. Most active agents include adriamycin, cyclophosphamide, ifosfamide, vincristine, dactinomycin D, and etoposide. Preoperative chemotherapy in responsive patients, which are the vast majority, causes an extensive necrosis of tumor cells. Because tumor cells do not produce any matrix and disappear short after necrosis, effective chemotherapy determines a remarkable shrinkage of the tumor with recession of inflammation. Local treatment (surgery alone, surgery and radiotherapy, radiotherapy and delayed surgery or radiotherapy alone) is planned according to stage and several individual factors (age, location, radiological response to chemotherapy, histological necrosis on the resected specimen), and by balancing the risk of local recurrence against functional loss secondary to local treatment. In patients staged IVA, at the end of the chemotherapy, total lung radiotherapy (14 Gy) is usually performed.

Prognosis: Before the use of chemotherapy, long-term survival was less than 10%, also in localized cases. Presently, with multimodal treatment, the same figure is around 70%.

Local recurrence occurs in about 20% of cases treated with radiation (without surgery) plus chemotherapy. It is rare after wide surgery plus chemotherapy (without radiation). The postoperative association of radiotherapy when the surgical margins are evaluated as inadequate or the histological response to chemotherapy is scarce seems to decrease the risk of local relapse.

Metastases, usually multiple or disseminated, appear most frequently in the lungs, followed by the skeleton and the lymph nodes. Treatment with aggressive chemotherapy and bone marrow transplantation is still experimental but seem to improve the survival in high-risk patients. A more favorable prognosis can be expected in children, distal appendicular localizations, small tumor volume, normal H.S.R. and HDL values, use of adequate surgery, and good to complete response to preoperative chemotherapy.

Key points			
Clinical	Young patients, pain, swelling and general symptoms		
Radiological	Variable, usually aggressive, with infiltrative pattern		
Histological	Monomorphic blue round cell tumor		
Differential	Langerhans cell histiocytosis,		
diagnosis	osteomyelitis, lymphoma		
Immunohistochemical panel			
• CD99		+	
Caveolin-1		+	
• Fli1		+	
• CAM 5.2		+/	
• S100		+/	
• LAC		-	
• TdT		-	
• PAX7		+	
• NKX2-2		+	

Chromosomal translocations			
• t(11,22)(q24;q12)	EWSR1-FLI1	85%	
• t(21;22)(q22;q12)	EWSR1-ERG	10%	
• t(2;22)(q35;q12)	EWSR1-FEV	Rare	
• t(7;22)(p22;q12)	EWSR1-ETV1	Rare	
• t(17;22)(q21;q12)	EWSR1-ETV4	Rare	
• t(2;16)(q35;p11)	FUS-FEV	Rare	
• t(16;21)(q11;p22)	FUS-ERG	Rare	



3 year old patient. EFT of the right femur at presentation. Standard radiograph (**a**) MR T1 FSE sagittal view (**b**) and T1 (**c**) and T1 FSE (**d**) axial views. Radiograph and CT. Metaphyseal tumor of the tibia. The lesion is poorly limited, partially sclerotic (not rare in Ewing sarcoma because of the reaction of the remaining bone), destroys the cortex and invades soft tissues


15 year old patient. EFT of the left pelvis. Pre-chemo and post chemo CT with contrast injection (a & b), T1 MR (c & d) and T2 MR FAT SAT (e & f) axial images. Radiograph (a), CT with contrast injection (b), and T1 (c) and T2 (d) W axial MR images



Highly cellular tissue composed of a uniform mat of small round cells, infiltrating in between the host bony trabeculae in a permeative fashion. Cytoplasms are rather scarce, pale, often clear, and with faded boundaries. Nuclei are hyperchromatic, twice as large as those of lymphocytes, roundoval in shape, with pulvurent chromatin, and one or more very small nucleoli. Nearly all nuclei appear to be of the same size and with a rather regular shape. Mitotic figures are rare. Immunohistochemical strong and diffuse membranous positivity for CD99 in the neoplastic cells (*inset*)

Small Blue Round Cell Tumors of Soft Tissue 146 cases

Including: 121 Ewing Sarcoma, 15 CIC-DUX4 traslocated sarcoma, 1 CIC-LEUTX traslocated sarcoma and 9 Desmoplastic Small Round Cell Tumor



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

39.2 Extraskeletal Ewing Sarcoma

Definition: High-grade malignant poorly differentiated tumor composed of small round cells. It is the soft tissue counterpart of the more frequent Ewing sarcoma of bone.

Epidemiology: Soft tissue Ewing sarcoma is by far less frequent than the bone variant. Most common in adults but it may occur at any age. It is more frequent in males.

Location: Any soft tissue site can be involved, but the most common are the paravertebral region, retroperitoneum, and the chest wall, followed by the extremities.

Clinical: Large, destructive mass.

Histopathology: Grossly it is a large, destructive mass, frequently with necrosis, and hemorrhage. Histologically, it is composed of a uniform cell population of round blue cells with small amounts of clear to light eosinophilic cytoplasm, regular nuclear contours, finely dispersed chromatin, and small nucleoli, growing in sheet or in a vaguely lobular growth pattern, with a welldeveloped capillary vascularization.

Course and Staging: 10-year survival rate of 60% with current treatment regimens.

Treatment: Current multimodal therapy (surgery, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy).

Immunohistochemical panel	
• CD99	+
Caveolin-1	+
• Fli1	+
• CAM 5.2	+/
• S100	+/-
• LAC	-
• TdT	-
• PAX7	+
• NKX2-2	+

Chromosomal translocations			
• t(11;22)(q24;q12)	EWSR1-FLI1	85%	
• t(21;22)(q22;q12)	EWSR1-ERG	10%	
• t(2;22)(q35;q12)	EWSR1-FEV	Rare	
• t(7;22)(p22;q12)	EWSR1-ETV1	Rare	
• t(17;22)(q21;q12)	EWSR1-ETV4	Rare	
• t(2;16)(q35;p11)	FUS-FEV	Rare	
• t(16;21)(q11;p22)	FUS-ERG	Rare	





Population of uniform small round to ovoid undifferentiated blue cells infiltrating soft tissues, nearly identical to the more frequent bony counterpart

Other Small Blue Round Cell 39.3 Tumors in Bone and Soft Tissues

Definition: Round cell sarcomas lacking the specific translocations of Ewing sarcoma and other round cell sarcomas represent new specific entities. The most frequent are CIC-DUX4 fusionpositive sarcomas (characterized by the fusion of the CIC gene with one of the DUX4 retrogenes, located either on 4q35 or on 10q26.3) and BCOR-CCNB3 fusion-positive sarcomas (characterized by a paracentric inversion of the X chromosome).

39.4 CIC-DUX4-Positive Sarcomas

Epidemiology: Very much rarer than Ewing sarcoma. Mean age at presentation is 32 years. There is a slight male predominance.

Location: The vast majority affects soft tissues, rarely viscera, and exceptionally bone. Trunk and the extremities are the most frequent site involved.

Clinical: Very frequent lung metastasis at presentation.

Histopathology: Histologically composed of a proliferation of roundish cells arranged in lobules separated by thin fibrous septa, with confluent geographic areas of necrosis. Neoplastic cells show moderate pleomorphism, vesicular nuclei, abundant cytoplasm, often with clear cell change. A myxoid stroma is frequently present.

Course and Staging: Generally have a dismal prognosis (overall survival at 5 years is about 43%).

Treatment: Multimodal therapy (surgery and chemotherapy). Sometimes responsive to ES CT-regimens (RECIST) but when included in clinical protocols designed for ES, it seems justified to evaluate these patients separately.

Immunohistochemical panel		
• CD99	+/	
• WT1 (N and C terminus)	+/	
• ETV4	+	
• CAM 5.2	+/	
• DUX4	+	

Chromosomal translocations

•	t(4;19)(q35;q13)	CIC-DUX4
•	t(10;19)(q26;q13)	CIC-DUX4L



Proliferation of roundish cells, with moderate pleomorphism, vesicular nuclei, and abundant often clear cytoplasms

39.5 BCOR-CCNB3-Positive Sarcomas

Epidemiology: Very much rarer than Ewing sarcoma. Mean age at diagnosis is 15 years. There is a strong male predominance (male to female ratio is 31 to 5), due to the fact that the characteristic mutation is a paracentric inversion of the X chromosome.

Location: More frequent in bone than in the soft tissues.

Histopathology: Histologically characterized by a proliferation of relatively monotonous undifferentiated round and spindle cells, so that the tumor shows morphological features similar to synovial sarcoma and Ewing sarcoma. Neoplastic cells show finely dispersed chromatin and occasional tiny nucleoli. They are arranged without a distinct architectural pattern or in short fascicles with whorling, sometimes comprised of areas with high cellularity alternating with less cellular areas. Mitotic activity is often brisk. Small thinwalled arciform and plexiform vessels are generally present.

Course and Staging: Seem to have a better prognosis than Ewing sarcoma (5-year overall survival is about 72%). Recurrence rate is about 30% and metastases (often to the lung) are present in about 35% of cases.

Treatment: Multimodal therapy (surgery and chemotherapy).

Immunohistochemical panel	
BCOR	+
CCNB3	+
PAX8	+/
SATB2	+/-

Chromosomal translocations	
t(X;X)(p11.4;p11.22)	BCOR-CCNB3



Proliferation of relatively monotonous undifferentiated round and spindle cells arranged in short fascicles. Immunohistochemical nuclear positivity for CCNB3 in the neoplastic cells (*inset*)

Selected Bibliography

- Antonescu C. Round cell sarcomas beyond Ewing: emerging entities. Histopathology. 2014;64(1):26–37.
- Antonescu CR, Owosho AA, Zhang L, Chen S, Deniz K, Huryn JM, Kao YC, Huang SC, Singer S, Tap W, Schaefer IM, Fletcher CD. Sarcomas with CICrearrangements are a distinct pathologic entity with aggressive outcome: a clinicopathologic and molecular study of 115 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2017;41(7):941–9.
- Applebaum MA, Worch J, Matthay KK, Goldsby R, Neuhaus J, West DC, Dubois SG. Clinical features and outcomes in patients with extraskeletal Ewing sarcoma. Cancer. 2011;117:3027–32.
- Balamuth NJ, Womer RB. Ewing's sarcoma. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(2):184–92. Review.
- Casali PG, Bielack S, Abecassis N, Aro HT, Bauer S, Biagini R, Bonvalot S, Boukovinas I, Bovee JVMG, Brennan B, Brodowicz T, Broto JM, Brugières L, Buonadonna A, De Álava E, Dei Tos AP, Del Muro XG, Dileo P, Dhooge C, Eriksson M, Fagioli F, Fedenko A, Ferraresi V, Ferrari A, Ferrari S, Frezza AM, Gaspar N, Gasperoni S, Gelderblom H, Gil T, Grignani G, Gronchi A, Haas RL, Hassan B, Hecker-Nolting S, Hohenberger P, Issels R, Joensuu H, Jones RL, Judson I, Jutte P, Kaal S, Kager L, Kasper B, Kopeckova K, Krákorová DA, Ladenstein R, Le Cesne

A, Lugowska I, Merimsky O, Montemurro M, Morland B, Pantaleo MA, Piana R, Picci P, Piperno-Neumann S, Pousa AL, Reichardt P, Robinson MH, Rutkowski P, Safwat AA, Schöffski P, Sleijfer S, Stacchiotti S, Strauss SJ, Sundby Hall K, Unk M, Van Coevorden F, van der Graaf WTA, Whelan J, Wardelmann E, Zaikova O, Blay JY, ESMO Guidelines Committee, PaedCan and ERN EURACAN. Bone sarcomas: ESMO-PaedCan-EURACAN clinical practice guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(Supplement 4):iv79–95.

- Charville GW, Varma S, Forgó E, Dumont SN, Zambrano E, Trent JC, Lazar AJ, van de Rijn M. PAX7 expression in rhabdomyosarcoma, related soft tissue tumors, and small round blue cell neoplasms. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(10):1305–15.
- De Alava E, Lessnick SL, Sorensen PH. Ewing sarcoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 306–9.
- Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013.
- Gambarotti M, Benini S, Gamberi G, Cocchi S, Palmerini E, Sbaraglia M, Donati D, Picci P, Vanel D, Ferrari S, Righi A, Dei Tos AP. CIC-DUX4 fusion-positive round-cell sarcomas of soft tissue and bone: a single-institution morphological and molecular analysis of seven cases. Histopathology. 2016;69(4): 624–34.
- Gamberi G, Cocchi S, Benini S, Magagnoli G, Morandi L, Kreshak J, Gambarotti M, Picci P, Zanella L, Alberghini M. Molecular diagnosis in Ewing family tumors: the Rizzoli experience—222 consecutive cases in four years. J Mol Diagn. 2011a;13(3):313–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.01.004. Epub 2011 Mar 31.
- Gamberi G, Cocchi S, Benini S, Magagnoli G, Morandi L, Kreshak J, Gambarotti M, Picci P, Zanella L, Alberghini M. Molecular diagnosis in Ewing family

tumors: the Rizzoli experience—222 consecutive cases in four years. J Mol Diagn. 2011b;13(3):313–24.

- Hung YP, Fletcher CD, Hornick JL. Evaluation of NKX2-2 expression in round cell sarcomas and other tumors with EWSR1 rearrangement: imperfect specificity for Ewing sarcoma. Mod Pathol. 2016;29(4):370–80.
- Italiano A, Sung YS, Zhang L, Singer S, Maki RG, Coindre JM, Antonescu CR. High prevalence of CIC fusion with double-homeobox (DUX4) transcription factors in EWSR1-negative undifferentiated small blue round cell sarcomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2012;51(3):207–18.
- Li S, Siegal GP. Small cell tumors of bone. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17(1):1–11. Review.
- Longhi A, Ferrari S, Tamburini A, Luksch R, Fagioli F, Bacci G, Ferrari C. Late effects of chemotherapy and radiotherapy in osteosarcoma and Ewing sarcoma patients: the Italian Sarcoma Group experience (1983– 2006). Cancer. 2012;118(20):5050–9.
- Ludwig K, Alaggio R, Zin A, Peron M, Guzzardo V, Benini S, Righi A, Gambarotti M. BCOR-CCNB3 undifferentiated sarcoma-does immunohistochemistry help in the identification? Pediatr Dev Pathol. 2017;20(4):321–9.
- Maheshwari AV, Cheng EY. Ewing sarcoma family of tumors. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010a;18(2):94–107. Review.
- Maheshwari AV, Cheng EY. Ewing sarcoma family of tumors. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010b;18(2):94–107. Review
- McCarville MB. The child with bone pain: malignancies and mimickers. Cancer Imaging. 2009;9 Spec No A:S115–21. Review.
- Peters TL, Kumar V, Polikepahad S, Lin FY, Sarabia SF, Liang Y, Wang WL, Lazar AJ, Doddapaneni H, Chao H, Muzny DM, Wheeler DA, Okcu MF, Plon SE, Hicks MJ, López-Terrada D, Parsons DW, Roy A. BCOR-CCNB3 fusions are frequent in undifferentiated sarcomas of male children. Mod Pathol. 2015;28(4):575–86.



Biology of Ewing Sarcoma

Katia Scotlandi

Sarcomas are a heterogeneous group of malignant tumors that are derived from mesenchymal tissues, including bone, muscle, and cartilage. In the last decade, we have gained significant new insights into the genetic abnormalities that underlie the pathogenesis of these tumors. Specific molecular alterations have been associated with specific histological subtypes of sarcomas, leading to a new classification of many sarcomas. Conventionally grouped in either soft-tissue or bone sarcomas according to the site of their origin, these tumors can now be genetically distinguished in two main groups: those carrying tumor-specific recurrent chromosome aberrations and those with complex karyotypes and variable genetic alterations [1, 2]. Sarcomas with recurrent molecular changes include, among others, Ewing sarcoma, synovial sarcoma, alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma, myxoid liposarcoma and myxoid chondrosarcoma.

Ewing sarcoma is a genetically wellcharacterized disease. Its main driver alteration is a specific chromosomal translocation that fuse a member of the FET family of proteins (encoded by FUS, EWSR1, and TAF15), which are RNAbinding proteins involved in transcription and splicing, with different members of the ETS

K. Scotlandi (🖂)

(E26-specific) family of transcription factors, which are involved in cell proliferation, cell differentiation, cell-cycle control, angiogenesis and apoptosis—most commonly FLI1 (85% of cases) [3]. In the remaining cases of Ewing sarcomas that are negative for EWSR1–FLI1 fusions, variant fusions between EWSR1 and other members of the ETS family occur, most commonly ERG (encoding transcriptional regulator ERG) followed by ETV1, ETV4, or FEV [4–7]. Some variant fusions were described between ETS genes and EWSR1 paralogues of the FET gene family (namely, FUS and TAF15). Ewing sarcomas harboring EWSR1–FLI1 or EWSR1–ERG were found to have similar clinical behavior [8].

Large-scale genomic sequencing studies have demonstrated that Ewing sarcoma has one of the lowest mutation rates among all cancers (0.15 mutations/Mb) [9-11]. This highlights the relevance of fusion transcripts and epigenetic mechanisms in controlling Ewing sarcoma pathogenesis and progression. Chimeric fusion proteins act as aberrant transcription factors and deregulate hundreds of genes through DNA binding at either ETS-like sequences that contain a single GGAA motif or at GGAA microsatellites (which are composed of multiple iterative GGAA motifs) [12, 13]. Comprehensive epigenome profiling [14–16] has revealed that EWSR1–FLI1 drives widespread epigenetic reprogramming by inducing de novo enhancers (Ewing-specific enhancers) and by repressing enhancers that are active in

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: katia.scotlandi@ior.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_40

many cell types, including putative mesenchymal cell of origin. As a result, EWS-FLI orchestrates multiple oncogenic hits that lead to the transformation and disruption of normal developmental processes.

Despite being a necessary condition, EWS-FLI is however, not sufficient to generate a fully transformed phenotype and requires adjuvant factors, which may include mutations of STAG2 (Cohesin subunit SA2) and TP53 genes, which are detected at diagnosis in 15-21% and 5-7% of cases, as well as deletion of CDKN2A, a cyclindependent kinase that regulates cell proliferation, in 10-22% of cases, respectively [9-11]. In addition, the presence of an intact IGF pathway as well as of CD99, a 32-kD integral membrane glycoprotein that is highly expressed in most cases of Ewing sarcoma, is also required for EWS-FLI transformation [17, 18]. In addition, Ewing sarcoma is frequently characterized by chromosomal gains or loss, such as chromosome 8, chromosome 2, chromosome 1q, and chromosome 20 gains and chromosome 16q loss. These alterations have been described as associated with different patient outcome [19, 20].

The presence of specific chimeric product is very attractive from a therapeutic point of view. Unfortunately, the chimeric transcription factors that give raise to Ewing sarcoma are not druggable at the best of our current knowledge. Thus, the most interesting therapeutic options are small-molecule inhibitors, such as YK-4-279 [21], which blocks protein–protein interactions with EWSR1-FLI, or druggable pathways regulated by EWS-FLI1, such as the IGF-1R mediated signaling pathway. Antibodies or tyrosine kinase inhibitors directed against the IGF-1 receptor protein have shown therapeutic potentials in around 15% of patients [22, 23]. Several studies have focused on targeting the epigenetic deregulation present in Ewing sarcoma. For example, therapeutic option can be offered by inhibiting EWS-FLI activity by using inhibitors of lysine-specific histone [24]. Additionally, Ewing sarcoma cells are particularly sensible to poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors [25, 26]. PARPi have been preclinically explored as enhancers of drug sensitivity in combination with agents such as trabected in [27] or temozolomide [28].

Finally, new immunotherapeutic approaches have been tested in preclinical models. Unfortunately, Ewing sarcomas are considered as "immune deserts" or "cold" tumors, typically depleted of immune infiltrates. Programmed cell death protein 1 (PD1) and programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 (PDL1) are expressed only in a fraction of Ewing sarcoma cells [29, 30] and therefore checkpoint inhibitors may not be the best approach in this type of tumors. Further studies to establish whether other mechanisms are in place in Ewing sarcoma to elude immune response are required.

References

- Helman LJ, Meltzer P. Mechanisms of sarcoma development. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(9):685–94.
- Wunder JS, et al. Opportunities for improving the therapeutic ratio for patients with sarcoma. Lancet Oncol. 2007;8(6):513–24.
- Delattre O, et al. Gene fusion with an ETS DNAbinding domain caused by chromosome translocation in human tumours. Nature. 1992;359:162–5.
- Sorensen PH, et al. A second Ewing's sarcoma translocation, t(21;22), fuses the EWS gene to another ETS-family transcription factor, ERG. Nat Genet. 1994;6:146–51.
- Jeon IS, et al. A variant Ewing's sarcoma translocation (7;22) fuses the EWS gene to the ETS gene ETV1. Oncogene. 1995;10:1229–34.
- Peter M, et al. A new member of the ETS family fused to EWS in Ewing tumors. Oncogene. 1997;14:1159–64.
- Ng TL, et al. Ewing sarcoma with novel translocation t(2;16) producing an in-frame fusion of FUS and FEV. J Mol Diagn. 2007;9:459–63.
- Ginsberg JP, et al. EWS-FL11 and EWS-ERG gene fusions are associated with similar clinical phenotypes in Ewing's sarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 1999;17:1809–14.
- Brohl AS, et al. The genomic landscape of the Ewing sarcoma family of tumors reveals recurrent STAG2 mutation. PLoS Genet. 2014;10(7):e1004475.
- Crompton BD, et al. The genomic landscape of pediatric Ewing sarcoma. Cancer Discov. 2014;4(11):1326–41.
- Tirode F, et al. Genomic landscape of Ewing sarcoma defines an aggressive subtype with co-association of STAG2 and TP53 mutations. Cancer Discov. 2014;4(11):1342–53.

- Gangwal K, et al. Microsatellites as EWS/FLI response elements in Ewing's sarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:10149–54.
- Guillon N, et al. The oncogenic EWS-FLI1 protein binds in vivo GGAA microsatellite sequences with potential transcriptional activation function. PLoS One. 2009;4:e4932.
- Tomazou EM, et al. Epigenome mapping reveals distinct modes of gene regulation and widespread enhancer reprogramming by the oncogenic fusion protein EWS-FL11. Cell Rep. 2015;10:1082–95.
- Sheffield NC, et al. DNA methylation heterogeneity defines a disease spectrum in Ewing sarcoma. Nat Med. 2017;23:386–95.
- Riggi N, et al. EWS-FLI1 utilizes divergent chromatin remodeling mechanisms to directly activate or repress enhancer elements in Ewing sarcoma. Cancer Cell. 2014;26:668–81.
- Rocchi A, et al. CD99 inhibits neural differentiation of human Ewing sarcoma cells and thereby contributes to oncogenesis. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(3): 668–80.
- Herrero-Martín D, et al. Stable interference of EWS-FLI1 in an Ewing sarcoma cell line impairs IGF-1/ IGF-1R signalling and reveals TOPK as a new target. Br J Cancer. 2009;101(1):80–90.
- Hattinger CM, et al. Prognostic impact of chromosomal aberrations in Ewing tumours. Br J Cancer. 2002;86:1763–9.
- Mackintosh C, et al. 1q gain and CDT2 overexpression underlie an aggressive and highly proliferative form of Ewing sarcoma. Oncogene. 2012;31:1287–98.
- Erkizan HV, et al. A small molecule blocking oncogenic protein EWS-FLI1 interaction with RNA helicase A inhibits growth of Ewing's sarcoma. Nat Med. 2009;15:750–6.

- 22. Olmos D, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and preliminary activity of the anti-IGF-1R antibody figitumumab (CP-751,871) in patients with sarcoma and Ewing's sarcoma: a phase 1 expansion cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11:129–35.
- 23. Pappo AS, et al. R1507, a monoclonal antibody to the insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor, in patients with recurrent or refractory Ewing sarcoma family of tumors: results of a phase II sarcoma alliance for research through collaboration study. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:4541–7.
- Theisen ER, Pishas KI, Saund RS, Lessnick SL. Therapeutic opportunities in Ewing sarcoma: EWS-FLI inhibition via LSD1 targeting. Oncotarget. 2016;7:17616–30.
- Brenner JC, et al. PARP-1 inhibition as a targeted strategy to treat Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Res. 2012;72(7):1608–13.
- Gorthi A, et al. EWS–FL11 increases transcription to cause R-loops and block BRCA1 repair in Ewing sarcoma. Nature. 2018;555:387–91.
- Ordóñez JL, et al. The PARP inhibitor olaparib enhances the sensitivity of Ewing sarcoma to trabectedin. Oncotarget. 2015;6:18875–90.
- Engert F, et al. PARP inhibitors sensitize Ewing sarcoma cells to temozolomide-induced apoptosis via the mitochondrial pathway. Mol Cancer Ther. 2015;14:2818–30.
- 29. Machado I, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis and prognostic significance of PD-L1, PD-1, and CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in Ewing's sarcoma family of tumors (ESFT). Virchows Arch. 2018;472:815–24.
- Spurny C, et al. Programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) expression is not a predominant feature in Ewing sarcomas. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2018;65:e26719.



41

Chemotherapy of Ewing Sarcoma

Stefano Ferrari and Emanuela Palmerini

Ewing sarcoma (ES) shares with osteosarcoma similarities in the strategy of treatment.

Neoadjuvant chemotherapy with the aim of reducing tumor mass, increasing the likelihood of local control, and facilitating conservative surgical approaches is considered the standard in patients with ES [1].

Vincristine, dactinomycin, adriamycin, cyclophosphamide, ifosfmide, and etoposide are the drugs that, in different combinations, are recommended for the neoadjuvant treatment of ES [2].

In patients who undergo surgery of the primary tumor, the pathological evaluation of the chemotherapy-induced tumor necrosis identifies patients with different probability of survival, higher in those with a good pathological response [3, 4].

The more recent chemotherapy protocols are based on different strategies of dose intensification [5–7]. The results of Protocol AEWS0031 indicate that a dose intensification obtained by an interval compression (every 2 weeks) of the chemotherapy courses is more effective compared to

S. Ferrari

Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

E. Palmerini (⊠) Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine (DIMES), University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: emanuela.palmerini@ior.it a standard approach based on chemotherapy courses given every 3 weeks. This strategy seems to be more beneficial in pediatric patients, rather than in adults [6].

In a joint study between Italian Sarcoma Group (ISG) and Scandinavian Sarcoma Group (SSG), the dose intensification with high-dose chemotherapy and peripheral blood stem cell rescue (HCT) was applied only to patients with a poor response to a six-drug primary chemotherapy. The results showed that poor responder patients had the same probability of event-free survival obtained in good responder patients [7].

To investigate the role of HCT in ES in 1999, a randomized clinical trial (EURO-EWING) was activated. The results of the group of patients randomized to receive or not high-dose chemotherapy have been presented at the ASCO meeting in 2016 [8]. In localized patients with a poor pathological response or large tumor volume who received HCT, the survival was significantly higher compared to that obtained in those who were treated with standard chemotherapy. Interestingly, the probability of survival reported in the HCT arm of the EURO-EWING study is similar to that obtained in the poor responder group of the joint ISG/SSG study [7].

The strategy of treatment for patients with synchronous metastases is based on chemotherapy combined with local and metastatic control by the use of aggressive surgical and/or radiotherapy approach.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_41

The probability of survival of patients with metastastic disease is lower than 30% even when intensive but standard chemotherapy regimens are used [9, 10].

Use of HCT has been adopted and in a recent joint study of the Italian Sarcoma Group and Scandinavian Sarcoma Group, a survival higher than 50% has been reported in patients with lung metastases and/or one bone metastasis [11]. In patients with very high risk, such as those with multivisceral involvement, multiple skeletal lesions, and/or bone marrow infiltration, the probability of survival reached 30% when high-dose chemotherapy was delivered in addition to aggressive surgery and/or radiotherapy for all the sites of disease [12]. The recent results of the EURO-EWING study for metastatic patients pose some doubts about the use of HCT in this setting, since the arm randomized to receive HCT did not obtain better results compared to that randomized to receive standard chemotherapy. These data have to be considered with some caution since the study design was biased by a different use of the total lung irradiation (TLI) that was not permitted in those patients randomized for HCT [13].

In case of patients with only pulmonary recurrent disease, the relapse-free interval is the main prognostic factor [14]. Standard treatment of patients with isolated lung metastases is polychemotherapy, to be selected considering the previous chemotherapy treatment [1]. High-dose treatments with autologous stem cell rescue are still investigational, but frequently adopted in several centers. In case of isolated lung metastases with a long (>36 months) relapse-free survival, chemotherapy can be omitted and surgical resection with radiation therapy of the lungs is recommended [15].

For patients with extrapulmonary metastases, prognosis is dismal and also in this condition, chemotherapy is to be defined according to the previous treatment. High-dose treatments with peripheral stem cell rescue have been used by various investigators, with encouraging results. Generally, they are reserved to optimal responders after some kind of induction therapy willing to enter open clinical studies on such approaches. Irinotecan and temozolamide, topotecan and cyclophosphamide and high-dose ifosfamide have shown activity in recurrent ES of bone [16–19].

References

- ESMO/European Sarcoma Network Working Group. Bone sarcomas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(Suppl 7):vii100–9.
- Grier HE, Krailo MD, Tarbell NJ, et al. Addition of ifosfamide and etoposide to standard chemotherapy for Ewing's sarcoma and primitive neuroectodermal tumor of bone. N Engl J Med. 2003;348(8):694–701.
- Cotterill SJ, Ahrens S, Paulussen M, et al. Prognostic factors in Ewing's tumor of bone: analysis of 975 patients from the European Intergroup Cooperative Ewing's Sarcoma Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:3108–14.
- Bacci G, Ferrari S, Bertoni F, et al. Prognostic factors in nonmetastatic Ewing's sarcoma of bone treated with adjuvant chemotherapy: analysis of 359 patients at the Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli. J Clin Oncol. 2000;18:4–11.
- Granowetter L, Womer R, Devidas M, et al. Doseintensified compared with standard chemotherapy for nonmetastatic Ewing sarcoma family of tumors: a Children's Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(15):2536–41.
- Womer RB, West DC, Krailo MD, et al. Randomized controlled trial of interval-compressed chemotherapy for the treatment of localized Ewing sarcoma: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(33):4148–54.
- Ferrari S, Sundby Hall K, Luksch R, et al. Nonmetastatic Ewing family tumors: high-dose chemotherapy with stem cell rescue in poor responder patients. Results of the Italian Sarcoma Group/ Scandinavian Sarcoma Group III protocol. Ann Oncol. 2011;22(5):1221–7.
- Whelan J, Le Deley MC, Dirksen U, et al. Efficacy of busulfan-melphalan high dose chemotherapy consolidation (BuMel) in localized high-risk Ewing sarcoma (ES): results of EURO-EWING 99-R2 randomized trial (EE99R2Loc). J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(15_Suppl):11000.
- Cangir A, Vietti TJ, Gehan EA, et al. Ewing's sarcoma metastatic at diagnosis. Results and comparisons of two intergroup Ewing's sarcoma studies. Cancer. 1990;66:887–93.
- Kolb EA, Kushner BH, Gorlick R, et al. Long-term event-free survival after intensive chemotherapy for Ewing's family of tumors in children and young adults. J Clin Oncol. 2003;21(18):3423–30.
- 11. Luksch R, Tienghi A, Hall KS, et al. Primary metastatic Ewing's family tumors: results of the Italian

Sarcoma Group and Scandinavian Sarcoma Group ISG/SSG IV Study including myeloablative chemotherapy and total-lung irradiation. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(11):2970–6.

- Ladenstein R, Pötschger U, Le Deley MC, et al. Primary disseminated multifocal Ewing sarcoma: results of the Euro-EWING 99 trial. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(20):3284–91.
- Dirksen U, Le Deley MC, Brennan B, et al. Efficacy of busulfan-melphalan high dose chemotherapy consolidation (BuMel) compared to conventional chemotherapy combined with lung irradiation in ewing sarcoma (ES) with primary lung metastases: Results of EURO-EWING 99-R2pulm randomized trial (EE99R2pul). J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(15_Suppl):11001.
- 14. Bacci G, Longhi A, Ferrari S, et al. Pattern of relapse in 290 patients with nonmetastatic Ewing's sarcoma family tumors treated at a single institution with adjuvant and neoadjuvant chemotherapy between 1972 and 1999. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2006;32(9):974–9.

- Briccoli A, Rocca M, Ferrari S, Mercuri M, Ferrari C, Bacci G. Surgery for lung metastases in Ewing's sarcoma of bone. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2004;30(1):63–7.
- Hunold A, Weddeling N, Paulussen M, Ranft A, Liebscher C, Jürgens H. Topotecan and cyclophosphamide in patients with refractory or relapsed Ewing tumors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2006;47(6):795–800.
- Wagner LM, McAllister N, Goldsby RE, et al. Temozolomide and intravenous irinotecan for treatment of advanced Ewing sarcoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2007;48(2):132–9.
- Palmerini E, Jones RL, Setola E, et al. Irinotecan and temozolomide in recurrent Ewing sarcoma: an analysis in 51 adult and pediatric patients. Acta Oncol. 2018;13:1–7.
- Ferrari S, del Prever AB, Palmerini E, et al. Response to high-dose ifosfamide in patients with advanced/ recurrent Ewing sarcoma. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2009;52(5):581–4.



Fibroblastic/Myofibroblastic Tumors

42

Piero Picci, Angelo Paolo Dei Tos, Marco Gambarotti, and Alberto Righi

Fibroblastic/myofibroblastic sarcomas are mainly recognized and classified in the soft tissues while in the bone fewer entities were recognized.

It is now accepted that a broad variety of mesenchymal malignancies most often arising in the soft tissues may actually present as primary bone lesions. A more accurate morphologic partition is justified based on availability of distinct therapeutic options. An integrated diagnostic approach represents the only way to achieve a correct classification. In consideration of the significant complexity, primary bone sarcomas should ideally be handled in the context of expert centers.

P. Picci (🖂)

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

A. P. Dei Tos Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Department of Medicine, University of Padua School of Medicine, Padua, Italy e-mail: angelo.deitos@unipd.it

M. Gambarotti · A. Righi Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

FIBROBLASTIC / MYOFIBROBLASTIC SARCOMA OF BONE 327 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

FIBROBLASTIC / MYOFIBROBLASTIC SARCOMA OF SOFT TISSUE 2.137 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

42.1 Undifferentiated Pleomorphic Sarcoma (UPS)

Definition: A sarcoma characterized by tumor cells with diffuse pleomorphism in the absence of a specific line of differentiation. The old term malignant fibrous histiocytoma (MFH) is obsolete as immunohistochemistry demonstrated that the phenotype of the neoplastic cells is closely aligned with a fibroblast than a histiocyte. In the 2013 WHO classification, UPS is classified in the

group of undifferentiated/unclassified sarcomas that are divided into pleomorphic (UPS), round cell, spindle cells, and epithelioid subsets. Together they account for up to 20% of all soft tissue sarcomas.

Epidemiology: It is most frequent in soft tissues than in bone. It is the most frequent among secondary sarcomas of bone. More frequent in males, and in the adult age. Secondary UPS are observed in more advanced age groups.

Undifferentiated Pleomorphic Sarcoma (UPS) of Soft Tissue 662 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Undifferentiated Pleomorphic Sarcoma (UPS) of Bone 154 cases

Including 59 Secondary: Radio-induced (21); on Fibrous Dysplasia (4); on Osteomyelitis (4); on Paget (12); on GCT (3); on Other Old Benign Lesions (3); on Infarct or Bone Chips (5).



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: In bone, it is most commonly localized in the long bones, femur, tibia, and humerus. It prevails in the metaphyses and metaepiphyses, although a purely diaphyseal location may be seen. There is prevalence for the distal femur and proximal tibia, but not as pronounced as it is in OS. In soft tissue, it affects skeletal muscles of extremities and retroperitoneum. Tumor is deep in 90% of cases.

Clinical: Globose and painless swelling with no characteristic clinical features other than a frequently rapid growth rate. In bone, pathologic fracture is common.

Imaging: In bone, it is a purely osteolytic tumor, centrally or eccentrically located. Osteolysis may be uniform with geographic illdefined borders. Sometimes scattered or confluent radiolucent areas give a moth-eaten appearance. Infrequently some osteosclerosis is present at the margins of the tumor. The cortex is

usually permeated or destroyed by the tumor. Periosteal reaction is not frequent. As in all purely osteolytic tumors, the real tumor extension in the bone and in the surrounding soft tissues is often more pronounced than what is indicated on radiographs. CT, MRI, isotope scan and angiography, as well as gross and microscopic study will show the real extension. In soft tissues, on X-ray: nonspecific STT displacing the adjacent fat. Peripheral calcifications are rare (9%). Florid periosteal reaction and smooth cortical erosion may be observed. In these cases, bone scan is always very hot. On angiography: typical changes occurring in sarcomas, with very large avascular areas of tumor due to necrosis or hemorrhage. Major vessels are almost never infiltrated. On CT: inhomogeneous, similar to or lower density than that of muscle, strong enhancement of the solid component, central hypodense area of necrosis, hemorrhage, myxomatous tissue, with large cavities with fluid contents and a thick wall that are mistaken with a hematoma. On MRI: poorly defined margins, homogeneous, muscular intensity on T1 and heterogeneous high signal intensity on T2, dark central necrotic zones and strong enhancement at the periphery on contrast T1, internal low signal intensity septa of collagen bands on T1 and T2. In MFH, central myxoid area is black on T1 and white on T2. Hematoma is white on T1, fluid levels show low signal intensity for hemosiderin deposits and high for supernate on both sequences.

Histopathology: The tumor is a white-gray mass with no distinctive macroscopic features other than the frequent presence of necrosis. Histologically, it is composed of pleomorphic atypical cells with hyperchromic nuclei, coarse chromatin, large nucleoli; numerous typical and atypical mitotic figures are present. Histologically, UPS resembles other specific types of pleomorphic sarcoma, with frequent multinucleated giant cells and a frequent patternless pattern. In some areas, there is a distinctive orientation in whorllike structures: "the storiform pattern". Collagen production may produce an accentuation of this feature. Clusters of histiocytes, foam cells, and inflammatory cells are sprinkled. In the 2013 WHO classification, UPS is classified in the group of undifferentiated/unclassified sarcomas that are divided into pleomorphic (UPS), round cell (similar to other specific types of round cell sarcoma, especially Ewing sarcoma), spindle cells, and epithelioid (similar to a metastatic carcinoma or melanoma) subsets. On immunohistochemistry, undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcomas are positive for vimentin and by definition no pattern of protein expression that would identify a specific line of differentiation can be identified. In bone, UPS frequently breaches the cortex and extends into the soft tissues. UPS of bone is frequently secondary (bone infarcts, old chondromas and chondrosarcomas, radiated bone, Paget, giant cell tumors, osteomyelitis).

Course and Staging: The majority of UPS are high-grade sarcomas with a metastatic incidence that varies between 30 and 50%, with the common metastatic sites being lung, bone, and liver; regional lymph node metastases are decidedly uncommon. Usually, this tumor is stage IIB. IIIB presentation due to lymphatic or pulmonary metastases is not uncommon. UPS may be secondary to benign processes or radiation therapy. Several studies have suggested that pleomorphic sarcomas with myogenic differentiation are clinically more aggressive that those without myogenic differentiation.

Treatment and prognosis: UPS of bone moderately responds to chemotherapy. After preoperative chemotherapy, the same used for OS, the percentage of good responders (necrosis >90%) is less than in OS, but higher to that of fibrosarcoma. Postoperative chemotherapy is also indicated with the same schedules used for OS. With this aggressive treatment, the percentage of long-term survivors seems to be similar to that obtained in OS, around 60–70%. UPS is also relatively responsive to radiation therapy, which can be used rarely as adjuvant to surgery, or in inoperable cases. In soft tissues, wide excision or yet better radical surgery. Radiotherapy is effective in 50% of cases and is used as primary procedure to very well delimit the mass and to reduce the lesion making the operation possible and easier. Patients treated with adjuvant chemotherapy have a better survival.

Key points	
Clinical	Adults, pain and swelling
Radiological	In bone pure lytic lesion; in ST no specificity
Histological	High-grade spindle and pleomorphic cells
 Differential diagnosis 	In bone, metastasis and all other primary purely osteolytic lesions of the adults. In ST, all other sarcomas



Radiographs and CT with contrast medium. Metaphyseal purely lytic, poorly limited lesion, destroying the cortex



Radiographs and CT with contrast medium. Metaphyseal purely lytic, poorly limited lesion, destroying the cortex



Radiographs and CT with contrast medium. Metaphyseal purely lytic, poorly limited lesion, destroying the cortex



Cytologically high-grade malignant proliferation of spindle and pleomorphic cells arranged in a storiform growth pattern. Fine filamentous collagen is detected between tumor cells. Osteoid production must be absent



High-grade pleomorphic undifferentiated neoplasm with focal storiform pattern

42.2 Undifferentiated Fibrosarcoma

Definition: Intermediated to high-grade spindle cells malignant neoplasm lacking any line of differentiation other than fibroblastic. It is a diagnosis of exclusion.

Epidemiology: <1% of adult soft tissue sarcomas. Medium age 40–45 years. No sex predilection.

Undifferentiated Fibrosarcoma of Bone 46 cases

Including7 Secondary: after Radiation Therapy (4); on Infarct/bone Chips (2); on GCT (1).



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Undifferentiated Fibrosarcoma of Soft Tissue 345 cases

Including 4 Secondary: after Radiation Therapy (3); on Chronic Lymphedema (1)



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: In bone, the most frequent locations are femur, tibia, humerus, and pelvis. Usually located in the meta-diaphysis, it may invade the epiphysis or be multicentric. In soft tissues, most are deep. Anywhere where fibrous tissue is found: thigh, knee, trunk, arm, forearm. Rare in the head and neck. Hand and foot are most frequent sites of fibrosarcoma in the child.

Clinical: In bone, in low-grade tumors, there is mild pain, no soft tissue mass, and a slow course. In high-grade fibrosarcoma, pain may be severe with a soft tissue mass, joint involvement, the course is rapidly progressive, and pathologic fracture is common. In soft tissues, palpable, globose, well-defined mass rarely >10 cm. It is slow growing (few weeks to 20 years). It is nearly or totally painless except when it compresses a nerve. In advanced forms, it may adhere to the bone and ulcerate the skin.

Imaging: In bone, it is a purely osteolytic tumor with ill-defined limits, interruption of the cortex, and soft tissue mass. Periosteal reaction is scarce or absent. Low-grade tumors may present better-defined borders. In soft tissues, on X-rays: a mass denser than muscles. Calcifications are exceptional. Bone may be eroded or saucerized with minimal periosteal reaction. On CT: homogeneous density, compact soft tissue mass with ill-defined margins and poor enhancement after contrast administration. On MRI: inhomogeneous, lower or isointense signal as those of muscle on T1, 90% marked, peripheral enhancement on gadolinium, dark areas on a background of intermediate or high intensity on T2.

Histopathology: Fibrosarcoma tends to be firm and whitish when containing more collagen (low-grade); pink-gray and soft to encephaloid, when the cells prevail (high-grade). Low-grade well-differentiated tumor are firm and scar-like in consistency, white-yellow, with rounded limits, growing in an expansile fashion with a pseudocapsule of reactive tissue that sharply delimits it from surrounding normal tissues. High-grade poorly differentiated tumor are soft and fish-flesh in consistency, gray-white, with irregular margins, growing in an invasive fashion without a capsule and with multiple processes that infiltrate the surrounding tissues and satellite nodules isolated from the main tumor mass. Histologically, on low power view, it is characterized by a uniform proliferation of relatively monomorphic spindle cells, arranged in interlacing bundles, sweeping fascicles or in a herringbone pattern, with interwoven parallel arranged eosinophilic collagen fibers. The cells generally have tapered darkly stained nuclei. Lesions showing marked anaplasia and pleomorphism are better classified as undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma.

Course and Staging: Fibrosarcoma can come from transformation of pre-existing benign processes (neurofibromatosis, burn scars) and from radiation exposure. Any stage: more frequently stage IA and stage IIB. Low-grade and age <10 years are favorable prognostic factors. In children, metastases are rare (<10%). Lymph node metastases are rare (<5%).

Treatment: Wide excision. In the adult and in a high-grade lesion, radical margins may be indicated. Radiotherapy is less effective and it is used as adjuvant in high-grade tumors in soft tissue lesions.

Prognosis: When surgical margins are inadequate, local recurrence occurs in 50% of cases. Lung metastases occur in 60% of cases. Ten-year survival rate is 60% for low-grade and 30% for high-grade tumors. Recent studies have demonstrated that adjuvant chemotherapy is useful for a better prognosis.

Key points	
Clinical	Adults, pain and swelling
Radiological	In bone pure lytic lesion; in ST no specificity
Histological	High-grade spindle cells
• Differential diagnosis	In bone, metastasis and all other primary purely osteolytic lesions of the adults. In ST, all other sarcomas



Radiographs (AP (a) and lateral (b) views). Well-limited lytic lesion, with thin longitudinal periosteal formation



Proliferation of atypical spindle cells with slender and tapered nuclei, arranged in a herringbone growth pattern; slight to abundant collagen is present between cells



Spindle cell neoplasm with variable grade of atypia arranged in a herringbone pattern with intercellular fibrillary collagen

42.3 Infantile Fibrosarcoma

Definition: Congenital or infantile neoplasm resembling adult fibrosarcoma, characterized by the translocation t(12;15) with ETV6-NTRK3 gene fusion.

Epidemiology: Most cases occur in the first year of life, about 50% congenital. Slight male predominance.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Superficial or deep soft tissues of distal extremities, head and neck, trunk.

Clinical: Rapidly growing mass that can reach 30 cm in major dimension. Dark red to purple external surface, often with ulceration of the overlying skin.

Histopathology: Grossly, infantile fibrosarcoma is a poorly circumscribed lobulated mass, fleshy, tan-white, with areas of necrosis and hemorrhage. Histologically, it is characterized by a highly cellular proliferation of spindle, round, or plump polygonal cells, generally growing in intersecting fascicles, sometimes displaying a herringbone pattern. Pleomorphism is generally not prominent. Mitotic activity can be prominent. A hemangiopericytoma-like vascular pattern can be present. Histological variants include a predominantly round cell variant and a myxoid variant. Necrosis, hemorrhagic areas, dystrophic calcifications, and extramedullary hematopoiesis can occur. After chemotherapy, the tumor histologically resembles a fibrotic scar with vascular proliferation.

Course and Treatment: Recurrences occur in about 30% of cases and metastasis are rare (<5%). Overall survival at 5 years is >90%. Local excision is the treatment of choice. Occasional spontaneous regression after incomplete surgery can occur. Chemotherapy is effective, also as a substitute of the surgery.

Chromosomal translocations		
• t(12;15)(p13.2;q25.3)	ETV6-	about
	NTRK3	100%



Spindle cell sarcoma with mild pleomorphism, growing in intersecting fascicles with a herringbone pattern

42.4 Dermatofibrosarcoma Protuberans

Definition: Low-grade fibroblastic tumor of the skin in adult patients. There is a juvenile form of DFSP, called giant cell fibroblastoma.

Epidemiology: Infrequent, males. DFSP: young to middle-aged adults, rare in children. Giant cell fibroblastoma: infants and children younger than 5 years, exceptional in adults.

Dermatofibrosarcoma Protuberans 131 cases

31 with Fibrosarcomatous component



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Trunk, groin, and proximal extremities.

Clinical: Nodular or plaque-like painless cutaneous tumor, slowly growing.

Diagnosis: A well-defined superficial tumor. On MRI, in T1 usually iso- or hypointense to skeletal muscle. In T2 intermediate or high signal intensity compared to fat. On STIR high signal, similar to water or blood vessels. Uniform enhancement of gadolinium.

Histopathology: Histologically, it is characterized by a monotonous spindle cell proliferation, diffusely infiltrating the dermis, subcutis, or both. Spindle cells show elongated wavy nuclei. Neoplastic cells are organized in a storiform pattern. There is minimal cellular atypia and mitoses are rare. Characteristically there is infiltration of the subcutaneous fat in a honeycomb pattern. Giant cell fibroblastoma is composed of spindle to pleomorphic cells, with variably collagenized matrix, and multinucleated-appearing giant cells bordering pseudovascular spaces. Mitoses are rare and necrosis is absent. Fibrosarcomatous DFSP is defined by a herring bone pattern, increased atypia, and mitoses. On immunohistochemistry, DFSP are positive for CD34. Apolipoprotein A1 has also been reported as a sensitive marker of DFSP. Giant cell fibroblastoma is positive for CD34, negative for S-100, CD31 and epithelial markers. DFSP and giant cell fibroblastoma share similar molecular abnormalities: the presence of supernumerary ring chromosomes consisting of amplified sequences from chromosomes 17 and 22, and/or the presence of t(17;22), a balanced reciprocal translocation that results in the fusion of COL1A1, a gene of collagen, and PDGFβ, a

gene that encodes a growth factor. Ring chromosomes are predominantly observed in DFSP of adult patients, whereas the t(17;22) translocation is mostly seen in DFSP of children and in giant cell fibroblastoma.

Course and Staging: Conventional DFSP recurs locally in 10–50% of cases, often after incomplete excisions. Higher grade fibrosarcomatous chages can occur in about 10-15% of cases. Distant metastases are observed in about 15% of cases, all of which are associated with fibrosarcomatous changes. Giant cell fibroblastoma recurs in up to 50% but does not metastasize. Recurrence rates are closely related to surgical margins.

Treatment: Wide excision with tumor-free margins is curative. Radiotherapy has been proposed for unresectable tumors or after margin-positive resections. Imatinib mesylate (Gleevec), a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, may have potential value in the treatment of recurrent or metastatic DFSP.

Immunohistochemical pa	nel	
• CD34	+	
Chromosomal translocation	ons	
• t(17;22) (q22;q13)	COL1A1- PDGFβ	>90%
• ring 17q, ring 22q, der(22)	COL1A1- PDGFβ	75%



Bland-appearing spindle cells organized in a monotonous storiform pattern, with infiltrative margins that frequently surround lobules of fat

42.5 Solitary Fibrous Tumor

Definition: A mesenchymal neoplasm of fibroblastic type with collagen bands and branching, thin-walled, dilated "staghorn" vessels. According to WHO classification, hemangiopericytoma is currently considered identical to solitary fibrous tumor.

Epidemiology: Rare. No sex predilection. Adults.





^{1900-2017 -} Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Solitary Fibrous Tumor of Soft Tissue 107 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Lower limb, retroperitoneum, pelvic region, upper limb, trunk, head and neck. Deeply located.

Clinical: Enlarging painless mass.

Imaging: In bone, it shows a solitary, centrally located, lytic lesion that may erode the cortex and extend into the soft tissues. On angiography: rich vascularity, encircled by tortuous vessels, arborizing from one pedicle, rapid arteriovenous flow. On CT: heterogeneous mass sharply enhanced after contrast. On MRI: homogeneous intermediate intensity with high signal hemorrhagic zones on T1, inhomogeneous bright lesion on T2, prominent serpentine vessels with signal intensity depending on the flow within them, strong enhancement with ill-defined necrotic areas that do not become enhanced.

Histopathology: Soft, from pale to dull red or brownish red, heavily bleeding, thin pseudocapsule, cystic hemorrhagic necrotic areas. Thick, diffused network of capillaries, totally collapsed or wide-open sinusoids, surrounded by a compact proliferation of bland-appearing cells with oval nuclei, distinct nuclear membrane, granular chromatin, small nucleolus, ill-defined cytoplasm, thick reticular fibers all around. Cells are organized in a so-called "patternless" pattern or in the

so-called hemangiopericytoma-like pattern around "staghorn-like" vessels. There is no strict correlation between morphology and behavior. However, histological aspects that could predict an aggressive and malignant behavior are: high cellularity, cellular atypia, extensive necrosis, infiltrative margins, and > or equal to 4/10 HPF mitotic figures. Demicco's risk stratification model (that consider age of the patient > or equal to 55 years, tumor size stratified by 5 cm tiers, number of mitotic figures, and presence and amount of necrosis) seems to accurately predict prognosis. Lesion in the high risk class can be considered malignant. Dedifferentiated solitary fibrous tumor represents the rarest variant and is characterized by an abrupt transition to an highgrade undifferentiated sarcoma.

Course and Staging: Slow growth, generally benign/low grade lesions. About 10-30% behave aggressively with local and distant recurrences. Malignant and dedifferentiated solitary fiboru tumor are high-grade malignant neoplasms, with frequent recurrences and distant metastases.

Treatment: As the biological behavior of SFT is unpredictable, wide excision is the treatment of choice. The role of radio- and chemotherapy is unclear.



Radiograph (a) evidences lytic lesion, destroying the scapulae, poorly limited, with cortical lysis and soft tissue involvement. The cut surface of the surgical specimen (b) is predominantly firm and white



Bland-appearing spindle cells organized around ramified staghorn vessels in the so-called hemangiopericytoma-like pattern or in a patternless pattern

Immunohistochemical p	anel		
• STAT6	+		
• CD34	+	+	
Genetic alteration			
Intrachromosomal inversion	Inv12 (q13q13) NAB2-SATB6	90%	

42.6 Myxofibrosarcoma

Definition: Malignant fibroblastic lesions with myxoid stroma, variable pleomorphism, and a distinctive curvilinear vascular pattern. The desig-

nation of myxofibrosarcomas and myxoid malignant fibrous histiocytoma have been considered almost synonymous in the 2013 WHO classification of soft tissue tumors. This classification does not mention a minimal amount of myxoid matrix for the definition of myxofibrosarcoma.

Epidemiology: Among the most common sarcomas in elderly patients. Very rare primarily in bone. Overall age range is wide, but they are more frequent in the sixth to eighth decade, whereas they are exceptional under 20 years of age. There is a slight male predominance.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Myxofibrosarcoma of Bone 12 cases

Including 3 Secondary: Radio-induced (2); on Paget (1).



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: The most frequent sites are the lower limbs, followed by upper limbs and limb girdles. Rare in trunk, head and neck, hands and feet. Most cases described in the retroperitoneum and in the abdominal cavity represent dedifferentiated liposarcomas. About half of cases arises in dermal/ subcutaneous tissue, with the remaining arising in the underlying fascia and skeletal muscle.

Clinical and Imaging: Enlarging painless mass, with infiltrative margins. Very often heterogeneous at MRI.

Histopathology: Grossly they appear as multiple gelatinous to firm nodules with infiltrative margins. Histologically all cases share distinct morphological features: multinodular growth with incomplete fibrous septa, a myxoid stroma composed of hyaluronic acid and prominent elongated, curvilinear, thin walled vessels with a perivascular condensation of tumor cells. Frequently, so-called pseudolipoblasts (vacuolated neoplastic fibroblastic cells with cytoplasmic acid mucin) are seen. Low-grade lesions are hypocellular, composed of few non-cohesive, plump spindled or stellate cells with ill-defined cytoplasm and hyperchromatic nuclei; mitosis are infrequent. High-grade lesions are composed in large part of solid sheets and cellular fascicles of spindle and pleomorphic tumor cells with numerous, often atypical mitosis, and areas of necrosis.

Course and Staging: In up to 50–60% of cases, local recurrences unrelated to histological grade repeatedly occur. In contrast, metastases and death from tumor are closely related to tumor grade: low-grade tumors do not metastasize, while metastases develop in 20–35% of intermediate and high-grade neoplasms. Metastases

occur in lung, bone, and lymph nodes. Low-grade lesions that recur may subsequently increase in grade. The depth of the lesion does not influence the rate of local recurrence, while deep-seated neoplasms have a higher percentage of metastases and tumor-associated mortality. Overall 5-year survival rate is 60–70%.

Treatment: Excision with wide margins and adjuvant radiation therapy and/or systemic chemotherapy.



Radiograph: mainly lytic lesion, with peripheral sclerotic component, poorly limited, destroying the cortex and invading the soft tissues



Malignant spindle cells in a loose myxoid extracellular matrix. Cells are arranged in lobules, with elongated curvilinear blood vessels

42.7 Myofibroblastic Sarcoma

Definition: Sarcomas composed of cells with myofibroblastic differentiation.

Myofibroblastic sarcomas display a range of differentiation. Low-grade myofibroblastic sarcoma is identified as a specific entity in the WHO 2013 classification, while the definition of highgrade myofibroblastic sarcoma is not well established. There is evidence that myofibroblastic differentiation in pleomorphic sarcomas is associated with a more aggressive behavior.

Epidemiology: Low-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas occur predominantly in adult patients (age range: 4–75 years, mean 38), while high-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas can also occur in children. There is a slight male predominance.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Myofibroblastic Sarcoma of Bone 74 cases

Including 11 Secondary: on Paget (4); on Bone Infarct (3); on Fibrous Dysplasia (2); after Radiation Therapy (2).



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Low-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas most commonly occur in the head and neck region, including the oral cavity, pharynx and parapharyngeal regions, proximal extremities and trunk; occasional cases can occur in the abdomen or pelvis. They usually arise in the deep soft tissues but cases have been seen in the subcutis and submucosa. Visceral lesions are rare. Cases have also been described in bone, including maxilla, mandible, femur, and ilium. Highgrade myofibroblastic sarcomas arise in deep soft tissues, predominantly in lower limbs and trunk, with occasional cases in head and neck.

Clinical and Imaging: Enlarging painless mass, very often with infiltrative margins. Highgrade sarcomas with hemorrhage and necrosis are heterogeneous at MRI.

Histopathology: Grossly, low-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas are firm with a pale fibrousappearing cut surface, ill-defined infiltrative margins, or sometimes with pushing margins. High-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas are large solid tumors with hemorrhage and necrosis. Histologically, low-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas are characterized by a proliferation of spindle cells arranged in a fascicular or in a storiform pattern. The neoplastic cells show tapered fusiform elongated to wavy nuclei, with discernible eosinophilic cytoplasm. Sometimes the nuclei are rounded and vesicular with small punctuated nucleoli. There is at least focally moderate nuclear atypia. The margins are predominantly infiltrative, with separation rather than destruction of skeletal muscle bundles. Mitotic activity is variable but atypical mitoses are rare. Stroma is often minimal and can be variably collagenous. Highgrade myofibroblastic sarcomas are composed of pleomorphic, spindle or epithelioid cells arranged in a fascicular or in a storiform growth pattern, with scattered atypical mitotic figures. Both lowand high-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas show variable positivity for actins and/or desmin.

Course and Staging: About 33% of lowgrade myofibroblastic sarcomas locally recur, especially after incomplete excision. Metastases have been reported in approximately 10% of cases. Progression to high-grade sarcoma has been documented. High-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas recur in 33% of cases with metastases in over 70%. These tumors, like the other pleomorphic sarcomas with myogenic differentiation, have a worse outcome than undifferentiated sarcomas.

Treatment: Low-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas are best managed by wide surgical excision and long-term follow-up to detect possible late metastases. High-grade myofibroblastic sarcomas should be managed by excision with wide margins and adjuvant radiation therapy and/or systemic chemotherapy.



Axial CT with contrast medium and T1W MR. Purely lytic lesion of the left iliac wing and sacrum, with a strong heterogeneous uptake of contrast medium, destruction of the bone and soft tissue invasion



Axial CT with contrast medium and T1W MR. Purely lytic lesion of the left iliac wing and sacrum, with a strong heterogeneous uptake of contrast medium, destruction of the bone and soft tissue invasion

Immunohistochemical panel		
Smooth M Act	±	
• CD34	±	
• Desmin	±	
Caldesmon	_	



Fascicular to storiform arrangement of malignant spindle cells with short tapered wavy nuclei. Stroma is variably collagenous. Some tumors show a tissue culture-like growth pattern that resembles nodular fasciitis

42.8 Low-Grade Fibromyxoid Sarcoma (Evans' Tumor) and Sclerosing Epithelioid Fibrosarcoma

42.8.1 Low-Grade Fibromyxoid Sarcoma

Definition: Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma, also known as Evans' tumor or hyalinizing spin-

dle cell tumor with giant rosettes, is an unusual and distinctive intermediate, rarely metastasizing, fibroblastic neoplasm.

Incidence: Rare tumors with a slight predilection for male individuals. Patients of any age may be affected, but it is more frequent in young adults (median age, 35 years). Up to 20% of cases occur in patients aged <18 years.



1903-2017 - Istitute Ortopedice Razeli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Sologna - Italy

Location: The most frequent locations are the deep soft tissues of the limbs (thigh), limb girdles (shoulder), and trunk.

Clinical: The tumor usually presents as a long-standing, painless mass.

Histology: Macroscopically, low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma is well circumscribed, sometimes lobulated, fibrous, and often focally mucoid, bearing some resemblance to a uterine leiomyoma. Morphologically, the tumor consists of slender spindle cells with long, narrow, delicate and mostly non-branching cell processes, embedded in a variable amount of collagenous and myxoid stroma. The cells have pale eosinophilic cytoplasm and deceptively bland, ovoid, or tapered nuclei with inconspicuous nucleoli and occasional nuclear inclusions. Mitotic figures are rare, and there is no necrosis. Some cases may contain clusters of large rosettes, consisting of cores of hyalinized collagen surrounded by rounded, epithelioid-looking tumor cells. Fifteen to 20% of low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma contains high-grade, densely cellular areas of epithelioid sclerosing fibrosarcoma (hybrid tumor). Immunohistochemically, strong and diffuse granular cytoplasmic immunoreactivity for MUC4, an epithelial glycoprotein, is a peculiarity of this neoplasm with a very high specificity and sensibility among fibroblastic tumors. Cytogenetically, low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma is characterized by the presence of a FUS-CREB3L2 (t(7;16) (q33;p11) present in approximately 80-90% of cases) and a FUS-CREB3L1 (t(11;16) (p11; p11) present in 5–10% of cases) gene fusion.

Course and Treatment: Wide excision with tumor-free margins is the optimal surgical treatment. Adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy with trabectedin is suggested by some authors. The local recurrence rate is close to 10% and the metastatic rate is close to 15%. Metastases are mainly to lungs and pleura, also to bone, and can occur late in the course of the disease (15–25 years after initial excision).


Slender spindle cells in a and myxo-collagenous stroma; large hyalinized collagen rosettes are present

Immunohistochemical panel	
• MUC4	+ (~100%)
• EMA	+ (80%)

42.8.2 Sclerosing Epithelioid Fibrosarcoma

Definition: Sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma is considered a rare and distinctive variant of malignant fibroblastic tumor with peculiar mor-

phological and immunohistochemical features. There are considerable morphological and genetic data to suggest a link between sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma and low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma.

Incidence: Since the first description, fewer than 200 cases have been published in literature.



1900-2017 • Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli • Laboratory of Experimental Oncology • Section of Epidemiology • Sologna • Italy

Location: Most cases are located in the soft tissue of lower extremities and of limb girdles, with not more of 20 cases described as primary sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma of bone.

Clinical: Most patients present with a mass of variable duration; one-third have a history of recent enlargement and pain.

Imaging: On imaging, a mass, sometimes calcified, is evident showing on MRI low signal intensity on T1-weighted images and hypointense to intermediate signals on T2-weighted images

Histology: Macroscopically, sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma is typically well circumscribed, lobulated or multinodular. The cut surface is predominantly firm and white. Areas of calcification are often seen.

Microscopically, at low magnification, the tumor appears well delineated without encapsulation with infiltration of soft tissue. At higher magnification, the tumor is composed of moderately pleomorphic epithelioid cells, sometimes with clear cytoplasm, arranged in cords and pseudoalveolar structures within a densely hyalinized stroma. The nuclei of the tumor cells range from ovoid to rectangular and have slightly irregular nuclear contours with bubbly chromatin, reminiscent of nuclear pseudo-inclusions. On immunohistochemistry, MUC4 positivity, a peculiar marker of sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma found in more of 80% of cases, associated with negativity of both SATB2, a marker of osteoblastic differentiation, and pancytokeratin, allows the differential diagnosis with osteosarcoma or metastatic carcinoma. Genetically, subsets of sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma, in particular those showing hybrid morphological features of lowgrade fibromyxoid sarcoma, show identical findings as in low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma, including t(7;16)(q32-34;p11)(FUS-CREB3L2/ L1). Conversely, other studies have shown only a minority of "pure" sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma to contain *FUS* rearrangements, with a relative predominance of EWSR1 gene rearrangements. Thus, the presence of the same gene rearrangement of the low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma found in some cases of sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma associated with similar morphological and immunohistochemical features leads some authors to postulate a strict relationship between low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma and sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma.

Course and Treatment: Wide excision with tumor-free margins is the optimal surgical treatment. Adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy is suggested by some authors. About 50% of patients have local recurrence. Distant metastases develop in 40–80% of patients, mainly in the lungs and pleura, but also in bone and soft tissues. Five years survival is around 70%. Proximal location, large tumor size, and male sex are important adverse prognostic factors.



Moderately pleomorphic epithelioid cells arranged in cords within a densely hyalinized stroma. Immunohistochemical cytoplasmic positivity for MUC4 in the neoplastic cells (*inset*)

Immunohistochemical panel	
• MUC4	+ (~100%)
• EMA	+ (50%)

Epidemiology: Middle-aged patients; rare in children. Equally distributed between male and female.

42.9 Myxoinflammatory Fibroblastic Sarcoma (Kindblom's Tumor)

Definition: Low-grade tumor mostly occurring in the distal extremities. There is a morphologic continuum with hemosiderotic fibrolipomatous tumor and pleomorphic hyalinizing angiectatic tumor of soft parts.

Myxoinflammatory Fibroblastic Sarcoma (Kindblom's Tumor) 18 cases



(+1 case in the sacrum, female 25ys/o)

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: The vast majority occurs in the subcutaneous tissues of the distal extremities, mostly in the upper limbs.

Clinical: Slow growing swelling.

Histopathology: Grossly, the tumor appears as a variably gelatinous multinodular mass with infiltrative margins, generally involving tenosynovial structures. Histologically, it appears as a lobulated lesion, with an alternation between fibrous and myxoid zones, containing a prominent mixed inflammatory infiltrate. Neoplastic cells show different morphology: epithelioid cells with mild to moderate nuclear atypia; large pleomorphic ganglion-like cells with large nuclei and viral inclusion-like nucleoli (resulting in a Reed–Sternberg-like appearance), and bubbly, multivacuolated cells of variable size with intracellular mucins resembling lipoblasts. Necrosis is uncommon and mitotic activity is low. Hemosiderin deposition can be abundant. Progression in a high-grade sarcoma has been reported.

Course and Treatment: Recurrences occur in 20–70% of cases; metastasis to lymph nodes and lung are rare. Wide excision is the treatment of choice.

Chromosomal translocations		
• t(1;10)(p22;q24)	TGFBR3-MGEA5	Frequent
• 3p11-12 (ring chromosome, amplification)	Deregulation of FGF8 and amplification of VGLL3, CHMP2B	Rare



Lobulated lesion with alternating fibrotic and myxoid zones (a). A mixed inflammatory infiltrate is characteristic (b). Virocyte-like cells (c, *circles*) and vacuolated cells (d, *circles*) are the hallmark of the lesion

Selected Bibliography

- Alaggio R, Bisogno G, Rosato A, Ninfo V, Coffin CM. Undifferentiated sarcoma: does it exist? A clinicopathologic study of 7 pediatric cases and review of literature. Hum Pathol. 2009;40(11):1600–10, Review.
- Al-Agha OM, Igbokwe AA. Malignant fibrous histiocytoma: between the past and the present. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2008;132(6):1030–5, Review.
- Anders JO, Aurich M, Lang T, Wagner A. Solitary fibrous tumor in the thigh: review of the literature. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2006;132(2):69–75, Review.
- Antonescu CR, Baren A. Spectrum of low-grade fibrosarcomas: a comparative ultrastructural analysis of lowgrade myxofibrosarcoma and fibromyxoid sarcoma. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2004;28(5–6):321–32.
- Archontaki M, Korkolis DP, Arnogiannaki N, Konstantinidou C, Georgopoulos S, Dendrinos P, Zarkadas G, Kokkalis G. Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans: a case series of 16 patients treated in a single institution with literature review. Anticancer Res. 2010;30(9):3775–9, Review.

- Arnaoutoglou C, Lykissas MG, Gelalis ID, Batistatou A, Goussia A, Doukas M, Xenakis TA. Low grade fibromyxoid sarcoma: a case report and review of the literature. J Orthop Surg Res. 2010;5:49.
- Bahrami A, Folpe AL. Adult-type fibrosarcoma: A reevaluation of 163 putative cases diagnosed at a single institution over a 48-year period. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34(10):1504–13.
- Bertoni F, Capanna R, Calderoni P, Patrizia B, Campanacci M. Primary central (medullary) fibrosarcoma of bone. Semin Diagn Pathol. 1984;1(3):185–98.
- Bielack SS, Schroeders A, Fuchs N, Bacci G, Bauer HC, Mapeli S, Tomeno B, Winkler K. Malignant fibrous histiocytoma of bone: a retrospective EMSOS study of 125 cases. European Musculo-Skeletal Oncology Society. Acta Orthop Scand. 1999;70(4):353–60.
- Carlson JW, Fletcher CD. Immunohistochemistry for beta-catenin in the differential diagnosis of spindle cell lesions: analysis of a series and review of the literature. Histopathology. 2007;51(4):509–14, Review.
- Chung EB, Enzinger FM. Infantile fibrosarcoma. Cancer. 1976;38(2):729–39.

- Coffin CM, Sorensen PH. Infantile fibrosarcoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 89–90.
- Coffin CM, Jaszcz W, O'Shea PA, Dehner LP. So-called congenital-infantile fibrosarcoma: does it exist and what is it? Pediatr Pathol. 1994;14(1):133–50.
- Collini P, Sorensen PH, Patel S, Blay JY, Issels RD, Maki RG, Eriksson M, del Muro XG. Sarcomas with spindle cell morphology. Semin Oncol. 2009;36(4):324–37, Review.
- Demicco EG, Park MS, Araujo DM, et al. Solitary fibrous tumor: a clinicopathological study of 110 cases and proposed risk assessment model. Mod Pathol. 2012;25(9):1298–306.
- Doyle LA, Wang WL, Dal Cin P, Lopez-Terrada D, Mertens F, Lazar AJ, Fletcher CD, Hornick JL. MUC4 is a sensitive and extremely useful marker for sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma: association with FUS gene rearrangement. Am J Surg Pathol. 2012;36:1444–51.
- Erlandson RA, Antonescu CR, et al. Ultrastruct Pathol. 2004;28(5–6):283–9, Review. Erratum in: Ultrastruct Pathol. 2005;29(2):157.
- Eyden B, Banerjee SS, Shenjere P, Fisher C. The myofibroblast and its tumours. J Clin Pathol. 2009;62(3):236– 49, Review.
- Fisher C. Myofibroblastic malignancies. Adv Anat Pathol. 2004;11(4):190–201, Review.
- Fletcher CD. Myofibroblastic tumours: an update. Verh Dtsch Ges Pathol. 1998;82:75–82, Review.
- Fletcher CD, Dal Cin P, de Wever I, Mandahl N, Mertens F, Mitelman F, Rosai J, Rydholm A, Sciot R, Tallini G, van den Berghe H, Vanni R, Willén H. Correlation between clinicopathological features and karyotype in spindle cell sarcomas. A report of 130 cases from the CHAMP study group. Am J Pathol. 1999;154(6):1841–7.
- Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. WHO classification of tumors of soft tissue and bone. 4th ed. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2013.
- Gooskens SL, Oranje AP, van Adrichem LN, de Waardvan der Spek FB, den Hollander JC, van de Ven CP, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM. Imatinib mesylate for children with dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans (DFSP). Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2010;55(2):369–73, Review,
- Hattinger CM, Tarkkanen M, Benini S, Pasello M, Stoico G, Bacchini P, Knuutila S, Scotlandi K, Picci P, Serra M. Genetic analysis of fibrosarcoma of bone, a rare tumour entity closely related to osteosarcoma and malignant fibrous histiocytoma of bone. Eur J Cell Biol. 2004;83(9):483–91.
- Hoekstra HJ, Ham SJ, van der Graaf WT, Kamps WA, Molenaar WM, Schraffordt Koops H. Malignant fibrous histiocytoma of bone: a clinicopathologic study of 81 patients. Cancer. 1998;82(5):993–4.
- Kindblom LG, Mertens F, Coindre JM, Hornick JL, Meis JM. Sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma. In: Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F,

editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 97–8.

- Koplas MC, Lefkowitz RA, Bauer TW, Joyce MJ, Ilaslan H, Landa J, Sundaram M. Imaging findings, prevalence and outcome of de novo and secondary malignant fibrous histiocytoma of bone. Skeletal Radiol. 2010;39(8):791–8.
- Lombardi R, Jovine E, Zanini N, Salone MC, Gambarotti M, Righi A, Balladelli A, Colangeli M, Rocca M. A case of lung metastasis in myxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcoma: analytical review of one hundred and thirty eight cases. Int Orthop. 2013;37(12):2429–36.
- Matushansky I, Charytonowicz E, Mills J, Siddiqi S, Hricik T, Cordon-Cardo C. MFH classification: differentiating undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma in the 21st century. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2009;9(8):1135–44, Review.
- McArthur G. Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans: recent clinical progress. Ann Surg Oncol. 2007;14(10):2876– 86, Review.
- Meis JM, Kindblom LG, Mertens F. Myxoinflammtory fibroblastic sarcoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 87–8.
- Meis-Kindblom JM, Enzinger FM. Sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma. A variant of fibrosarcoma simulating carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 1995;19:979–93.
- Meis-Kindblom JM, Kindblom LG. Acral myxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcoma: a low-grade tumor of the hands and feet. Am J Surg Pathol. 1998;22(8):911–24.
- Meng GZ, Zhang HY, Zhang Z, Wei B, Bu H. Myofibroblastic sarcoma vs nodular fasciitis: a comparative study of chromosomal imbalances. Am J Clin Pathol. 2009;131(5):701–9.
- Mertens F, Fletcher CD, Antonescu CR, Coindre JM, Colecchia M, Domanski HA, Downs-Kelly E, Fisher C, Goldblum JR, Guillou L, Reid R, Rosai J, Sciot R, Mandahl N, Panagopoulos I. Clinicopathologic and molecular genetic characterization of lowgrade fibromyxoid sarcoma, and cloning of a novel FUS/CREB3L1 fusion gene. Lab Invest. 2005;85(3):408–15.
- Michal M, Kazakov DV, Hadravský L, Kinkor Z, Kuroda N, Michal M. High-grade myxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcoma: a report of 23 cases. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2015;19(3):157–63.
- Michal M, Kazakov DV, Hadravský L, Agaimy A, Švajdler M, Kuroda N, Michal M. Pleomorphic hyalinizing angiectatic tumor revisited: all tumors manifest typical morphologic features of myxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcoma, further suggesting 2 morphologic variants of a single entity. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2016;20:40–3.
- Miura K, Han G, Sano M, Tsutsui Y. Regression of congenital fibrosarcoma to hemangiomatous remnant with histological and genetic findings. Pathol Int. 2002;52(9):612–8.
- Mohajeri A, Tayebwa J, Collin A, Nilsson J, Magnusson L, von Steyern FV, Brosjö O, Domanski HA, Larsson O,

Sciot R, Debiec-Rychter M, Hornick JL, Mandahl N, Nord KH, Mertens F. Comprehensive genetic analysis identifies a pathognomonic NAB2/STAT6 fusion gene, nonrandom secondary genomic imbalances, and a characteristic gene expression profile in solitary fibrous tumor. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2013 Oct;52(10):873–86.

- Monson E, Vancourt R, Dawson J. Myxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcoma: a case report and review of the literature. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2010;49(1):86.e1–3, Review.
- Nascimento AF, Raut CP. Diagnosis and management of pleomorphic sarcomas (so-called "MFH") in adults. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97(4):330–9, Review.
- Niini T, López-Guerrero JA, Ninomiya S, Guled M, Hattinger CM, Michelacci F, Böhling T, Llombart-Bosch A, Picci P, Serra M, Knuutila S. Frequent deletion of CDKN2A and recurrent coamplification of KIT, PDGFRA, and KDR in fibrosarcoma of bone--an array comparative genomic hybridization study. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2010;49(2):132–43.
- Niini T, Lahti L, Michelacci F, Ninomiya S, Hattinger CM, Guled M, Böhling T, Picci P, Serra M, Knuutila S. Array comparative genomic hybridization reveals frequent alterations of G1/S checkpoint genes in undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma of bone. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2011;50:291–306.
- Orbach D, Brennan B, De Paoli A, Gallego S, Mudry P, Francotte N, van Noesel M, Kelsey A, Alaggio R, Ranchère D, De Salvo GL, Casanova M, Bergeron C, Merks JH, Jenney M, Stevens MC, Bisogno G, Ferrari A. Conservative strategy in infantile fibrosarcoma is possible: the European Paediatric Soft Tissue Sarcoma Study Group experience. Eur J Cancer. 2016;57:1–9.
- Palmerini E, Gambarotti M, Staals EL, Zanella L, Sieberova G, Longhi A, Cesari M, Bonarelli S, Picci P, Ruggieri P, Alberghini M, Ferrari S. Fibrosarcomatous changes and expression of CD34+ and apolipoprotein-D in dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans. Clin Sarcoma Res. 2012;2(1):4. https:// doi.org/10.1186/2045-3329-2-4.
- Papagelopoulos PJ, Galanis EC, Trantafyllidis P, Boscainos PJ, Sim FH, Unni KK. Clinicopathologic features, diagnosis, and treatment of fibrosarcoma of bone. Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ). 2002;31(5):253– 7, Review.
- Park MS, Araujo DM. New insights into the hemangiopericytoma/solitary fibrous tumor spectrum of tumors. Curr Opin Oncol. 2009;21(4):327–31, Review.
- Perez-Montiel MD, Plaza JA, Dominguez-Malagon H, Suster S. Differential expression of smooth muscle myosin, smooth muscle actin, h-caldesmon, and calponin in the diagnosis of myofibroblastic and smooth muscle lesions of skin and soft tissue. Am J Dermatopathol. 2006;28(2):105–11.
- Randall RL, Albritton KH, Ferney BJ, Layfield L. Malignant fibrous histiocytoma of soft tissue: an abandoned diagnosis. Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ). 2004;33(12):602–8, Review.

- Righi A, Gambarotti M, Manfrini M, Benini S, Gamberi G, Cocchi S, Casadei R, Picci P, Vanel D, Dei Tos AP. Sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma of the thigh: report of two cases with synchronous bone metastases. Virchows Arch. 2015;467(3):339–44.
- Sanerkin NG. Definitions of osteosarcoma, chondrosarcoma, and fibrosarcoma of bone. Cancer. 1980;46(1):178–85.
- Sheng WQ, Hisaoka M, Okamoto S, Tanaka A, Meis-Kindblom JM, Kindblom LG, Ishida T, Nojima T, Hashimoto H. Congenital-infantile fibrosarcoma. A clinicopathologic study of 10 cases and molecular detection of the ETV6-NTRK3 fusion transcripts using paraffin-embedded tissues. Am J Clin Pathol. 2001;115(3):348–55.
- Shidham VB, Ayala GE, Lahaniatis JE, Garcia FU. Lowgrade fibromyxoid sarcoma: clinicopathologic case report with review of the literature. Am J Clin Oncol. 1999;22(2):150–5, Review.
- Stadler FJ, Scott GA, Brown MD. Malignant fibrous tumors. Semin Cutan Med Surg. 1998;17(2):141–52.
- Sundram UN. Review: dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans: histologic approach and updated treatment recommendations. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2009;7(6):406–8, Review.
- Tarkkanen M, Larramendy ML, Böhling T, Serra M, Hattinger CM, Kivioja A, Elomaa I, Picci P, Knuutila S. Malignant fibrous histiocytoma of bone: analysis of genomic imbalances by comparative genomic hybridisation and C-MYC expression by immunohistochemistry. Eur J Cancer. 2006;42(8):1172–80.
- Wan S, Ning L, Hong R, Wu W, Fan S, Tsuchiya H, Tomita K. Clinicopathological features of solitary fibrous tumours in the extremities: four case reports and a literature review. J Int Med Res. 2010;38(2):694–704, Review.
- Wignall OJ, Moskovic EC, Thway K, Thomas JM. Solitary fibrous tumors of the soft tissues: review of the imaging and clinical features with histopathologic correlation. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2010;195(1):W55–62, Review.
- Wojcik JB, Bellizzi AM, Dal Cin P, Bredella MA, Fletcher CD, Hornicek FJ, Deshpande V, Hornick JL, Nielsen GP. Primary sclerosing epithelioid fibrosarcoma of bone: analysis of a series. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38:1538–44.
- Wong SL. Diagnosis and management of desmoid tumors and fibrosarcoma. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97(6):554–8, Review.
- Zreik RT, Carter JM, Sukov WR, Ahrens WA, Fritchie KJ, Montgomery EA, Weiss SW, Folpe AL. TGFBR3 and MGEA5 rearrangements are much more common in "hybrid" hemosiderotic fibrolipomatous tumormyxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcomas than in classical myxoinflammatory fibroblastic sarcomas: a morphological and fluorescence in situ hybridization study. Hum Pathol. 2016;53:14–24.



Nerve Sheath Tumor

Piero Picci and Angelo Paolo Dei Tos

43.1 Malignant Schwannoma (Malignant Peripheral Nerve Sheath Tumor—MPNST)

Definition: Malignant tumor that rises from a peripheral nerve, from a pre-existing benign nerve sheath tumor, in a patient with neurofibro-

matosis type 1, or with features of Schwann cells differentiation.

Epidemiology: 5% of all soft tissues sarcomas. Fifty percent in neurofibromatosis. Males prevail in patients with neurofibromatosis with a medium age of 30 years. Females prevail in sporadic cases in the adult age (>40 years).

P. Picci (🖂)

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

A. P. Dei Tos Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Department of Medicine, University of Padua School of Medicine, Padua, Italy e-mail: angelo.deitos@unipd.it



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Malignant Schwannoma of Bone 16 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: In association with major nerve trunks: sciatic nerve, brachial plexus, sacral plexus. Gluteal region and pelvis, thigh region, shoulder region, and axilla are the most frequent sites.

Clinical: Rapidly enlarging mass with pain. Sensory and motor symptoms including projected pain, paresthesias, weakness.

Imaging: Neither CT nor MRI can establish a definite diagnosis. On CT: mild enhancement with some nonenhancing areas of necrosis. On MRI: inhomogeneous and higher intensity than muscle on T1, markedly inhomogeneous and bright on T2, common necrosis in the center of the mass with peripheral capsule-like or irregular enhancement on contrast T1, a wide halo of edema unusual in benign lesions.

Histopathology: Large fusiform or eccentric mass within a major nerve. When the tumor spreads along the epi- and perineurium, it has a rosary bead aspect proximal or distal to the principal mass. Tumor is usually >5 cm, deep seated, but rarely superficial, fleshy, with hemorrhagic and necrotic diffused areas. Spindle cells with markedly irregular contours with wavy, buckled or comma shaped nuclei, lightly stained and usually indistinct cytoplasm. Densely cellular sweeping fascicules alternate with hypocellular, myxoid zones in the so-called "marble-like" pattern. A peculiar nodular or whorled arrangement of cells can be present. Focal nuclear palisading is present in only 10% of cases. Hemangiopericytoma-like vascular pattern can be present, with condensation of the neoplastic cells around blood vessels is characteristic. Heterologous elements such as glandular differentiation, skeletal muscle (malignant triton tumor), bone, cartilage, and angiosarcomatous areas are present in about 15% of cases. Epithelioid MPNST is a rare variant composed of epithelioid cells with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm; it is not associated with NF1 and it is the most common type arising in schwannoma. On immunohistochemistry focal S-100 protein expression in classic MPNST. Epithelioid MPNST shows diffuse positivity for S100 protein and Sox10; it retains expression of H3K27me3 and mostly show loss of SMARCB1 expression.

Course and Staging: Frequent local recurrence when surgery is inadequate. Metastases frequently develop in the lungs, liver, subcutis and bone, rarely in the lymph nodes. Usually, stage IIB.

Treatment: Very wide or radical local excision. Often, multicentric origin and diffusion along the nerve makes even radical surgery ineffective. Overall 5-year survival is 30% in patients with neurofibromatosis and 75% in sporadic cases. In neurofibromatosis, prognosis is worse because the tumor involves the trunk and proximal extremities with late diagnosis, it is larger and of higher grade, and multiple sarcomas may occur. Usefulness of radiotherapy and chemotherapy is uncertain.



Radiograph (a), and CT (b) images. Poorly limited lytic and sclerotic lesion, destroying the cortex and invading the -soft tissues

Immunohistochemi	cal panel
• S100	+ (30% of cells in 30% of cases)
• GFAP	+ (30% of cells in 30% of cases)
• SOX10	+/-
• H3K23me3	-



The tumor arises from a peripheral nerve (arrow)



Highly atypical spindle cells with wavy or plump nuclei organized in storiform or fascicular pattern, frequently close to a peripheral nerve (*arrows*)

Selected Bibliography

- Grimm S, Chamberlain MC. Adult primary spinal cord tumors. Expert Rev Neurother. 2009;9(10):1487–95, Review.
- Gupta G, Mammis A, Maniker A. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2008;19(4):533–43, v, Review.
- Katz D, Lazar A, Lev D. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumour (MPNST): the clinical implications of

cellular signalling pathways. Expert Rev Mol Med. 2009;11:e30, Review.

- Kim DH, Murovic JA, Tiel RL, Moes G, Kline DG. A series of 397 peripheral neural sheath tumors: 30-year experience at Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center. J Neurosurg. 2005;102(2):246–55.
- Ogawa BK, Skaggs DL, Kay RM. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor of the lumbar spine. Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ). 2009;38(5):E89–92, Review.

Check for updates

Smooth and Striated Muscle

Piero Picci and Angelo Paolo Dei Tos

44.1 Leiomyosarcoma

Definition: Malignant tumor showing smooth muscle differentiation. Type (a) retroperitoneal; (b) cutaneous; (c) vascular.

Epidemiology: 7% of soft tissue sarcomas. Type (a): females. Median age 60 years. Type (b): 2-3% of superficial sarcomas. No sex predilection. 40–70 years old. Type (c): rare, female in leyomiosarcomas of the inferior vena cava, no sex predilection in the other cases. Median age 50 years.

P. Picci (🖂)

Laboratory of Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

I.S.G. Italian Sarcoma Group, Bologna, Italy e-mail: piero.picci@italiansarcomagroup.org

A. P. Dei Tos Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Department of Medicine, University of Padua School of Medicine, Padua, Italy e-mail: angelo.deitos@unipd.it



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Leiomyosarcoma of Bone 191 cases

Including 18 Secondary Tumors: after Radiation Therapy (6), on Bone Infarcts or Bone Chips (6), on Paget's (3), on GCT (2), on Fibrous Dysplasia (1)



^{1900-2017 -} Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: In soft tissues, Type (a): retroperitoneum. Commonly involves kidney, pancreas, vertebral body for direct extension. Type (b): in the limbs, from piliferous areas. Quite small, less 2 cm subcutaneous tumors grow faster and reach a larger size. Type (c): in the lower limbs, more frequently involving the veins, exceptionally the arteries. In bone in the metaphysis around the knee, the proximal femur and proximal humerus.

Clinical: Type (a): abdominal mass, pain, weight loss, nausea, or vomiting. Type (b): pain, surface changes in the epidermis. Type (c): pain for pressure on nerve close to the affected vessel, edema due to venous compression. In bone, pathological fracture is possible. The tumor is typical of the adult age.

Imaging: On CT—hypo or moderately vascular lesions, type (a): found by CAT scan or angiography that do not show typical aspect. Dislocation of the most important vessels is usual. Type (c): angiographically highly vascularized. On MRI—inhomogeneous, isohypointense on T1, with a thick, irregular rim enhancement on contrast T1, marked inhomogeneity with mixed but mainly high signal intensity on T2. In bone no specific characteristic in respect to all the lytic lesions of the adults.

Histopathology: White-gray whorled appearance, more often fleshy masses with foci of hemorrhage, necrosis and frequent cyst formation. Proliferation of spindle cells with an elongated nucleus with abundant cytoplasm. The nucleus is central blunt-ended and or "cigar-shaped." A vacuole close to one end of the nucleus produces a slight indentation so that it becomes concave rather than convex in the contour. Sometimes, cytoplasm may have a "clotted"

appearance because of clumping of the myofilaments. Cells are arranged in bundles that form wide waves intersecting with different orientation. A right angle is frequent. Stroma is a delicate mesh between cells. At times, a palisade-like aspect of the nuclei similar to neurinoma is observed. Pleomorphic appearance with highly anaplastic to epithelioid cells is common. Mitotic figures are frequent. Type (b) is whitish-gray or pinkish, fasciculated aspect, ill-defined margins by virtue of the intricate blending of tumor fascicles with surrounding collagen and pilar arrector muscle in dermis tumors, well-circumscribed lesions by a pseudocapsule in subcutis tumors. Mitotic figures are frequent. Pure cutaneous (dermal without subcutaneous involvement) leiomyosarcomas have been recently designed as "atypical smooth muscle tumors" because they show a 30% rate of locale recurrence and no metastasis. Immunohistochemistry is positive for pan-muscle actin, smooth muscle actin, desmin, and caldesmon.

Treatment: Type (a): Wide excision, but it is often so large that total resection is impossible. Local recurrence is frequent. Type (b): Wide excision.

Type (c): Wide excision is often impossible in large veins (hepatic, inferior or middle cava). Necessary in tumors of the small veins.

Course and Staging: Type (a) highly aggressive, so they may cause death also by local extension. Survival from 0 to 29% at 5 years. Usually, stage IIB. Type (b): good prognosis, metastases infrequent, local recurrence frequent (50%), usually stage IA–B. Type (c): poor prognosis, 50% have metastases; tumors of the small veins seem to have a better prognosis, usually stage I–IIB.



Radiograph, lateral view (a), and CT (b). Mainly lytic lesion, with a sclerotic component better seen on CT, rather well limited, with a longitudinal interrupted periosteal bone formation, and destroying the cortex

Immunohistochemical panel		
Smooth M Act	+	
Desmin	+	
Caldesmon	+	



Axial and coronal T1 MR images. Mass of the root of the thigh, involving the femoral vein



Spindle cell neoplasm with smooth muscle differentiation with variable pattern

44.2 Rhabdomyosarcoma

Definition: Malignant tumor with phenotypical and biological features of skeletal muscle cells.

Epidemiology: 20% of all soft tissue sarcomas. Most frequent under 20 years. Male. Very rare primarily in bone (seven cases in our series).

Varieties: (a) embryonal, (b) alveolar, and (c) pleomorphic. Spindle cell/sclerosing rhabdomyosarcoma is a rare variant that can occur in children, adolescent, and in adults; it was originally classified in the embryonal category but it is now considered a distinct histological subtype.

Type (a): The most common type (60%), prevalent from birth to 15 years of age. Type (b): frequent (30%), prevalent in 10–25 years old. Type (c): rare, almost exclusively in 40–60 years old.

Rhabdomyosarcoma of Soft Tissue 199 cases

+ 7 in Bone: 1 mandible, 1 rib, 3 pelvis, 1 femur and 1 tibia



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Rhabdomyosarcoma of the limbs of the limbs constitutes 15% of all tumors. Type (a): head, neck, genito-urinary tract (botryoid variety), retroperitoneum. Type (b): limbs (forearm, hand, foot). Type (c): limbs (prevails in the thigh).

Clinical: Type (a): rapidly, invasive, infiltrative growth. Symptoms and signs depend on anatomic location. Type (b, c): Deep, painless unless it compresses a nerve, rapidly enlarging mass in a striated muscle.

Imaging: On X-ray—erosion of flat bone in 20% of cases. In type (b, c) is rare, but it occurs mainly in the hand and foot. Periosteal reaction is minimal. Nevertheless, tumor is frequently tightly bound to bone. On arteriography—common aspects to all well-vascularized tumors: neovascularity and tumoral blush. On CT—large, lobulated mass with central hypodensities, septation, rimlike enhancement surrounding areas of necrosis after contrast administration. On MRI—Type (a): homogeneous, slight hyperintensity on

T1, bright on T2 with some dark internal strands, no enhancement of large parts of the mass on contrast T1, no necrosis. Type (b): inhomogeneous, intermediate intensity with multiple, central hypointensity areas on T1, heterogeneous, with white central zones on T2 (necrotic areas), strong peripheral enhancement on contrast T1. Type (c): mixed signal intensities on T1, more inhomogeneous on T2 with central fluid collection near to low signal intensity areas, ringlike, peripheral enhancement around these.

Histopathology: Firm or soft mass, with myxoid and cystic component, mottled white-gray to pink-tan, with frequent hemorrhage and necrotic areas. Immunostains for desmin and myogenin are essential for diagnosis. Type (a): Usually undifferentiated small round cells with round-oval, hyperchromic nucleus. Nuclear membrane is evident. Chromatin granules are distinct and nucleoli are clearly evident. Thin, perinuclear cytoplasmatic ring. Mitotic figures and pleomorphism are frequent. Cells are distributed without any order with scarce collagen stroma among them. At other times, in more differentiated zones, the volume of the cells increases, nucleus becomes larger, vesicular, eccentric, with a large nucleolus. Cytoplasm is eosinophilic, granular, more abundant, with filaments wrapped around the nucleus. Transverse striation may be recognized with progressive rhabdomyoblastic differentiation. Neoplastic cells can show a racket, tadpole, strap, or ribbon shape. Globose cells may have a vacuolated cytoplasm and this may be reduced to filaments that from the nucleus irradiate to the periphery (so-called "spider-web" cells). Type (b): Undifferentiated, small, round-oval cells, collected in solid islands and forming alveolar aspect. Rough bands of dense collagen, convoluted and ramified, containing dilated capillaries, surround these cellular zones. Peripheral cells adhere in a single layer to the fibrous septa. Cells in the center are more loosely arranged or freely floating. Rhabdomyoblasts are much rarer. Type (c): Association of loosely arranged, haphazardly oriented, small and large, round or pleomorphic cells. Larger and more irregular in outline racket-shaped and tadpoleshaped rhabdomyoblasts with stringy, granular, and vacuolated cytoplasm can be present. Transverse striations are extremely rare. Much less collagen stroma between cells is observed. Immunohistochemistry is positive for pan-muscle actin, desmin, MyoD1, and myogenin (diffuse positivity in type b), but negative for smooth cell actin. There are two main karyotypic aberrations in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma: t(2;13) that fuses the PAX3 gene on 2q35 with the FOXOA1 gene on 13q14 and is present in 60-80% of cases; and t(1;13) that fuses PAX7 on 1p36 with FOXOA1 on 13q14 and is present in 10-20% of cases. The latter translocation is associated with a better prognosis, the first with a worse prognosis.

Course and Staging: Rapid and aggressive. Frequent recurrence if inadequately treated and metastases in lungs and lymph nodes. Usually, stage IIA, within one of the major muscles of the limb, or stage IIB. Stage I is rare. American rhabdomyosarcoma intergroup study distinguishes four stages: Stage 1: localized tumor, completely resected; stage 2: marginal excision with or without lymph-nodes metastases; stage 3: intralesional excision; stage 4: distant metastases at time of diagnosis.

Treatment: Optimal treatment is preoperative chemotherapy, wide excision with resection of regional lymph nodes, postoperative chemotherapy plus radiation therapy when excision is not wide. Overall 5-year survival is excellent for stage 1 (83%) and for stage 2 (75%), less favorable for stage 3 (52%), and poor for stage 4 (20%). Tumors in the head and neck, retroperitoneum, abdomen, extremities have a worse prognosis than neoplasms in the orbit and in paratesticular region. Alveolar type has a less favorable prognosis than embryonal.

Immunohistochemical panel		
Desmin	+	
• Myogenin	+	
• MyoD 1	+	
Smooth M Act	-	

Alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma

С	Chromosomal translocations				
•	t(2;13)	PAX3-	60-80%	Worse	
	(q35;q14)	FOXOA1		prognosis	
•	t(1;13)	PAX7-	10-20%	Better	
	(p36;q14)	FOXOA1		prognosis	



Alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma

Undifferentiated small cells with skeletal muscle differentiation organized in nodules with loosening of cohesiveness of cells in the center of nodules, resulting in an alveolar-like appearance



Pleomorphic rhabdomyosarcoma

Pleomorphic high-grade neoplasm, similar to undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma, with skeletal muscle differentiation

Selected Bibliography

- Hayes-Jordan A, Andrassy R. Rhabdomyosarcoma in children. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21(3):373–8, Review.
- Katz SC, DeMatteo RP. Gastrointestinal stromal tumors and leiomyosarcomas. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97(4): 350–9, Review.

- Miettinen M, Fetsch JF. Evaluation of biological potential of smooth muscle tumours. Histopathology. 2006;48(1):97–105, Review.
- Morgenstern DA, Rees H, Sebire NJ, Shipley J, Anderson J. Rhabdomyosarcoma subtyping by immunohistochemical assessment of myogenin: tissue array study and review of the literature. Pathol Oncol Res. 2008;14(3):233–8, Review.
- O'Sullivan PJ, Harris AC, Munk PL. Radiological imaging features of non-uterine leiomyosarcoma. Br J Radiol. 2008;81(961):73–81, Review.
- Parham DM. Pathologic classification of rhabdomyosarcomas and correlations with molecular studies. Mod Pathol. 2001;14(5):506–14. Review. Erratum in: Mod Pathol 2001;14(10):1068.
- Parham DM, Ellison DA. Rhabdomyosarcomas in adults and children: an update. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130(10):1454–65, Review.
- Qualman SJ, Coffin CM, Newton WA, Hojo H, Triche TJ, Parham DM, Crist WM. Intergroup Rhabdomyosarcoma Study: update for pathologists. Pediatr Dev Pathol. 1998;1(6):550–61, Review.
- West RB. Expression profiling in soft tissue sarcomas with emphasis on synovial sarcoma, gastrointestinal stromal tumor, and leiomyosarcoma. Adv Anat Pathol. 2010;17(5):366–73, Review.
- Yang J, Du X, Chen K, Ylipää A, Lazar AJ, Trent J, Lev D, Pollock R, Hao X, Hunt K, Zhang W. Genetic aberrations in soft tissue leiomyosarcoma. Cancer Lett. 2009;275(1):1–8, Review.



Sarcomas with Uncertain Differentiation

45

Marco Gambarotti and Alberto Righi

45.1 Myoepithelioma/ Myoepithelial Carcinoma

Definition: Spectrum of lesions morphologically similar to those arising in the salivary glands. Malignant forms are called myoepithelial carcinomas.

Epidemiology: Uncommon tumors. Equally distributed between the sexes. Median age: 40 years old, but with a wide age range; frequent in children. Very rare bone tumors, generally affecting adult patients.



Myoepithelioma / Myoepithelial Carcinoma of Bone 25 cases

M. Gambarotti (⊠) · A. Righi Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_45



Location: Limbs and limb gilders are the most frequent site involved, followed by trunk and head and neck.

Clinical: Superficial or deep-seated, usually painless mass.

Imaging: Not specific. The lesion may be calcified. There is a hypointense signal on T1W images on MRI, a high signal on T2W images, because of the myxoid component. Cystic, necrotic, or hemorrhagic parts are possible. The uptake of contrast medium after injection is usually late and heterogeneous.

In bone, benign forms generally appear as well-circumscribed lesions with sclerotic margins, while malignant forms tend to be lytic and to invade the soft tissues.

Histopathology: Grossly, generally well circumscribed, gray-whitish, sometimes glistering or mucoid. Histologically, composed of

spindle to epithelioid cells organized in chords, strand, trabeculae, or nests, often in a chondromyxoid stroma. Neoplastic cells generally show eosinophilic cytoplasms and sometimes eccentrically placed "plasmocytoid" nuclei. Prominent cytoplasmic vacuolations mimicking chordoma define the so-called "parachordoma"; a ductal component defines the so-called "mixed tumor." Immunohistochemically, tumoral cells typically coexpress EMA and/or cytokeratins and S100 and/or GFAP. Malignant forms are defined by the severe nuclear atypia, often with high mitotic count, tumor necrosis, and an infiltrative pattern of growth.

Course and Staging: Most myoepitheliomas behave in a benign fashion, with local recurrences in 20% of cases and rare metastasis. Malignant myoepitheliomas recur and metastasize in 40–50% of cases.

Treatment: Wide excision.



Radiograph.	Lytic	poorly	limited	meta	phys	seal	les	ion,
with a sclere	otic co	mponent	, destro	oying	the	corte	ex	and
invading the	soft tis	sues						

Immunohistochemical panel			
 Pan-cytokeratin 	±(90%)		
• EMA	±(70%)		
• S100	±(90%)		
• GFAP	±(50%)		
• SMA	±(30%)		
• p63	±(45%)		
• INI-1 (SMARCB1)	- in 40% of pediatric cases and in 10% of adult cases		

Chromosomal	trans	locations
-------------	-------	-----------

• t(6;22)(p21;q12)	EWSR1-POU5F1	16%
• t(1;22)(q23;q12)	EWSR1-PBX1	16%
• t(19;22)(q13;q12)	EWSR1-ZNF444	<2%



Chords and nest of epithelioid cells in a chondromyxoid stroma, often with "plasmocytoid" appearance

45.2 Synovial Sarcoma

Definition: Malignant mesenchymal tumor displaying a variable degree of epithelial differentiation and the specific translocation t(X;18).

Epidemiology: 5–10% of all sarcomas of soft tissues. Very rare in bone. Quite equally distributed between male and female. More frequent between 15 and 40 years old.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: More frequent in deep soft tissue of the extremities (80% of cases); lower limbs (thigh, knee, foot, ankle) account for 60% of cases, while upper limbs (forearm, wrist, shoulder) account for 23% of cases.. Only 10% arise within a joint. Usually close to a major joint, intimately related to tendons, tendon sheaths, bursae, beyond the confines of the joint capsule. In bone predominantly occurs in the long bones (femur and tibia are the more frequent sites), followed by pelvic bones

Clinical: A palpable deep-seated often painful mass. Pain may be the first symptom of the disease. Tumor grows slowly and insidiously; the duration of symptoms generally ranges from 2 to 4 years, up to 20 years.

Imaging: On X-ray—a round or oval, lobulated swelling of moderate density near a joint. Usually, bone is uninvolved. Periosteal reaction, bone erosion, or bone invasion (15-20%). Multiple, small and spotty calcifications, or cloudy and faded shadow or massive and dense radiopacities of bone formation (40%). Radiopacities more frequent in the periphery. On angiography richly hypervascularized. On CT-infiltrating soft tissue mass with slightly higher density than muscle, markedly enhanced, with easily detected calcifications, cortical erosion, joint invasion when tendons or ligaments are involved. On MRI—90% hypointense on T1, hyperintense on T2. Fluid levels (15%). Marked inhomogeneity, enhancement, and septation on T2. A triple signal pattern on T2 (30%): whitelike fluid, gray-like fat, dark-like fibrous tissue. Small high signal areas on T1 (45%) are foci of hemorrhage. This and the triple pattern are suggestive of synovial sarcoma. In bone, lytic lesions sometimes with sclerotic areas, generally infiltrating the surrounding soft tissues.

Histopathology: Grossly, tumors range in dimension from 1 to 20 cm; they are slowgrowing lesions that appear as a firm, lobular mass, fairly well circumscribed, attached to surrounding tissues, from yellow to gray-white on cut surface. More rapidly growing lesions can appear as a soft, globose mass, poorly encapsulated, with a variegated friable or shaggy appearance, from mottled pink yellow to light brown,

with frequent necrosis and hemorrhage and multicystic areas. Calcifications can be seen. Histologically, two different types of cells can be present: spindle and epithelial cells. Based on the type of the cells, three subtypes are identified: (1) monophasic spindle cell type (the most frequent; only spindle cells); (2) biphasic type (both spindle and epithelial cells in varying proportions); (3) poorly differentiated type (20%; hypercellular areas with round cells similar to Ewing sarcoma or spindle to epithelioid cells with severe nuclear atypia and high mitotic activity). A monophasic epithelial type (only epithelial cells) was also described in the literature, but according to the last WHO classification it does not exist, since a spindle cell component, although very focal, is always present in these tumors. Spindle cells have a uniform appearance, with scant and indistinct cytoplasm and oval, dark bland nuclei. They grow in a solid fascicular pattern, often with a herringbone appearance. A fine net of pericellular collagen fibers is often present. "Staghornlike" vessels can be present, resulting in a hemangiopericytoma-like appearance. Epithelial cells are globose, cubic or cylindrical, with large vescicular nuclei, abundant pale cytoplasm, with well-defined limits. They are arranged in cords, whorls, nests, or glandular structures often containing mucus; rarely, they show squamous features with keratinization. Calcifications are present in about 1/3 of cases.

Course and Staging: Usually it grows between and adheres to the tendons, joint capsules, bursae mucosae, fasciae, skeleton, muscles, and interosseous membranes. It pushes its growth along these multiple planes, infiltrating these structures and creating intravascular plugs. Local recurrence is common also 10 years after an inadequate surgery. Metastases develop in about 50% of cases. Usually, stage IIB. In bone, it seems to behave more aggressively than the soft tissue counterpart.

Treatment: Surgery aims at obtaining wide margins, also sacrificing functionally important structures or amputating the limb. Wide conservative surgery can be difficult for the characteristic growth of the tumor. It may be useful to associated adjuvant chemotherapy and pre- or postoperative radiation therapy. Overall survival at 5 years and 10 years varies from 36% to 76% and from 20% to 63%, respectively. Favorable prognostic factors are: size <5 cm, young age, distal location, calcifications, <10 mitosis per 10 HPF, biphasic morphology, and absence of intravascular plugs. Tumors with SSX2 translocation showed a higher local recurrence rate. Grade 3 according to FNCLCC classification identified high-risk patients.



Radiograph (a, b). Purely lytic poorly limited lesion. The cortex is thin, partially destroyed with soft tissue involvement



Radiograph, axial and sagittal T1 and T2 FS MR images. The mass is calcified, displaces the bones, and has a heterogeneous signal on MR



Monophasic spindle cell synovial sarcoma: spindle cell sarcoma composed of cells with a relatively uniform appearance, growing in intersecting fascicles



Biphasic synovial sarcoma: glandular component and spindle cell component intermixed in the same tumor

Immunohistochemical pa	nel	Chromoso
• CK	±	• t(X;18)
• EMA	±	
• TLE1	+	
• CD99	±	
• S100	±	

Chromosomal translocations		
• t(X;18) (p11;q11)	SS18-SSX1 and	95%
	SS18-SSX2	
	SS18-SSX4	<1%

45.3 Alveolar Soft Part Sarcoma (ASPS)

Definition: Sarcoma composed of epithelioid cells arranged in alveolar organoid structures.

Epidemiology: Very rare, less than 1% of all soft tissue sarcomas. Fifteen to 35 years old. More frequent in females in the first three decades of life, while more frequent in males after the third decade.

Location: Deep-seated, lower limb, thigh.

Clinical: Slow-growing painless mass. Tumor may be richly vascularized with pulsation on the mass.

Imaging: On CT: an intense uptake of contrast medium. On angiography: tumoral neoangiogenesis and indirect signs of artero-venous shunt. On MRI: bright both on T1 and T2, homogeneous on the first, inhomogeneous with sharp peripheral demarcation of the mass on the second.



Alveolar Soft Tissue Sarcoma 28 cases

Histopathology: Grossly, soft, yellowishwhite or gray-red-purple, with hemorrhagic and necrotic areas, poorly delimited. Histologically, nests of cells separated by thin-walled vascular spaces; loss of cellular cohesion and necrosis in the center of the nests gives the typical pseudoalveolar appearance. Neoplastic cells are large, epithelioid, globose to polyhedric, with eosinophilic granular to clear cytoplasm, often containing rhomboid to rod-shaped inclusions that can be highlighted on PAS stains after diastase digestion. The nucleus is vesicular with a prominent nucleolus. Mitotic figures are rare.

Course and Staging: Recurrences when treated inadequately. Metastases may be present

at the time of the diagnosis or even decades after the diagnosis. Survival rate for patients with localized disease at the time of the diagnosis is about 60–70% at 5 years. Usually stage II B or III B.

Treatment: Wide or radical excision associated to adjuvant radio- and/or chemotherapy.

Immunohistochemical panel	
DESMIN	±
• TFE3	+
• S100	±

Chromosomal translocations

•	t(X;17) (p11;q25)	ASPL-TFE3 (type 1,	100%
		type 2)	



Eosinophilic epithelioid cells arranged in nests with loss of cohesion in the center, giving a psuedoalveolar appearance



PAS stain after diastase digestion demonstrates rod-shaped inclusions (inset: higher magnification)

45.4 Epithelioid Sarcoma

Definition: Malignant mesenchymal neoplasm that exhibits a predominantly epithelial phenotype.

Epidemiology: 1% of sarcomas. More frequent in males. Twenty to 60 years old. Classic distal type nearly twice more frequent that proximal type



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Classic type generally occurs in the distal extremities and is among the most frequent sarcomas occurring in the hand and forearm. Proximal type generally occurs in deep soft tissues of the pelvic-perineal, genital, and inguinal regions.

Clinical: Usually one or more small, hard, superficial nodules, adherent to the derma, slightly elevated on the skin; they grow slowly ulcerating the skin surface. Some nodules are deep. Painless. Almost woody, nodules adhere and fixed to the surrounding tissues.

Imaging: On X-ray—Calcifications (20%), bone erosion rare. On MRI—Isointense with muscle on T1, inhomogeneous, hyperintense, with an irregularly outlined lesion on T2.

Histopathology: Grossly, multinodular, hard, gray-white, infiltrating and adhering to the skin, fascia, tendon sheaths, muscles, vessels, nerves, periosteum. Histologically, classic type shows a

pseudo-granulomatous pattern with a central area of necrosis surrounded by proliferation of large epithelioid to polygonal cells with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasms, vescicular nuclei, and evident nucleoli. At the periphery, neoplastic plump spindle cells arranged in bundles and chronic inflammatory cells are present. Proximal type is composed of larger cells showing carcinoma-like to rhabdoid appearance, with vescicular nuclei and prominent nucleoli; the pseudo-granulomatous pattern is generally absent.

Course and Staging: Frequent metastases in regional lymph nodes and lungs. It diffuses in the limb in a proximal direction along the tendons, muscles, neurovascular bundles, and the lymphatic network of the derma; it can produce multiple superficial ulcerated nodules. Five-year overall survival rate is about 60–80%, while at 10 years is about 40–60%. Proximal type has a worse prognosis. Usually, stage IIB.

Treatment: Radical excision with dissection of the regional lymph nodes.

Immunohistochemical panel	
 Pan-cytokeratin 	+
• EMA	+
• CD34	±
• INI-1 (SMARCB1)	- in more than 90% of cases

Genetic alteration		
Biallelic inactivation of	90%	
	Biallelic inactivation of	



Classic-type epithelioid sarcoma (low power view): pseudo-granulomatous structures with necrotic centers surrounded by tumoral cells



Classic-type epithelioid sarcoma (high power view): malignant epithelioid cells with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm, showing immunohistochemical positivity for cytokeratin (*left inset*) and loss of INI-1/SMARCB1 (*right inset*)

Epidemiology: Very rare. 20–40 years old.



Proximal-type epithelioid sarcoma: Large malignant epithelioid cells with marked cytologic atypia

45.5 Clear Cell Sarcoma

Definition: Sarcoma with melanocytic differentiation, typically close to tendons and aponeuroses.



Clear Cell Sarcoma 60 cases

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Foot, ankle, knee, and upper limb. Deep-seated, often associated with tendons and aponeuroses.

Clinical: Slowly growing, moderate size, painless, globose mass.

Diagnosis: On MRI, elliptical, smoothly outlined mass, slightly or markedly hyperintense on T1, white lesion with multiple low intensity septations on T2, homogeneous enhancement after gadolinium.

Histopathology: Grossly, firm, globose, gray-white mass with well-defined boundaries. Histologically, nests surrounded by a fine reticular stroma or rough collagen bands. Neoplastic cells are epithelioid, oval, or spindle, with eosinophilic or amphophilic or clear cytoplasm; nuclei are round to elongated, vescicular, with a large nucleolus. Mitotic figures are rare. Scattered wreath-like multinucleated giant cells are often present.

Course and Staging: Not very aggressive clinical presentation but frequent local recurrences. Late metastases (also >10 years) in lymph nodes (50% of cases), bone, and lungs. Poor prognosis with survival rate of 10% at 20 years. Usually stage II B.

Treatment: Wide or radical excision with dissection of the regional lymph nodes.

Immunohistochemical panel	
• S100	+
• HMB45	+
• MART-1	+
• MITF	+

Chromosomal translocations

•	t(12;22) (q13;q12)	EWSR1-ATF1 (type	>90%
		1, type2)	
•	t(2;22) (q33;q12)	EWSR1-CREB1	<6%



Epithelioid and spindle cell with optically clear cytoplasms arranged in nests surrounded by rough collagen bands; wreath-like multinucleated giant cells can be present (*inset*)

Selected Bibliography

- Alberghini M, Pasquinelli G, Zanella L, Pignatti G, Benini S, Bacchini P, Bertoni F. Primary malignant myoepithelioma of the distal femur. APMIS. 2007;115(4):376–80.
- Antonescu CR. Clear cell sarcoma of soft tissues. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 221–2.
- Armah HB, Parwani AV. Epithelioid sarcoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2009;133(5):814–9; Review.
- Bianchi G, Charoenlap C, Cocchi S, Rani N, Campagnoni S, Righi A, Frisoni T, Donati DM. Clear cell sarcoma of soft tissue: a retrospective review and analysis of 31 cases treated at Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2014;40(5):505–10.
- Bianchi G, Sambri A, Righi A, Dei Tos AP, Picci P, Donati D. Histology and grading are important prognostic factors in synovial sarcoma. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43(9):1733–9.
- Cai W, Sun Y, Wang W, Han C, Ouchida M, Xia W, Zhao X, Sun B. The effect of SYT-SSX and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) on cell proliferation in synovial sarcoma. Pathol Oncol Res. 2011;17:357–67.
- Dei Tos AP, Wagner AJ, Modena P, Comandone A, Leyvraz S. Epithelioid soft tissue tumors. Semin Oncol. 2009;36(4):347–57; Review.
- Dim DC, Cooley LD, Miranda RN. Clear cell sarcoma of tendons and aponeuroses: a review. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2007;131(1):152–6; Review.
- Fisher C. Epithelioid sarcoma of Enzinger. Adv Anat Pathol. 2006;13(3):114–21; Review.
- Fletcher CDM, Antonescu CR, Heim S, Hornick JL. Myoepithelioma/myoepithelial carcinoma/mixed tumour. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 208–9.
- Folpe AL, Deyrup AT. Alveolar soft-part sarcoma: a review and update. J Clin Pathol. 2006;59(11):1127–32. Review
- Gasparini P, Facchinetti F, Boeri M, Lorenzetto E, Livio A, Gronchi A, Ferrari A, Massimino M, Spreafico F, Giangaspero F, Forni M, Maestro R, Alaggio R, Pilotti S, Collini P, Modena P, Sozzi G. Prognostic determinants in epithelioid sarcoma. Eur J Cancer. 2011;47(2):287–95.
- Jaber OI, Kirby PA. Alveolar soft part sarcoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2015;139(11):1459–62.
- Jo VY, Fletcher CD. Myoepithelial neoplasms of soft tissue: an updated review of the clinicopathologic, immunophenotypic, and genetic features. Head Neck Pathol. 2015;9(1):32–8.
- Khanna P, Paidas CN, Gilbert-Barness E. Alveolar soft part sarcoma: clinical, histopathological, molecular, and ultrastructural aspects. Fetal Pediatr Pathol. 2008;27(1):31–40.

- Kravtsov O, Chang J, Hackbarth D, Giorgadze T. Myoepithelioma of soft tissue: A cytologicalpathological correlation with literature review. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2017;27:14–7.
- Malchau SS, Hayden J, Hornicek F, Mankin HJ. Clear cell sarcoma of soft tissues. J Surg Oncol. 2007;95(6):519– 22; Review.
- Meis-Kindblom JM. Clear cell sarcoma of tendons and aponeuroses: a historical perspective and tribute to the man behind the entity. Adv Anat Pathol. 2006;13(6):286–92; Review.
- Nakayama R, Mitani S, Nakagawa T, Hasegawa T, Kawai A, Morioka H, Yabe H, Toyama Y, Ogose A, Toguchida J, Nakayama T, Yoshida T, Ichikawa H. Gene expression profiling of synovial sarcoma: distinct signature of poorly differentiated type. Am J Surg Pathol. 2010;34(11):1599–607.
- O'Sullivan PJ, Harris AC, Munk PL. Radiological features of synovial cell sarcoma. Br J Radiol. 2008;81(964):346–56.
- Oda Y, Dal Cin P, Laskin WB. Epithelioid sarcoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 216–8.
- Ordonez NG, Ladanyi M. Alveolar soft part sarcoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 218–20.
- Palmerini E, Staals EL, Alberghini M, Zanella L, Ferrari C, Benassi MS, Picci P, Mercuri M, Bacci G, Ferrari S. Synovial sarcoma: retrospective analysis of 250 patients treated at a single institution. Cancer. 2009;115(13):2988–98.
- Sbaraglia M, Righi A, Gambarotti M, Vanel D, Picci P, Dei Tos AP. Soft tissue tumors rarely presenting primary in bone; diagnostic pitfalls. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017a;10(3):705–30.
- Sbaraglia M, Righi A, Gambarotti M, Vanel D, Picci P, Dei Tos AP. Soft tissue tumors rarely presenting primary in bone; diagnostic pitfalls. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017b;10(3):705–30.
- Song W, Flucke U, Suurmeijer AJH. Myoepithelial tumors of bone. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017;10(3):657–74.
- Stacchiotti S, Van Tine BA. Synovial sarcoma: current concepts and future perspectives. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(2):180–7.
- Suurmeijer AJH, De Bruijn D, Geurts van Kessel A, Miettinen MM. Synovial sarcoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 213–5.
- Thway K, Fisher C. Myoepithelial tumor of soft tissue: histology and genetics of an evolving entity. Adv Anat Pathol. 2014;21(6):411–9.
- Zarrin-Khameh N, Kaye KS. Alveolar soft part sarcoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2007;131(3):488–91; Review.



Vascular Tumors

Alberto Righi

The common denominator of vascular tumors consists of their endothelial differentiation with a variable capability of forming mature or immature vessels. Although tumors with this morphology have been recognized for many years, there is a considerable degree of confusion regarding their nomenclature and classification. It is proposed that the osseous vascular tumors should be classified in a similar manner to their soft tissue counterparts and it is suggested that this approach should help to clarify the confusion surrounding this topic. The last classification of vascular tumors as proposed in the 2013 WHO is supported by the rapid elucidation of novel, characteristic translocations in the different vascular tumor entities. In the last 5 years, there have been further several important refinements in the classification of vascular neoplasms, along with the identification of novel and recurrent molecular genetic findings broadening the spectrum of available ancillary tests for the surgical pathologist, that better define epithelioid hemangioma, pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma, and epithelioid hemangioendothelioma.

A. Righi (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_46

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: alberto.righi@ior.it



VASCULAR TUMORS of BONE – 573 cases

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

VASCULAR TUMORS of SOFT TISSUE - 1.704 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Key points	
Clinical	Adults, pain and swelling
Radiologica	Frequently multifocal, pure lytic lesion
Histologica	Proliferation of endothelial cells at various grade of differentiation
 Differential diagnosis 	Bone metastasis, myeloma, and all other primary purely osteolytic
-	lesions of adults
Immunohisto	hemical panel
• CD31,	+
ERG	

• CD34

±

• CK	± (+ in pseudomyogenic	
	hemangioendothelioma)	
• CAMTA1	+ in epithelioid	
or TFE3	hemangioendothelioma	
 FOSB 	+ in epithelioid hemangioma (20–25%)	
	of cases) and in pseudomyogenic	
	hemangioendothelioma	
Prognosis		
Hemangiomas (with epithelioid variant) \rightarrow benign		
lesions		
Hemangioendothelioma \rightarrow good prognosis		
Angiosarcoma \rightarrow poor prognosis		

46.1 Hemangioma of Bone

Definition: Benign tumor composed of capillarylike blood vessels of small or large caliber.

Incidence: Rare tumors (<1% of primary bone tumors), even throw at least 10% of patients from autopsy series shows vertebral hemangiomas as occasional finding. About 70%

of the cases are diagnosed in patients between 30 and 60 years.

Location: The most frequent location is the vertebral bodies, followed by the cranio-facial bones, the ribs and the diaphysis or metadiaphysis of the long bones. Medullary origin is most frequent, but 45% of cases are either periosteal (33%) or intracortical (12%).



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Clinical: Frequently asymptomatic sometimes pain when pathologic fracture occurs.

Imaging: A well-demarcated, lucent mass that frequently contains coarse trabeculations or striations. In flat bones, the tumor is expansile and lytic and produces a sunburst pattern of reactive bone formation. Indolent lesions frequently contain fat and sclerotic trabeculae on CT and MRI.

Histopathology: Hemangiomas of bone have variable histological features. Capillary and cavernous hemangiomas, that represent the vast majority of hemangiomas, show numerous blood-filled spaces, lined by a thin layer of flat endothelial cells, without atypia. The vascular spaces are surrounded by loose connective tissue and grow in-between the bone trabeculae that are often thickened. When hemangiomas involve a large localized region, or are widespread throughout the skeleton, it is known as angiomatosis.

Course and Treatment: Excellent prognosis and low rate of local recurrence. Most patients with hemangiomas need no treatment. Lesions causing symptoms are treated with intralesional excision.
46.2 Hemangioma of Soft Tissues

Definition: Hemangiomas are benign tumors that closely resemble normal vessels.

Incidence: Benign hemangiomas represent 7% of all benign soft tissue tumors, the most frequent in infancy and childhood. In this age group,

they are generally cutaneous or subcutaneous capillary hemangiomas. They grow until body growth has ended. Intramuscular hemangioma, although relatively uncommon, is one of the most frequent deep-seated soft tissue tumors. Adolescents and young adults are most commonly affected, with an equal sex incidence.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Intramuscular hemangioma most commonly affects the lower limb, particularly the thigh. Hemangiomas can also arise in a synoviumlined surface, particularly in the knee (synovial hemangiomas) or can affect a large segment of the body (angiomatosis) in a contiguous fashion, either by vertical extension, to involve multiple tissue planes or by crossing muscle compartments to involve similar tissue types.

Clinical: Superficial (cutaneous/subcutaneous) hemangiomas are reddish-wine colored, painless lesions, generally present at birth. Intramuscular hemangioma arises within the belly of a single muscle; only in the hand and foot it may expand between the fascia, muscles, and tendons. Pain is sharp and becomes more intense with tension of the muscle. Shortening of muscles causes first joint dysfunction and then joint deformity. In the hand and foot, an increase of skin temperature, and of the superficial venous reticulum, telangiectasia, cyanosis, and hyperhidrosis are observed.

Imaging: X-rays are usually negative although small round granular calcifications with a smooth surface and concentric stratifications (phleboliths) can be seen.

Histopathology: Hemangiomas can be divided in synovial, intramuscular, venous, and arteriovenous malformation. Synovial hemangioma is often a cavernous type with multiple dilated thin-walled vascular channels, surrounded by myxoid or fibrotic stroma. Intramuscular hemangioma has been traditionally classified according to vessel size into small (capillary) and large (cavernous), although most are mixed, also including lymphatics. It usually consists of large thick-walled veins, a mixture of cavernous-like vascular spaces and capillaries or a prominent arteriovenous component associated with variable amounts of mature adipose tissue. Venous hemangioma consists of large thick-walled muscular vessels, which are variably dilated and commonly display thrombosis with occasional formation of phleboliths. Elastic stains reveal the absence of an internal elastic lamina that helps in the distinction from an arteriovenous hemangioma. Arteriovenous malformation is characterized by large numbers of vessels of different sizes, including veins and arteries, with the former largely outnumbering the latter.

Course and Treatment: Complete local excision and eventually follow-up are the optimal management for symptomatic benign hemangiomas.



On histology, hemangioma shows thin-walled blood vessels lined by a single layer of endothelial cells with the marrow and between bony trabeculae.

46.3 Epithelioid Hemangioma of Bone and Soft Tissues

Definition: Epithelioid hemangioma of soft tissue is a unique benign vasoformative tumor composed of epithelioid endothelial cells. Epithelioid hemangioma of bone is classified as an intermediate and locally aggressive but rarely metastasizing vascular tumor. **Incidence:** Because epithelioid hemangioma is a rare entity, exact prevalence is difficult to determine. In our series and in the cases reported in literature, the age of occurrence as varying from 11 to 83 years with a median of 37 years and a slight preference for boys and men.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Epithelioid hemangioma has been described as occurring in many different locations, showing a slight preference for the long tubular bones, but the spine and the small tubular bones of the extremities are also often affected. Multifocal bone involvement occurs in approximately 20% of cases.

Clinical: Patients usually present with pain localized to the involved anatomical site. In soft tissues, the majority of epithelioid hemangioma presents as subcutaneous masses of a year or less in duration. The process is usually uninodular, but multinodularity, generally in contiguous areas, can be present. Dermal examples are less frequent, and deep-seated cases are rare.

Imaging: In bone, a well-defined lytic, sometimes expansile, septated mass that may erode the cortex and extended into the soft tissue. On CT scans, a honeycomb pattern can be visible. On MRI, they are hypo- or isointense to muscle on T1-weighted images, and hyperintense on T2-weighted images. In soft tissues, epithelioid hemangiomas present an inhomogeneous pattern on MRI. The lesion often appears as a "bunch of grapes," occasionally with a serpentine or tubular pattern. On T1 angiomatous tissue has an intermediate intensity between that of muscle and fat, but areas of stagnant blood and hemorrhage can cause high signal intensity. On T2, vascular spaces seen are hyperintense but fibrous septa and calcified foci are hypointense. Fluid-fluid levels can be appreciated.

Histopathology: Epithelioid hemangioma is usually 0.5–2.0 cm in size, generally with a rather nonspecific nodular appearance. Subcutaneous examples of epithelioid hemangioma are characterized by a prominent proliferation of small, capillary-sized vessels, sometimes lacking a welldefined lumen. These vessels are rimmed by a single cell endothelium layer with an intact myopericytic/smooth muscle layer. Numerous eosinophils and lymphocytes are generally present in most cases. Dermal examples of epithelioid hemangioma generally show a more mature appearance with a well-canalized lumen, and endothelial cells are somewhat less plump, frequently more cobblestone or hobnail-like in appearance. The neoplastic cells are immunoreactive for ERG and CD31. Focal expression of keratin may be seen. A novel and recurrent *FOS* gene rearrangements in nearly one-third of epithelioid hemangioma across a variety of locations. The *FOS* rearrangements are also much more common in the epithelioid hemangioma of extremities, trunk, and penis, being seen in 40–50% of cases. In contrast, head and neck epithelioid hemangiomas are rarely affected by this genetic abnormality. Recently, a recurrent *ZFP36-FOSB* fusion in a small subset of epithelioid hemangioma with atypical features has been reported.

Course and Treatment: Epithelioid hemangioma of bone is a locally aggressive lesion and treatment usually consists of curettage and less frequently, marginal en-bloc excision of the tumor. Radiotherapy could be used for tumors in inaccessible locations. Local recurrence is reported to occur in 1/3 of epithelioid hemangiomas. There are no reports of distant metastases. The vast majority of recurrences are indolent and cured by re-excision, but very rarely recurrences can be locally aggressive. Recurrences may appear to be anatomically separate, perhaps reflecting multicentricity of this tumor.



Large epithelioid cells line well-formed vascular spaces associated with isolated prevalent epithelioid or slightly spindled cells adjacent to a well-formed neoplastic vessel

46.4 Hemangioendothelioma

The term hemangioendothelioma has been used historically in a variety of contexts but is now applied exclusively to vascular tumors in the intermediate group. The latter category includes two groups of tumors, mainly reported in the soft tissue: (1) those that may be locally aggressive but have no metastatic potential (kaposiform hemangioendothelioma) and (2) those that have a low and histologically unpredictable risk of metastasis (retiform hemangioendothelioma, papillary intralymphatic angioendothelioma, composite hemangioendothelioma, pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma). Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma is now classified as a low-grade malignant tumor capable of aggressive local growth, recurrence or both, and of distant metastases.

Hemangioendothelioma 37 cases (33 cases in Bone; 4 cases in Soft Tissue) 49% ർ 51% 3 6 Average: 46 - Median: 47 - Range: 11-74 25 2 20 1 15 % 10 5 0 0-9 10-19 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 Age 7 cases with multiple lesions; 37 cases principal lesions in bone and soft tissue 4 Soft Tissue Lesion: 2 hand; 1 arm; 1 thigh.

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy



Histological features of papillary intralymphatic angioendothelioma, composed of glomerulus-like structures with papillary structures projecting into the lumen, covered by plump "hobnail" endothelial cells

46.5 Epithelioid Hemangioendothelioma of Bone and of Soft Tissue

Definition: Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma is a malignant tumor that shows endothelial differentiation and can occur in a variety of anatomical sites, including soft tissue and bone.

Incidence: Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma is rare and the true incidence is unknown. The age of occurrence is regularly distributed between 10 and 80 years with most patients diagnosed during the second and third decades of life. The sexes are equally affected although some series have reported a male predominance in bone tumor and a female predominance in soft tissue tumor.



Epithelioid Hemangioendothelioma of Bone 28 cases



Epithelioid Hemangioendothelioma of Soft Tissue 16 cases

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: The most frequent location of bone and soft tissue epithelioid hemangioendothelioma are the lower extremities. About bone tumor, the spine, pelvis, and ribs are other sites of involvement. Separated synchronous foci are present in different anatomic locations in more than 50% of the cases.

Clinical: Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma of soft tissue develops often as a painful nodule in either superficial or deep soft tissue. Deeply situated tumors may be associated with focal ossification that can be detected on plain films. Localized pain and swelling are the most frequent symptoms of bone tumors.

Imaging: Radiologically epithelioid hemangioendothelioma of bone, like the other vascular tumors in bone, presents as a lytic lesion, without a sharp demarcation and they may be expansile and erode the cortex.

Histopathology: Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma typically consists of epithelioid cells, with abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm, sometimes with intracytoplasmic vacuolization (socalled blister cells). The cells are organized in short cords or strands and characteristically are embedded in hyalinized or myxoid stroma. The tumor has an infiltrative growth pattern. Although epithelioid hemangioendothelioma usually shows low-grade morphology, a small subset of cases is of cytologically higher grade and may show a significant solid growth pattern mimicking angiosarcoma, and it is called "aggressive" or "malignant" variant of epithelioid hemangioendothelioma. Immunohistochemically, epithelioid hemangioendothelioma expresses the endothelial markers CD31, CD34, and ERG and in a different percentage can express cytokeratin AE1/AE3 representing a diagnostic pitfall. In 2001, a t(1;3) (p36;q25) translocation was identified, involving WWTR1 and CAMTA1 genes. This WWTR1-

CAMTA1 fusion gene has been identified in 80-90% of epithelioid hemangioendothelioma with classic morphology and is not found in morphological mimics. Immunohistochemical nuclear expression of CAMTA1 has very recently been shown to be a sensitive and specific surrogate marker for the fusion gene. The remaining subset of epithelioid hemangioendotheliomas, which were negative for WWTR1-CAMTA1, has a t(x;11)(p11;q22) translocation, resulting in a YAP1-TFE3 fusion. This specific subset has a distinct morphology, with vasoformative and vasoinvasive growth, combined with solid areas. The cytoplasm is voluminous, deeply eosinophilic or histiocytoid, and sometimes feathery. The nuclei can be mild to moderately atypical. The immunohistochemical nuclear expression of TFE3 and TFE3 gene rearrangement using FISH analysis can be used to confirm the diagnosis.

Course and Treatment: Wide resection is the treatment of choice. Although less clinically aggressive than angiosarcoma, epithelioid hemangioendothelioma is associated with metastasis in 20-30% of cases, and 10-15% of patients die of disease. The preferred sites for metastasis are the lungs followed by the skeleton, but it remains unclear whether these skeletal metastases should be considered true metastases or multifocal regional spread. The "aggressive" or "malignant" variant of soft tissue epithelioid hemangioendothelioma is typically associated with a more aggressive clinical course. Conversely, in primary bone epithelioid hemangioendothelioma, this "aggressive" or "malignant" variant does not seem to predict prognosis. Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma

Chromosomal translocations		
WWTR1-	80–90%	
CAMTA1		
YAP1-TFE3	10-20%	
	WWTR1- CAMTA1 YAP1-TFE3	



Radiograph. Purely lytic lesions. They can be unique, or multiple usually in the same limb



An example of epithelioid hemangioendothelioma constituted of cords, strands, or nests of epithelioid cells in a myxohyaline stroma on hematoxylin and eosin (\mathbf{a} : ×200 of magnification) associated with a strong nuclear reactivity for CAMTA1 antibody (\mathbf{b} : ×200 of magnification). A second example of epithelioid hemangioendothelioma (arising in T12) that showed mature vessel lumen formation, in addition to intracytoplasmic vacuoles on hematoxylin and eosin (\mathbf{c} : ×200 of magnification) associated with a strong nuclear reactivity for TFE3 antibody (\mathbf{d} : ×200 of magnification)

46.6 Pseudomyogenic Hemangioendothelioma

Definition: Pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma, which has also been referred to as epithelioid sarcoma-like hemangioendothelioma, is a rarely metastasizing vascular tumor exhibiting peculiar pathological features.

Incidence: This clinically distinctive tumor typically arises in young adults, with a peak incidence at age 30 years and a marked male predilection (male: female ratio of 4:1).

Pseudomyogenic Hemangioendothelioma

30 cases

(24 cases in Bone; 6 cases in Soft Tissue)



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Patients usually present with dermal or subcutaneous nodules on the extremities, most commonly the lower limbs, and 66% of patients have multifocal disease at presentation, often involving multiple tissue planes (deep soft tissue, skeletal muscle, or bone). The bone tissue involvement is reported in more or less 25% of cases, but not more of 100 cases of primary pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma of bone have been described in the literature so far.

Imaging: Pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma of bone usually shows well-limited purely lytic lesion. Tumors are 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose-avid on positron emission tomography scan, which helps to delineate the extent and multifocality of disease visualizing clinically occult deep lesions.

Histopathology: Tumors are composed of sheets and loose fascicles of spindled cells with abundant brightly eosinophilic cytoplasm, vesicular nuclei, and small nucleoli associated with scattered epithelioid cells, sometimes mimicking rhabdomyoblasts, occasionally organized in small clusters. Tumor cells show mild atypia and low mitotic activity. The neoplastic cells proliferation is usually associated with prominent infiltration by neutrophils and focal chronic inflammatory infiltrate. This tumor is often extremely difficult to diagnose because no morphological evidence suggestive of endothelial differentiation is present to confirm a radiological pattern of vascular neoplasm. The peculiar immunohistochemical phenotype with co-expression of keratin AE1/AE3 and vascular markers (ERG, FLI1 and CD31) associated with a strong nuclear expression of FOSB offers a diagnostic tool to distinguish pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma from historadiological mimics logic and including epithelioid sarcoma, metastatic carcinoma, and other vascular neoplasms. Molecular analysis detected the presence of the SERPINE1-FOSB fusion genes in the majority of cases tested.

Course and Treatment: Pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma is considered to be a tumor of intermediate biological potential in

terms of clinical behavior, given its propensity for local recurrence and the frequent development of additional nodules in the same region, which occur in almost 50% of patients. Rare cases with aggressive clinical behavior resulting in distant metastasis and death have been reported. Conservative management is therefore the mainstay of treatment, often in the form of complete but narrow excision or curettage of bone lesions, avoiding large disfiguring Adjuvant chemotherapy surgeries. (gemcitabine and/or taxane) and/or radiotherapy following curettage of the largest tumoral nodule represent a therapeutic option for these patients.



The tumor is composed of sheets and loose fascicles of spindle cells with abundant brightly eosinophilic cytoplasm and small nucleoli. Scattered neutrophils are present (\mathbf{a} , magnification $\times 200$)

46.7 Angiosarcoma of Bone

Definition: A high-grade malignant vascular tumor, composed of cells that demonstrate endothelial differentiation displaying variable degree of vascular formation. **Incidence:** Primary angiosarcomas of bone are rare and account for less than 2% of malignant tumors of bone. Approximately 4% of all angiosarcomas arise primarily in bone and predominantly occur in the seventh decade, with a male predominance.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: Usually occurring in the long tubular bones, most frequently in the lower extremities. In bone, 30–40% of angiosarcomas are multifocal.

Imaging: Destructive osteolytic mass with well- or poorly defined margins. Cortical destruction is found in 65% of cases.

Histopathology: The majority (>85% of cases) of bone angiosarcomas displays epithelioid morphology with sheet-like growth and plump cells constituted of abundant eosinophilic cytoplasm and marked cellular atypia. In addition to the variable presence of vasoformative areas, solid areas can be found. Malignant endothelial cells can be also arranged in intraluminal buds, projections, or papillae. Mitoses are numerous (>15/10 HPF). Extensive hemorrhage is a characteristic feature of most angiosarcomas. Secondary angiosarcoma (after irradiation, chronic osteomyelitis, bone infarct, and fibrous dysplasia) often shows a prevalent spindle cell morphology.

Immunohistochemistry shows positivity for CD31 (95–100%), ERG (96%), and smooth muscle actin (61%). Keratin AE1/AE3 is expressed in 69–80% of the bone angiosarcomas and can often lead to confusion with metastatic carcinoma. To molecular point of view, angiosarcomas of bone evidence different molecular alterations in a subset of cases with mostly non-overlapping genetic signatures across clinical subsets, involving *MYC*, *CIC*, *KDR*, *FLT4*, *PLCG1*, and *PTPRB* genes.

Course and Treatment: Angiosarcoma of bone has a very poor survival: the 1-year survival is 55% and the 5-year survival is 33%. Wide surgical resection is seldom feasible due to the fast infiltrative behavior and probably unable to prevent systemic spread. Chemotherapy and radio-therapy progresses could be helpful. In this perspective, multidisciplinary approach is mandatory, and surgery should be planned and coordinated according to timing of chemotherapy and allowing the most effective radiation.



At macroscopy, angiosarcoma is usually a big mass, friable, hemorrhagic, and tan-red that destroys the cortex and extends into the soft tissue

46.8 Angiosarcoma of Soft Tissues

Definition: A malignant vasoformative tumor that recapitulates the morphological and functional features of endothelium to a variable degree.

Incidence: 2–4% of soft tissue sarcomas. This tumor shows a male predilection with a wide age range, although children are rarely affected. Most soft tissue angiosarcomas are sporadic, but a small minority arises at the site of previous radiation therapy. A smaller subset occurs adjacent to synthetic (graft) or foreign material. Evenly distributed throughout the decades with a peak incidence in the seventh decade.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: The majority develops as cutaneous lesions, particularly in patients suffering from lymph edema or after radiation for a previous malignancy. Less than 25% are deep-seated soft tissue neoplasms. The most common localizations are the deep muscles of the lower extremities (40% of cases) followed by the arm, trunk, head and neck, and the abdominal cavity. Patients typically present with an enlargement or painful mass. Rarely lesions are multifocal.

Clinical: Soft tissue angiosarcoma develops as enlarging mass, in 1/3 of patients associated with other symptoms such as coagulopathy, anemia, persistent hematoma, or bruisability.

Imaging: Soft tissue angiosarcomas often show nonspecific characteristics. Presence of intratumoral necrosis may be demonstrated by the use of contrast agents.

Histopathology: Macroscopically, angiosarcomas of soft tissue are multinodular hemorrhagic masses often with secondary cystic degeneration and necrosis. The majority of soft tissue angiosarcomas, as well as primary bone angiosarcomas, are the epithelioid variant, ranging from areas of well-formed, anastomosing vessels to solid sheets of high-grade cells without clear vasoformation. The vast majority of cases are high-grade neoplasms with brisk mitotic activity, coagulative necrosis, and significant nuclear atypia. Intratumoral hemorrhage is common and may result in an organizing hematoma with superimposed papillary endothelial hyperplasia. Careful and extensive sampling may be necessary to document malignant cells.

Immunohistochemically, soft tissue angiosarcomas express vascular markers CD34, CD31, ERG, and FLI1 associated with an expression of lymphatic marker podoplanin (D2-40) in approximately 50% of cases.

Course and Treatment: Angiosarcomas of soft tissue are highly aggressive malignancies with a high rate of tumor-related death. More than half of patients die within the first year from diagnosis with metastatic disease in the lung, lymph nodes, bone, and soft tissues. Some patients are palliated for 1 year or longer with radiation or taxane-based chemotherapy regimens, but long-term survival is uncommon.



An example of the morphology of epithelioid angiosarcoma that shows tumor cells lining vascular lumina and growing in solid nests, the latter mimicking metastatic carcinoma

Selected Bibliography

Hemangioendothelioma

- Antonescu CR, Le Loarer F, Mosquera J-M, Sboner A, Zhang L, Chen C-L, Chen H-W, Pathan N, Krausz T, Dickson BC, Weinreb I, Rubin MA, Hameed M, Fletcher CDM. Novel YAP1-TFE3 fusion defines a distinct subset of epithelioid hemangioendothelioma. Gene Chromosome Cancer. 2013;52:775–84.
- Antonescu CR, Chen HW, Zhang L, Sung YS, Panicek D, Agaram NP, Dickson BC, Krausz T, Fletcher CD. ZFP36-FOSB fusion defines a subset of epithelioid hemangioma with atypical features. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2014;53(11):951–9.
- Deyrup AT, Tighiouart M, Montag AG, Weiss SW. Epithelioid hemangioendothelioma of soft tissue: a proposal for risk stratification based on 49 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32(6):924–7.
- Errani C, Vanel D, Gambarotti M, Alberghini M, Picci P, Faldini C. Vascular bone tumors: a proposal of a classification based on clinicopathological, radiographic and genetic features. Skeletal Radiol. 2012;41(12):1495–507.
- Errani C, Sung YS, Zhang L, Healey JH, Antonescu CR. Monoclonality of multifocal epithelioid hemangioendothelioma of the liver by analysis of WWTR1-CAMTA1 breakpoints. Cancer Genet. 2012;205:12–7.
- Errani C, Zhang L, Sung YS, Hajdu M, Singer S, Maki RG, Healey JH, Antonescu CR. A novel WWTR1-CAMTA1 gene fusion is a consistent abnormality in epithelioid hemangioendothelioma of different anatomic sites. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2011;50:644–53.
- Gambarotti M, Righi A, Sbaraglia M, Bianchi G, Picci P, Vanel D, Tos APD. Intraosseous papillary intralym-

phatic angioendothelioma (PILA): one new case and review of the literature. Clin Sarcoma Res. 2018;8(1) https://doi.org/10.1186/s13569-018-0087-9.

- Hornick JL, Fletcher CD. Pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma: a distinctive, often multicentric tumor with indolent behavior. Am J Surg Pathol. 2011;35(2):190–201.
- Hung YP, Fletcher CD, Hornick JL. FOSB is a useful diagnostic marker for pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2017;41(5):596–606.
- Inyang A, Mertens F, Puls F, Sumathi V, Inwards C, Folpe A, Lee CH, Zhang Y, Symmans P, Rubin B, Nielsen GP, Nguyen VH, Rosenberg AE. Primary pseudomyogenic hemangioendothelioma of bone. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(5):587–98.
- Righi A, Gambarotti M, Picci P, Dei Tos AP, Vanel D. Primary pseudomyogenic haemangioendothelioma of bone: report of two cases. Skeletal Radiol. 2015;44(5):727–31.

Angiosarcoma

- Huang SC, Zhang L, Sung YS, Chen CL, Kao YC, Agaram NP, Singer S, Tap WD, D'Angelo S, Antonescu CR. Recurrent CIC gene abnormalities in angiosarcomas: a molecular study of 120 cases with concurrent investigation of PLCG1, KDR, MYC, and FLT4 gene alterations. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40(5):645–55.
- van IJzendoorn DGP, Bovée JVMG. Vascular tumors of bone: the evolvement of a classification based on molecular developments. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017;10(3):621–35.
- Sbaraglia M, Righi A, Gambarotti M, Vanel D, Picci P, Dei Tos AP. Soft tissue tumors rarely presenting primary in bone; diagnostic pitfalls. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017;10(3):705–30.



Liposarcomas

47

Angelo Paolo Dei Tos, Marco Gambarotti, and Alberto Righi

Definition: Malignant tumor featuring adipocytic differentiation.

ized in the limbs, but not when in retroperitoneum. Very rare prior to 20 years of age, whereas it is typical of adult and advanced age.

Epidemiology: The most frequent sarcoma of it is typ the soft tissues. Prevails in males when it is local-



A. P. Dei Tos

Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy

Department of Medicine, University of Padua School of Medicine, Padua, Italy e-mail: angelo.deitos@unipd.it M. Gambarotti (⊠) · A. Righi Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_47

Localization: Most common in thigh, retroperitoneum, inguinal region, and popliteal fossa. Rare in hands, feet, and neck.

Clinical: Insidiously growing, deep-seated, ill-defined mass that may attain a large size. Pain, tenderness, and functional disturbances occur in 10–15% of cases, but these are usually late complaints. Tumor may be painful due to compression on the nerve or cause edema of the limb due to venous occlusion. Retroperitoneal tumor may cause hydronephrosis, intestinal compression, inguinal hernia, and edema of the lower limbs.

Imaging: On X-ray: in more differentiated varieties, well-delineated radiolucency clearly distinguished from the surrounding muscles. Occasionally calcification, little vascularity. In more undifferentiated cases, less well defined masses with greater density. On CT scan: in lipoma-like type, well-marginated mass mimicking lipoma. Frequently, thickened linear, nodular septa that enhance after contrast. In myxoid type, encapsulated, septated, slightly heterogeneous mass mimicking a cyst. Density of water. On MRI, the myxoid type shows a homogeneous low signal intensity (dark) on T1 and high (white) on T2, strong enhancement, minute foci of fatty tissue, small bright streaks on T1 in an overall dark lesion are typical. Nonspecific appearances are displayed by the other varieties: heterogeneous signal intensity on T1, white and dark areas on T2, enhancement of all components. In dedifferentiated liposarcoma, a homogeneous mass of low signal intensity on T1 converts to a lesion with bright and intermediate areas on T2. Often the tumor is adherent or erodes adjacent cortical bone that responds with modest periosteal reaction. On bone scan, liposarcomas are inordinately hot in contrast to other malignant soft tissue tumors. On angiography: richly vascular with intense intra- and peritumoral neoangiogenesis.

Histopathology: Usually very large, multilobated, delimited by a thin reactive tissue (pseudocapsule) interrupted by some tumor nodules. Satellites are present.

Varieties

- (a) Well-differentiated Liposarcoma/Atypical Lipomatous Tumor (WDL/ALT) 40% of all cases.
 - Liposarcoma lipoma-like: The most common. Yellowish, soft, friable. Mature fat mixed with collagen. Variable number of lipoblasts (from many to none) and mature adipocytes. Hyperchromatic nuclei in both adipocytic and stromal cells most often within fibrous septa. Often confused with lipoma.
 - Sclerosing liposarcoma: More frequent in retroperitoneum and spermatic cord. Whiter and firmer. Scattered bizarre stromal cells associated or not with multivacuolated lipoblasts set in abundant fibrillary collagen.
 - Inflammatory: More frequent in retroperitoneum. Like liposarcoma lipoma-like and sclerosing liposarcoma but admixed with extensive chronic inflammation. Easily mistaken for an inflammatory process involving fat.
- (b) Myxoid Liposarcoma (ML): Most frequent in the limbs (30-35%). Soft, pale yellow, mucoid and translucid or bright cherry red. Spindle cell proliferation set in a myxoid matrix and associated with a network of thin capillaries of uniform caliber organized in a plexiform pattern. Monovacuolated lipoblasts are most often seen at the periphery of the lesion. Mitotic activity is rare. Hypercellular areas > 5% fo the tumor, featuring ovoid-round hyperchromic cells with scanty cytoplasm and diminished intercellular myxoid matrix define the high-grade variant (formerly known as round cell liposarcoma). Genetics demonstrate characteristic chromosome translocations: t(12;16)that fuses the DDIT3 (CHOP) gene on 12q13 with the FUS gene on 16p11, and t(12;22) that fuses DDIT3 gene with EWSR1 gene on 22q12.

- (c) Pleomorphic Liposarcoma (PL): Rare (5%). Softer, encephaloid. On high power pleomorphism is prominent. Pleomorphic lipoblasts with vacuolated cytoplasm are scattered amongst undifferentiated hyperchromatic neoplastic cells. Large atypical, multinucleated giant cells are scattered through the tissue. Myxoid change of the matrix is sometimes observed. One-third of cases features an epithelioid morphology associated with the presence of pleomorphic lipoblasts. Many atypical mitoses are observed. S-100 immunoreactivity may help highlight the presence of multivacuolated lipoblasts in those cases in whom adipocytic differentiation tends to be focal and, therefore, easily overlooked. Similar to most pleomorphic high-grade sarcomas, pleomorphic liposarcoma tends to exhibit complex karyotypes.
- (d) **Dedifferentiated** (DL): Liposarcoma Relatively frequent (15%). Most cases occur in retroperitoneum. Abrupt (not always) transition for well-differentiated liposarcoma to high-grade non-lipogenic sarcoma. Sometimes dedifferentiation can show lipofeatures, with pleomorphic lipogenic blasts (homologous differentiation). (myogenic, Heterologous differentiation chondro-osteogenic) can be observed. On immunohistochemistry, overexpression of MDM2 and CDK4 is consistently observed in both components as a consequence of 12q13-15 chromosome region amplification.

Course and Staging: Type (a) are low-grade malignant tumors and present as stage IA. Type (b) purely myxoid liposarcomas are low-grade malignant tumors; they usually present as stage

IA and seldom progress to higher stages. The presence of hypercellularity is associated with worsening of prognosis and these lesions should be considered stage II. Type (c) are high-grade malignant tumors and present as stage IIB. Type (d) are high-grade malignant tumors and present as stage IIB. Type (a and b) recur also many years after excision, whereas in type (c and d) local recurrence occurs rapidly. Metastases are exceptional in type (a), rare in type (b), frequent and early in type (c and d).

Treatment: in type (a and b) wide excision, while in type (c and d) radical removal. Radiotherapy is useful in type (c and d), and particularly effective in type (b). Conventional ifosfamide-based chemotherapy is preferred in type (c). Trabectedin (ET743) has shown to be effective in myxoid liposarcoma.

WDLPS/DDLPS (Well-differentiated liposarcoma/ Dedifferentiated liposarcoma)

Immunohistochemical panel		
• S100	+	
• MDM2	+	
• CDK4	+	

Atypical lipomatous tumor/well-differentiated LPS/ dedifferentiated LPS

Genetic aberrations

•	MDM2	Amplification
•	CDK4	Amplification

Myxoid/round cell liposarcoma

Chromosomal trans	locations	
• t(12;16)	TLS(FUS)-DDIT3 (type	95%
(q13;p11)	1, type 2)	
	TLS(FUS)-DDIT3 (type	
	3)	
• t(12;22)	EWSR1-DDIT3 (type 1)	1-5%
(q13;q12)		
	EWSR1-DDIT3 (type 2,	
	type 3)	



Well-limited mass of the thigh. On CT, the mass is ossified. On T1 and T2W FS coronal images, the lesion is made of two components. One is fat, corresponding to a well-differentiated liposarcoma, the second mainly fluid, is partially ossified, and corresponds to a myxoid component



Well-differentiated liposarcoma/atypical lipomatous tumor. Mature adipocytic cells and scattered atypical adipocytes with hyperchromic nuclei and rare lipoblasts (unnecessary for diagnosis)



Myxoid liposarcoma. Oval to stellate cells embedded in a myxoid matrix with typical arborizing vascular pattern. Variable presence of an hypercellular component



Pleomorphic liposarcoma. Undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma-like high-grade sarcoma with scattered pleomorphic lipoblasts



Dedifferentiated liposarcoma. Lipoma-like liposarcoma that abruptly turns into a high-grade spindle cell and/or pleomorphic sarcoma; osteosarcomatous heterologous differentiation is evident in this case

Selected Bibliography

- Coindre JM, Pédeutour F, Aurias A. Well-differentiated and dedifferentiated liposarcomas. Virchows Arch. 2010;456(2):167–79. Review.
- Dahlén A, Debiec-Rychter M, Pedeutour F, Domanski HA, Höglund M, Bauer HC, Rydholm A, Sciot R, Mandahl N, Mertens F. Clustering of deletions on chromosome 13 in benign and low-malignant lipomatous tumors. Int J Cancer. 2003;103(5):616–23. Review.
- Dalal KM, Antonescu CR, Singer S. Diagnosis and management of lipomatous tumors. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97(4):298–313. Review.
- Dei Tos AP. Liposarcoma: new entities and evolving concepts. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2000;4(4):252–66. Review.
- Peterson JJ, Kransdorf MJ, Bancroft LW, O'Connor MI. Malignant fatty tumors: classification, clinical course, imaging appearance and treatment. Skeletal Radiol. 2003;32(9):493–503. Review.



Chemotherapy of Soft Tissue Sarcomas

48

Stefano Ferrari and Emanuela Palmerini

48.1 Localized Disease

The use of chemotherapy in patients with localized high-grade soft tissue sarcoma (STS) is still under discussion in the sarcoma community. Outside clinical trials, the systemic treatment must be applied on the basis of a patient–physician shared decision [1]. Several studies have been performed with conflicting results, but in two meta-analysis an advantage from the use of chemotherapy has been showed in patients with high-grade, large (>5 cm) and deep seated STS [2, 3].

In patients with G2–3, deep, >5 cm soft tissue sarcomas (STS), regional hyperthermia in addition to systemic chemotherapy may improve the local control and the overall survival [4].

A randomized trial showed no differences between three (preoperative) and five (pre- and postoperative) courses of full-dose chemotherapy with epirubicin plus ifosfamide in high-risk STS patients [5]. Also, a recent trial compared preoperative epirubicin plus ifosfamide versus a histology-driven chemotherapy: a statistically significant benefit in terms of both disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS) in favor of epirubicin and ifosfamide was shown [6]. Since there is no obvious evidence that histology-driven chemotherapy could be detrimental, this may be viewed as providing randomized evidence of the efficacy of neo-adjuvant therapy with full-dose anthracyclines plus ifosfamide in high-risk STS, and results of final analysis are awaited.

In patients with locally advanced nonresectable tumors, or requiring mutilating surgery, chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy, isolated hyperthermic limb perfusion with tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNFa) + melphalan in case of extremity lesions, or regional hyperthermia combined with chemotherapy are available options [7].

48.2 Advanced Disease

An EORTC randomized trial showed no survival advantage from the addition of ifosfamide to the standard doxorubicin [8]. Nonetheless the same study demonstrated a higher response rate with the combined use of ifosfamide/doxorubicin. Based on these results, chemotherapy with doxorubicin plus ifosfamide should be considered the treatment of choice in first line, when tumor shrinkage might be useful and patient performance status is good. Also, a small phase II study tested the combination of doxorubicin with an antibody directed against platelet-derived growth

S. Ferrari

Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

E. Palmerini (⊠) Chemotherapy Unit, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy

Department of Experimental, Diagnostic and Specialty Medicine (DIMES), University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy e-mail: emanuela.palmerini@ior.it

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_48

factor receptor alpha (PDGFRA), olaratumab, in the first-line setting. A statistically significant higher OS in comparison with doxorubicin alone was demonstrated, with a non-statistically significant benefit in progression-free survival (PFS) and response rate [9]. Based on a median OS gain of 11.8 months and a median PFS increase of only 2.5 months, the drug is FDA and EMA approved and results of a confirmatory phase 3 study, the ANNOUNCE (NCT02451943), will be available soon. Also, while doxorubicin monotherapy might be offered to patients with advanced solitary fibrous tumors (SFT) [10], there is retrospective evidence that doxorubicin plus dacarbazine might be a choice for multi-agent, first-line chemotherapy for SFT and leiomyosarcoma patients [11, 12].

Beyond the first line, evidence for medical treatment in STS is less robust and all the more driven by histology, since some types are more chemosensitive as compared to others and histology-specific response to different agents was demonstrated in several phase II studies.

In myxoid liposarcoma, a peculiar pattern of tumor response to trabectedin has been reported [12], which is also effective in leiomyosarcoma and synovial sarcoma [12]. Similarly, in 2016, eribulin belonging to the family of microtubule-targeting agent was approved for the treatment of liposarcoma progressing on anthracycline, with a median OS improvement of 7.2 months as compared to dacarbazine [13].

Responses have been obtained in synovial sarcoma with high-dose ifosfamide [14, 15]. Randomized evidence provided that gemcitabine + docetaxel is more effective than gemcitabine alone as second-line chemotherapy and gemcitabine was shown to have antitumor activity in leiomyosarcoma also as a single agent [16]. Dacarbazine has some activity as second-line therapy, especially in leiomyosarcoma, as demonstrated in monotherapy or in combination with gemcitabine [17] and vinorelbine [18].

Angiosarcoma is sensitive to taxanes, which can be a treatment option in this histological subtype [19], with gemcitabine [20], also used in combination with docetaxel [21] and sorafenib [22] being other options.

Imatinib is standard medical therapy for those rare patients with dermatofibrosarcoma protu-

berans (DFSP), candidate to mutilating surgery or with metastases [23]. Similarly, imatinib [24] and nilotinib [25] were used in tenosynovial giant cell tumors (TGCT) (also known as pigmented villonodular synovitis, PVNS) based on CSF-1R expression on these tumors. Recently, the results of the first randomized phase III trial demonstrating the activity of pexidartinib in this disease were presented [26], and FDA approval is awaited.

Last, based on the results of two recent prospective and randomized studies, activity of sorafenib and pazopanib, over placebo and methotrexate/vinblastine, respectively, was shown desmoid tumors [27, 28].

References

- ESMO/European Sarcoma Network Working Group. Soft tissue and visceral sarcomas: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2018;25(Suppl 3):iii102–12. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy096.
- Sarcoma Meta-analysis Collaboration. Adjuvant chemotherapy for localised resectable soft-tissue sarcoma in adult: meta-analysis of individual data. Lancet. 1997;350:1647–54.
- Pervaiz N, Colterjohn N, Farrokhyar F, et al. A systematic meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of adjuvant chemotherapy for localized resectable soft-tissue sarcoma. Cancer. 2008;113:573–81.
- Issels RD, Lindner LH, Verweij J, et al. Neo-adjuvant chemotherapy alone or with regional hyperthermia for localised high-risk soft-tissue sarcoma: a randomised phase 3 multicentre study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(6):561–70.
- Gronchi A, Frustaci S, Mercuri M, et al. Short full dose adjuvant chemotherapy in high risk adult soft tissue sarcomas: a randomized clinical trial from the Italian Sarcoma Group and the Spanish Sarcoma Group. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:850–6.
- Gronchi A, Ferrari S, Quagliuolo V, et al. Histotypetailored neoadjuvant chemotherapy versus standard chemotherapy in patients with high-risk soft-tissue sarcomas (ISG-STS 1001): an international, openlabel, randomised, controlled, phase 3, multicentre trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017;18:812–22.
- Eggermont AMM, de Wilt JHW, ten Hagen TLM. Current uses of isolated limb perfusion in the clinic and a model system for new strategies. Lancet Oncol. 2003;4:429–37.
- Woll PJ, Reichardt P, Le Cesne A, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy with doxorubicin, ifosfamide, and lenograstim for resected soft-tissue sarcoma (EORTC 62931): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012;13(10):1045–54.

- Tap WD, Jones RL, Van Tine BA, et al. Olaratumab and doxorubicin versus doxorubicin alone for treatment of soft-tissue sarcoma: an open-label phase 1b and randomised phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2016;388: 488–97.
- Stacchiotti S, Libertini M, Negri T, Palassini E, Gronchi A, Fatigoni S, Poletti P, Vincenzi B, Dei Tos AP, Mariani L, et al. Response to chemotherapy of solitary fibrous tumour: a retrospective study. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49:2376–83.
- Stacchiotti S, Tortoreto M, Bozzi F, Tamborini E, Morosi C, Messina A, Libertini M, Palassini E, Cominetti D, Negri T, Gronchi A, Pilotti S, Zaffaroni N, Casali PG. Dacarbazine in solitary fibrous tumor: a case series analysis and preclinical evidence vis-a-vis temozolomide and antiangiogenics. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(18):5192–201.
- 12. D'Ambrosio L, Touati N, Blay JY, et al. Doxorubicin plus dacarbazine (DoDa), doxorubicin plus ifosfamide (DI) or doxorubicin alone (Do) as first line treatment for advanced leiomyosarcoma (LMS): a retrospective study from the EORTC Soft Tissue and Bone Sarcoma Group (STBSG). J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:11574. (suppl; abstr 11574).
- 13. Demetri GD, Chawla SP, von Mehren M, Ritch P, Baker LH, Blay JY, Hande KR, Keohan ML, Samuels BL, Schuetze S, et al. Efficacy and safety of trabectedin in patients with advanced or metastatic liposarcoma or leiomyosarcoma after failure of prior anthracyclines and ifosfamide: results of a randomized phase II study of two different schedules. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27:4188–96.
- 14. Schoffski P, Chawla S, Maki RG, Italiano A, Gelderblom H, Choy E, Grignani G, Camargo V, Bauer S, Rha SY, et al. Eribulin versus dacarbazine in previously treated patients with advanced liposarcoma or leiomyosarcoma: a randomised, open-label, multicentre, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2016;387:1629–37.
- Rosen G, Forscher C, Lowenbraun S, Eilber F, Eckardt J, Holmes C, Fu YS. Synovial sarcoma. Uniform response of metastases to high dose ifosfamide. Cancer. 1994;73:2506–11.
- Spurrell EL, Fisher C, Thomas JM, Judson IR. Prognostic factors in advanced synovial sarcoma: an analysis of 104 patients treated at the Royal Marsden Hospital. Ann Oncol. 2005;16:437–44.
- 17. Maki RG, Wathen JK, Patel SR, Priebat DA, Okuno SH, Samuels B, Fanucchi M, Harmon DC, Schuetze SM, Reinke D, et al. Randomized phase II study of gemcitabine and docetaxel compared with gemcitabine alone in patients with metastatic soft tissue sarcomas: results of sarcoma alliance for research through collaboration study 002 [corrected]. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25:2755–63.
- Dileo P, Morgan JA, Zahrieh D, Desai J, Salesi JM, Harmon DC, Quigley MT, Polson K, Demetri GD, George S. Gemcitabine and vinorelbine combination chemotherapy for patients with advanced soft tissue sarcomas: results of a phase II trial. Cancer. 2007;109:1863–9.

- Garcia-Del-Muro X, Lopez-Pousa A, Maurel J, Martin J, Martinez-Trufero J, Casado A, Gomez-Espana A, Fra J, Cruz J, Poveda A, et al. Randomized phase II study comparing gemcitabine plus dacarbazine versus dacarbazine alone in patients with previously treated soft tissue sarcoma: a Spanish Group for Research on Sarcomas study. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29: 2528–33.
- 20. Stacchiotti S, Palassini E, Sanfilippo R, Vincenzi B, Arena MG, Bochicchio AM, De Rosa P, Nuzzo A, Turano S, Morosi C, Dei Tos AP, Pilotti S, Casali PG. Gemcitabine in advanced angiosarcoma: a retrospective case series analysis from the Italian Rare Cancer Network. Ann Oncol. 2012;23(2):501–8.
- Penel N, Bui BN, Bay JO, Cupissol D, Ray-Coquard I, Piperno-Neumann S, Kerbrat P, Fournier C, Taieb S, Jimenez M, et al. Phase II trial of weekly paclitaxel for unresectable angiosarcoma: the ANGIOTAX Study. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26:5269–74.
- 22. Ray-Coquard I, Italiano A, Bompas E, Le Cesne A, Robin YM, Chevreau C, Bay JO, Bousquet G, Piperno-Neumann S, Isambert N, et al. Sorafenib for patients with advanced angiosarcoma: a phase II trial from the French Sarcoma Group (GSF/GETO). Oncologist. 2012;17:260–6.
- Rutkowski P, Klimczak A, Ługowska I, et al. Longterm results of treatment of advanced dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans (DFSP) with imatinib mesylate—the impact of fibrosarcomatous transformation. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2017;43:1134–41.
- 24. Cassier PA, Gelderblom H, Stacchiotti S, Thomas D, Maki RG, Kroep JR, van der Graaf WT, Italiano A, Seddon B, Dômont J, Bompas E, Wagner AJ, Blay JY. Efficacy of imatinib mesylate for the treatment of locally advanced and/or metastatic tenosynovial giant cell tumor/pigmented villonodular synovitis. Cancer. 2012;118(6):1649–55.
- 25. Gelderblom H, Cropet C, Chevreau C, Boyle R, Tattersall M, Stacchiotti S, Italiano A, Piperno-Neumann S, Le Cesne A, Ferraresi V, Penel N, Duffaud F, Cassier P, Toulmonde M, Casali P, Taieb S, Guillemaut S, Metzger S, Pérol D, Blay JY. Nilotinib in locally advanced pigmented villonodular synovitis: a multicentre, open-label, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2018;19(5):639–48.
- 26. Tap WD, Gelderblom H, Stacchiotti S, et al. Final results of ENLIVEN: a global, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study of pexidartinib in advanced tenosynovial giant cell tumor (TGCT). J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:11502. (suppl; abstr 11502).
- Gounder MM, Mahoney MR, Van Tine BA, et al. Phase III, randomized, double blind, placebocontrolled trial of sorafenib in desmoid tumors (Alliance A091105). J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:11500. (suppl; abstr 11500).
- 28. Toulmonde M, Ray-Coquard IL, Pulido M, et al. DESMOPAZ pazopanib (PZ) versus IV methotrexate/ vinblastine (MV) in adult patients with progressive desmoid tumors (DT) a randomized phase II study from the French Sarcoma Group. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36:11501. (suppl; abstr 11501).

Adamantinoma

Alberto Righi

Definition: Low-grade malignant biphasic tumor characterized by clusters of epithelial cells in a bland spindle-cell osteofibrous component, reminiscent of the ameloblastoma of jaw bones (hence its name).

Epidemiology: Very rare (0.4% of all bone tumors). Slightly prevailing in males. It can affect all ages, but it is more common between 20 and 40. Exceptional in children below 11 years of age.



Adamantinoma

1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

A. Righi (🖂) Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: alberto.righi@ior.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_49

Localization: Diaphysis of the tibia (anterior cortex) is affected in 80% of cases; often multifocal, followed by fibula. In 10% of cases combined tibia and ipsilateral fibula. Exceptional in ulna, humerus, femur, metatarsal bone, and ischium.

Clinical: Pain and swelling. Usually, trauma is recorded in clinical history. Symptoms are often of long duration.

Imaging: Eccentric osteolysis, mostly involving the anterior cortex of the tibia, with expansion and frequent cancellation of the cortex, with no or minimal periosteal reaction and frequent sclerotic borders. Infiltration of the soft tissues and of the medullary bone can be evident. CT and MRI indicate a solid fibrous tissue (low T1, high T2 signal), sharply demarcated from the surrounding tissues. Sometimes (mainly in younger patients), osteolysis is multifocal and extended in the diaphysis, and associated with anterior bowing of the tibia, so that the imaging is, at least initially, identical to that of osteofibrous dysplasia.

Histopathology: Grossly, the lesions range in size from less than 1 cm to more than 10 cm. The tissue is solid, whitish, and fibrous-firm, with occasional hemorrhagic or cystic areas. Histologically, it is composed by islands of malignant epithelial cells in an osteofibrous stroma. Different histological patterns can be observed in the epithelial component. The basaloid pattern is the most frequent. It is characterized by islands of epithelial cells similar to a basal cell carcinoma; tumoral cells may be dispersed and spindled in the center of the islands, cuboidal or columnar in the periphery, where they are oriented at right angles to the inner mass, forming palisading structures. Cystic spaces can be present. The spindle cells pattern is characterized by a proliferation of spindle cells with plump nuclei, arranged in intersecting fascicles, reminiscent of monophasic synovial sarcoma. The tubular pattern is characterized by gland-like cystic spaces, sometimes anastomosing, lined by one or more layers of flattened or cuboidal cells, reminiscent of a vascular tumor. The squamous pattern is the rarest; it is characterized by nests of epithelial cells showing cytoplasmic keratinization and keratin pearls. More than one pattern can be present in a single lesion. The epithelial cells of adamantinoma, whatever their shape and aggregation, are of small to medium size, with rather hyperchromatic nuclei, small or absent nucleoli, scarce pleomorphism, and rare mitosis. At the electron microscope, epithelial cells show tonofilaments, microfilaments, desmosomes, and basal membrane, thus confirming their epithelial nature. The osteofibrous component of classic adamantinoma is composed of a proliferation of bland spindle cells in a storiform pattern, intermixed with irregularly shaped woven bony trabeculae with osteoblastic rimming. A zonal architecture with more mature bony trabeculae toward the periphery and lamellar bone at the periphery of the lesion is evident. Foam cells, mast cells, and multinucleated giant cells can also be present. The so-called osteofibrous dysplasia-like adamantinoma (differentiated adamantinoma) is characterized by a predominant osteofibrous component, with only scattered small groups of epithelial cells. Very rarely, adamantinoma can show a dedifferentiation in a high-grade sarcoma (dedifferentiated adamantinoma).

Course and Staging: Adamantinoma has generally an indolent course. The interval between the first symptoms and surgical treatment may be of several years, up to 20. Metastasis to the lungs, lymph nodes, and skeleton can occur in 12–29% of cases. The stage of the tumor at presentation is I A or B.

Treatment and Prognosis: Treatment is only surgical and should aim at wide margins. Regional lymph nodes should be excised when showing some enlargement. An intralesional or marginal excision is quite regularly followed by local recurrence. With an adequate treatment, the cure rate should be around 90%.

Ke	ey points			
•	Clinical	Young adults, pain, a swelling	Young adults, pain, and swelling	
•	Radiologic	Eccentric pure lytic l the tibia diaphysis	Eccentric pure lytic lesion in the tibia diaphysis	
•	Histologica	Islands, nests and/or epithelial cells in an osteofibrous stroma	cords of	
•	Differentia diagnosis	Osteofibrous dysplas bones	ia of long	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Immunohistochemical panel				
•	CK	Groups of epithelial cells positive		



Sagittal CT reconstruction and T2 MR images. The lesion involves the anterior cortex of the shaft of the tibia and is heterogeneous. A satellite lesion is easily detected in the cortex



Islands of malignant epithelial cells in an osteofibrous stroma: (1) nests of epithelial cells, (2) abundant fibrous stroma with bland spindle cells in a storiform pattern, (3) irregularly shaped woven bony trabeculae with osteoblastic rimming



Basaloid (a), spindle cell (b), tubular (c), and squamous (d) pattern of the epithelial component

Selected Bibliography

- Bethapudi S, Ritchie DA, Macduff E, Straiton J. Imaging in osteofibrous dysplasia, osteofibrous dysplasialike adamantinoma, and classic adamantinoma. Clin Radiol. 2014;69(2):200–8.
- Campanacci M, Giunti A, Bertoni F, Laus M, Gitelis S. Adamantinoma of the long bones. The experience at the Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli. Am J Surg Pathol. 1981;5(6):533–42.
- Hogendoorn PCW, Kanamori M. Adamantinoma. In: World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 343–5.
- Khanna M, Delaney D, Tirabosco R, Saifuddin A. Osteofibrous dysplasia, osteofibrous dysplasialike adamantinoma and adamantinoma: correlation of radiological imaging features with surgical histol-

ogy and assessment of the use of radiology in contributing to needle biopsy diagnosis. Skelet Radiol. 2008;37(12):1077–84.

- Morales Ciancio RA, Gasbarrini A, Boriani S, Gambarotti M. First confirmed metastatic adamantinoma of the spine: case report and literature review. Global Spine J. 2015;5(4):e7–e12.
- Most MJ, Sim FH, Inwards CY. Osteofibrous dysplasia and adamantinoma. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2010;18(6):358–66. Review.
- Puchner SE, Varga R, Hobusch GM, Kasparek M, Panotopoulos J, Lang S, Windhager R, Funovics PT. Long-term outcome following treatment of Adamantinoma and Osteofibrous dysplasia of long bones. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2016;102(7):925–32.
- Roque P, Mankin HJ, Rosenberg A. Adamantinoma: an unusual bone tumour. Chir Organi Mov. 2008;92(3):149–54.

Notochordal Differentiation

Alberto Righi

50.1 Benign Notochordal Cell Tumor

Definition: A benign vertebral lesion of notochord origin (also called giant notochordal rest or ecchordosis physaliphora when localized in spheno-occipital region) recently introduced as benign counterpart of chordoma.

Epidemiology: The incidence is uncertain, although in a relatively small study an incidence of at least 20% of cadavers has been reported.

Location: Cervical and lumbar spine (clinical case); smaller lesions could also be found in the sacrum, coccyx, and clivus at autopsy.

Clinical: Most lesions are incidentally found on imaging examinations because they are usually asymptomatic. Lesions that fill the vertebral body may be symptomatic.

A. Righi (🖂)



[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 P. Picci et al. (eds.), *Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_50

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: alberto.righi@ior.it

Benign Notochordal Tumor 18 cases (6 associated to Chordomas)



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Imaging: Radiographs occasionally reveal mild osteosclerosis. Computed tomography scan shows an intraosseous sclerotic lesion without extraosseous tumor extension. Magnetic resonance imaging reveals homogeneously low sigintensity T1-weighted imaging, nal on homogeneously high signal intensity on T2-weighted imaging, and no contrast enhancement on gadolinium-enhanced.

Histopathology: Macroscopically, the cutsurfaces disclose an unencapsulated and welldemarcated tumor with a bright tan, glossy texture. Morphologically, the lesion consists of solid sheets of adipocyte-like vacuolated and eosinophilic tumor cells with bland nuclei without mitotic figures. Benign notochordal cell tumor lacks intercellular myxoid matrix, although some cystic spaces filled with colloid-like material can be seen. The involved bone trabeculae are mildly, occasionally markedly, sclerotic. Bone marrow islands may be seen within the lesion. A lobular configuration formation of fibrous septa are absent. The tumor cells are immunohistochemically positive for brachyury, epithelial markers, and S-100 protein.

Course and Staging: Prognosis is excellent and the clinical course is very indolent except for the very low risk of malignant transformation in chordoma.

Treatment: This lesion does not require any surgical intervention and a follow-up with imaging is necessary.



Benign notochordal cell tumor. Intraosseous tumor in the vertebral body composed of aggregates of large "adipocytes-like" cells. (1) Notochordal cells are large and show abundant clear cytoplasm. (2) The cells have well-defined

cell membranes and centrally or peripherally placed nuclei with no atypia. (3) Affected bone trabeculae are often sclerotic

50.2 Chordoma

Definition: A rare, slow-growing, malignant bone tumor showing notochordal differentiation.

Epidemiology: The incidence is 0.08 per 100,000 people with a male prevalence (male to

female ratio is 1.8/1). The tumor commonly develops in the fourth to seventh decades of life although all age groups are affected.

Chordoma

343 cases

Including: 9 Dedifferentiated and 4 Extra-Axial



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Location: 50-60% in the sacro-coccyx region, followed by skull base/spheno-occipital region (25–30%), vertebrae (15%) and with anecdotal reported extra-axial and extraosseous cases.

Clinical: Skull-based chordoma most commonly present with headache, neck pain, diplopia, or facial nerve palsy. Chordoma of the mobile spine and sacrum present with chronic low-back pain, constipation, hemorrhoids, dysuria, limping, hypoesthesia, and sphincteric paresis.

Imaging: On radiographs, osteolytic bone destruction lesion is usually evident. The outlines of bone and lines of the sacral foramina have disappeared. Faded radiopaque spots of intratumoral

calcifications are frequent. The vertebral body chordomas show a relatively well-defined edge, with sclerotic rim, calcifications. CT evidences a destructive bone tumor with extraosseous tumor formation. In the sacrum, extraosseous mass protrudes more anteriorly than posteriorly with welldefined borders and infiltration of the adjacent muscles, dislocation of the viscera or of the dural sac. MRI reveals low homogeneous signal intensity on T1-WI, heterogeneously high signal intensity on T2-WI, and marginal or entire enhancement on Gd-enhanced T1-WI.

Histopathology: Most chordomas are conventional type, but there are three other rare subtypes: chondroid, poorly differentiated, and dedifferentiated chordomas. On macroscopy, the tumor, usually associated with a huge extraosseous tumor mass, is well demarcated and encapsulated with a thin fibrous capsule. Dedifferentiated chordoma is associated with a nonmyxoid tumor component with a fairly sharp margin. Morphologically, chordoma is an encapsulated lobular tumor composed of solid sheets and/or cords of epithelioid vacuolated tumor cells - so called "physaliphorous cells" - with a varying amount of intercellular myxoid matrix. Each lobule is separated by thin fibrous septa. The tumor cells show clear to eosinophilic cytoplasm. Poorly differentiated chordoma looks like pleomorphic spindle cell sarcoma but the tumor cells show signs of notochordal differentiation. Chondroid chordoma that has a predilection for the base of the skull shows chondrosarcoma-like components in addition to classic chordoma morphology. Dedifferentiated chordoma consists of two components: conventional chordoma and high-grade sarcoma, without notochordal differentiation. Immunohistochemically, all subtypes (except the dedifferentiated component in dedifferentiated chordoma) typically show positive staining for keratins, brachyury, S100, and EMA. Recently, a subset of chordoma (often poorly differentiated-subtype) shows an absence of INI1 / SMARCB1 expression.

Course and Staging: Chordoma recurrence rate is high at locations where surgical excision with sufficient tumor-free margins is not possible, which directly affects the long-term survival rate of these patients. Next to local recurrence, metastasis to the lung, bone, lymph nodes, and skin occurs in 5–43% of patients. The median overall survival is 4–7 years and the 10-year survival rate ranges from 40 to 60%. Poorly

differentiated-type, that often affects children, appears to be more aggressive than conventional and chondroid chordoma in both the skull base and the spine, with a decreased mean overall survival. Dedifferentiated chordoma is lethal, with systemic spread occurring in approximately 90% of cases.

Treatment: Chordoma has been primarily managed by surgery for a long time. Wide resection is mandatory, but often impossible. Traditional chemotherapy has not been effective so far. Instead of chemotherapy, proton therapy has been primarily applied in combination with surgery. Carbon-ion radiation therapy has taken over from proton therapy to treat unresectable chordomas. The 5-year local control, overall survival, and disease-free rates of carbon-ion radiation therapy are 77%, 81%, and 50%, respectively. Despite the satisfying results, radiation therapy is not able to prevent distant metastasis even though it is effective in controlling local disease.

Key points			
٠	Clinical	Old patients,	pain, and
		compression	symptoms
•	Radiological	Pure lytic lesion	
•	Histological	Lobular pattern with physaliferous cells	
•	Differential diagnosis	Bone metasta and all other osteolytic les benign notocl	sis, chondrosarcoma, primary purely ions of adults— hordal cell tumor
In	munohistochem	ical panel	
•	СК		+
٠	EMA		+
•	S-100		+/
٠	INI1 (SMARCB1)		+/-
•	Brachyury		+ (nuclear)



CT and sagittal T1 MR image. Huge tumor destroying the last sacral vertebrae, invading the anterior soft tissues, pushing the rectum, which remains free. On CT, remaining pieces of bone are well visible



The histological picture of the tumor may vary from field to field. However, the architecture is usually characterized by cellular cords isolated and anastomized, producing mucin and contained in the mucoid substance accumulated on the outside. (1) Mucoid substance. (2) Large, deeply eosinophilic cells organized in cords. (3) Signetring cells and physaliphorous cells may be observed in more differentiated areas

50.3 Differential Diagnosis Between Benign Notochordal Cell Tumor and Chordoma

Differential diagnosis between chordoma and benign notochordal cell tumor is fundamental and represents a challenge for pathologist in particular on biopsy specimen because of an overimmunohistochemical profile. The lapping radiograph features of benign notochordal cell tumor on CT (sclerotic lesion within bone, without lysis) and on MRI (a homogenous intraosseous lesion with a low signal on T1-weighted images and high signal on T2-weighted images, that does not take up contrast medium) allow differential diagnosis with chordoma. Morphologically, chordomas show fine fibrous capsules and/or septa with vasculature, lobular configuration, intercellular myxoid matrix, and bone destruction. The border of chordoma to bone marrow cells of host bone seems very smooth because of a thin fibrous membrane existed. In contrast, the border of benign notochordal cell tumor seems slightly zigzag along the contour of adjacent marrow adipocytes because of a lack of intervening fibrous membrane.

The distinction between benign notochordal cell tumor and chordoma applying the radiologic and histologic criteria is occasionally difficult, so recently some authors propose a designation of atypical notochordal cell tumors that should be used for the subset of notochordal-derived tumors that fail to fulfill current diagnostic criteria for either benign notochordal cell tumor or chordoma.



Incidental discovery. On TC (\mathbf{a}) the lesion is medial, sclerotic. Cortex is normal and soft tissues are not involved. The lesion has a low signal on sagittal T1 (\mathbf{b}) and high

signal on T2 (c) MR images (there was no change after contrast medium injection)

Selected Bibliography

Bettegowda C, Yip S, Lo SL, Fisher CG, Boriani S, Rhines LD, Wang JY, Lazary A, Gambarotti M, Wang WL, Luzzati A, Dekutoski MB, Bilsky MH, Chou D, Fehlings MG, McCarthy EF, Quraishi NA, Reynolds JJ, Sciubba DM, Williams RP, Wolinsky JP, Zadnik PL, Zhang M, Germscheid NM, Kalampoki V, Varga PP, Gokaslan ZL, AOSpine Knowledge Forum Tumor. Spinal column chordoma: prognostic significance of clinical variables and T (brachyury) gene SNP rs2305089 for local recurrence and overall survival. Neuro-Oncology. 2017;19(3):405–13.

- Carter JM, Wenger DE, Rose PS, Inwards CY. Atypical notochordal cell tumors: a series of notochordalderived tumors that defy current classification schemes. Am J Surg Pathol. 2017;41(1):39–48.
- Flanagan A, Yamaguchi T. Notochordal tumours. In: Fletcher CD, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PC, Mertens F, editors. World Health Organization classification of

Tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 326–9.

- Kato S, Gasbarrini A, Ghermandi R, Gambarotti M, Bandiera S. Spinal chordomas dedifferentiated to osteosarcoma: a report of two cases and a literature review. Eur Spine J. 2016;25(Suppl 1):251–6.
- Radaelli S, Stacchiotti S, Ruggieri P, Donati D, Casali PG, Palmerini E, Collini P, Gambarotti M, Porcu L, Boriani S, Gronchi A, Picci P. Sacral chordoma: longterm outcome of a large series of patients surgically treated at two reference centers. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2016;41(12):1049–57.
- Righi A, Sbaraglia M, Gambarotti M, Cocchi S, Drago G, Casadei R, Picci P, Vanel D, Dei Tos AP. Extra-axial chordoma: a clinicopathologic analysis of six cases. Virchows Arch. 2018;472(6):1015–20.

- Shih AR, Cote GM, Chebib I, Choy E, DeLaney T, Deshpande V, Hornicek FJ, Miao R, Schwab JH, Nielsen GP, Chen YL. Clinicopathologic characteristics of poorly differentiated chordoma. Mod Pathol. 2018;31(8):1237–45.
- Tsukamoto S, Vanel D, Righi A, Donati DM, Errani C. Parosteal extra-axial chordoma of the second metacarpal bone: a case report with literature review. Skelet Radiol. 2018;47(4):579–85.
- Yamaguchi T, Imada H, Iida S, Szuhai K. Notochordal tumors: an update on molecular pathology with therapeutic implications. Surg Pathol Clin. 2017;10(3):637–56.

Other Rare Malignant Lesions

Marco Gambarotti and Alberto Righi

51.1 Synovial Chondrosarcoma

Synovial chondrosarcoma is an exceeding rare entity. It can arise de novo or as a malignant transformation of synovial chondromatosis. In the latter situation, synovial chondrosarcoma can arise on a pre-existing synovial chondromatosis or coexist with a synovial chondromatosis. The rate of malignant transformation of synovial chondromatosis is about 5% of cases, generally after several recurrences, many years after the first diagnosis. Radiologically, synovial chondrosarcomas may show aggressive features; however, the differential diagnosis between synovial chondromatosis and synovial chondrosarcoma can be challenging. Histologically, features in favor of malignancy are hypercellularity, loss of clustering of the chondrocytes, myxoid change of the matrix, necrosis, and infiltration of bone and soft tissues with permeative margins. Although the majority of synovial chondrosarcomas behave as low-grade conventional chondrosarcomas, metastasis can develop in about 29% of cases. For this reason, a wide surgical treatment is recommended and the differential diagnosis with synovial chondromatosis is very important, as the latter is generally treated with a more conservatory surgical approach.

51.2 **Desmoplastic Round Cell** Tumor

Desmoplastic small round cell tumor is a highly malignant, polyphenotypic mesenchymal neoplasm, that mainly affects young adults, with a peak incidence in the second decade and a male prevalence. This tumor often arises mesothelium-lined surfaces. Histologically, it is characterized by the presence of sharply demarcated clusters of small rounded cells, separated by a hypocellular spindle cell desmoplastic stroma. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor exhibits a remarkably distinctive polyphenotypic immunohistochemical profile, which consists of immunopositivity for epithelial (cytokeratins, EMA), myogenic (desmin), and neural/neuronal (neuron-specific enolase, S100 protein, CD57) differentiation markers. Cytogenetically, desmoplastic small round cell tumor is characterized by a reciprocal translocation, t(11;22)(p13;q12), that involves the genes WT1 and EWSR1. Even if improved survival seems to be achieved by high-dose chemotherapy regimens associated with extensive surgery, most patients die either of advanced uncontrolled local disease or of distant metastases within 48 months after diagnosis.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

³³⁹

M. Gambarotti (🖂) · A. Righi

Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it; alberto.righi@ior.it

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_51
51.3 Kaposi Sarcoma

Kaposi sarcoma is a multifocal, virus-induced vascular proliferation associated with human HHV-8 in nearly all cases. It usually presents with cutaneous lesions in the form of multiple patches, plaques, or nodules, but may also involve different mucosal sites, lymph nodes, or visceral organs. Morphologically, Kaposi sarcoma is composed of well-formed, irregular vascular channels and spindled endothelial cells in varying proportions, depending on the stage of lesion. The lining cells of vascular structures and the spindled tumor cells are positive for endothelial markers (CD31, ERG) as well as lymphatic markers (podoplanin), and show a nuclear expression of HHV-8. The evolution of disease depends on the epidemiological-clinical type of Kaposi sarcoma and on its clinical extent.

51.4 PEComa

PEComa is a mesenchymal tumor composed of histologically and immunohistochemically distinctive perivascular epithelioid cells. The PEComa family includes angiomyolipoma, clear cell sugar tumor of the lung, lymphangioleiomyomatosis, and a group arising at a variety of soft-tissue and visceral sites, including retroperitoneum, abdominopelvic region, uterus, gastrointestinal tract, skin, and bone. PEComa is more frequent in females (female to male ratio, 6:1), with a wide age range and a peak in young to middle-aged adults (mean age, 45 years). Morphologically, PEComas are composed of large polygonal, epithelioid cells, with abundant granular eosinophilic to clear cytoplasm, often arranged in nests surrounded by delicate capillary vessels. Immunohistochemically, the neoplastic cells are reactive for both smooth muscle markers (smooth muscle actin) and melanocytic markers (HMB-45 and/or melan-A). Criteria for malignancy have not been established. Clinically malignant PEComas are typically large and usually show marked nuclear atypia, pleomorphism, mitosis, necrosis, and infiltrative margins.

51.5 Ossifying Fibrous Myxoid Tumor

Ossifying fibrous myxoid tumor is a rare mesenchymal neoplasm of uncertain lineage with cords and trabeculae of ovoid cells embedded in a fibromyxoid matrix, often surrounded by a peripheral partial shell of lamellar bone. This tumor occurs in adult of all ages with a median age around 50 years and with a slight prevalence in males. The most common sites are the thigh, head and neck, and the trunk wall. Radiologically, a well-circumscribed, lobulated mass surrounded by an incomplete ring of calcification is evident. Malignant variant has been reported in literature characterized by high nuclear grade or high cellularity and >2 mitoses per 50 HPFs. Immunohistochemically, ossifying fibrous myxoid tumor is positive for \$100 protein (>90% of cases) and desmin (40-50%). This immunohistochemical phenotype is useful to distinguish ossifying fibrous myxoid tumor from myoepithelioma and extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma. Surgery is the treatment of choice. The recurrent rate is approximately 10-20% for typical variant with an occurrence of distant metastases in less than 2% of cases. Malignant variant shows a 60% of rate of local recurrence and metastasis.

51.6 Malignant Granular Cell Tumor

Malignant granular cell tumor is a rare highgrade sarcoma with a Schwannian phenotype, composed of malignant granular cells with cytoplasmic lysosomal inclusions. This tumor occurs with a female predominance and age range of 3–70 years (mean of 40 years). The most common locations are the soft tissue of the thigh, proximal upper extremity, trunk, and then distal extremity. Approximately 2% of granular cell tumors are malignant. Hallmark histological features are sarcomatoid morphology, vesicular nuclei with prominent nucleoli, increased mitotic activity, geographical necrosis, marked pleomorphism, and high nuclear to cytoplasm ratio. As reported in benign counterpart, most malignant tumors show a strong positivity for S100 protein and CD68. A rate of metastasis is of 50%. Local recurrence, metastasis, large tumor size, and older patient age are adverse prognostic factors.

51.7 Soft Tissue Giant Cell Tumor

Giant cell tumor of soft tissues is a primary soft tissue neoplasm histologically similar to giant cell tumor of bone. It mainly affects adult patients, with predominant localization in the superficial soft tissues of the distal extremities, while the trunk and the head and neck regions are less frequently affected. Histologically, giant cell tumor of soft tissues shows a multinodular architecture, and the lesion is composed of round cells and multinucleated osteoclast-like giant cells. A peripheral shell of woven bone is often detected. Recently, no mutation of the H3F3 gene was detected in different series of giant cell tumor of soft tissues, indicating that giant cell tumor of soft tissues might be genetically different from its osseous counterpart. The clinical course is characterized by local recurrence in approximately 10% of the patients, while distant metastases are very rare.

51.8 Malignant Pigmented Villonodular Synovitis

The designation malignant pigmented villonodular synovitis (also called malignant giant cell tumor of tendon sheath, diffuse-type) is used for lesions in which a typical-appearing benign pigmented villonodular synovitis coexists with overtly malignant areas, or when the typical benign pigmented villonodular synovitis recurs as a morphologically malignant mesenchymal lesion. The criteria of malignancy for pigmented villonodular synovitis were defined by Bertoni et al. who reported the presence of larger mononuclear cells, featuring round or round to oval hyperchromatic nuclei sometimes showing prominent nucleoli, and presence of atypical mitotic figures. Xanthomatous cells as well as giant cells decreased in number and sometimes absent. To our knowledge, 32 cases of malignant pigmented villonodular synovitis are reported in literature: 17 cases were primary malignant pigmented villonodular synovitis and 15 arose from a prior histologically benign lesion. Seven out of these 32 cases metastasized to regional lymph node: 4 patients died of disease with a rapid progression (mean 22 months, range 12–41 months), two were alive with disease 17 and 36 months after the first surgical treatment, respectively, and only one patient was well without disease 10 months after the first surgical treatment.

Selected Bibliography

- Bertoni F, Unni KK, Beabout JW, Sim FH. Chondrosarcomas of the synovium. Cancer. 1991;67(1):155–62.
- Bertoni F, Unni KK, Beabout JW, Sim FH. Malignant giant cell tumor of the tendon sheaths and joints (malignant pigmented villonodular synovitis). Am J Surg Pathol. 1997;21(2):153–63.
- Campanacci DA, Matera D, Franchi A, Capanna R. Synovial chondrosarcoma of the hip: report of two cases and literature review. Chir Organi Mov. 2008;92(3):139–44.
- Fanburg-Smith JC. Malignant granular cell tumour. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone, Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F (eds). IARC Press: Lyon, 2013; 190.
- Gleason BC, Hornick JL. Vascular tumors. In: Hornick JL, editor. Practical soft tissue pathology: a diagnostic approach. Philadelphia: Elsevier Sauders; 2013. p. 323–71.
- Hornick JL, Pan C-C. PEComa. In: CDM F, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PCW, Mertens F, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone. Lyon: IARC Press; 2013. p. 230–1.
- Mancini I, Righi A, Gambarotti M, Picci P, Dei Tos AP, Billings SD, Simi L, Franchi A. Phenotypic and molecular differences between giant-cell tumour of soft tissue and its bone counterpart. Histopathology. 2017;71(3):453–60.
- Miettinen MM, Kawashima H, Weiss SW. Ossifying fibromyxoid tumour. World Health Organization classification of tumours. Pathology and genetics of tumours of soft tissue and bone, Fletcher CDM, Bridge JA, Hogendoorn PW, Mertens F (eds). IARC Press: Lyon, 2013; 206–207.
- Mohamed M, Gonzalez D, Fritchie KJ, et al. Desmoplastic small round cell tumor: evaluation of reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction and fluorescence in situ hybridization as ancillary

molecular diagnostic techniques. Virchows Arch. 2017;471:631-40.

- Ng VY, Louie P, Punt S, Conrad EU. Malignant transformation of synovial chondromatosis: a systematic review. Open Orthop J. 2017;11:517–24.
- Righi A, Dimosthenous K, Rosai J. PEComa: another member of the MiT tumor family? Int J Surg Pathol. 2008;16(1):16–20.
- Righi A, Gambarotti M, Sbaraglia M, Frisoni T, Donati D, Vanel D, Dei Tos AP. Metastasizing tenosynovial

giant cell tumour, diffuse type/pigmented villonodular synovitis. Clin Sarcoma Res. 2015;5:15.

- Saiji E, Guillou L, Hornick JL. Epithelioid and epitheliallike tumors. In: Hornick JL, editor. Practical soft tissue pathology: a diagnostic approach. Philadelphia: Elsevier Sauders; 2013. p. 157–97.
- Zamora EE, Mansor A, Vanel D, Errani C, Mercuri M, Picci P, Alberghini M. Synovial chondrosarcoma: report of two cases and literature review. Eur J Radiol. 2009;72(1):38–43.

Part V

Systemic Lesions

Marta Sbaraglia

Definition: Intramedullary malignant lymphoma without lymph node involvement or other extranodal site.

Epidemiology: Primary bone lymphomas (PBL) are rare, representing 7% of all malignant bone tumors and 5% of all extranodal lymphomas.

Secondary involvement of bone following primary node lymphomas is the more frequent situation. Males outnumber females. Typically the tumor affects adults with a mean age at diagnosis of 45 years.

Primary Lymphoma of Bone 857 cases



M. Sbaraglia (🖂) Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy e-mail: marta.sbaraglia@aopd.veneto.it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_52





52

Primary Lymphoma of Bone

Localization: Most cases of PBL involve the axial skeleton including the pelvis and vertebrae. Other frequently affected sites are the long bones such as humerus and femur; lesions are usually located in the meta-diaphyseal region of bone. Multifocal bone lesions may be observed often involving multiple bones.

Clinical: Clinical presentation is variable and dependent on the localization of the disease. It may include pain, swelling, pathological fracture, and neurological deficits in case of vertebral involvement. Symptoms are mild and of long duration. Systemic symptoms referred to as "B-symptoms" (fever, night sweats, and weight loss) may also be present.

Imaging: On X-ray, small diffuse ill-defined lytic lesions featuring a permeative pattern are the most frequent appearance of PBL. Often a moth-eaten radiographic pattern is also observed in PBL. The cortex may be broken or destroyed with extension in the surrounding soft tissue, mimicking a bone sarcoma. Sometimes, the cortex can be thickened mimicking osteomyelitis. Usually, a periosteal reaction is absent but in rare cases a spicular or lamellar reaction may be observed mimicking radiologic features of osteosarcoma and Ewing sarcoma. At times, PBL is represented by an eccentric aggressive lytic lesion mimicking metastatic carcinoma. More rarely, non-Hodgkin lymphoma can have a sclerotic appearance on X-ray, a feature that is more commonly encountered in Hodgkin lymphoma. Pathological fractures are a common finding in PBL. CT scan shows the typical permeative or moth-eaten radiographic features of PBL. The mottled appearance on CT scan due to reactive hyperostosis is very useful to evaluate the relationship with the neurovascular bundles, the involvement of the joint and for the staging of the disease. MRI is not as useful in PBL affecting long bones as for PBL involving the spine, where MRI imaging can highlight possible spinal cord compression. Finally, bone scans may be useful to better define the lesions.

Histopathology: Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) is by far the most common histotype of newly diagnosed PBL. The remaining minority of PBL includes other histotypes such as follicular B-cell lymphoma, marginal B-cell lymphoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, and anaplastic large T-cell lymphoma. On histology, PBL shows the same morphologic features encountered in nodal lymphomas. In addition, non-neoplastic inflammatory cells are frequently spread in and around the tumor, possibly obscuring the malignant cell population. Most PBLs are composed of sheets of neoplastic cells with a striking permeative growth pattern infiltrating in between bone trabeculae and medullary fat. The most common histotype, DLBCL, shows a diffuse proliferation of medium to large lymphoid cells that rarely have a pleomorphic appearance, with prominent fibrosis and presence of reactive osteoid. Mitoses are usually frequent and sometimes atypical. Additionally, DLBCL can be subdivided immunohistochemically in germinal center B-cell type and non-germinal center using BCL2, BCL6, CD10, and MUM1 (see table "immunohistochemical panel"). Anaplastic large T-cell lymphoma arising in bone is extremely rare, but the most common among T-cell lymphomas. Classical Hodgkin lymphoma primarily arising in bone is also extremely rare. Reticulin fibers surround small groups of cells forming thick fibrous bands. Immunostains for B- and T-cell markers and common leukocyte antigens can aid in the classification of PBL as well as in differential diagnosis. Additionally, useful tools to rule out double-hit large B-cell lymphoma include molecular analysis to investigate BCL2, BCL6, and MYC gene status.

Course and Staging: When primary lymphoma of bone is diagnosed, it is necessary to stage the disease. It is important to evaluate the presence of multiple bone lesions and possible nodal and extraskeletal involvement.

Treatment and Prognosis: Combined chemo-radiotherapy is the standard treatment for PBL; however, there is no accepted consensus on therapy regimen for the localized form. Surgery may be indicated in spine localizations to decompress marrow and spinal roots or to prevent pathologic fractures in the long bones. Surgery is always combined with radio- and chemotherapy. The 5- and 10-year survival rates for PBL patients are about 65% and 53%, respectively, whereas

the survival rates in systemic lymphomas with bone lesion are 53% and 43%, respectively. Age less than 60 years is a favorable prognostic factor. Bulky disease, extraskeletal dissemination, and polyostotic involvement are considered unfavorable prognostic factors.

K	Key points				
•	Clinical	Adults, pain and swelling, possible pathologic fracture			
•	Radiological	Large lytic destructive lesion, bone margins often moth-eaten or permeative, rare periosteal reaction			
٠	Histological	Pleomorphic blue round cells			
•	Differential diagnosis	Osteomyelitis, osteosarcoma, Ewing sarcoma, langerhans cell histiocytosis, metastatic carcinoma			

Immunohistochemical panel

•	DLBCL	CD45+; CD20+; CD79a+;
	- Germinal center	PAX5+
	 Non-germinal 	CD10+; BCL6+ or MUM1-
	center	CD10-; BCL6- or MUM1+
•	Anaplastic T-cell	(CD3 CD2 CD4 CD5) ≥1
	lymphoma	positive pan T-cell marker
		CD30+; ALK +/-
٠	Hodgkin	CD30+; CD15+; CD20-
	lymphoma	
Re	eed-Sternberg cells	



Radiograph. Mixed lytic and sclerotic femoral lesion, with limited cortical destruction, and moth-eaten pattern



Primary lymphoma of bone: In this example of DLBCL, the tumor is composed of sheet of large atypical B cells, showing irregular and cleaved nuclei with prominent

nucleoli (1). Nuclei are generally larger than those observed in Ewing sarcoma (2). Mitotic figures are frequent (3)

Selected Bibliography

- Alencar A, Pitcher D, Byrne G, Lossos IS. Primary bone lymphoma—the University of Miami experience. Leuk Lymphoma. 2010;51(1):39–49, Review.
- Bhagavathi S, Fu K. Primary bone lymphoma. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2009;133(11):1868–71, Review.
- Heyning FH, Hogendoorn PC, Kramer MH, et al. Primary non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of bone: a clinicpathological investigation of 60 cases. Leukemia. 1999;13(12):2094–8.
- Heyning FH, Hogendoorn PC, Kramer MH, et al. Primary lymphoma of bone: extranodal lymphoma with favourable survival independent of germinal center,

post-germinal centre or indeterminate phenotype. J Clin Pathol. 2009;62(9):820–4.

- O'Connor AR, Birchall JD, O'Connor SR, Bessell E. The value of 99mTc-MDP bone scintigraphy in staging primary lymphoma of bone. Nucl Med Commun. 2007;28(7):529–31.
- Ramadan KM, Shenkier T, Sehn LH, Gascoyne RD, Connors JM. A clinicopathological retrospective study of 131 patients with primary bone lymphoma: a population-based study of successively treated cohorts from the British Columbia Cancer Agency. Ann Oncol. 2007;18(1):129–35.
- Reddy N, Greer JP. Primary bone lymphoma: a set of unique problems in management. Leuk Lymphoma. 2010;51(1):1–2.



Multiple Myeloma

Marta Sbaraglia

Definition: Multiple or plasma cell myeloma (PCM) is a bone marrow-based multifocal plasma cell neoplasm, usually associated with secretion of a single homogeneous monoclonal immunoglobulin called M protein. The bone marrow is the site of origin of nearly all PCMs. Multifocal bone marrow involvement is frequently observed. In advanced disease, extramedullary involvement can be appreciated. **Epidemiology:** PMC accounts for about 1% of malignant tumor with an incidence of about 20 cases/million/year. Male predominance is observed. PMC is almost never found in children and extremely rare in young adults (mean age at diagnosis: \approx 70 years). In elderly patients, PMC represents the most common primary bone malignant neoplasm.

M. Sbaraglia (🖂) Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy e-mail: marta.sbaraglia@aopd.veneto.it



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: The axial skeleton is the preferred site. In the appendicular skeleton, the metaphysis is favored. It is very rare in bones of the hand and foot.

Clinical: In most patients, the symptomatology includes local pain (usually relieved by rest), hypercalcemia, and occasionally pathologic fracture (more often at a later stage) resulting from lytic lesions and/or osteoporosis. In advanced stages, there may be local swelling, weight loss, anemia, bleeding diathesis, and propensity to infections. Renal failure and hyperuricemic syndromes occur due to tubular damage resulting from monoclonal light chain proteinuria. In 90% of cases, serum and/or urinary immunoelectrophoresis shows a spike due to the excess of the monoclonal protein. Congestive heart failure, peripheral neuropathy, and carpal tunnel syndrome may be frequently observed. Erythrocytes sedimentation rate is usually elevated. Elevated serum creatinine and hyperuricemia are rather frequent. Anemia, leukopenia, and thrombocytopenia are seen due to substitution of bone marrow.

Imaging: Radiographic skeletal changes include:

Diffused osteoporosis (osteopenia), particularly seen in the spine; (2) "punched-out" round lytic areas without associated osteoblastic changes and absence of sclerotic rim; (3) large or massive osteolytic tumors (trabeculated, honeycombed, or even bubbly).

The cortex is thinned or broken, with frequent extension of the tumor in the soft tissues, particularly in ribs and spine. Occurrence of pathologic fractures is frequent. Periosteal reaction is absent. Rarely (1–2%), PCM generates osteosclerotic lesions. Sclerotic changes are observed in younger patient, generally associated with hypocellular tumors, lower levels of monoclonal proteins, and more elevated serum alkaline phosphatase. It reflects a less aggressive infiltrative process, which allows time for osteoblastic reaction. MRI is the most sensitive to discover diffused and nodular disease in cancellous bone. Isotope bone scan is usually negative or scarcely positive.

Bone marrow aspiration. If necessary, it should be repeated from multiple sites. It is diagnostic in about 90% of cases. Aspirate smears may contain a different proportion of monoclonal plasma cells that varies from bare increase to >90%.

Histopathology: Macroscopically the tumor appears as a soft, fleshy hemorrhagic tissue that replaces the affected bone marrow. Histologically the tumor is composed of either easily recognizable or highly pleomorphic malignant or blastoidtype plasma cells. The tumor cells may be organized in small clusters, focal nodules or in diffuse sheets into bone marrow. In focal patterns of involvement, foci of interposed normal hematopoiesis were observed, whereas they may be markedly decreased in advanced disease. In differentiated forms, the tumor is composed of mature plasma cells, featuring a round, eccentric nucleus showing a distinctive "cartwheel" chromatin, harbored by basophilic cytoplasm with a perinuclear hof. In contrast, immature forms have a more dispersed nuclear chromatin, a higher nuclear-cytoplasmic ratio, and prominent nucleoli. In almost 10% of cases, the plasmablastic morphology is observed. Pleomorphism is extremely rare. Intracytoplasmatic cherry-red, refractile round bodies, so-called Russell bodies, can be frequently observed. Immunohistochemically, neoplastic cells are strongly positive for CD138 and MUM1. Clonality of neoplastic plasma cells can usually be demonstrated with staining for Ig Kappa and Lambda light chains. On core biopsy, at least 30% of the bone marrow volume should be replaced by monoclonal plasma cells in order to formulate a diagnosis of myeloma. Prominent osteoclastic activity is observed in some cases.

Treatment and Prognosis: Treatment is based on chemotherapy, particularly using alkylating agents (cyclophosphamide, melphalan, nitrosourea BCNU). Molecular targeted therapy with bortezomib is also currently available. Prednisone, thalidomide, and biphosphonates can also be used. In younger patients, allogenic marrow transplantation has been employed. Radiation treatment is used, to relieve pain, decrease spinal cord compression, and prevent pathologic fractures. Surgery may be indicated to decompress the spinal cord or stabilize the spine with internal fixation, to treat or prevent pathologic fractures (internal fixation) and occasionally manage destructive lesions or fractures in the long bones (resection with endoprosthesis). PMC is an incurable progressive disease, with a 5-year survival rate of 30%. Median survival is around 5.5 years. Systemic spread is very frequent, even occurring 8–12 years after the diagnosis. Adverse prognostic factors are the extent of bone involvement and the severity of anemia, hypercalcemia, impaired renal function, circulating monoclonal proteins, hyperuricemia, alkaline and phosphatase.

Key points					
Clinical	Elderly, most common primary				
	malignant bone neoplasm				
Radiological	Pure lytic lesion frequently				
	multifocal. Bone scan usually				
	negative				
Histological	At least 30% of the bone marrow				
	volume is composed of plasma cells				
	secreting a monoclonal				
	immunoglobulin				
Differential	Metastasis of carcinoma and				
diagnosis	melanoma, lymphoma primary of the				
	bone and chronic osteomyelitis				
Immunohistoc	hemical panel				
CD138	+				
MUM1	+				
Kappa		±			
Lambda					



Radiograph. Multiple well-defined purely osteolytic lesions



The bone marrow is entirely constituted of a very thick mat of cells with no intercellular matrix (1). The tumor is composed of sheets of mature plasma cells with oval, eccentric nucleus showing a typical "cartwheel" chromatin (2)

53.1 Solitary Plasmacytoma of Bone

Definition: Solitary plasmacytoma of bone (SPB) is a rare localized tumor consisting of monoclonal plasma cells with no clinical features of PCM. In some cases, flow cytometry identifies

minimal (<10%) clonal bone marrow plasma cell. Most often osteolytic lesions are identified in the axial skeleton.

Epidemiology: It is more common in men and median patient age at diagnosis is 55 years.

Imaging: Radiological studies show a localized and often massive homogeneous, trabeculated, or bubbling osteolysis with frequent destruction or inflation of the cortex.

Histopathology: Histologically, plasmacytoma has the same morphology described in PCM. The immunophenotype is also similar to that of PCM.

Treatment and Prognosis: It is based on radiation therapy and/or surgery and sometimes chemotherapy. Two-thirds of cases evolve to PCM, mostly in patients with minimal bone marrow involvement at diagnosis. Median overall survival is about 10 years.

Selected Bibliography

Dimopoulos M, Terpos E, Comenzo RL, Tosi P, Beksac M, Sezer O, Siegel D, Lokhorst H, Kumar S, Rajkumar SV, Niesvizky R, Moulopoulos LA, Durie BG, IMWG. International myeloma working group consensus statement and guidelines regarding the current role of imaging techniques in the diagnosis and monitoring of multiple Myeloma. Leukemia. 2009;23(9):1545–56.

- Harousseau JL. Multiple myeloma in the elderly: when to treat, when to go to transplant. Oncology (Williston Park). 2010;24(11):992–8, Review.
- Kumar A, Galeb S, Djulbegovic B. Treatment of patients with multiple myeloma: an overview of systematic reviews. Acta Haematol. 2011;125(1–2):8–22, Review.
- Nahi H, Sutlu T, Jansson M, Alici E, Gahrton G. Clinical impact of chromosomal aberrations in multiple myeloma. J Intern Med. 2011;269(2):137–47.
- Palumbo A, Anderson K. Multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(11):1046–60.
- Rajkumar SV. Multiple myeloma: 2011 update on diagnosis, risk-stratification, and management. Am J Hematol. 2011;86(1):57–65, Review.

54

Hodgkin's Disease in Bone

Marta Sbaraglia

Definition: Lymphoid neoplasms composed of large dysplastic mononuclear and multinucleated cells surrounded by variable mixture of non-neoplastic inflammatory cells. Hodgkin lymphoma included two different types: nodular lymphocyte predominant HL (NLPHL) and classic HL (CHL).

Epidemiology: Primary bone HLs are extremely rare with only few cases reported in literature, mostly associated with HIV infection. Males prevalence is observed. Most tumors occurred in young adult (mean 30 years).

Check for updates

M. Sbaraglia (🖂) Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy e-mail: marta.sbaraglia@aopd.veneto.it



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: Most cases of PBL involve the axial skeleton including the pelvis and vertebrae. Less frequently the lower limbs are affected.

Clinical: Clinical presentation is variable and dependent on the localization of the disease. In about 40% of patients, "B-symptoms" consisting of fever, drenching night sweats, and weight loss may be present.

Histopathology: Tumor is composed of an admixture of reactive inflammatory infiltrate and variable numbers of distinctive Hodgkin/ Reed-Sternberg (HRS) cells, the latter showing

abundant basophilic cytoplasm with at least two nuclear lobes containing a prominent nucleolus with perinuclear clearing. The HRS cells typically show immunopositivity for CD30, CD15, and PAX5.

Selected Bibliography

Shah BK, Subramaniam S, peace D, Garcia C. HIVassociated primary bone marrow hodgkin's lymphoma: a distinct entity? JCO. 2010;28:e459–60.



Metastatic Lesions

Marco Gambarotti and Marta Sbaraglia

Definition: Secondary localization in bone of malignant epithelial neoplasm.

Importance: Bone is the most common anatomic site for metastases. Lung, breast, gastrointestinal, and prostatic carcinomas frequently spread to the bone. In fact, metastases represent the most common neoplasm encountered in the skeleton. **Epidemiology:** Autopsy reports, revealed bone metastases in approximately 30% of patients affected by breast, prostate, thyroid, lung, and kidney cancer. Adult and elderly patients are most often involved. However, thyroid or breast cancers may also be observed in younger patients. Male predominance is observed.

M. Sbaraglia Department of Pathology, Azienda Ospedaliera di Padova, Padua, Italy e-mail: marta.sbaraglia@aopd.veneto.it

M. Gambarotti (⊠) Department of Pathology, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Italy e-mail: marco.gambarotti@ior.it



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Localization: Metastases may affect any skeletal sites; however, the axial skeleton and the proximal region of the appendicular skeleton represent the most common locations. Extremities and cranial bones are rarely involved. Multiple lesions are often observed. Organs other than the skeleton can be frequently involved configuring a disseminated multisystemic disease.

Clinical: Pain, swelling, and pathological fractures are the typical presenting symptoms. In about 20% of cases, the site of the primary origin is unknown.

Imaging: Standard radiography may be negative (40% of cases). Frequently, bone metastases appear as osteolytic lesions. Isotope scan and MRI are much more sensitive than x-ray in detecting bone metastases. PET-CT is very useful to detect bone lesions and to evaluate the progression of the disease.

Histopathology: Histologically metastases tend most often (but not always) to reproduce the morphology of the primary lesion. Of course, immunohistochemical analysis can help identifying the site of origin in case of poorly differentiated morphology.

Treatment: In metastatic patients to improve the quality of life represents the most important aim. Palliative treatment is indicated in presence of diffused disease. An adjuvant treatment using chemotherapy, low dose radiotherapy, and surgery is useful in patients with indolent disease. In case of good prognosis chemotherapy, high dose radiotherapy and wide resection with stable reconstruction can be combined to achieve long survival.

Key points				
Clinical Most frequent bone lesion.				
	Adults, pain			
	Pathologic fracture			
 Radiological 	Permeative or purely lytic			
	lesions			
 Histological 	Epithelioid morphology,			
	depending on primary lesion			
Differential	Metastatic melanoma,			
diagnosis	lymphoma, epithelioid			
	angiosarcoma			

Immunohistochemical panel								
	Breast	Prostate	Lung	Thyroid	Kidney	Colon	Urothelial	Melanoma
CK AE1/AE3	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
CK 7	+	-/+	+	+	-	-	+	-
CK 20	-	-/+	-	-	-	+	+	-
TTF1	-	-	+ (Adcr)	+	-	-	-	-
P40	-	-	+ (Sq. cr.)	-	-	-	+	-
Thyroglobulin	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
CDX-2	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
ER	+/-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
PRG	+/-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
PSA	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nk3x1	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
AMACR	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
GATA3	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
PAX8	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
CD10	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
S-100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+
HMB-45	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+
MART-1	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	+
MYTF	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+

Immunohistochemical panel

Adcr Adenocarcinoma, Sq. Cr. squamous carcinoma



Radiograph and sagittal spine T1 MR image. Heterogeneous mainly lytic lesion, destroying the femoral neck cortex. Multiple metastases of the spine



Metastatic adenocarcinoma. Malignant epithelial cells (1) forming glandular structures (2) are seen

Metastasis from non-sarcoma-origin on 2150 cases			
Breast	555	25.8	
Kidney	416	19.3	
Lung	381	17.7	62.9
Gastro-enteric	152	7.1	
Prostate	129	6.0	
Thyroid	117	5.4	18.5
Melanoma	60	2.8	
Undifferentiated	59	2.7	
Bladder urothelium	59	2.7	
Hepatic	54	2.5	
Uterus	41	1.9	
Bilio-pancreatic	27	1.3	
Ovary	16	0.7	
Other	15	0.7	
Neuroendocrine	12	0.6	
Oropharynx	12	0.6	
Sarcomatoid	11	0.5	
Brain	4	0.2	
Pheochromocytoma	4	0.2	
Larynx	4	0.2	
Paraganglioma	4	0.2	
Skin	3	0.1	
Salivary	3	0.1	
Adrenal gland	3	0.1	
Testis	3	0.1	
Mesothelioma	2	0.1	
Parotid	2	0.1	
Wilms	2	0.1	
	2150	100.0	

Rarely the origin of a metastatic lesion in bone can be from a visceral or a soft tissue sarcoma. The most represented tumor is uterine leiomyosarcoma (see table).

N.	%
26	60.5
4	9.3
3	7.0
2	4.7
2	4.7
2	4.7
1	2.3
1	2.3
1	2.3
1	2.3
43	100.0
	N. 26 4 3 2 2 2 1 1 1 43

55.1 Metastatic Neuroblastoma

Neuroblastoma is a tumor of neuroblasts affecting children usually under 5 years of age.

These lesions enter into differential diagnosis with Ewing Sarcoma of bone.

The age is lower (Ewing sarcoma is rare below 5 years of age), the skeletal lesions are frequently

multiple, there is a retroperitoneal or mediastinal mass, and catecholamine metabolites are found in urine. Histologically, differentiation is more difficult, but neuroblastoma often has more evident rosettes, more large, "pear" shaped, pleomorphic and hyperchromatic nuclei with more abundant cytoplasm.

Bone Metastasis from Neuroblastoma 72 cases



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

Selected Bibliography

- Buijs JT, van der Pluijm G. Osteotropic cancers: from primary tumor to bone. Cancer Lett. 2009;273(2):177– 93. Review.
- Elgazzar AH, Kazem N. Metastatic bone disease: evaluation by functional imaging in correlation with morphologic modalities. Gulf J Oncolog. 2009;(5):9–21. Review.
- Kaijzel EL, Snoeks TJ, Buijs JT, van der Pluijm G, Löwik CW. Multimodal imaging and treatment of bone metastasis. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2009;26(4):371–9. Review.

- M. Gambarotti and M. Sbaraglia
- Roberts CC, Daffner RH, Weissman BN, Bancroft L, Bennett DL, Blebea JS, Bruno MA, Fries IB, Germano IM, Holly L, Jacobson JA, Luchs JS, Morrison WB, Olson JJ, Payne WK, Resnik CS, Schweitzer ME, Seeger LL, Taljanovic M, Wise JN, Lutz ST. ACR appropriateness criteria on metastatic bone disease. J Am Coll Radiol. 2010;7(6):400–9. Review. Erratum in: J Am Coll Radiol. 2010;7(9):e1. Review.
- Santini D, Galluzzo S, Zoccoli A, Pantano F, Fratto ME, Vincenzi B, Lombardi L, Gucciardino C, Silvestris N, Riva E, Rizzo S, Russo A, Maiello E, Colucci G, Tonini G. New molecular targets in bone metastases. Cancer Treat Rev. 2010;36(Suppl 3):S6–S10. Review.



Correction to: Synovial Chondromatosis

Eric L. Staals

Correction to: Chapter 28 in: P. Picci et al. (eds.), Diagnosis of Musculoskeletal Tumors and Tumor-like Conditions, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_28

Chapter 28 was inadvertently published with the following error:

The figure on page 131 was misplaced. The correct figure has been included in this erratum. The chapter has now been updated.



1900-2017 - Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli - Laboratory of Experimental Oncology - Section of Epidemiology - Bologna - Italy

The updated online version of this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29676-6_28